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Branch Office of The Judge ·Advocate General 
with the 

European Theat·er 
APO 887 

7 SE? 1945 
BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 

CM ETO 15788 

.u N I T ED STATES 	 ) l03Rll INFAlITRY UIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCMj convened a.t .APO 470,
) u. s. A.rmy, 18 ·llay 1945. Sentences 


Private HALTER W. POI.SOM ) Dishonoroble discharge, total forfeit ­
(6383192), Compan~ E, 4llth ) ures, end confinement a.t ha.rd labor 

Infantry ) for life. Eastern Branch, United 


) · States Disciplinary Barracks 1 

) Green.haven, New York. 

HOIDIID by BOARD OF REVIEiT NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN., HEPBtlRN and MILLER, Judge Advocates 


le The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Boa.rd ~f Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of 
the' Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater·. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifications 

CH.ARGEa Violation of the 92nd Article of Vfar. 

Specificationa In that Private i'Talter w. Poloo;:i, 

Company E, Four Hundred Eleventh Infantry, 

did, at Schillersdorf, France, on or about 

1 Ll.arch 1945, with malice aforethought, 

willfully, deliberately, feloniously, un• 

lawfully, and with premeditation kill one 

Staff Sergeant Conrad E. nernn.ann, Company E, 

Four Hundred Eleventh Infantry, a hunen being 

by shooting him with a !i~le. 


- 1 ­
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(2) 

He pleaded not guilty a.nd, all of the members of .the court present a.t · 
the time the vote wa.s taken concurring, was found €,ililty of the· Charge 
and Specification. Evidence wa.s introduced of one previous conviction 
by suornary court for absence without leave for two deys in violation 
of Article of Wa.r. 61. All of the members of the court present at the· 
time the vot.e was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be shot to death 
with I!Ulsketry. The reviewing; authority, the Cor.mi.anding General, 103rd · 
!nfa.ntry Division, approved the sentence~ recommended tha.t it be com• 
muted to dishonorable discharge, forfeiture of all pey and allowances 
due or to become due, and confinement a.t ha.rd labor for life, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of Yfar 48. The 
confirming authority, the Commanding Gene'l'al~ United States Forces, 
European Theater, coni'irmed the sentence, but owing to apecial circum­
stances in the ca.se end the recommendation of the convening a.uthor"ity, · 
coI!Ullllted it to dishonorable ~ischarge from the service, forfeiture or· ' 
all pay end allowances due or to become due, and coni'inement .at ha.rd 
labor for the term of his natural life, designated the Easte~n Branch, 

. United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
of confinement, and withheld the· order directing execution of the 
sentence pursuant to. ~icle of Wa.r 50-~. · · , · . 

3. The evidence for the prosecution is substantially as followsa 

· Accused, on 1 March 1945; was a member of Company E, 4llth · 

Infantry Regiment;~ which was then located at Schillersdorf, France.. • 

~bout 1800 hours on that date accused's squad moved out to occupy 

positions in the line. Accused remained behind when they le.rt thei'r 


· quarters, joining them a.bout ten minutes later at a point approximately 
one•ha.lf mile from .the company command post and .a.bout 500 yards before 
they reached the line, where they· had bee;n stopped· by mortar .fire (RlO, · 
11,18,19). AccordiD.g to persons present, accused wa.s "under the ihrluence 
o.f' intoxicating liquors", "int;oxicated pr~tty heavily", "very intoxicated" 

· (Rl2,18) men he joined, his squad. He appeared to know 'What he was doing. 
as he showed one witness his watch to indicate what time it was (Rl2). 
An argument; ensued between accused and Sergeant Herrmann~ his squad 
leader, concerning whether accused· would return to the oonmiand post with · 
a Sergeant Norman (now deceased). Accused appeared to be angry and would 
not go back with Sergeant Norman. _Sergeant Herrmann then asl<Bd him to · 
accompany him back and accused replied "Hell yes, I'll go back with you". 
Accused WU armed With an Jl•l ri.f'le, which had the name "Nell" carved 
on the side of the stock. He told two of the ·witnesses 'this was hil 
wife' a name. When Sergeant; Herrmann asked him f<Jr his rifle, he re• · 
fu1Hd to give ~t up and together the two of them. st'arted back to the 
company comm&nd post~ When they lert;, they were walking side by side 
and. accused carried hit weapon slung on his #ght sho.ulder (Rll-14,16,
17,40). . .. . 

' ·-. 2 ·- •. ~ ...\: 
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Privates First Class stanley A. Ostrowski ·a.nd Milton c. 
Schultz of Company E, 411th Infantry Regimen!;, were detailed to repair 
a break in their commUii.ica.tions line about 1900 hours on l March 1945 
(R20,2l,27). As they walked down the road looking for the trouble, Sergeant 
Herrmann and accused approached them from tho opposite direction. 
Accused was walking about three ya.rds behind Herrmann and they were 
11 e.rguing a. little bit". .Accused W?-S ~d ~th an 11..1 rifle and was 
heard asking, "'{;by are you ta.king me back, 'What have I done".· Sergeant 
Hermann replied, "You know why I a.m ta.king you in. You a.re drunk and 
not fit to be on the line". Accused was further heard' to say, "I am 
not going back - nothing is wrong with me", to which Hdtrmann replied, 
"You blow what is wrong with you a.nd I am going to turn you in"• 
Ostrowski and Schultz were a.bout fivl' .or ten yards distant when they 
overheard this conversation and after proceeding a.bout 70 -eo·;lOO yards 
a.long the road they heard a shot•. Ostrowski turned a.round in the di­
rection the shot came from "and sa.w Sergeant Herrman laying on the 
ground and Polson was aiming his rifle a.t Sergeant lierrma.nn leying 
on the road. Just then another shot came off". About three seconds 
elapsed between the first and second shots. Ostrowski was not looking 
in the direction of Herrmann a.n:i. accused 'When he heard the first shot. 

'Schultz testified he only heard one shot a.f't;er 'Which he looked down ' 

the road to see what happened. ·He noticed Sergeant Herrmann lying 

on the road, and saw that ace.used had his weapon and 11He was holding 


' 	it in a crouch like' the kneeling or sitting position". Ostrowski 

"hi~ one side of the road end Schultz hit the other side, end at the 

same time, Polson hit the side of the· road"• ··Ostrowski called out to 

accused to come out on the road without his weapon a.nd with his hands 

up. lihen accused refused to do so, he (Ostrowski) fired a burst from 

his Thompson submachine gtin over a.c,cused 'a head and this .caused him 

to appear without his rifle. As he walked to the center of the road 

he staggered a bit and "it looked like he tried to take a. swing at , 

Schultz". Ostro;vski hit him in the mouth, knocking him do111, and told 

Schultz to stay with Herrmann, who was- gasping and could not talk, 

while he yelled to some enti-ta.nk men a short distance away to summon 

medical aid. Ostrowski took accused be.ck to the compMY command post 

and turned him over to Lieutenant Kasper•..Schultz observed that Sergeant 


· 	Herrmann "was injur9d in the chest and· found a: hole in. hill jacket" and 
he saw a weapon about three feet from the injured man. There 11"8.s "a name 
of some kind carved on the stock" of this weapon llhich Schultz did. not 
touch at this time (R2l,22r23 1 26,28.29,30). ·;Accused did not have 8n:I 

· special hatred or ill will tcward deceased or anyone else in the company 

(Rl81l9). _ . . . ·· . · 


Sergeant. Hermann was brought inl;o the battalion a.id station 
at approximately 1915 hours on l Me.rah 1945. The battalion surgeon 

, testified that Herrmann was in an extremely serious condition upon' 
arrival. He was unoonsoious, unable to speak, his respiration wa.1 . ' 

·' 
' . . 

', 

- 3 ­
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extremely slow and very weak. his pulse was not countable and his 
·heart sounds.. were very weak but audible. His condition resulted 

from a small arms bullet wound in the left lower chest. The point 

ot entry was ab out the tenth left anterior rib in ths mid olavioular 

line and the point ot exit was in approxima.tely ths se.me region but 


., 	slightly in toward the mid line of his back. .As a result of this 
wound, Sergeant Herrmann died in the batta.lion aid station about 
1945 hours on this date (RS,9). 

While Ostr.owski was taki'ng accused be.ck to the company command 

post, the letter was "staggering" and· argumentative and it was neces­

sary for Ostrowski to use force to take him there (R23). Ostrowski 

testified that upon arrival et the command post e.t about 1930 hours, 

accused did not appear to lmow what he was doine and we.a "absolutely" 

drunk (R24,36). He wa.sinterviewed 8.t this time by Lieutenant William 

J. Kasper• his compa.cy commander, who testified accused could not 

answer his question e.s to how a semi-a.utome..tio rifle could be fired 

accidentally, but "tried to tell me that he had a carbine"• ~ evaded 

a. question as to whether this was his T/o 'Weapon, stating he' had no 

weapon when he ca.me off the line. Accused then told Lieutenant Kasper 

that he had stumbled end that his rifle discharged accidentally. Ac­

cused appeared to recognize Lieutenant Y.asper end stood before him 

'"more or less at attention"• His speech we.s"blurred and he did not 

seem to put his thoughts a.cross but he did not appear to be so drunk 

that he did not lmow vtla.t was going on during the interview. That 

evening Sergeant Horman brought an 11-1 rii'le with the name "Nell" on. 

one side to the com:nand post. Lieutenant Kasper could smell powder 

in the bore and found five rounds of ammunition in the magazine and 

one in the' chamber (RM-38). 


I
I 

• . 
; Major William E. Willis, Infantry, who interviewed- e.ccused 


about 1915 or 1930 hours on the date in qu.,stion ter:rtif'ied accused was 

"in a rather stupid, drunken condition". He based his opinion on the 

fact a.caused' s staggering we.a pronounced end he could not coherently 

ansvier questions. In his opinion, accused "was not in possession of 

all his mental faculties" (R40,4l) • 


.A.bout a minute or two a.f'ter Sergeant Herrmann died, accused 
was interviewed by the battalion surgeon at the a.id station where he 
had been taken for examination (R35,42). The doctor testified that e.t · 
this time someone a9cused him of deliberately shooting Sergeant Herrmann 
and accused vigorousay denied this accusation, later stating that it · ... 

. we.a accidental. In his opinion, accused was not highly intoxi~ated 
"and seemed to be vaell aware of the situation he was in and well aware 
of where he.was". The doctor smelled accused's 'breath and noted a 
~trong alcoholic scent resembling the odor of wine and in response to 
a question accused stated he drank some wine with his evening meal that 
day (R41,42)e 

- 4 -
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The next morning two empty cartridges ware touiid at the ex.act 

spot "Where Sergeant Herrmann wa• shot (B25,30,31). 


4. · .Accused atter his right• aa a witness were ~explained to 
hill (B48,49), :made an 1?118Worn statement through his defense counsel sub­
st.ant1a1.11'. &• !ollowe: · · 

On l March 1945 I be 11'&8 in th• town or·· Schlllersdort I France' 
as a. member ot the first squa.d, eecond platoon, Company 1', 4llth Intantey 
Regilll•nt. · J.t the 110011 mea1 that dq he and several members or hie s<P&d 
drank & pitcher or wine and about ]JOO hours he walked dawn to house number 
37 to pick up hie laundr7. Here be drank wine and schnapps tor a.ppronmatelJr 
three houra and a halt, conlUllling about ten ounces of schnapps and a quart 
and & hali' ot 1'il:le. He lett this house about 1630 hours carrying his 
laundry and a beer bottle .tilled with schnapps. On the way back to his 
quart,ers, he met two soldiers, liho .a.eked him 1t he '1'0uld help them obtain 
some schnapps. One ot these so+diers found an empty green qua.rt bottle 
nearby and he returned to house number 37 with him intending to help him 
buy sane schnapps. 'The man or the house told them that all the sclma.pps 
he had was that which remained in the bottle accused had been dri.nld.ng 
from earlier in the afternoon. He gave them each a drink (approximatel¥ 
two ouncH) o! schnapps and they purchased two bottles ot wine, one ot 
which they drank before leaving the house. A!ter leaving' this house they 
nnt into a vacant building, where the other soldier was 118iting for them, 
and the three o.t them. drank his beer bottle ot schnapps and the other quart 
or wine. To tbe best or his knowledge I he then proceeded to his quarters 
and trom there went alone to the front line where his squad was to relieve 
another squad that was on duty. The first person he remembers seeing on 
the way to his foxhole was Sergeant Herrmann, his squad leader, 'Who called 
to him from & position approximately fifty yards to the lett of' the­
Schillersdorf'-li1ulhausen road and on the reverse side or the hill. He 
stopped and waited until Sargeant Herrmann came up to him. The latter et.id, 
"You are drunk, I'm taking you back to the Company CP"• He remembers leaving 
this point with Sergeant Herrmann and some guards tald.ng him into a. building 
in town. He knows it -was some kind or an ottica because there were several 
soldiers and an orf'icer present.-~1hile he doesn't remember anything that 
happened in this building he does recall that at a later time he attempted 
to walk a straight ·line at the comnand of some officer. He recalls that 
after this he travelled quite a distance in a jeep to a place where he was 
given a. blood· test, after v.hich he again entered the vehicle and his next 
recol:lection is of' stretching out on the floor of a building to ta.lee a 
rest. He did not sleep because he remembered hearing someone say th&t be 
shot Sergeant Herrmann. About noon the next day he asked the milital7' 
police sergeant 1t he lmew anything about Sergeant Herrmann and he was told 
that he (Sergeant Herrmann) was dead. To the best oi' his knowledge, he 
did not tire an M-l ri!le at any time during the period he described; 
Sergeant Herrmann and he were the best or friends and he had no argument 
with him whatsoever at any time (B49,.50)•. 

. The defense counsel and the prosecution stipulated that 1t 
Major Roland E. Nieman, Division Psychiatrist, were present in court and 

15786 
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· sworn as a witness he would testify that when he examined accused on 

S March 1945 he found that his "Neurological examination was essentially 

normal except for a coarse bilateral tremor"• There was no evidence 

ot a:ny.psycliosis and accused is able to distinguish right from wrong . 

but in hie opinion is suffering trom. chronic· alcoholism. Accused gave 

him a history of heavy drinld.ng eince age 16, having been jailed three 

times in civilian life .for drinking and disorderly conduct, drinld.n& 


· shaving lotion and rubbing alcohol because he likes the taste of alcohol 

and does not feel good without it. Major Nieman is of the opinion that 

a person "if he has drunk enough to a point where his min4 ca.n not 

!unction, can not form a specific intent" (R47,4S).­. . 

'""- .. 5. "JJu.rder is the unlawful killing ot a human being with .llla.lJ,ce 

·a.torethought. 'Unlaw.tul' means without legal justification or excuse" 

(1'Cl!, 1928, par.14$_!, p.162). . . .. 


I . 

Although no witness actually saw accused tire the fatal shot, 

competent, substantial evidence establishes beyond any doubt that accused 

sh~t and killed Sergeant Herrmann. at the time and .place alleged. Whether 

this hOJlli.cide was perpetrated with malice aforethought and without legal 

justification was a question for the court to decide and their affirma­

tive answer thereto is amply supported by the evidence of the· circum­

stances under l'lhich the slaying took place. The uncontradicted testimony 

that accused was, immediately prior to the shooting, angrily protesting 

against being reported !or his drunken condition on the front line is 

conclusive on this point. · · 


The only' serious question presented herein is whether accuaed•a 
intoxication was so severe as to render him incapable ot !orming the 
requisite "malice a!orethought" to support the .finding of guilt7 o.t' murder. 
While the evidence on this point was conflicting, the testimony ot the 
battalion surgeon and his commandjng of!icer as to his condition and 
actions :immediately after the shooting# constitutes substanti_al evidence 

·' that supports th• court• s findings against accused on this vital issue 
(CM ETO 11269, GOrdon) •.. Inasmuch as the question ot the etrect ot intoxi­
cation upon accused's deliberative faculties was one ot tact !or the 
court and there is substantial evidence to support their conclusions, the 
s8JD8 will- not be disturbed on review (CM ETO 6229, Creech)., . 

6. 'l'he charge ehe~t shows that acclised is ,30 ,ears and nine months . 
ot age and was inducted 1 ·September 1944 at Fort Oglethorpe, Georp.a, Prior · 
nrrtce ·is shown as "l September 19.3.3 to 17 September 19.36, .34th Ordnance 
Compaey; 2.3 June 19.37 to 4 JJ.J&ust l.9.391 ,3oth Ordnance Comp&n1i 5 August 19.39 

. to .31 lr&rch 19U, 10 Ordnance Compan1 \Mil)"• · . 

7. 'J:'be court was legall.7 co~atituted and had jUrisdiction ot th• 
per80n and ottense. !lo errors injuriousl.r affecting th• substantial right• 
ot th• accu1ed nre committed during th• trial. The Board ot Review is 
of. the opinion that th• record ot trial 11 legall.T sut!icient to support 
th• tindings ot gullt1 and the sentence, · 

15i'-8B 
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s. The penalty for murder is death or lii'e imprisonment as the 
court-martial may direct (£1 92). The designation of the Ea.stern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
of confinement, is authorized (AW 42; Cir.2101 \ID1 14 Sept.1943 1 sec.VI 
as amended). 
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::ar Department, :Cranch Office of The Jud~·a Advocate G3nertl \.ith the 
European Thea.ter 8 SE? 1945 TO: Corrnr.anding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (li.Ain), APO 757, 
u. s. Army. 

le In the case of Private iiALTER. W. FOLSON (6383192) 1 Company li:1 
4J.lth Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 
Board of Revievr that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the findings of guilty o.nd the sentence a.s commuted, which holding is 
hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of riar 50-1,, you now 
have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. tlhen copies of the published order a.re forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsen~nt. 
The file number of the record in this office is ~ ETO 15788. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end of 
the order: (Ci.: ETO 15788) • 

t,t/o/?~·-/~t/ 
E. C. J.:cNEIL, 

Brigadie~al, United States Army, 
Ass~)rl,:_1J.:cff.~ Advocate General. 

( Sentence as commuted ordered executed. OCKO 431, USFET, 21 Sept 1945). 

1578€
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!ranch Office ot The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
AFO 887 

!OARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

CM ETO 15793 

UNITED STATES ) Am TECHNICAL SERVICE COMMAND IN EUROPE 
) 

v. 

First Lieutenant IDRA R. STIDHAM: 
0-672476, Air Corps, 3llth 

) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial by General Court-Martial, 
convened at AAF Station 386, APO 744, 
U. S. Army, 18 May 1945. Sentence: 
Dismissal and total forfeitures 

Ferrying Squadron, 302nd ) 
Transport Wing ) 

HOLDIOO by ~ARD OF REV!El'i NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DD'i'EI, Judge Advocates . ' .. 

1. Tlie record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Off'ice o! The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused wa.s tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: 	 Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 
(Finding of not guilty) 

Specification: (Finding of not guilty) 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE: Violation o! the 6lst Article of Wa.r. 

Specification: In that lat Lieutenant Lora R. Stidham, 
3llth Ferrying Squadron, 302d Transport Wing, then 
assigned to 1302nd Airborne Squadron (Prov), 302d 
Transport Wing, did, without proper leave, absent 
himself from his station at A.AF Station 384, from 
about 25 February 1945 to about 2l April 1945• 

-1­
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and was found not guilty
He pleaded not guiltlt'of the Charge and its Specification and guilty 
of the Additional Charge and its Specification. Evidence was intro­
duced of one previous conviction by geo.eral court-martial for absence 
without leave !or about five days in violation of Article of War 61. 
He was sentenced to be dismissed the service and to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due. The reviewing authority, the Comnand­
ing General, Air Technical Service Collllll8.!ld in Europe, approved the 
sentence and forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of 
War 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, United 
States Forces European Theater, although deeming the sentence wholly 
inadequate punishment for an officer guilty of such a grave offense, 
confirmed it and withheld the order directing its execution pursuant 
to Article of War 5oi. 

3. Competent evidence adduced at the trial shows that on 11 Feb­
ruary 1945, accused was sent to a hospital some ten niilea from his 
station for observation and treatment and failed to return to his organiza­
tion upon being released from the hospital on 24 February 1945. It was 
further shown that he thereafter remained absent from his unit without 
authority until 21April1945, on.which date he was taken into custody 
at Brussels by an agent of the Criminal Investigation Division. 

Accused testified that although his primary duty was that of 
pilot, when transferred to a new unit where he had expected that his 
chie!' duty would involve flying, he was scheduled for comparatively 
few flights. He was delayed in returning from one of them and, although 
the delay was not attributable to him but to mechanical difficulties 
and adverse weather conditions, he was grounded as a result. He was 
thereafter sent to a hospital and, upon release, feeling that his use­
tulness as a pilot was ended because he had been grounded, he went to 
the front and attempted to attach himself to "different front line 
outfits." He stated that although he was never aiJm1n1atratively 
attached to any of these organizations he participated in some combat 
while at the front. He was shown to have been in both Brussels and 
Paris on various dates during the period of his absence. 

For a more detailed statement of the facts, reference is ma.de 
to paragraphs 5 and 6 of the review of the staft judge advocate of 
the confirming authorit;r, which the board adopts herein. 

4. The offense charged was adequately proved. The court ~uld 
disbelieve accused's accrilint of his actions during his absence, and, 
even if accepted as t.:true, his act in taking the matter of his assignment 
and duties into his own hands obviously is no defense and is relevant 
o~ in mitigation (Cf: CUETO 15243, Napolitano). There i1 1ubstantial 
endenee t.o support the court's finding that accused waa abaent without 
lean from 25 F•bru&r7 1945 to 2l April l91t.5, &1 alleged. 

15793 
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5. The charge sheet shows tha.t accused is 22 years eight months 
of age and was appointed a second lieutenant at Lubbock Arrrry Flying 
School, Lubbock, Texas, on 16 February 1943. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were co.nmitted during the trial. The Board of 
Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

7. Dismissal is authorized upon conviction of an offense in 
violation of Article of War 61. 

__1__;._._A_._'·_ ;._;-£-·-·--~_l_··_... _~__ Judge Advocate 

_,.·, / /, I' rt 
r 1.,r~Lf,? .. 1: ...:.rK•.£1M-<-JJudge Advocate 

_,,,,-_,- I 
....'.,;! ~ ..• 

~ _) · Y '(-i_,,;(t ; 1 Judge Advocate 
//. 

RES1R1CT3>D 
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lst Ind. 

Wa.r Depa.rtz:tent, Branch Office~!.. ~e.,Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater "- ~ f..~. .J 1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main), APO 757, 
u. s. Army. 

l. In the case of First lieutenant LORA s. STIDHAM, 0-672476, 
Air Corps, Jllth Ferrying Squadron, 302nd Transport Wing, attention 
is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the 
Record of Trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 50i, you now have authority to order 
execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 
15793. For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 15793). 

~ 
\ /".". t // 1/ ,·­1/·· ~A-;i/;,// 
, . . . . ~/FRANKLIN RITER, 
• • 'J • ,!Colonel•. JAGD 
~~cting 'Aes:t'st~ :J~et·~~~cate Gener~ 

( Sentence ordered executed. ocm 372, ETO, l Sept 1945). 

RE$Tj(!CTEL,, 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


.European Theater 

APO 8Er/ 

BOARD OF REViFN NO. 3 

CM ETO 15794 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Second Lieutenant ARTHUR 
C. RUF (0-806912), 703rd 
Bombardment Squadron,, 
445th Bombardment Group (H) 

8 Sb' 1945 

2ND AL~ DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at 

AAF Station 147 (Kngland)1 

11 May 1945. Sentence: Dis­

missal. and total forfeitures. 


HOLDING by BOARD OF REVmH NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review arid the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 95th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that Second Lieutenant Arthur 
c. Ruf, 703rd Bombardment Squadron,, 445th 
Bombardment Group (H), as Club Officer for 
Officers Club at AAF Station 1241 did, at AAF 
Station 124, on or about 25 September 19441 
wrongfully demand of and accept from Stanley 
Joseph Grove and Reginald w. Perry the sum of 
iJ.0-0-0 iQr the privilege of keeping slot 
machines in said Officers Club. 

Specification 2: In that*** as Club Officer for 
Officers Club at AAF Station 124,did at AAF 
Station 124, on or about 14 November 19441 
wrongfully demand of and accept from Stanlq 
Joseph Grove and Reginald w. Parry the sum of 
iJ.5-0-0 for the privilege of keeping slot 
machines in said Officers Club. 15794 
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Specification J: In that * * * as Club OfficerAifor 
Officers Club at AAF Station 124, did, a§TStation
124, on or about 22 November 1944, wrong!ul.l:y 
demand of and accept from Stanley Joseph Grove 
and Reginald w. Parry the sum of ii5-CH> for the 
privilege of keeping slot machines in said 
Officers Club. 

CHA..11:GE II: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that * * * as Club Offic~/or 
Officers Club at AAF Station 124, did, ~Station 
124, on or about 25 September 1944, wrongfully 
demand of and accept from Stanley Joseph Grove 
and Reginald w. Perry the sum of ii io.o.o for 
the privilege of keeping slot machines in said 
Officers Club. 

Specification 2: In that * * * as Club Officer for 
Officers Club at AAF Station 124, did, at AAF 
Station 124, on or about l4 November 1944, wrong­
.full.¥ demand of and accept from Stanley Joseph 
Grove and Reginald w. Parry the sum of ii 15.0.0 
for the privilege of keeping slot ma.chines in 
said Officers Club. · 

Specification 3: In that * * ~ as Club Officer !or 
Officers Club at AAF Station 124, did, at AAF 
Station 124, on or a.bout 22 November. 1944, wrong­
.fully demand of and accept from Stanley Joseph Grove 
and Reginald w. Parry the sum of ii 5.0.0 for the 
privilege of keeping slot machines in said Officers 
Club. 

He pleaded not guilty to, and was found. guilty or, both charges and 
their specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. He we.a Hntenced to be dismissed the service and to 
forfeit all ~ azid allowances due or to become due. The re-.iewing 
authority, the Commanding General, 2nd Air Division, approved the 
eentence and forwa.rded the record o! trial !or action under Article 
of ·W&r 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, European 
Theater, confirmed the sentence, though· deeming it wholly inadequate 
punishment for an officer guilty of such grave offenses and stating 
that in imposing such meager punishment the court has renected no 
credit upon ita conception of its own reaponsibillty, and withheld 
the order directing the execution of the sentence pursuant to .Article 
of War 50!. 

3. Evidence for the prosecution: 

During the period in question, one of the many "fairly ~3i,'94 

Rl:.i;J .a. li~ .LED 
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interests" of Mr. Stanley Joseph Grove, 15 A Hay Hill,. Berkeley 
Square, London, England, besides theatrical shows, liquor and 
.munitions manufacturing, was slot machines in which he was 
interested in a "rather large way", as.he leased them to officers' 
clubs and non-commissioned o££icers clubs at many United States 
Army camps in England. The slot machines were leased in ea.ch 
instance under a contract providing for an equal division of 
profits between him and the club concerned (R71 30,31,39). His 
personal representative and 11reg1onal manager in charge of the 
slot machines on .American bases of the Second Air Division" was 
Mr. Reginald w. Parry, 94 Mile Cross Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, 
England (R7,31). About April 1944, such machines were installed 
at the officers' club at Station 124 under the term.a of the "normal 
contract which was drawn up between the company and each particular 
site11 

1 providing that the gross profits of the machines would be 
divided equally (RS,37). On or about June or July 1944, accused' 
became the Club Officer at Station 124 and about a·month thereafter, 
Parry got the nim.pression" in a conversation with him that he wanted a 
11 cut" out of the slot ma.chines. Parry asked him how much he wanted. 
Accused replied, 11~ 5.0.0 a week" (R9,10). Parry thereupon paid 
him~ 5.0.0 and subsequent paym~ts of~ 5.0.0 a week later, ~ 10.0.0 
on 25 September 1944 (RlO-ll;Pros.Ex.1) 1 ~ 15.0.0 on 14 November 
1944 (Rl3,15;Pros.Ex.2) and f. 5.0.9 on 22 November 1944 (Rl6,17; 
Pros.Ex.3). 

A statement made by accused before trial after he had been 
warned of his rights (R49) was identified and admitted in evidence 
without objection (R50,53;Pros.Ex.4). Accused stated therein that 
his intentions were to use the money so received for a "petty. ca.sh" . 
fund for the club and that "I admit that I only used some of thi"s;..··; _•'; ·.:. 
money for petty cash and kept the rest for llJiY'Self". He "continued~~·<·'' 
to receive this p~Ellt of five pounds at every settlement of the 
slot machines, which settlement occurred almost every week"• 

Accused had no authority to demand or accept money from 
either Mr. Parry or Mr. Grove (R46). 

4. For the defense, two enlisted men testified regarding 
numerous payments by accused from his own pocket for incidental 
club expenses (R66-70). An investigation or the club's activities 
over a period or months disclosed a laxity of administration in . 
various particulars (R92-95). Accused requested on three occ~sions 
to be relieved as club o!ficer (R97). 

;. After his rights were explained (Rl.00), accused testified. 
He admitted the agreement with Grove regarding the payment of ~ 5.0.0 
a week,· but thought he had put all the money so received "if not a 
little more" back into the club (Rl04-105)• 

He paid "out of my pocket w1th the money I had taken from 
these slot machines" £or laundry, towels, expense money for eDli.sted 

R.E:. ;n:K......:. .1. E P 15794 
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men who made trips to London to make purchases for the club, and a 

"lot of small odds and ends" (RJ..06). He estimated he received 

approximately i:. 30.0.0 from Mr. Grove (Rll2) and admitted copies o! 

the collector's reports (Pros.Ex.1,2 and, ;3) evidencing payments to 

him on 25 September 1944, 14 and 22 November 1944 were "evidently" 

true (Rlll). In explanation of his taking the money he testified, 

"If there had been proper supervision, sir, I would never have been 

able to accept it" (Rl.18). His pretrial. statement in so far as it 

recited he kept some money for himself was false as he later dis­

covered that what he received from the machines and what he spent 

for the club "would just about balance" (Rl.15)• 


. 6.,.~'.· The offenses charged against accused are closely related 
to theccrime of bribery under the civil law (.3 Wharton's Criminal 
Law (l~th Ed., 1932)1 sec.2234, ppc2522-2525)• The evidence shows 
that ~ccused, in effect, ga.ve his official approval to reta.injng 
the a.o~ machines at the officers club for a. pr:i,ce,-a. 11cut" of i:. 5.0.0 
a week, ymich he received. Similar offenses have been_held to 
constitut'e; conduct unbecoming an officer and a. gentleman, such as 

•.. 

"Becoming, as quartermaster, corruptly interested 
in public contracts, and receiving large sums a.a 
part of the proceeds-GCM:O 57 of 1870: Paying a. 
contractor the face of a false voucher for an 
amount greater than was due, and receiving back 
from him the bala.nce--GCMO 31 of 1869; taking money 
from substitute agents for approving their appoint­
ment--GCMO .303 of 1865: Taking bribes from, and 
aiding and acting in complicity witn, substitute 
brokers--GCMO 565 of 1865; Furnishing substitutes 
for drafted men for a compensation--G.0.171 Dept. 
of the East, 1865; -1~ ·lf * Taking bribes to allow 
civilians to pass the picket line--G.0.481 Dept. 
of the Gulf, 1863; The same, to allow them to pass 
goods within the line--G.0.91 Dept. of Va., 1863 11 

(Winthrop's Military taw arid.Precedents (Reprint, 
1920), note 46 at p.717)• 

The court's findings of guilty are fully supported by the evidence. 

Accused•s offenses were clearly violations ·of Article of War 96 

(MCM, 1928, par.152.E,, p.188) and as they involved moral turpitude 

they were also offenses punishable under Article of War 95 (CM 

2581081 III Bull.JAG 381-382; CM ETO 10362, Hind.march). 


7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years one month 
of age and was commissioned a second lieutenant 30 June 1945 at 
Marianna, Florida. Prior service is shown as follows: 1116 December 
1940 to 10 April 1942 Communications Section, Infantry. 1 September 
1942 to 30 June 1943 Flight Schools"• 

-4­
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8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction ot 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

· 9 •· A sentence of dismissal. ie mandatory upon conviction of an 
offense in violation of Article of War 95 and such punishment as a 
eourirmartial 'INJ.Y' direct ia authorized upon conTiction of an officer 
o! a violation of Article of War 96. 

_ ....;:;-·=-.--..-IAMr:.__.._.. Judge Advocate __,~1.1..6....;..- __ 

~(-;~ Judge Advocate 

// //._ ~: ~ :17 
_l_~__•/\_l'.-~-;;...._,,4/<_1....,.·"'/.___~- ­....... Judge Advocate 


/ 
,' t:/ 
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lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater. R SEP 1945 TO: Commanding . 
General, United States Forces,"'Etlropean Theater (Main), APO 757, 
u. s. Artcy. 

l. In the case of Second lieutenant ARTHUR C. RUF (0-806912),
70Jrd Bombardment Squadron, 445th Bombardment Group (H), attention 
is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that ' · 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings 
of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 5oi, you now have authority to 
order execution o.t' the sentence. · 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and · 
this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is 
Oil ETO 15794. For convenience of reference, please place that 
number in b~ckets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 15794). 

( sentence ordered executed. acm 412, USFET, lS Sept 1945). 
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Branch Office of The Judge ~\dvocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO S87 


BOARD OF fu.V'IEW rm. 3 2 OCT 1945 
C1l ETO 15814 

UNITED ST.A.TES ) lST INFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 	 Trial by G:M, convened. at Bad 
Koingswert, Sudentenland,.Czechoslovald.a, 

Private AI.BEET L. DE LOGGIO ) 5 June 1945. Sentence: Dishonorable 
(3 3105054), Company "An 1 ) discharge, total forfeitures, confinement 

. 18th Infantry 	 )' at hard labor for life. United States 
) Penitentiary, Lawisburg, Pennsylvania. 

l 

HOIDING by BOAPJ) OF REVIE'l'i NO. 3 
SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DE'imY, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined. by the Beard of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in ch9.rge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General 'With the European Theater• 

2. Accused was tried upon the follomng ch9.rges and specifications: 

CHAR~ I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification l: In that Private Albert L. DeLoggio, 
CompS,ny A, 18th Infantry, then Private First Class, 
Company A, 18th Infantcy, did, at his assembly area 
in the vicinity of Aachenj Rheinprovinz, Germany, 
on or about 5 October 1944, desert the service of the 
United. States by absenting himself without proper leave 
from his orge.nization ldth intent to avoid hazardous 
duty, to w.1.t: combat w.1.th the enemy, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he was apprehended. at Liege, 
Liege, Belgium, on or about ll October 1944. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGB:. I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Haaren, Aachen, Rhein­
provinz, Germany, on or about 3 November 1944, desert . 
the service of the United States and di4 remain absent 
in desertion until he was apprehendea at Brussel~, 

15814 
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Brabant, Belgium, on or al;iout 2l November 1944. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE II: Violation of the 6~th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * having been duly placed in 
arrest on or about 16 October 1944, did, at Haaren, Aachen, 
Rheinprovinz, Germany,. on or about 3 ~vember 1944, break 
his said arrest before he was set at liberty by proper 
authority. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of all charges and 
specifications. No evidence ot previous convictions was introduced. All 
the members of the court present at the time the v9te was taken concurring, 
be was sentenced to be shot to death with musketry. The reviewing authority, 
the Commanding General, lst Infantry Divieion, approved the sentence and 
!onrarded it for action pursuant to Article ot War. 48 with the recommenda­
tion that the sentence, 11' confirmed, be commuted to dishonorable discharge, 
forfeiture ot all pay and allowances due or to become due, and confinement 
at hard labor for life. The confirming authority, the Collllll8.Ilding General, 
United. states Forces European Theater 1 confirmed the sentence but, owing 
to special circumstances in the case and the recommendation or the review­
ing authority,· commuted it to dishonorable discharge .trom the service, 
forfeiture ot all pay and allowances due or to become due, and confinement 
at hard labor for the term of his natural lite, designated the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, 
and withheld the order directing the execution ot the sentence pursuant 
to Article ot War 5oie 

3. The evidence for the prosecution may be sum:narized as follows: 

On or about l October 1941+, the Ranger Platoon, 1st Battalion, 18th 
Infantry, with which the accused, a member of CanpSJ11' .l, lst Battalion, 
18th Infantry, was then serving, moved to a wooded area near Aachen, Germany, 
and there was placed in an alert status for an attack which, according to 
the platoon guide, "n knew had to be made in the near future" (R.8-10). 
On S October, accused. wae pmient at a formation at v;hich the platoon was 
briefed for the forthcomin& operation. Although the men were not informed 
as to the exact time when the attack would start, they were restricted 
to their platoon area and were prepared to move out 'On two hours' notice 
(Rl0,11). It wae common knowledge that "it was going to be hot and we 
knew we were going to be with the assault company" (Rll). On the morning 
ot 6 October, aa the result ot a report that accused was absent, a search 
wa1 made of the platoon area but he could. not be !ound (R9). On the even­
ing ot 7 October, the platoon moved out of the area near Aachen and on 
J October participated 1n an attack in which ·-eevere opposition was en­
countered and heav;r casual tiea suffered (Rll). Although accused had no 
permiseion to be absent# he was not present with the platoon from 6 October 
through ll October. On ll October, he waa· apprehended at Liege, Belgi\11l, 
b7 an agent ot the ~6th lfilltar7 Police Cr1m1nal Investigation Section, 

-2- 15814 
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Fir.st United States A.rr:ry, and was returned under guard to the 1st 

Battalion, 18th Infantry (Rl3,18,19;Pros~E:ic.C). 


He reached the 1st Battalion on 16 October at which time 

he wa.s placed in arrest under armed guard and restricted to the limits 

of the comlll ny area of Headquarters Company, 1st Battalion, then located 

near Haaren, Germany (RlJ-15). On 31 October, he was served with a charge 

sheet embodying a charge of desertion based upon his alleged absence as 

above set forth. On l November, the guard over him we.a lifted but he 


·was advised that he continued to be under arrest and would remain in the 
corn.peny area. On 3 November, the first sergeant of Headquarters Company1 
upon failing to locate the accused when he desired to place him on a de­
tail, searched the company area and a neighboring platoon area for him 
without success. He had not been set at liberty from the arrest end 
had no permission to be absent (Rl4). He vra.s thereafter not present with 
or in the area of f.eadquarters Company, 1st Battalion, throUfJl 21 November 
1944 (Rl5,18). He was apprehended in Brussels on 21 November 1944 by 
t~e military police (Rl8,19;Pros.Ex.C). 

4. For the defense, Second Lieutenant David·J. Cooper, who had been 

a member of the Ranger PlatO()n during the time accused also was a member 

:.;f that platoon, testified thit he had participated in combat with the 

accused and that I 


11 1 can. say tha! in cqnbat he was a real. combat 
soldier. He ~splayed a lot of initiative and 
guts. He put:himself out forward and-was an 
incentive to the men in his unit. On one patrol 
he went out and did a job he wasn 1 t supposed to 
do and did the job of three men. I was a member 
of tha. t patrolII (R2l). 

iihen asked if he would like to have accUsed as a member of. his platoon, 
.he replied, 11No, sir• Not after this past incident. ·rn combat and in 
a hot spot I would say yes" (R2.l). 

~ti.fter being advised of his rig;hts as a witness, accused elected 

to remain silent (P..22). 


5. Upon the basis of the evidence presented, the court clearly 
could find th3.t accused absented himself without leave from his organiza­
tion on about 5 October 1944 with the then existing intent to avoid hazardous 
duty, as alleeed in the Specification of the Charge (C::f: CUETO 15246, 
'dhitehead; Cl': ETO 14061 Petta.piece). The evidence also clearly supports 
the court's finding that he wronefully broke arrest on about 3 November 1944, 
as alleged in the Specification of Additional Charge II (MCM 192S, par. 
139a1 pp.153,154). .Although accused's second absence was of comparatively 
short dm·ation, it was initiated by a breach of arrest and terminated by 
apprehensiotl and at th3 time of his departure accused knew he was 
awaiting trial for his former misconduct. These facts constitute a suffi ­
cient basis for the court's inference that at the time of absenting him­
self or ll.t some time during his absence he intended to remain permanently 
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away from the service and was thus guilty of desertion, as alleged in 
the Specification of Additional Charge I (cf. CM ETO 7379, Keiser; 
CM ETO 2723 , Copprue) • ­

6. The charge sheet sl1ows that accused is 25 years of age and 
was inducted 30 October 1941 at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. No prior 
service is shown~ 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the µ:rson and ol'fense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Bo<:rd of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trl~·is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the se.Iltence as commuted. 

S. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial. may direct (XN 58). Confinement 
in a penitentiary is authorized by Article of War 42. The designation 
of the United .States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania., as the 
place of confinement is authorized (Cir.229, YID, $ June 1944, sec.II, 
pa.rs.1£(4), 3£). 

....ffeaso.'.;;..-i(,.·~?.~~-"'--.g£""'_,'-"-~"&--Judge Advocate
7 

~~ ..C~.Judge Advocate 

,/ 
. .;f! , ·	.. 

, \- Judge Advocate 
------~~--~~~--------/

/ 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 2 OGT 1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main), AFO 757, 
u. s. Army. . 

1. In the case of Private ALDERT L. DE LOGGIO (33105054), 
Company 11 A11 

1 .18th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial. is legally 
sufficient to support the.findings of guilty and the sentence as 
commuted, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of 
Article of 1'lar 50~, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentence. 

' 2. When copies of th~ published order are forwarded to this 

office, they should be accompanied by the fore6oing holding and this 


ment. The file number of the record in this office is C11 ETO 

For convenience of reference, please place that number in 


brack at t.hP. Ann nf' +i.,.. ,... ...4.-.-~ (CM ETO 15814). 
 t
,':> ~ 

/I/ . ~ 
V/. /" /. ~ . 

/;;J,t·/le<t-.·~-i"· 
!. c. McNeil, 

Brigadier General, United Staees Arrq, 
lessiatant Judge Advocate General. . 

( Sentence as comimited-;dered executed. GCW 4971 USFET, ::20 Oct.1945) • 

-l ­
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Branch 0.f.fice ot The Judge J.dvoca.te General 
with the 

European Theater 
A.PO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW HO. 2 	 2 2 SEP 1~45 

CM ETO 16817 

UNITED STATES 	 ) COUTINENTA.L ADVANCE SECTION1 COMMUNI­
) CATIOUS ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF 

v. 	 ) OPERATIONS 
) ·-· 

Technician Fifth Grade ) 
!ESTER H. SWEENEY- (35779783),) 
3993rd Quarte!"master Truck ) 
Company ) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Mannheim, 
Germany, on 31 .May 1945. Sentencea 
To be hanged by the neck until dead. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN 1 HEPBURN and MILLER, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ot the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Aooused ns tried upon the .following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGEa Violation of i:he 92nd .Article o.f War. 

Spec1Hoationa In that Technician 6th Grade Lester 
H. Sweeney, 3993 Quartermaster Truck Company, 
did, at Heilbronn, Germani, on or about 8 May 
1945, with malioe a.forethought, willfully, deli• 
berately, .feloniously, unlawfully, and with pre­
meditation kill one Sergeant Loyd Bryant, 3993 
Quartermaster Truck Company, a human being, by 
shooting him. with a pistol. 

- 1 -	 1581'i 
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He pleaded not guilty a.nd, all of the members of the court present 

at the time the vote was taken concurrihg, 11'11.S found guilty of the 

Charge and Specification. Evidence was introduced of one previous 

conviction by summary court for absence without leave for one day in 

violation of Article of War 61. All of the members of the court 

present at the time the vote was ta.ken concurring, he was sentenced 

to be hanged by the neck until dead. The reviewing authority, the 

Commanding General, Continental Advance Section, Communications Zone, 

APO 667, u. s. Army, approved the sentence a.nd forwarded the record 

of trial for action under Article of War 48. The confirming authority, 

the Commanding General , European Theater, confirmed the sentence and 

withheld the order directing the execution of the sentence pursuant 

to Article of· War 50,h 


3. Evidence for the Prosecution& During the early part of May 
1945 the 3993rd Quartermaster Truck Company was stationed at Heilbronn, 
Germany (R6) and occupied one building. The ground floor was used as 
an orderly room and a dispatcher's officeJ the upper floors, for 
sleeping quarters. The accused, a msnber of the organization named 
(R6), slept on the second floor about 75 feet from the Dispatcher's 
Office and his bunk could be reached therefrom in 30 seconds and without 
being observed by one outside of the building (R3l-32). About 4 May 1945, 
the accused and Sergeant Loyd Bryant, the deceased, had a quarrel and 
were separated by an officer. Subsequently, accused com.pained that 
Bryant had hit him a.nd that that was the first time a man had ever 
slapped him. He sa.id, "I am ~oing to out his goddamn throat" and exhi­
bited a long-bladed knife (RS}. The next Di~ht accused went about in• 
quiring where various enliated personnel slept (R7). That •8.ll!-e day he 
showed one of the officera two German small-caliber automatic pistols 
(RlO). 

Accused and another aoldier left the camp area together the 

night of 7 May'. He had two automatic pistols with him and loaned 

one to the other soldier, telling him that it was loaded with two 

shells. He also showed the other soldier that the pistol that he 

retained was loaded. Af'ter drinking some wine the two r~ed to 

the camp area about one hour after midnight. They stopped to talk 

to the ~UEI' ds. .Accused brandished a pistol and said it was loaded 

(Rl9-20). He was described as intoxicated but not drunk (RlS,19,21). 

He r8ll18l'ked, "What a son-of'-a-bitoh Sergeant Bryant was", and, "I am 

going to take care of that son-of-EH>itch, and if you don't keep your 

mouth shut I will take care of you" (R20). He left the guards and 


·. he&ded toward the dispatcher• s off'ice (R20). Accused opened the door of' 
that office and yent in, f'ollowed by his companion of' the evening. 
Sergeant Bryant was asleep lying on a counter. Two other soldiers 
were also aaleep in the room. .lccused pointed hil pistol at Bryant'• 
head, and said, "It I kill thia guy will .anybody tellT" Hi• companion 

15s11· 
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persuaded him to come out of the office, but he could not get accused 
to go to bed so he left him (Rl4). Accused then went to Sergeant 
Long's room arid awakened him with a flashlight and told him that 
Bryant was asleep in the office and that he was "going to got him". 
Long talked to him awhile and told him to go to sleep (R7). Accused 
then returned to the dispatcher's office with the pistol in his hand 
(R23). The two oocupants other than Bryant saw him and ran from the 
office. The first one out, frightened by the sight of the pistol, 
got only 40 to 50 yards away when he heard a shot (R24). The other 
one was awakened by accused, who tapped him on the chest with the 
pistol. He then went out, leaving only the accused and the sleeping 
Bryant in the office. About 30 seconds later, when he was only 25 
feet away, he heard a shot and· immediately returned to the office. 
Re saw no one le~ve the office. i1hen he entered he ~aw Bryant with 
blood oozing from. his head make a gasp or two. No one else was in 
the room (R26-28). There was only one door to the office but one could 
come out of that door and turn right and go upstairs to.the sleeping 
quarters without being seen frQlll where he was (R28). A doctor examined 
Bryant within 15 minutes and pronounced him dead (R31). An autopsy • 
revealed that a bullet entered Bz-Yant's face to the right or his nose, 
pierced his brain, and caused his death (R42). An expended 7.35 caliber 
cartridge was found in the office (R37). The guards got excited and 
fired several rounds 1'rl.th their guns after the pistol shot was heard 
(R20) ~ 15 or 20 minutes later, billets we.re inspected and the accused 
was found undressed and in his bed (Rll,12). No small arms weapons 
could be found in the organization (Rll.31). 

There was introduced in evidence a pretrial written statement, 
voluntarily made by the accused. in which he· denied having a.ny pistol 
other than the one he had loaned to his fellow soldier of the evening 
and denying any knowledge of, or participation in. the killing of 
Bryant. He claimed lie was uo:iresain.g and getting into bed when he 
heard the shots. He did not know 'Where the Dispatcher' a Off'ioe waa 
located a.nd was never in it. He also denied that he ever uttered any 
threats against Bryant and did not see him o:c. the 7th or 8th of May 
1945 (R37J Proa.Ex.l) • 

• 
4•. The accused, having been tully advised regarding his rights 

a.s a witness, elected to remain silent. He stated through counsel 
tha.t there was nothing he .col.id add to his sign~d statement which 
was already in evidence (R44). · 

5. The accused ha.a been convicted of the murder of' Sergeant 
Loyd Bryant. Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with 
malice aforethought. A legal presumption of malice may arise from 

• 15817'. 

- 3 ­



(28) 

the deliberate use of a deadly weapon in a way which is likoly to 

produce. and which does produce, death (Underhill's Criminal. Evidence. 

,(4th Ed. 1935) sec.557. p.1090). Personal ill-will and hatred toward 

the person killed may constitute malice. 


The facts shown by the evidence of the prosecution prove 

beyond any reasonable doubt that the accused deliberately. after 

expressing his hatred and ill-will or malice toward the deceased. 

discharged his deadly weapon so as to ca.use the bullet to go through 

the decea.sed's brain while he was asleep. The killing of the de­

ceased was not only widely advertised by the accused in advance. but 

lfB.S pla.nned and executed in apparent cold blood. ~ 


"The proven facts disclose an act of homicidal 
0 

violence which is ln:herently or such vicious. 
brutal savagery as tc:i carry within itself· proof' 
of' malice aforethought and therefore. irrefra.gably 
stamps the offense :murder and not manslaughter" 
(CM ETO 3585, Pygate). . 

All of the elements of the offense were s~ported by ample competent 

evidence'CM ETO 438. ~J CM ETO 2007, Harris; CM ETO 3042, ~ 

CM ETO 4292, Hendricks; CM ETO 6229, Creech). . 


The accused did not take the stand to deny the a.ct but 

rested solely upon his pre-trial denial of any participation in the 

crime. Giving full credit t;o his pre-trial statement a.a if' it were 

a valid defense, it raised an issue of fact oi'ihe identity of the 

person "Who killed the decased. The court resolved the issue against 

the accused. Inasmuch as the determination of facts is within the 

exclusive province of the court, its findings of guilty when based 

on substantial evidence as here will not be disturbed by the Board 

upon review (CM ETO 4194. ~). 


Neither insanity nor drunkenness was suggested as a defense. 

There was, however. some evidence that the accused was intoxicated, 

but not drunk. Voluntary drmtl!mnesa is no excuse tor crime committed 

"While in that condition, but it ms.y be considered as affecting mental 

capacity to entertain specific intent (MGM, 1928, par.12Sa, p.136). 

A:rJ:y suggestion in the instant case. that the intoxication of the ac­

cused might have 'affected his mental capacity to entertain the neces­

sary malice aforet..hought involved in the crime ot murder is refuted, 

not only by his expressed intentions to commit the crime, but also 

by his ounning and agility in undressing and getting into his bed 

in his et.fort to avoid detection. Again. the suggested issue was 


• 15811 
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one of fact for th&' court to determine. Its decision, under the 
circumstances, is tina.l {CM ETO 14745, RowellJ C14 ETO 10780, ~}. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offense. No errors injuriously a.ffecting the 
substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Bo~ of Review is or the opinion that the record of trial is legally 

· sufficient to support the findings ot guilty an~,~the sentence. 

7. The charge sheet shows the accused to be 29 y,£8..t-a and six 
months of age., Without prior service, he was inducted on 25 January 
1944 at Huntington, West Virginia. 

a. The penalty for 
, 

murder is 
, 

death or life imprisonment e.s the 
court-martial ma.y direct (AW' 92). 

(TEMPORARY DUTY) Judge Advocate 

-...~2/i-.~ .&keMLY\Judg• ~vo••h 
~'j;o-~ Judge Advooate 

?": 

J WT~..... ,, 

1581 
- 5 ­



RESTR!C~~ J;; 

(30) 

lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office ot .l'he ciu~f3r.A.dvocate General wih the 

European Theater. 2 ~ SU' 1~4J TO& Commandi.ng 

General, United States Forces, European Theater (Ya.in), A.PO 757• 

u. s. Army. 

l. In the case of Technician Fifth Grade LESTER H. SWEENEY 
(35779783), 3993rd Quartermaster Truck Company, attention is invited 
to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of 
trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and . 
the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions· 
of .Article of War 5~, you. now have authority to order execution of 
the sentence. 

2. 'When copies of' the published order are forwarded to this 

office, they' should be accompanied by the foregoing holding, this 

inioraement and 'the recor'd of trial, Which is delivered to you here­

with~- The file number of' the record in this office is C'.u1 ETO 15817. 

For convenience of reference, please plao•. that number in brackets 

at the end of the orders (CM ETO 15817). ' 


3. Should the sentence as im~'ed by the court and ocnfirm.ed 

by you be carried into execution, ii s requested t1it copy 

or the proceed~$ be forwarded to t' 13 office . < . e~ tha. <~ 

files~e c\slii>lete. 


·~: (t; h~!:. I 
-'·-•:, '... 

E. c. M'cNE!t,, 
.Brigadier G1eneral, United States Army, 
A,ssistant «fudge Advocate General. 

~----------~~~~~~~~~~--~~--------
(Sentence· confirmed but after reconsideration commute_d to ~ishonorable 

disch,qrge, total forfeitures, anci. confinement for li!eit Persuant to par 8'7b 
lell 1928 so much of previous action dated 4 Aug 1945 as inconsistent with this 
action recalled. Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GCMO 499, USFET • 
2J Oct 1945). 

http:ocnfirm.ed
http:Commandi.ng


(.31) 


Branch Office ot The Judge Advocate General 
with. the 

European 'lheater 
APO 887 

Bal.RD OF REV!mr NO. 3 
2 9 SEP .1945 

Cll ETO 15836 

UNITED STATES CH.A.~NP'..L B&SE SECTION, COWJIJNICA• · ~ TIONS zmm, DJROPEAN THEllER 
v. ) 

) Trial. by GCM, convened at Liege, 
Private First Class EDWARD ) Belgium, 22 June and 5 July 1945. 
WHITE (34754861) 1 3717th ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
~artermaster Truck Compan;y ) total forfeitures, ani confinement 

) at hard labor for lite. United 
), States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

SLEEPER, ~ERMAN and D'El'l'EY, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case ot the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Speeit:l.eationl 

CHARGEz Violation ot the 92nd 1rtiele ot War. 

Specifications ~ that Private First Class F.dward 
White, .3717th ~artermaster Truck Comp8lJ\Y did, 

. at Chenee, Belgium, on or ab0t1t 19 May 1945; nth 
malice atorethonght, 'Wilf'ull.y, deliberately', · 
feloniously', unlalrful.ly', and 1'1th premedi tat.1.on 
kill one Technician Fitth Grade Will Mosely, a 
human being by shooting him witJ:>. a pistol. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two thirds ot the members ot the court 
present at the ti.me the vote was taken concnrring, was found guilty 
of the Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. 'lbree-tourths ot the members ot the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be'dis­
honorably discharged the service, to torteit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due, ·~d to be confined at hard labor, at such place 

-1- J.583f. 
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as the reviewing authority' may- direct, :ror the term ot his natural 
lite. The reviewing authority' approved. the sentence, designated · 
the United States Penitentia.r,r, Lewisrurg, Penn.qlvania, as the place 
ot contl.nement, and .fonrarded the record ot trial tor actimi pu.rsuant 
to .&rticle ot War SO!. . 

). Prosecution's evidences 

'!be 4008th Quartermaster Tru.ck Company held a dance at a 
theater in Chenee, Belgium, on the evening ot 19 liq 1945 (m.O-ll,14). 
Between the theater auditorium and the street the_re was a large 
lobby. Opening ott the lobby to its right facing the street was a 
caf'e, 'Which also had an exit on the street. · 1here were a tmr steps 
down to the street .from the lobby fioor exit (Rl.5; Det.Ex.l). 

During the evening, bef'ore 1145 hours, two soldiers (identi!!.ed 
by defense evidence as accused am Private Joseph Powell of his comparrr
(R47-48)}were seated at a table in the cate. Technical Sergeant . 
William Ingram, 4008th Quartermaster Truck Compacy, observing that 

. ·one of these soldiers (identified by defense evidence as Powrell 
(R.47-48)) had his head on his arms on the table, walked over am asked 
him if he were sleepy. Powell said "No." The other soldier (identi ­
fied by defense evidence as accused (R.47-48)) said, "What do you 
have to do with him?" and took out a .25 caliber pistol. Ingram 
remarked, "You don't have to pull out a gun. I don't mean acy harm" 
and added, "I just asked if he were sleepy". Accused put the weapon 
in his shoe while Ingram immediately went into the dance hall (RlO) 
to obtain his jacket, the pocket or which contained. a pistol. He 
returned to the care with "my hand in my pocket and the gun was in 
my pocket" (RJ..2). However, his first sergeant relieved him or the 
weapon, having seoo it and being engaged in "taking all the guns he 
smr in the company" (R131 5'8,61). Ingram then observed that "they 
were putting one or the soldiers out the door" (RlO). Accused was 
later observed, his mouth and nose bleeding, backing across the 
street outside the lobby of the theater (R22-2.3,31,35). At that time 
Technician Fifth Grade Will Mosel.7 (deceased) waa standing outside 
the lobb7 on the steps leading to the street level about ten teet 
from accused. Accused aimed a .25 caliber pistol toward deceased and . 
fired (RJ.8,21-22,24,27,.31-.3~,36). Deceased tell to the ground with 
his ha?Xls to his stomach (RJ.4,21,24,28,30). His death a few hours 
later resulting from a bullet wound was caused primarily by a 
"hemorrhage front the abdominal aorta" (R6-7) • 

.ltter the shooting, accused delivered to' the investigating 

officer a· .25 caliber "Belgique pistol" which he indicated was the 

weapon he fired the night of 19 May 1945 (R.44). ~estioned by First 

tieutenant Lonnie J. YcCal. l, 4008th Quartermaster Truck Company, 

accused identified this weapon as his and.the ·one he used the night 

deceased was ld.lled (R.45-46; Pros.Ex.4). · 


4. For the defense, POW'ell testified that it was about 2200 

hours on 19 May 1945'when he and accused arrived at the dance in 
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Chenee, Belgium. They' danced a couple or dances and went to the care 

llhere they- sat at a table aod ordered two beers. Powell leaned on 

the table w.1. th bis head in his hands. A sergeant walked up and said, 

"Wake up, we don't sleep here•. Poweµ did not argue and leaned back on 


· the table a.tter another soldier remarked, "Don't pay an::r attmtion to 
him. He's drunk". The sergeant soon returned.with six or seven 
soldiers, grabbed him by the shoulder and said, "You don't sleep in 
here•• llhen Powell protested that he was not sleeping, the sergeant 
_grabbed him agsLn bj" the shoulder, •started arguing, one word arter 
another". The sergeant bronght out a .38 caliber pistol and three 
soldiers pushed Powell out or the door or the ca.re. Powell went up 
the street to his lert. Accused walked out and "when he threw up bis 
pistol the .first time, it did not go orr, and the Sergeant was stand­
ing in the doorrray when the shot was .fired". The sergeant fired and 
accused "fired twice a.rter this sergeant" (R.47-49). The next moming 
accused said to Powell."1! any-one got shot he imagined he did it• 
(R.5'1). 

Charles Cochart, Ro.e de l'Egllse 91-991 manager ot the theater 

in Chenee, observed two soldiers at a table in the care on the _evening 

'of 19 May 1945, one of whOm lfaS "lying down". He 


n	saw from the hall side a soldier coming in who 
came and shook the one that was lying dawn and then 
the one that was opposite seemed to get cross and he 
pulled a pistol out. I saw the sergeant jump on it. 
He twisted the soldier's arm and pulled his pistol 
away from him. I think that he unloaded the gun and 
put it in his pocket and ·r think he led him out into 
the yard" (R52.-53). 

5. After his rights were explained accused elected to remain 

silent (R5&-57). 


6. While there was some conflict between the testimony of the 

prosecution and defense witnesses, it was clearly established that 

accused and Powell were seated at a table in the ca.fa when Ingram, re­

senting Powell's corrluct in assuming a sleeping position at the table 

spoke to him about it. Accused drew a pistol which caused Ingram to go 

arter his own weapon. Unidentified soldiers ejected POffell from the 

care. Accused lert at about the same time and while standing outside 

in the street fired a .2~ caliber pistol at deceased, the bullet 

striking him in the abdomen and causing his death. There was no evid­

ence to indicate that deceased took any part in the disturbance that 

followed POl'rell's conduct in the care. 


The homicide in this instance follows the pattern or a care 

brawl' in which an accused using a dangerous weapon causes the death 

of an innocent bystander. Such conduct is 1111rder as ful.ly discussed 

by t"'.e Board or Review in the case of CY ETO 3042, Guy, Jr., in 11hich 

an in".c:.cent bystander was killed and wherein it was said: 
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"whether or not accused's intent to kill was 
tonned. suddenly, under the infiuence or an uncon­
trollable passion or emotion aroused by ad.eqo.ate 
provocation, whether or not a sufficient •cooling 
pericd 1 had elapsed or whether the formation ot the 
intent was the result of mere anger, were questions 
or tact peculiarly within the province or the court, 
whose determination thereot against the accused in 
.finding him guilty or mrder rather than manslaughter 
is supported by substantial evidence and will not 
be disturbed upon appellate review". 

. 
In the present case, the evidence or accused's unjustifiable tiring at 
M:osely, whoU,. unprovoked b;y the latter, a mere casual bystander, 
i"ally warranted the c01.irt in· finding him guilty or D111rder as alleged 
(CY ETO. 3042, ~_J;r., sulra; CM ETO 292, Mickles; CM ETO 2007, Harris, 

' Jr. J Cll ETO 3!BD,"Parter • · 

7 • The charge sheet shows acC"1sed is 21 years one month or age 

and was inducted 25 June 1943 at Fort Benning, Georgia. He had no 

prior serrlce. 


a. ~e court; was legally constituted anc'..had jurisdiction or the 
j>erson and orrense. No errors injuriousl,- atrecting the substantial 
rights or _accused were committed during the trial. The Board ot.Revin 
is or·the opinion that the record or trial is legally sufficient to 
support the .findings.or guilty- am the sentence. 

9. The penalty tor murder is death or lire imprisonment as the 
court-martial. ~ direct (AW 92). Confinement in a pen:1.tentiary is 
authorized upon conviction or mrder by Article or War 42 and sections 
275 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 454,567). The designation 
ot the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pau1sylvania1 as the 
place or confinement, is proper (Cir.2~, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, 
par• .1!?_(4)' 3!?,). . 

, ~ Judge ~vocate 

Jn~ (', ~~dge Advocate 

~ ,.,...- //_,./ 

/ 

) . 
,_·_J_,,'- .. ·_ll-f· _.•_!_~"-·.._J__.{.._t_Judge Advocate··_ .... 

,. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
.APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 ti 9 OC f _1945 

CM ETO 15840 

UUITED STATES ) 69TH mF.Ai'iTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by CCI.I, convened at APO 
) . 417, United States Army (Germany), 

Private First Class ALBERT. F. ) 21 :May 1945. Sentence: :Vis-
BISHOP (11014832), Headquarter~· ) honorable discharget total 
Company, 3rd Battalion, 272nd ) forfeitures and confinement at 
Infantry . ) hard labor for! life. United 

) States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLD ING· by BOARD OF P.EVIEW HO. 2 

HEPBURN,_ 1HLLER and COLLINS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case ·of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the.Board of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General With ~he European Theater •. 

2. Accused was tried upon the folloVling charges and specificationst
. ! 

CHARGE Ia Violation of the 92nd. Article of War. 

Specification• In that Private first class Albert 
F. Bishop, Headquarters Company, 3rd Battalion, 
272 Infantry, did, at Borsdorf, Germany, 0n or 
about 1.7 April, 1945., forcibly and feloniously 
against her will, have carnal knowledge of Maria 
Ostenska. 

C-.tIARGE IIt Violation of the 63rd Article of War. 

Specifications In that • • • did, at Borsdorf, 
Germany, on or about 17 April, 1945, behave 
with disrespect toward First Lieutenant 
Marshall Aaron, his superior officer, by 
saying to him "Like bell I will", or words 
to that effect .... 

1.584{ 
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CH.AR.GE III: Violation of·the 64th Article of War. 

Specification; · In that • • * having received a 
lawful order from First Lieutenant Marshal~ 
Aaron, his superior officer, to "Stay where 
you are~ did, at Borsdorf, Germany, on. or· 
about 17 April, 1945, willfully disobey the 
same. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members present at the t}Jne the 
vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the charges and speci­
fications. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced·. All 
of the members of the court present at the time.the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced to be hanged by the neck until dead. The 
reviewing authority approve1 the sentence and forwarded the record of 
trial for action under Article of War 48 with a recommendation that, in 
view of the accused's previous excellent record and the fact that the 
victim of the rape was not Qtherwise physically ·mistreated·, the sentence 
be corimutec to dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for the term t;if his natural. life. The confirming auth­
ority, the Commanding General, Unitea States Forces, European Theater, 
confirmed the sentence, but, owing to special circumstances in the case 
and the recOllllT~ndation of the reviewing e.uth~rity, commuted the sentence 
to dishonorable discharge, forfeiture of all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and confinement at hard labor for the term of accused's 
natural life, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and withheld the order directing 
execution of the sentence pursuant to Article·. of War 5ok. 

3. Evidence for the Prosecution 

a.. Charge I (Rape)a On 17 April ~945, during de..yligh~ hours near 
· Borsdorf, Germany, the accused, a private first class in Headquarters 


Company, 3rd Battalion, 272nd Infantry (Rl7, 19, 40) drove a "jeep". He 

stopped and invited a 15 year old Polish girl, Maria Ostanska, 'Ybom he 


· he.d seen on the road to enter the vehicle. Reluctantly and upon the 
urging of girl companions she accepted the invitation (RS).. She could 
speak and understand only Polish, which language he could not speak. 
Instead.of driving her in the direction she asked him (by sign manual) to 
take her, he drove toward Borsdorf. He passed the connnend post of a 
platoon of an antiaircraft battery located .in a house in front of which 
stood First Lieutenant Marshall Aaron, the platoon commander, and 3 
enlisted men (Rl7,23,26). Accused drove past them, turned a.round, and. 
returned to within 20 yards of them· and there turned sharply into a lane 
and stopped the jeep' in ·a field at a distance estimated at 50 to 100 yards 
away (Rl7-18, 28-29). About 30 minutes later members of this group saw 
the accused and the girl arise from the grass near the standing jeep and 
enter it. Accused then turned the jeep about, stopped and lighted & 
cigarette and then proceeded ahead (R29). As he was about to·arive out 

· onto the highway, Lieutenant Aaron halted him because he he.d b·roken .a· 
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communication wire when he drove in to the lane (Rl8,29). The girl was 

crying "but was not. making any noise" (R26). The lieutenant thought 

she was frightened because she was caught with a soldier and conc·erned 

himself with having the accused fix the broken wire. Her clothes were 

not disarranged, torn, or dirty (R26). · She appeared frightened and 

ashamed (R27). "She had been crying and had }+er hands over her face 

and she was pretty hysterical" (Rl9). He turned "the girl over to one 

of the enlisted men who spoke and understood Polish (Rl9). When • 

questioned by.the enlisted man as to what had occurred she said in 

Polish. that she had done ··something "bad" which me8.I)t in Polish that she 

had had intercourse (R29). She stated that the r'eas.on she coul:d not 

prevent the accused from having intercourse with her was because she 

could not speak English. She gave no other reason (R32,34), but "she 

was upset and hysterical" (R33). She was then taken to an officer of 

the Medical Corps for examination. Upon examination he found ~ few 

small tears in the lining of her vagina and upon inserting and with­

. drawing one finger bright red blood followed which showed that the 
hemorrhage was the result of injury. · The condition indicated that 
some object larger than the vagina orifice had entered it by force (R35). 
There were no bruises or other injuries on he.r body (R36-37), nor did 
her clothes show signs of a recent struggle (R38). · 

One of the' enlisted inen examined the area from which he had seen • 
the accused and girl arise. .It looked as if "it had been "layed in" b-q.t 
showed no signs of a struggle or scuffle. It was visible from where 
the group stood, but it was cove.red with grass of sufficient height to 
obscure persons lying in it (R34). When a search was made of the place, 
after the incident, a pair of dark glasses belonging to Maria was found 

· (Rl4,18,30) and there was blood on leaves md twigs (R30). · No one 
noticed whether accused had a weapon with him at .any time (R23), nor 
whether the girl was weeping when she walked over to and re-entered the 
jeep after being in the grass. It appeared as if accused and the 
young woman approached the jeep separa~~ly - one.followed the other (R23). 

Maria testif;ea that when the accused stopped the Jeep in the 
field he dismol,lnted ~R then ordered her to leave the .vehicle. When she 
hesitated to comply/liW1demand, he grabbed his weapon.· She saw a man 
and his wife whom she knew near the road and "started to holler"" but 
the· accused dragged her out of'the jeep. She screamed •. He hit her 
twice and "you know what the rest.is" (R8). She insisted· that she 
could not tell what happened because she did not "know how to say it" 
(RB). . After much coaxing and persuasion and lea.dine questions, which 
failed to elicit from the girl testimony concerning accused's carnal 
connection with her, the court recessed 

"With the consent of the def~nse counsel a.nd 
accompanie-:: by the defense counsel an,· 
attempt vias made to have the witness forget 
her embarrassment and tel.l a full story" (R9) •. 

Upon r~convenin2 of the court the girl testified that 
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''When I began to scream he, hit me twice and 
grabbed his weapon a.nd threw me down" (R9). 

' ' ' 

She testified further he then lift~d her dress, and' when asked to 

proceed with the narrative she again stated, "I just don't know how 

to say it" (RIO). Then. 


,, 
"At the suggestion of the co'l:tl't and with the 
consent of the defense cnunsel the witness' 
mother was brought into tha room and advised 
that she must remain silent - that her 
presence was to help ease the embarrassment 
of the witness" (RlO). 

After the mother's ent>ance into the court room the girl stated. that "he 
/j.ccuse{/ lay. d ovm on me" (RlO) but insisted that she did not "know. how 
to say it" (RIO). Again the court reeeued for a brief period and upon 

_resumption of proceedings, Maria iestified that the accused threw her 
down and lifted up her dress, removed_ her pants and 11h8.d intercourse with 
me'!. _When asked. if accused's :Penis penetrated her organ she ·answer8d 
affirmatively (Rll). She claimed she did "everything" to stop him, in 
that sh.e tried to eet away from under him, end' she pushed him, but she 

.did ~ot.scratch, bite, or kick, or pull_his hair (Rll, 15). She yelled 
"all I could" until he hit her. She became scared when he took his 
carbine and threatened her with it (Rll-13). She did not scream while 
on the ground because he covered her mouth with his hand. Her pants were 
not torn by their removal (Rl6). She denied that he kissed her or that 
she kissed him. She stated that .she put on. her untorn pants after the 
act occurred. She claimed that she was crying from. the time he pulled 
her out of the jeep and "hollered" loudly. She suffered no pain during 
the intercourse or thereafter (R46-47). 

' b. Charges II and III (Disrespect toward end willful disobe~ience of 
'Lieutenant Aaron).

' 

After the accused had fixed the wire that he had broken, and 
arter the Polish girl had been questioned and taken to an Army me~ical 
officer, Lieutenant Aaron and the accused engage~ in a heated discussion 
concerning the girl and the accused., s conduct. · .> i'fuen questioned as to 
the presence of the girl in the jeep accused asserte~ he had "picked 
her up do1•m the lane * * * picked her up at the second house" (Rl8). 
There was no "second house" (Rl8). Accused further stated to Lieutenant· 
Aaron that he "was taking her to her motherw (Rl8). They w~re both 
angry. The officer then stated to him that his statements were false. 
The accused's attitude was unsoldierly (R25-26). The lieutenant may 
have said, rr)'lhe.t are you, ~ God-damned recruit?" but did ·not remember 
that (R22). Accused got out of the jeep and wanted to talk to the 
lieutenant "man to man" as he observed that the lieutenant wore the 
insignia of the Coast Artillery Corps and the accused had served in that 
Corps 'f;or four years in Panama. The lieutenant told him to get back 
into the jeep e.na· to watch out how he was talking. He did as_ directed 

·but v.he'.1 the lieutenant told him to stay right v.here he was, he ~~~ -"f 
J ... \.') q . 
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the lieutenant and said "like hell, I 'will" and drove off. The lieutenant 
detected' the odor of liquor on his breath and wanted him to stay in the 
jeep so that he could send for someone to talce him into custody (R20-21). 

4. After his rights ac a witness had been explainen to him, accused'. 
elected to testify in his own behalf. He admitted that he accosted the 
girl en the road, invitee her into the jeep and then drove into a side 
road for a distance of about fifty yards and steppe~. They both left 
the jeep and walke1 over to. a fence about 4 feet high. There he first 
lay down and she did the same.. She understood what he wanted although 
they did not speak the same la.'1.guage and when he opened his trousers .she 
lifted up her dress and assisted him in having interaourse with her. 
l"lhen he completed t~e copulation, he arose, arra."lged his clothing and 
entered the jeep. She followed him and also entered the jeep. ile drove 
up the lane and turned around, stopped, lit a cicarette, a."ld started 
forward. When within 15 feet of the main hi:_:;hway Lieutenant Ae.ron 
stopped hi!jl• ·~"f'nen the girl saw the officer she started toj cry. The 
officer complained about a broken commu.."lication wire and accused offered 
to and did fix it. Lieutenant Aaron escorted the girl from accused's 
jeep to his ,own jeep where she was questioned by an enlisted man who 
spoke Polish, and then the officer commenced to question him concerning 
his name, hilf outfit, the girl, and what he had been doing with her. 
Lieutenant Aaron became e.ne;ered and called the accused a "God-damned 
recruit". Accused told him that he had spent 4} years in Panama in 
the Coast Artillery. The officer was also in the Coast Artillery and 
said, "how come we can't get along"? Accuse~ said they could not get 
along because of the name he cal~ed the accused. Lieutenant A.e:ron then 
tole him to stay where he was. ·He replied that he had to lay coon:uni­
cation lines and added "like hell I wip" and drove .off (R40-42). He 
denied that he ever struck the girl or threatened her •1it?l any '"1eapon. 
There was an M-1 in the jeep but he did not use it. She did not 
scream or resist (R42-43). He had no si~ns. of blood on himself (R44). 

One of the enlisted men stanc ing on the highv1ay with Lieutenant 
Aaron curing the time the accuser drove by with the eirl testifie~ for 
the defense a~d stater tµat he saw the accuse~ drive in to the lane and 
about 30 minutes later c~~e out of the lane in the jeep. During that . 
time, the accused was within 100 yards of him and. if the girl b.ad yelled 
or screamed he would have heard it. He heard no scream or yell (R39-40). 

5. With reference to Charr::;es II and III, the evidence for the 
prosecution showe~ anr! the accused admitted, 'that when he receiver' a 
lawful order from a supe.rior .officer, Lieutenant Aaron, to stay where 
he was, he not only willfully disobeyed the order but also behaved with 
disrespect toward the officer by saying "Like hell I will" and drove off 
in his jeep. Vihile both offenses were part of the same t"ransaction, 
it was proper to charge them as separate offenses (Cl! ETO 6694~ Wt.rnock, 
and authorities therein cited). Such conduct under the circumstances 
constitutes a violation of Articles of War 63 and 64 (CM ETO 6194, Sulham; 
CM .--:To 106, ~; 1ICM, 1928, par.133, p.146). 
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· 6. a •. Preliminary .to considerat.i<m. of the question whether the 
record of trial ;s legally sufficient to_ support the findings of accused's 
guilt. of the crime of re.pe# it is necessary to determine v.hether accused• s 
rights were substantially prejudiced. by the procedure involved in the . · 
interrogation of the prosecution wftness, Maria Ostenska, the victim of · 
the. alleged rape.. The record shcms'that the young.woman was an unwilling, 
but not a hostile witness., Her testimony was given through an interpreter 
as she had no knowled·ge of the English language. . Her direct examination ­
is pregnant with· proof' of her beplderment and embarrassment. She was at 
the time of trial but 15 years of age. . It is fair to infer tha'E she was 

, a displaced. pe'rson as she is of Polish nationality and at the time of the 
.incident was discovered ·deep in the heart of Germany. Her clothing was 

described by Captain Robert s. Tinkham, Medical Detachment,· 272nd Infantry, 

who made & physical examinaticn;i. of her· soon after the affair, as being 


·"unkempt". It was "poor and dirty" (RS8). While t,he record is entirely 
silent as to her background it does not require much. imagination on the 
part of the reviewer to place her within the large group of civilians on 

. the continent of Europe who are today pathetic and tragic victims of 
war. Captain Tinkham's testimony permits the.definite inference that 

·. prior to the adt of intercourse "11th accused she was a virgin. 

The young woman was the principal witness before a court­
martial in a capital case. She w~s suddenly thrust into surroundings 
strange and confusing to her. ·She was required to relate to men of 
an alien nationality the details of an event of the most intimate and 
personal nature. Natural modesty temporarily closed· the mouth of 
the child. She spoke freely of those incidents which did not touch or 
pertain to the a.ctual coition, but when testimony was necessary to establish 
accused's carnal connection with her she "did not know how to say it". The 
rule prohibiting the use_of leading questions on direct examination of a 
witness was· properly relaxed (MCM, 1928, par. l2lc, p.128). Both the 
trial judge advocate and the law member by use of-leading questions attempt­
ed to secure from the witness testimony pertaining to the copulation, but 
the efforts were futile. The girl persisted in her statement that.she 
did not "know how to explainn • Afte;r the· rec,e SS Of the court for the 
purpose of having "the witness forget her embarrassment and tell a·.f'ull 
story", she a.sse~ted "You know·I.don'..t know how.to say it" (RlO). 

The court was thus presented with a difficult situation. In 
'the.interest of justice it was entitled to hear from the mouth of the 
witness the details of her co'pulation with accused. 'Fhere is no mandate 
of~la.wwhich required the court to remain supine and helpless under such 
circumstances, and thereby allow the accused an advantage to which he was 
not entitled. Beyond peradventure the court was not authoriz~d to use 
physical or~ violence·to compel the witness to testify. It is 
obvious also that the remedies provided by the 23rd Article of fl~ whereby 
a non-military witness who refuses to testify before a court~martial 

. sitting in the contineJltal United States may be punished were not availeb le 
to the court in the instant case. 

Confronted.with the alternative of allowing the vital facts of 
the cas~ to remain undisclosed and thereby.frustrate justice or to devise 
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means whereby the embami.ssed 8.I).d timid witness mir,ht be induced to speak 

freely, the court adopted the latter course. It was but a natural and 

practical procerure to bring into ~&:ffurt room the mother of the young 

girl in the hope that her presence/1n some degree relieve the. latter from 

her embarrassment and reticence. The mother was strictly enjoinec that 

she must remain silent anrl it was explained to her "that her presence was 

to help ease the embarrassment of the witness". There is not even a 

suggestion in the record of trial that the mother did otherwise than obey 

the court's instructions. 


In the actual conduct of a trial a lar[e discretion must be vested 
in a court-martial in order that it may efficiently .and expe~itiously 
perform its duties.· 'l:his discretion does not permit arbitrary, un­
reasonable or captious exercise of authority. The discretion with which 
a court is endowe~. is a judicial discretion to be exercised v1ithin limits 
of reason, logic and common sense. Vfuen exercised within.such ambit the 
decision· or actions of the court will, on appellate review, be·accepted as 
final (Cl-1: ETO ,895, ~· et al). Examples of the proper exercise of 
judicial discretion are: the relaxing of the rule prohibiting leading 
questions on direct examinatfon (1;c1.1, 1928, par. 12lc, p.128)1 granting 
or denying a motion to sever the trial. of accuse~ ch-;l-r;ed ,iointly (Ibid1 

·par. 'TE_, p.55; CM ETO 895, ~' et al) or severally (CM ETO 6148, lJear 
and Douglas); the order of the ·introduction of evidence (Hinthrop's 
:Military Law and Precedents (Reprint 1920) p.286; MCM, 1928, par. 12la, 
p.126); the determination of th~ desirability or necessity of the separ­
ation and exclusion of witnesses (Winthrop's Military Law and. Precedents 
(Reprint 1920); p.284; Gates v. United States (CCA 10th, 1941), 122 F(2nd) 
571, 577, cert. denied '3141l".s~ 698, 86 L.Ed.558; Meti, 1928, par.121, pp. 
126, 127), the exclusion of ·spectators from the court room (11Cr.I, 192-8, par. 
49e, p.38); and the seating arrangement of the accused in the court room 
(CM ETO 804, Ogletree, et al; C:ti ETO 1284, ~et al). 

The methods of procedure of the court in the instant case with 

respect to relieving the victim of the alleged rape from eiiibarrassment 

and overcoming her reticence to the end that she might freely and fairly 

disclose the facts and circumstances of accused's carnal connection with 

her.was.a matter peculiarly within the sound judicial discretion of the 

court. 


"The presence in court, in view ~f the jury of near 
relatives of the victim of the crime charged * • • 
is within the discretion of the court • • •"(16 CJ sec. 

2059,p.811). 

"• * * generally the presence in court, in view of 
the jury, of.near relatives of the victim of the 
crime charged, or the presence in court. in view 
of the jury. of near relatives of accused, is within 
the court's discretion" (23 CJ~ sec. 970,pp.297,298). 

It cannot fairly be said that the presence of the mother in the 

cour-.; 'com caused the daughter to color the testimony. Prior to the 

a.dmissi~n of her mother to the presence of the court she had testified 
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to facts which, as will hereinafter be demonstrated, supported the finding 
that the act of intercourse was not voluntary.on her part. Sh~ had 
exculpated herself from the accusatipn that she was a willing and co-. 
operative party to the sexual act. In her· embarrassed expression= •1 
don't know how to stiy it" (RS); 11He * * • threw me down and forced me• · 
(RS); ~*•*when he forced me you know ?mat.happened" (R9); •1 just 
don.it know how to explain" (R9) and "You know·! don't know how to explain• 
(Rll), there is the plain and irrefrageable implication that accused had 
carnal connection with her. After her mother was in the court and the 
ensuing recess occurred, her testimony met the technical requirement of 
proofa 

11when he threw me do"Wn and lifted my dress 
then he had intercourse with me" (Rll). 

Upon being asked, "Did his penis penetrate into -your org~? 11 , sh.e answered, 
"Yes"' (Rll). Without tliis definite, positive statement. as to the coition, 
her testimony produce1 the certain inference that the sexual aot'wa.s 
performed. Her positive testimony as to the act of· inter.course therefore 
did no more than convert the inference whiah arose.from her prior state­
ments into a definite declaration that accused had. carnal knowledge of her. 

Ii· 
As a result of a critical enalysil! of the girl's testimony and a· 

careful study of the court room procedure, the Board of Review cannot sq 
that the court abused its discretion in the handling of this difficult 
situation. . Oppositely, the conclusion: •is that .the court performed, its 
duties in an admirable and conscient~ous manner, without prejudice to the 
substantial rights of accused and consonant with fair and honest. judicial 
process •. 

b. Accused in his testimony in open court admitted .that he had 
sexual intercourse with Maria Ostenska at the time and .place alleged. 
The•young woman~ as above shown, testified as to the completed act of 
intercorirse including penetration. Therefore, the first element of t}l, 
crime of rape was proved beyond reasonable doubt (MGM, 1928, par.148b, 
p. 165). There ·remains for consideration of the question whether there 
is substantial evidence that the intercourse was with force. arid without 
liiaria 1 s consent (Ibid). . 

In·aetermining this question, the overall e~idence should be 
considerer1 rather than conf'ining the examination to the proof of events 
at the time and place of the act of intercourse. The young woman 
entered the jeep driven by accused at his invitation. They were complete 
strangers, but consicering the fact that at ·the time of the episode, the 
area wherein the events transpired was but newly conquered by the invading 
hosts of the American army with consequential displacement of conventions 
and practices of orderly society, there is nothing surprising that a 
young girl should accept such invitation from an American soldier. It 
is but a fair inference that a.ccu se~ was 11 on the· prowl 11 and his invitation 
harl an ulterior purpose as events proved. Accused then drove his jeep to 
a point on the roB.d where he obviously saw a lane_ which led into the 
fields. This assertion is proved by the fact that he passed the opening 
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of the lane and then turned about on the road, returned to it and entered 
the lane. Upon arriving at a place in the field located by the witne~ses 
from 50 to 100 yards from the road, accused stopped his vehicle and 
ordered the girl to leave it. When she delayed obedience to his command 
he forcibly dragged her from the jeep. Maria was explicit in her test ­
imony as to her attempts to call for help and of accused's acts in muffling 
her cries. She insisted that he struck her t·wice end finally 'pushed her 
to the ground. During this time, she connnenced to cry (R47). In spite of 
her protestation, he lifted her dress and removed her pants. He then 
placed himself on top of her. . She resisted by trying to push him away by 
use of her hands and arms, but "I didn't have strength enough to push him 
a.way" (Ri5). Marie. is but a young girl who is rather small a.7ld accused is 
"a pretty good sized man" (R45). She knew accusec! was armed with an 11-1 
rifle (R44)., The girl asserted, · ; 

' 
"When I was in the jeep it ~he rifle? was in the 
.jeep, end -when he was in the field !t was in the 
field" (Rl4). 

These facts afford a fair measure of the degree of the victim's resistance. 

Upon completion of intercourse accuse~ disengaged himself and he and 
the girl entered the jeep. Accused t~rnec the vehicle about and following 
th$ lane, drove toward the road. . When he reached the road, he was 
h&lted by Lieutenant Aaron. .The girl held her hands to her face and showed 
evidence that she had b,een crying. The officer took her to an American 
soldier who spoke and understood the Polish language. He interrogated 
her as to occurrences. She exclaimed, "Oh, my Ood, I hate to tell you 
-what happened", but eventually declared· that accused had enge.geQ, in sexual. 
interctiurse with her.· When asked by the soldier why she did not stop 
accused "The only ans11er she·tave wasthat she could·not speak English" (R33). 
At that time she was crying and was hysterical •. 

A physical examination by an army medical officer made a short time 
after the events above described disclosed that there were tea.rs in the 
girl 1 s vagina with hemorrhage. The condition indicated that sOm.e object 
larger than the vagina orifice had entered it. There were no signs· 
of.bruises or injuries to her body except in her private organs. 

Considering thfs sordid story with its exhibition pf man's animalism 
and lust freed from the restraints and inhibitions of.peace time society, 
the Board of Review has no difficulty in concluding that there was 
substantial evidence presented to the court to support 1ts·findings that 
the act of intercourse was without the consent of the victim and 115.8 
secured by force end violence administere~ by accused. The court ivas 
fully justified in finding accused committed the crime of rape (CMET0-1402, 
Willison; CM ETO 1899, Hicks; CM ETO 2472, Plevins; CM ETO 4194. Scott; 
CM ETO 6224, Kinney and SIItlthJ CM ETO ..7977, ~; CM ETO 11621.Traj'illo, 
G8mbrell and ~· ­
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There is nothing improbable, con~ra.dictory or uncertain in 
the young woman's :testimony with respect -to the attack upon her. In­
herently it bespeaks· the truth. It possesses none of the weaknesses 
or defects disclosed by. the testimony of the prosecutrix in CM ETO 2625, 
Pridgen. In that case, the girl's t_estimony contained contra.dictions. 

. . and improbabilities and was directly contradicted as to cer.tain. facts 
by the testimony of independent witnesses. In this connection the 
following quotation is revelantt . 

11 The case is_ of familiar pattern to the 
Boe.rd of Review 'Which has consistently 
asserted in its consideration of like 
cases that the court with the witnesses 
before it was in a better position to 
judge of their credibility and value 
of their evidence than the Board of · 
Review on appel~ate review with only the 
cold typewritten record.before it" 
(Cl~ ETO 8837, Wilson). 

7. The charge sheet shows that the accused is 32 years six months of 
. age. He enlisted in the regular A:rmy of the Unitep State.s on 22 

November 1940 to serve three years. . His period of service is governed 

by the Service Extension.Act of 1941. He ha.cl no prior service. 


! /, 

8. The court was 'legally constituted and had jurisdiction· of the 

person and the offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of the accused were committed during the trial. The 

Boe.rd of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 

sufficient to support the findings of guilty of all charges and 

specifications and the sentence as commuted. 


9. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as'the court 
martial may direct (AW 92), and the penalty for willfully disobeyin~ the 
lawful command of a superior officer is death or such other punishment as 
a court-martial may direct (.~if 64). · ,Confinement itl. a penitentiary is 
authorized upon conviction of rape by Article of War 42 and sections 278 
and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 457,567). The designation of 
the Unit.ea States Penitent'ie.ry, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the ple.ce of 
confinement is proper (Cir.229, VID,8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.1~(4),3£_). 

LoJ. ~M\, Judge. ~voeate 

cifi2P.s/~ Judge Advocate 

(ON LEAVE) , 
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1st Ind. 

' War Department, B1~r.!9.-.Qi.'fi~t:·~'i:~ ·Judge ltdvQCate General with the . 
European TheateT. ·.· . IJ9 C_ •. ~15 TO: Conunanding 
General, United States· Forces, European Theater (t.ttrtn}-·Af'O 757, U.S. 
Army. . . 

_ 1. In the case of Private First Class ALBERT F. BISHOP (11014832) 
Headquarters Company, 3rd Battalion, 272nd Infantry, 'attention is invited 
to the foregoing holding by the Bo.ard of Review that the record of trial 
ta legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and· the sentence 
·as commuted, which holding is hereby approve~. Under the provisions of 
Article of War 50t, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentence. 

2. 'lfuen copies of the published order are forwarde1 to this 
office, they sh~uld be accompanie1 by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in .this office is CM ETO 
15840. For ccinvenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (C11 ETO 15840} • 

. ' .,··-- -)·· .... . . 

(----------------------..---------Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GalO S29, USFET, 1~1945). 
: f 

. ..:....­

• i I 

·,t, lHL!ll RITER__.__ 
"'t'o1one-i~--.:--.aGIJ , ...­ . 

1cting Assis~ Judge AdTocate General~, • 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with tm 

European Theater 
APO 887 

:OOARD OF mYIEW NO. l 

UNITED ST.A.TES ) 
) 

w.· ) 
) 

Private BENNIE E. DICK:EIWN, JR. ) 
(3.J.¥.57153) , 2004th Q,uarterma.ster ) 
Truek Company (Aviation), 1513th )' 
~rtermaster Battalion M:>bile ) 
·(.A.viation) r ) 

) 
) 

2 0 AUQ 1'4.5 

IX .A.IR FORCE SERVICE CO~ 

Trial by GCM, convened at 'Head­
quarters, 9lst A.ir Iepot Group., 
Aro 149. u. s • .A.ney-, 7 July 1945· 
Sentence a Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures end confinement 
at hard labor for one year. 
Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barraa.ks, Gre enha'ten" 
New Yorke 

HOLDING by BWID OF HSVI&lif NO. l 

RrmR, BJRH:>I' and Sl'EVENS, J'udge ~v.ocates 


1. The J:ecord of trial in the case of the soldier named ab.ove 
has been examb:ied by the Board of lensw. 

. 2. ·J.ccused was charged under the, 94th J.rticle of 'far with the 
theft of fi'm jerricans (each of a capacity of five gallons) and 25 . 
gallons of gasoline, property of the United.states :furnished and 
intended for the military sel"Vii.ce •:."'7' thereof of a value of $14.25, 
and also with the wrongful end unlawfUl eal.e, barter or conveyance . 
of the gasoline to a Belgiai.-civilian. The date of these alleged 
offenses was 15 May 1945. He was found guilty of both ottenses and 
was sentenced to be dishonQ!'ably discharged from the serrlce, to for­
feit all pay and allowames due or to ·be cane due and to be confined 
at hard labor for one year.' The reviewing author!ty approved the 
sentence. Substantial evidence su,pported the findings ot guilty of 
the charges and the sentence (OM El'O 10898- l'illiams and Hutchens 
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and authorities the rein cited' ClJ ETO 11497, Boyd) .. 

.1• The only question which requires consideration is whether 
accused's. confession (Rlµ;Pros.Elc:.2) was properly admitted in evidence. 
The accused was in the custody of the military police on 16 M:ly 1945 
~t St. Trond, Belgium. He was suspected of, being involved in the crimes 
with which he was ultimately charged and tried. On that occasion and 
on 22 Ll:ly, he was subjected to inquisitorial·treatm.nt by the military 
police. He was incarcerated in a Belgian jail for three or four days 
between the two interviews. During ·.the course of the second interview 
two written statements were prepared for his signature but were never 
signed by him. They were destroyed by the police (R?-8 ,Pros.Ex.1) 
and no attempt was made to present their substance at the trial. It 
will be assumed (and there is substantial evidence to support this 
assumption) that the treatioont accorded accused by the police was of 
such nature as to make both the written statements (had they been signed 
by accused) and parol evidence of accused's declarations inadmissible 
because of their involuntary nature. Th3re is certainly some substantial 
evidence of coercive treatment of accused which condelllD.s his first 
inculpatory ad.missions under the principles announced by the United 
States Su,Preme Court (Chambers v. Florida, aoCJ U.S. 227, 84 L.Ed. 716 
(1940)1 Lisenba v. Ca.lifornia, 314 U.S. 219, 86 L.Ed. 166 (l94l)r: 
.A.shcraft v. Tenne saee , 322 U.s. 143 , 88 ~.Ed. 1192 (l944)) • 

Thereafter accused was returned to his company and Cit 23 Mly 
was interviewed by Lieutenant John c. O'Hara, one of the officers ot 
his compeJly. Lieutenant O'Hara explained to accused his rights under 
the 24th Article of War and there is substantial evidence that no 
coercion or compulsion were exerted upon him. Accused then talked to 
tieutenant O'Hara, who made notes of' his remarks and thereafter placed 
the same in typewritten fonn. Accused then signed the staten:ent and 
swore to it (Pros.Ex.2) before First Lieutenant Eugene H. Carroll, the 
company adjutant•. Over objection of defense, the confession given by 
accused to Lieutenant O'Hara was admitted in evidence. 

The situation ·here presented is controlled i>rimarily by the 
principles announced by the United States Suprene Court in LYons v. 
Oklab:lma, U.S. , 64 Sup.Ct.Bap.1208 (.Adv.Sheet Noe 
16) ,, J'ulle 5, 1944• The question involved in that case was identical 
with the one in the instant case. TJ.s, whether a second confession was 
given under such circumstances as to render it invalid and its use at 
trial a violation of the due process clause of the 14th .Amendment (in 
the instant case the 5th .Amendzoont). The following quotations from the 
court's opinion are releT&Jlt (64 Sup.et. a:t 1212-1214) & 

'The federal question presented is whether the second 
confession was given unier such circumstances that its 
use as evidence at the trial constitutes a violation. ot 
the due process clause of the Fourteenth .Amend.nent, which 
requires that state criminal proceedings 'shall be con.­

....,/'
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sistent with the fundamental principles ot libertJ' 

and justice.11 • • • 


•'fben. conceded tacts enst which are i~concilable with 

auch mental treedom, regard.less ot the contrary oonolu- · 

2!ians ot the triers ot tact, whether Judge or jury, this ' 

Court oamiot avoid.responsibility tor such injust;ioe b7 

leaving the burden ot adjudication solely in other hands.· 

.ait where there is a dispute as to whether the acts which 

are charged to be coercive actually occurred, or where. · 

ditterent inferences may fairly be drawn tram admitted 

tacts, the trial judge and the Jury are not only in a 

better position to apprai• the truth or falsity of' the 

detendant 1s assertions tram the demsanor of' the witnesses 

but the legal duty is upon them to make the decision.• . 

• • * 
·~view here deals 1'1;th circwmtances which require exam­

ination into the possibility as to whether the judge end 

Jury in the trial court could reasonably conclude that ~be 

M:J.J.eater confession was voluntary. The tact that there is 

.evidence which would justify a contrary conci usion is im­

material. To triers of' tact is. lett the detemination of' 

the truth or error of' the testimony o:r· priaoner and Of:f'ici al 

alike• It is beyond question that it the triers qt tact · 

accepted as true the evidence of' the ilmlediate·events at 

Mc.&lester, which were detailed by l'arden nmn and the other 

witnesses, the verdict would be that the confession was 

voluntary, so that the petitioner's case rests upon the 

theory. that the. M:.llester contesslon was the unavoidable 

O\ltgrowth of' the events at Hugo.• • • • 


•ot course the tact that the earlier statement was obtained 

trom the prisoner· by coercion is to be considered in 

apiraising .the character ot the later confession~. The 

etfect of' ea;-lier abuse may be ID clear as to forbid &Icy' 


other inference than that it dominated the mind ot the 

· accused to such an extent that the later confession is 

involuntar;Y. It the relation between the earlier and later 
ex>nfession is not s:> close that one must say the facts of' one 
control the character of the other, the inference is one for 
the triers of' fact and their conclusion, in such an uncertain 
situation, tba"t the contesalon should be admitted as voluntary, 
cannot be a denial of due process. a a a The Oklahoma Cr1m1nal 
Court of' .Appeals in the p.-esent case decided that the evidence 
'90uld justify a detemination that the effect ot a prior · 
coercion was dissipated before the second confession· and we 
agrea..• • • • 
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1 Tba J'ou.rteenth .A.nl:lnd.Imnt is a protection against 
or:fmiMl trials in stat.e courts conducted in such a 
nianner as &Dr.')UJlt'l to a disregard of 'that tun~ntal 
fairness essential· to the very concept of justice, t 
and in a ny that 'necessa;i:ily prevent(s) a fair triale' 
• • •-'- coerced contessian is offensive to basio 
standards ot justice, no~ because the victim has a legal 
grievance against the policei but because declarations 
procured by torture are not premises trom which a ciTi­
lized fohim rill infer guilt. The Fourteenth koondDl'nt 
does not provide review of IIere error in jury verdicts, 
even though the error concerns the voluntary character · 
of a confession. We cannot say that an inference ot 
guilt based in part u.pon !Qons• M:::JJ.ester confession · 
is so illogical and unreasonable as to deny the petitioner 
a fair trial.• 

We believe that the tacts ot the instant case place it well 
within the ambit of those oases where the legal duty is upqn the triers 
ot tact (in this instance, the court) to determine whether the second 
confesslon was given under continuing duress, coerd on or comN].sion 
visited upon the accused which produced an invalid first confession and 
that the finding of the triers ot fact should be accepted as final upon 
judicial appellate review. There ~ no conceded facts in the instant 
case which are irreconcilable with accused 1 s mental freedom when he· gave 
the confession admitted in evidence. The evidence descriptive of 
Lieutenant o•Hara's attitude and conduct towards accused and the 
inferences to be drawn from the fact that he was "rezooved 1 fI'OlJl the direct ­
oontrol and influence of the police when he confessed to Lieutenant 
O'Hara are of' such nature as to make it safer and better, both for the 
prosecution and the defense, that the court be the arbiter on this ·t 
question rather than the Board of :Eeview. 

The Stall Judge .Advocate J.n his review suggested that. the 

holding of' the Board of Ieview in CM XTO 1486, Ml.cDonald and MicCrimnona 

III Bull. JAG '227 (1944) cannot be :reconciled with the opinion of the 

Supreme court in .the Lyons case• .An examination of the holding ,!a 

extenso in the MacDonald and MacCrimmon case makes it apparent that it 

was a case where 1 conceded f'ac.ts exist which are irreconcilable• with 

the conclu.Blo:b that the second confession was given after the accused 

had been treed from the effects of the coercive action which produced· 

the invalid first confession. The evidence of' the irregular practices 


· 	surrounding MicDonald 1 s first confession came from the prosecution's 
witnesses. The chief .offender, a Captain Rasmussen, testified as to 
what he said end did on the occasion of obtaining the first confession• 
.Another officer, a Captain kid.raws, corroborated Captain Rasmussen's 
state~nts in J,l!lrt. There was, in a consequence no conflict in the . 
evidence.. Uncantradicted evidence of coercion visited upon Mlcb8ld 
by Ce.ptain Rasmussen possessed such definite relationship and connection: 
w1th his second conf'e ssi on as. 
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•to forbid any other inference than that it 
dOllline.ted the mind of the accu.9ed to such an 
extent that the later confession is inToluntaey.• 

. 
It then bee~ a matter of law for the court (and tor the :Board ot 
Ieview on appellate review) to invalidate MacDonald' 8 second conteaeian. 
Not so in the instant case. Certain parts ot the accused's. testi..molzy' 
inherently were not such as to inspire unqualified belief in their 
verity. In other aspects it traversed the testimony of Lieutenants 
O'Hara and Carroll end produced en issue o:f tact. There resulted an 
ideal situation/tor the cx:>nsid.eration and decision ot a tact-finding 
agency within the purview o:f the SUpreme Court's decision in the ~ 
case. Herein, thare is A2 such certainty as to •forbid any other 
inference• than that the inquisitorial procedure of the police dorilinated 
Dickerson~ s mind when he gave his confession to Lieutenant O'Hara. 
Conversely, there is substantial evidence that he was :free fl'Olll' the 
effects of the police action. 

' The Board of Review concludes that its holding in the case 
of MacDonald and 1.J;!.cCrimmon is not only consistent with its caiclusions 
herein, but also that it in truth supports them. There was no error 
in admitting in evidence accused's confession to Lieutenant O'Hara. 

4. The record of trial is legally sutf ient to sup,port the· 
findings of guilty and the senten 
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Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 

With the 


European Theater· 

AFO SS"/ 


BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 	 18 AUG .1945 
. ., 


ClL J:'l'O 15S49 


UNITED STATES 	 ) SEINE SECTION, COl.!MUNICATIONS ZONE, 
) !;UROPEAN THEATER OF OFERATIONS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Pa.ria,

·First Lieutenant FRANCES WALTON, France, 19 June 1945. ·Sentence: 
(L-204 709) Women1 s Army Corps,, ~ Dismissal and total. forfeitures~ 
Adjutant General's Section, ) 
Headquarhr" Normandy Base Section, ) 
Cnmnmi cations Zone,, European 
·Theater o.t Operations. ~ 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN,, HILL and JULIAN,, Judge J.dvocatea 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of-Review 'and the Board submits this,,. 
its holding,, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with-the European Theater• 

.2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation.of the 6lst Article or War. 

Specif'ication: In, that First Lieutenant Frances Walton, 
Women's Army Corps,, Adjutant Generalts Section, 
Headquarters,, Normandy Base Section, .European Theater 
o:t Operations,, United States ~, did, without proper 
leave, absent herself !rem her organization at APO 
562,, United States Army, from about 8 February 1945 
until apprehended at London, England, on or about 
30 March 1945. 

Upon arraignment,, the accused moved the court as a special. plea to dis­
miss the proceedings on the ground that (l) the accu~ed:"who was arrested 
on 30 March 1945 had been denied a speedy trial in viol~tion of the 5th 

,..,. -· ..t584~. 
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and 6th Alnend..7.ents of the Constitution; (2) no copy of the charges 

wasfurnished her Yd. thin 8 d<:ys of her arrest--it was served on her 

on 13 June 1945--nor 'fas a. proper investigation made as required by 

;Ji 70; and (3) she was. improperly confined, degraded o.nd punished by 

beine con.fined be.fore trial, The motion or plea was overruled and 

denied by the law member. The accused thereupon pleaded guilty to 

and was found guilty of the Charge and its Specification. No evidence 

was introduced of any previous conviction. She was sentenced to be 

dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 

become due and to be confined at hard labor for fiv~ years. The re­

viewing authority approved the sentence, remitted that portion thereof 

relatine to confinement and forwarded the record or trial for action 

under .Article of War 48. The confirming authority confirmed the 

sentence as modified and withheld the order directing execution thereof 

pursuant to Article of ·,va.r 50~. 


3 • Evidence: 

a. For the prosecution: There was introduced in evidence 

without objection an extract copy of the morning report for 10 February 

1945 of Adjutant General's Section, Headquarters Normandy Base Section 

(Rl2,Pros.Ex.A) vihich showed the accused to be absent without lee.ve 

from that organization as of 8 February 1945.. A witness testified that 

the accused was in the military service of the United States and that 

he apprehended her in uniform at the Great i:estern Hotel in London, 

England, where the accused was registered _under her oWI1 name on 30 

~a.rch 1945 (RlJ). . 


b. For the defense: The accused, after her rights as a 

witness were fully explained to her, elected to remain _silent and no 

evidence was introduced in her behalf. 


4. Discussion: 'v'iith reference to the reasons advtmced by defense 
counsel as a special plea in bar of trial, l.:CU, 1928, par.64!;,E,, pp.50,51 
provides~~, as follows: 

u	64. COUTITS-M:ll.TLU.-P:O.OC::;m,~-Pleas .-a. 
General matters.-Pleas in court-martial pro­
cedure include plea to the jurisdiction, plea 
in abatement, plea in bar of trial, _and- pl,eas 
to the general issue. The first three are, !mown 
a.s special pleas. * * * b. Inadmissible pleas. ­
Such objection as that the accused, at the time 
of the arraignment, is undergoing a. sentence·o~ 
a general court-martial; ort}18.t, owing to the , 
long aelay in bringing him to. trial, he is unable . 
to disprove the charge or to def~S.. himsel!; or 
that his accuser was actuated by -~c~ ~F is a 
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person or bad character; or that he was re­
leased from a.rres~ upon the charges, are not 
proper subjects for special pleas, however 
much they may constitute ground for a continuance, 
or affect the questions of the truth or falsity 
of the charge, or of the measure of punishment. 
The same is true' in general as to objections that 
are solely matters of defense under the general 
issue. (Winthrop}". · 

The accused did not plead to the jurisdiction of the court, nor did 
she enter a plea in abatement. Her plea was offered as a reason to 
dismiss the proceedings. It was therefore one in bar. A proper plea 
in bar of trial falls vd. thin the following classes: Statute of Limita­
tions; fonner trial; or pardon (Ii.:c~, 1928, pars.67,68,69, pp.52,53,54). 
The matters presented by defense counsel may not properly be pleaded 
in bar of trial. The law member did not err in his ruling when he 
dismissed the motion or plea. 

With reference to the merits of the case the evidence clearly 
showed, and the accused admitted by her plea of guilty, that she was 
absent without leave from her organization from 8 February 1945 unti1 
apprehended on 30 ~ch 1945 as alleged_ in the specification. Absence 
without leave under such circumstances constitutes a violation of Article 
of War 61 (UCML, 1928" par .132, p .145). 

5. The charge sheet shows the accused to be 25 years, nine months 
of age. She enlisted in the service on 12 April 1943 and was comnissioned 
second lieutenant on 6 July 1943. No prior service is shown. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
~rson and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights· of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
~s of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

7. Dismissal is authorized upon conviction of a violation of 
Article of War 61. 

-II> • 
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lst Ind. 

Iar Department, 'Braneh Office of The Jud£,e Advocate General with the 
European Theater 1 8 f>.\.h.i '94a TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces/European Theater, APO 887, u. s. A:rmy 

· l. In the case of First I..1.eutenant FRANCES L. WALTON {L-2047~, 
Adjutant General's Section, Headquarters Normandy Base Section, Communi­
cations Zone, European Theater of Operations, attention is invited to 
the foregoing holding by the Board or Review that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support "the findings of guilty and the sentence, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the proii.sions of Article of 
War 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. ' · 

, 
2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 

office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
incl.orsement. The file number of the record 4,n this office is CM ETO 
15$49. For convenience of reference.please place that number in brackets 
~t the end of the order: (CMETO l5Sh.9). 

$#1th:~; 
/' -- --------------· __ .., 

t . -i~- c. KcNEIL, · · 
Brigadier tfeneral, United States Arrq-,_

12rni1knt Judge Advocate General. 
; 

( ~entence ~rdered executed. GClD 3_711 USFET, 1 Sept 1945)."' · 
-· -- -·- _______! 

-1­



RESTRICTEP 

(57) 

Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 
with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 


ClL E'IO 15850 

UNITED STAT:&S 

v. 

Private CHRISTOPHER L. MUJ.ER, 
(32245430) 1 355th Engineer · 
Regiment 

) 	 SEINE SECTION, COMWNICATIONS ZO.Nli:,
) 	 :EUROPEAN THE::..TB:R OF O~TIONS 
) 
) 	 Trial by GCll, convened at Paris, 
) 	 France, 1 May 1945. Sentence: 

Dishonorable discharge 1 total for­~ 	 feitures and confinement at hard 
) 	 labor for life. United states 
) 	 Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO •. 3 

SIEEPER, SHERW.N and Dll'£EY1 Judge Advocates 


l. The record or trial in the case or the soldier named above bas 

been examined by the Board or Beview and the Board submits this, its 

holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch 


•O.t.rice ot The Judge Advocate General with the li:uropean Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGK: Violation ot the 5Sth .Article o! We.re 

Specification: In that Private Christopher L. WJ.l.er1 
355th Engineer Reghl3nt, European Theater ot 
Operations, United states Jrm'r, did, at hi11 
organization, on or a.bout 15 September 1944, 
desert the service or the United States and did. 
remain absent in desertion until he 11a.s appre­
hended at Paris1 France 1 on or about 13 Febru&l'1' 
1945. 

He pleaded not guilt7 and, all members or the court present when the wte 
was taken concurring, was found guil.t7 of the Specitication and Charge. 
Ho evidence or previous convictions was introduced. 111 mmbers ot the 
court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced. 
to be shot to death with musket1'7. The reviewing authorit7, the Commanding 
Officer I Seine Section, Comnunications Zone I European Theater or Operations, 
approved the sentence 1 recommended commutation, and forwarded the record or 
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trial !or action pursuant to.. the provisions ot Article ot liar 48. 'lbe 

confirming authority, the Commanding General, United states Forces, 

European Theater, confirmed the sentence, caamuted it to dishonorable 

discharge trom the service, torteiture ot all pay and allowances due 

or to become due and confinement at hard labor !or the term ot bis 

natural lite, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

Pennsylvania, as the place ot continement, and .forwarded the record ot 

trial tor action pursuant to the provisions ot Article o! War SOi. 


I .3. 'lbe prosecution ottered an extract copy o! the morning report 
, ot accused's organization !or 15 September 19441 ehowing that accused was 

marked tor duty to absent without leave as of o6oo hours on that date. 
Defense objected on the ground that the extract sho"Wed no authenticating 
signature or initials. The objection was overruled and the document. 
received in evidence (R4-5;Pros.Ex.A). 

Accused was apprehended in co.mpe.Il1' 1'd.th a girl in a cate in 

Paris on lJ February 1945 (R6). He was then wearing civilian clothes, 

for his shirt and shoes, which 1rere "O.D." and was armed 'With "some 

kind ot a toy weapon" *** "not issue" (R6,7). He did not deey that 

he was an American soldier and, 'When asked for his dog tags, directe'1 

the girl, who bad both o! them and his wallet, to deliver the tags to 

the military policeman who apprehended hiJli (R7) • 


A!ter due warning, accused made a voluntary verbal statement 

to the investigating officer, admitting absence from his organization 

tor a considerable period o! time, approximating the exact initial date 

as •close to the date charged" (RS). 


4. The detense presented no evidence. Af'ter accused's rights 

were eJtPlained to him, he elected to make an unsworn statement through 

counsel inlfhich he denied participation in any black market activities, 

e.xplaining that during his absence hens living nth a French woman who 

supported hilli, and that "the reason he 11as wearing ·civilian clothes when 

apprehended was that his GI clothes were worn out" (R9) •. 


5. The recent Board of Review holdUlg in the Osborne case estab­

liehes the admissibility, over objection, of the extract copy·or the 

morning report received in evidence in this one, distinguishing 


•the 	obiter dictum in the Carmisciano case 
(ClL E'l'O 4756,Dig.Op.E'ro,par.416(9),pp.224.-225) . 
llhere ,· in listing numerous detaults in duty b1' the 
defense counsel, failure to object to an instrunent 
like that in this case was cited, and it was stated 
by the Board of Review that the document should have ,.,., 
been excluded upon objection" (Cll ETO 12151, Osborne). 

Aside from the extract copy of the morning report entry, accused's 
absence ,P.thout leave for approximately a.ll of the five months' period . 
alleged was shown bY' the testimoey of the investigating o!.ficer. Accused's 

• 
I •' ~ ,..., ., 
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unaworn statement through counsel .furnished neither excuse for nor 
satisfactory explanation Of his admitted prolonged 'Wl&Uthorized 
absence. Proo! that accused wore civilian clothes wb1le absent without 
leave and that his unauthorized absence was terminated by apprehension 
.further support the inference of his intent not to return (:Mel( l92S1 
par.]JO,L pp.l.4.3-l.44}. Conviction ~.r desertion is sustained. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction o! 
the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights o! accueed were committed during the trial. The Board of Beview 
1e o.r the opinion that the record ot trial is legallT sufficient to 
support the findings or guilt1 and the sentence as commuted • 

. 7. 1'he charge sheet shows that accused is 26 years five months o! 
age and entered military service 5 March 1942. No prior service is shown. 

s. The penalty for desertion in time ot war is death or such other 
punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58}. Confinement in a 
penitentiary 1e authorized by Article ot War 42. The designation ot the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place ot con­
finement is proper (Cir.~9, la>, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.1£(4), .3£). 

££?~_ __..CdZJL1~.....,"'-'~11m.:......___.-.--.,~._..._____Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate '/ltd~ c~'-4 

-~-0-~-~- __....M-~~._g Judge Advocate 

RE:.:-;-.... ~·. ED 

- .3 ­
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AG 201- Miller, Christopher L. (Enl) AGPE 2nd. Ind. 

Hq. U.S. Forces, European T!leater, (Rear) APO 887 12 Oct, 1945. 


TOa 	 ASsistant T~e Judge Advocate General, Branch office with the 

US Forces, European 'nl.eater, APO 887 


l Incl 

GCN..O ¥ 471, this Ilq. 8
1


·i' ~ ~ co,~ h; 0 ... u t:'.1 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 2 1 sFp 194~ ro: Comnanding 
General, United States Forces, lfuropean Thi?ater (Main), APO 757, 
u. s. Army. 

1. In the case of Private CHRISTOPHC.11. L. llII..Lrn. (32245430), 
355th Engineer Regiment, attention is invited to the foregoing hold­
ing by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legall;y su!fi ­
cient to support the findings of.guilty and the sentence as commuted, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 
·~;ar .50i, you now have a rity to order execution of the sentence. 
. ' ... ,,

2. Vihen~~i)1es 'of t published order are forwarded to this 
office, they ·shduld be accOC'31 anied by the foregoing holding and this 
indor , :t. The file numb of the record in this office is.CJ.I: ZTO 
1585 :t\..For convenien:~~~f r rence, please place that number in 
brae"' . at the_ ~~\9~1.'he or _ : (CM ETC 15850) • 

( Sentence as oommuted ordered executed. GCMO 471, USFET, 8 Oct 1945). 

-1-­
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Branch Office of The Judge ~dvocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 


BO.AliD OF REVIEil NO • .3 
21 SEP 1945 

C1i ETO 15851 

UNITED STATES ) 	 SEIN~ S:l!:CTION, COllWiUNICATIONS 
ZONE, ZUROP£AU THZA.TZR OF OPERA­

v. 	 ~ TIONS 
) 

Private JACKIE WOLFE (35604316),) Trial by GC'~, convened at Pari~, 
Headquarters Company, Head- ) France, 11 April 1945. ·Sentence: 
quarters Command, European ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
Theater of Operations ) feitures and confinement at hard 

. 	 ) labor for life. U. s. Penitentiary, 
) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF fu.'VI~'l NO. 3 

sr:s,w~, s~ and m:rnrr, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the ·case of the soldier na.roed above 
has been examined by the Board o.t'o,Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judg~ Advocate General in char.ge of 
the Branch Office of The Judge·Advocate.General with the ~uropean 
Theater. · 

2. Accused was tried up~n the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of ',far. 

Specification: In that Private Jackie Wolfe, 
Headquarters Company, Headquarters Command, 
European Theater of Operations, did, at 
Paris, France, on or about 25 November 1944, 
desert the service of the United States, and 
did remain absent in desertion until he was 
apprehended near lla.rseilles, France, on or 
about 16th February 1945• 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 94th Article of 'iiar-. 

15851 
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Specification l: In that * i<- * did, at Paris, 
France, on or about JO January 1945, know­
ingly, willfully and unlawfully apply to 
his own use a Ford Sedan, 19.42 Eodel, of 
value about ;;;1000.00, property of the 
United States, furnished and intended for 
the military service thereof. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, at St :r.:ax:une, 
France, on or about 16 February 1945, unlaw­
fully and feloniously, by force and violence, 
and by putting him in fear, take, steal and 
carry away from the person of Corporal 
Bernadine Quadrini, one cal. 45 pistol No. 
1558607, of value about $JO.oo, the property 
of the United States, furnished and intended 
for the military service thereof. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found 
guilty of the charges and specifications. Evidence was intro­
duced of one previous conviction by special court-martial for 
absence without leave for 6 days in violation of Article of 
War 61. All of the members of the court present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be shot to death 
with musketry• The reviewing authority, the Commanding Officer, 
Seine Section, Communications Zone, ~uropean Theater of Operations, 
approved the sentence but reconunended that it be commuted, and 
forvrarded the record of trial for action under Article of War 48. 
The confirming authority, the Commanding General, United. States 
Forces, European Theater, confirmed the sentence but commuted it to 
dishonorable discharge from the service, forfeiture of all pay and 
allowances due or to become due, and confinement at hard labor for 
the term of his nalural life, designated the U. S. Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and withheld 
the order directing execution of the sentence p~suant to Article 
of ':lar 5~. . 

J. The prosecution introduced in evidence a duly authenticated 
extract copy of the morning report of accused's organization for 28 
December 1941+, showing him ''Dy to AWOL as of 25 Nov 4411 (R4,Pros.ilic.. 
A). On the night of 25 January 1945, a 1942.model Unite~States . 
Army Ford sedan automobile, stipulated to be of a.value of $1000.00, 
disappeared from the llarbeuf garage in Paris, France (IU3-14,16). 
On 16 February 1945, accused was apprehended without a pass or 
travel orders by two military policemen in St. hlilime, France 
(R5,7). He gave them a trip ticket dated 31 January 1945, which, he 
stated, was all his headquarters required (R5, Pros.Ex.B). He had · 
with him a Ford sedan automobile bearing ~he same description and 
number as the one which had disappeared from the Marbeuf garage on 
25 January (R5,13). Shortly after he was apprehended, ac~used 

15851 
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pointed an ~.;.1 rifle at Corporal Bernadine Quadrini, a military 
policeman, took a .45 caliber United States Army pistol, stipulated 
to be of·a value of .j30.oo, from Corporal Quadrini's holster, and told 
him to get out of the car and "start walking". Accused then drove 
away y.rith the car (H~,16). · 

·Fotir days later,-on 20 February, accused was again appre­
hended by military police, from whom he again escaped by pointing 
a .45 caliber pistol at them and firing several shots toward them 
as he drove away with a weapons carrier in which they were riding 
(1:9-10,ll) • 

. On 20 February accused voluntarily signed a written statement, 
which was introduced in evidence (IU5,Pros.Ex.C), ancl in 'Which he 
admitted leaving his organization on 15 November 1944 and therea:fter 
living with a "lady friend" in Paris unt~ 31 January, when he took 
the Ford sedan by slipping it out of a garage at which he formerly 
worked. He altered an old trip ticket, obtained extra gas and oil, 
and drove with his friend to various towns and cities in France, 
stopping at several hotels. Abput 11 or 12 February, he assisted a 
French soldier, who had joined him, in getting 25 cartons of cigarettes 
from a cafe in Marseille, which they sold in various towns. In St. 
Maxima, after he was apprehended by the military police, he pointed a 
rifle at the military policeman and said, "Get out and give me your 
gun". He then took the pistol from the military policeman's holster. 
He later fired it three times into the air when he escaped !rem 
military police in Marseille. He was going to turn himself in when 
he was arrested on 20 February (Pros .Ex.C). 

4. After his ·righ~s were explained to him, accused elected 
to testify (IU7-18). He is married and supports his wife and 
also his· mother since his stepfather died of wounds received in 
the African campaign. The statement he signed is true. He had 
no permission to be absent from his organization between 25 November 
and 16 February. He did not intend to hit anybody when he fired 
his pistol in the air on 20 February 1945. He did not intend to 
remain away when he le~ his organization, but after staying away 
for several hours he knew he would be punished and "might as well 
make the most of it0 until he was apprehended (IUS-20). He 
testified·: 

"There was always a thought of tear involved when ­
I would get caught. I saw a.oms ..fellows get court 
martial for a few hours and get two or three years. 
Some other fellow wouid be gone several weeks and 
get the same thing. 1bat is why' I stayed longer" (R20) • 

. 
· · 5. Absence without leave of accused .from 25 November 1944 to 

16 February 1945 is ehOwn. by the evidence for the prosecution and 
admitted b7 accused in his testimony. Fram his unauthorized ­
absence for 83 days in an active theater of operatibns, terminated 
by apprehension, during which time he took a government vehicle 

RE~-;:~j.:-· 41> . 1585~1 
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' 
without authority and engaged in other unlawful acts, the court 
was fully warranted in inferring an intent on his part to remain 
permanently away from the service (CM ETO 2216, Gallagher; CH ETO 
952, Mosser; Cl.:t ETO 2901, Childrey). 

The evidence is undisputed that accused took and applied 
to his own use the army vehicle as alleged in Specification l of 
Charge II. His conduct is clearly a violation of Article of War 
94 (CM ETO ll838, Austin, Jr.; MGM 1928, par. 150,!, pp.184-185). VJhile 
the Specification alleges the' date of the offense as "on or about 
30 January 194511 , and.the proof indicates the car was missing on 
25 January 1945, such variance'is clearly not fatal here (CM 
173620, Dig. Op. JAG, 1912-40, sec. 451(39), p.325). 

. The evidence likewise is undisputed that accused took 
the army pistol as alleged in Specification 2 of Charge II. The 
Specification alleges and the proof clearly shows the offense of 
robbery (MC:IE 1928, i;:ar .149.L pp.170-171), which is not an offense 
denounced by Article of War 94, but by Article of War 9.3. However, 
the error in laying the cbarge under the .wrong Article- of War 
did not injuriously affect accused's substantial rights,, and the 
findings will be modified to show a violation of Article of War 
93 (CM ETO 94211 Steele; Dig. Op. JAG, 1912-40,, sec.,394(2), PP• 
197-198). . . . . 

6 •. The defense moved to strike testimoey conceming accused's 
actions on 20 February in escaping !ran and !iring upon the military 
police, because such testimoey had no bearing upon the specifica­
tions and char~es for .which he was being tried. The motion was 
denied (Rl6-l7J. Assuming that the proof of' actions of accused 
occurring four days after his alleged apprehension was not relevant 
but improper,, hie substantial rights were not prejudiced within 
the meaning of Article of War 37 because his guilt of all specifica­
tions was compellingly established and was substantial.l.y admitted 
by him in his statement and testimoey at the trial (CU ETO 2644, 
Pointer; CM ETO 38ll, Morgan). 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 21 years one month 
of' age and was inducted l March 1943 at Akron,, Ohio. No prior 
service is shown. 

8. '!be court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of' the person and offenses. Except as noted herein,, no errors 
injuriously affecting the substantial rights o! accused were com­
mitted during the trial. '!be Board o! Review is of the opinion 
that . the record of' trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of' guilty of Specification 2 of' Charge II in violation o! 
Article of War 9.3 and legally sU!ficient to support the remaining 
findings of guilty and the sentence as camnuted. 

15851 
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9. The penalty tor desertion in time ot war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). Confinement 
in a penitentiary is authorized tor desertion by Article o! War 42, 
tor robber,y by Article of Viar 42 and section 284, Federal Criminal 
Code (l.S USCA. 463), and tor unauthorized taking of a motor vehicle 

· 	by Article of War 42 and section 22-2201+, District o! Columbia 
Code. The designation of the u. s. Penitentiar,y, Lewisburg, · 
Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 
8 June 191+4, sec.II, pars. l~(l+), 3~). · 

~ Judge Advocate 

~~~Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office ot The ~udge Advocate General 

with the European Theater•21 S[P 1945 TO: Commanding 

General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main),

APO 7571 U. s. Arm¥· 


·1. In the cas~ of Private JACKIE WOLFE (.35604316), 
Headquarters~ Company1 Headquarters Command, European Theater 
of. Operations, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by 
the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sut'ficient 
to support the findings of .guilty of Specification 2 ot Charge II 
in violation of Article ot War 93 and legally sufficient to support 
the renaining findings ot guilty and the sentence as commuted, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions ot Article 
ot Uar 50!, you now have authority to order execution· or the 
sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office1 they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and 

· this indorse!IW3nt. The .file number of the record in this office 

is CMC~,15851. For convenience of reference please place that 

n~:e~JiiA~ets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 15851). 


• I ' ~ 

RESTRICTED 15851 
-1­
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 

BOAPJ> OF REVIEW NO. 3 
2 9 SEP 1945 

CM ETO 15852 

UNITED STATES ) SEINE SD::TION, COMMUNICATIONS ZONE, 
) EUROPEAN THEATER. OF OPIBATIONS 

v. ) 

Private IEROY J. CASEY (33021840), 
450th Company, 17th Reinforcement 

) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Paris, 
France, 21 February 1945. Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­

Depot 
~ feitures, arxl confinement at hard 

labor for life. United States 
) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Permsylvania. 

HOIDING by BOA.."ID OF EEVIEW NO. 3 
SLEEPER, SIERMAN, and DE'tfilY, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ':)f the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with -the European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the.following charges and specifications: 

CHARCB I: Violation of the 58th Article of· War. 

Specification: In that Private Leroy J. CASEY, 450th 
Company, 17th Reinforcement Depot, European Theater 
of Operations, United States Army, did, at his organi­
zation on or about 15 September 1944 desert the service 
of the United States and did remain absent in desertion 
until he was apprehended at Livry-Gargan, France on or 
about 4 January 1945 • 

CHARGE: Ii: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification l: (Disapproved by Reviewing Authority). 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, at Li:vry-Gargan,. 
France on or about 23 December 1944, unlawfully re­
present himself to be a m:mber of the United States 
Military Police. 

•. ~:~1-~l-C'l'ET'1I ...-• '. R. ~ LI 



~E~'t'ttlCTED· .. 


(70) 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of thellEDlbers of the court present at 

the time the vote was taken concurring, he was found guilty of the 

charges and specifications. ~vidence was introduced or two previous . 

conv.1:ctions, one by special court-martial for absence 'Without leave 

for four days and one by summary court for absence without leave for 

about three hours, both in violation of Article of War 61.. All the 

menbers of the court present at the time the vote "Was taken concurring, 

he was sentenced to be ha.nged·by the neck until dead.. The revieldng 

authority, the Commanding General, Seine Section1 Communications Zone, 

European theater of Operations, disapproved the finding of guilty of 

Specification l of Charge II, approved the sentence, and forwarded the 

record of tri:al for action pursuant' to Article or War 48 with the re­

commendation that the sentence be commuted. '!he confirming authority, 

the Commanding General, United States Forces, European Theater, con­

firmed the sentence 1 but owing to special circumstances in the case and 

the recommendation of the reviewing authority, comnuted it to dishonorable 

discharge from the service, forfeiture of all pey- and allowances due ar 

to become due and confinement at hard labor for the term of his natural 

life, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 

as the place of confinemmt, and 'Withheld the order directing the exe­

cution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War 50!• 


.3. The prosecution introduced into evidence, the defense affirma­

tively stating that it had no objection thereto, an extract copy of the 

morning report of Detachment 9.3, Ground Farce Replacement System, show­
ing accused frcm duty to absent without leave on 13 September 1944 (R5; 

Pros.Ex.A). A French witness testified that he saw a man whom he scmewhat 

hesitantly identifiea as the accused in Livry-Gergan, France, on or about 

2.3 December 1944, at whieh time 1 during certain negotiations with the 
rlthess, accused displayed and presented to the witness "sort of an identity 

. card" in the following form. (R6-8;Pros.h.B): 

RJ:STRICTJ:D 

SPECIAL MILITARY POLICJ: 
UNITED STATE.S JR1wlY 

Name: c 1.· s Ji: Y Jackie 
Rank: P.V.T. 
A.S.N.: .3.3021890 

. /s/ L. J. CA.Sil 

It was stipulated that accused. was returned to military control on 4 Ja:rmary 
1945. .. 

· On a Januu1 1945, accused. voluntarily made a statement to an 

agent ot the Criminal lnTestigation Division in which he recited that ha 

was inducted. on 12l!&rch1941, was shipped to~ eanetime in March 
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of 1943, an<i came to France in June f>f 1944. After being shipped to 
France, he was sent to various Replacenent Depots and about 11the last 
of September I went AWOL and went to Parie". The next day he surrendered 
to the military police and was directed to leave Paris within t'WO hours. 
He did so,· and, upon going back to his former station, found that his 
unit had moved. He then returned to Paris in an effort to locate his 
organization but was unable to secure any information concerning its 
whereabouts so he went to Bondy where he stayed for "about a month"• 
He then went to Lagny and stayed there "a few weeks" and thereafter to 
Meaux where he also stayed "a few weeks". Approximately one month be­
fore Christmas he became "fed up because of worry about my family affairs" 
and accordingly started toward Peria with the intention of surrendering 
himself to the military anthorities. En route, he stopped at Livry, 
started to gamble, and, having won about 6000 francs, took a room in a 
rooming house. About three weeks before Christmas, he and two other 
soldiers engaged in certain transactions with a French civilian in Livry 
and thereafter demanded that the Frenchman return to them certain gasoline 
cans. Difficulty was had in securing the return of the cans until he dis­
played a "card stating I was a military policeman". This card had been 
prepared by "an American P.F.c.n whose organization he did not know. He 
remained in Uvry until 4 January 1945 when he was apprehended by the 
military police. With one exception, he had never been involved in the 
sale or diE.posal of property of the United States government (R8;Pros. 
Ex.c). 

4. After being advised of his rights as a witness, accused elected 
to testify on his own behalf. He stated that he had not come overseas 
with his "outfit" because he was serving a court-martial sentence at the 
time it was shipped. Thereafter, he came to England in a "casual outfit" 
and was sent to a Replacement Depot. In June of 1943, he came to France and 

"was put in the .3rd Replacement Depot• From 
there I went to the 19th, from 19th to 53rd, 
and from there I went to the 17th. r·stayed 
there three days and was transferred back to 
the 19th and then b ack to the 17th11 (!UO) • 

Thereafter, he came to Paris with a non-commissioned officer assigned to 
the 17th Replaceroont Depot and got lost. The next day a military policeman 
asked him for his pass. When he could not produce one, he was taken to 
the Prov~st Marshal where he was given a direct order to leave Paris. He 
found that the 17th Replacement Depot had moved and, after trying to locate 
it for four or five days, he "got disgusted and gave up". He was not 
assigned to a:ny unit except Replacement Depots from the ti.me he reached 
England until the time he absented himself without leave (RlO). He closed 
his testimony by saying 

"I had no intentions of deserting the Army and 
came overseas for one ·reason. I volunteered for 
the Army. I have been in seven Replacement Depots" {Rll). 

~ .. 
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• 

5. Ylith repsect to Charge I and its Specif.'...catio1:, i..i:t iJrfro­

duction of the abstract copy of the morning report of Detachment 93, 
Ground Force Replacement System, shovr.ing accused from duty to absent 
without leave on 13 September 1944, his presence in Uvry-Ge.rgan, his 
activities there, and the stipul~tion that he was returned to military 
control on 4 January 1945 all tended to prove that accused was absent 
without leave for the period a.i.leeed (cf. CMETO 4915, lfagee). Despite 
his assertion while on the stand that he did not intend to desert the 
service, he himself admits both in his pretrial statement and in his 
sworn testimony that he was absent without leave for a period of approxi­
mately 113 days during which time he made no res.1. effort to rejoin his 
organization. From these facts, together with the other circumstances 
shown, the court was warranted in inferring that at the time o~ absenting 
himself or at some time during his absence he entertained the requisite 
intent to constitute his offense that of desertion (CMETO 1629, O'Donnell; 
CM ETO 15442, Bifano) • The evidence also clearly supports the court's 
findings that he unlawfully represented himself to be a. member of the 
United States Military Police in violation of Article of War 96, as 
alleged in Specification 2 of Charge II (Cf: CUETO 2723, Copprue). 

6. The charge sheet shows. that accused is 26 years four months of 
age and was inducted 13 llarch 1941 at Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania. No 
prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the subc•antial 
rights of the accused were committed during the trial• The Board o! 
Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, as commuted. 

8. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (K;l 58). Confinement in 
a penitentiary is authorized by Article of War 42. The designation of 
the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place 
of confinement is proper (Cir.229, VID, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.1£(4), 
3£). 

.....;.~-------~-__,.J.er..._ Judge Advocate 
f 

___ 

----~,,) .-_,/ ·'" /,-< ). / , · .~-I_; ::V.~4 '1 Judge Advocate 
/ I 

1
.. r' 1''1 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with thtr 
European '!'.heater. 2 9 SEP 1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European '!beater (Main), APO 757, 
u. s. Arrq. 

· 1. In the case of Private I.EROY J ~ CASEY (33021840), 450th 
Company-, 17th Reinfcrcement Depot, attention is invited to the !ore-­
going holding by- the Board of Review that the recori. of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of· guilty- and the sentence 
as coJmIU.ted, which holding is hereby- approved. Under the provisions 
o! Article of War 5~, you now have authority to order execution o!. • 
the sentence• I 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this · 
office, they- should be accom~e-f~egoing holding and this 
indorsement. The .file~~· 6.l~the- 'record .in this office is CY E'l'f' 
15852. For convenienee o! reference i pl.•&'58 place that number irJ· 
brackets at the end ot the ordJr: (Cll XT0.15.852). ~ 

.1 

( Sentence as conmm:ted ordered encuted. QC)(() 5~3, uSn:r1 24 Oct 1945) • 





CONFIDENTIA~ 	 {7$) 

Branch Ott1ce of The Judge Advocate General 
with the ··· · 


~ European Theater 

APO 887 

BOARD· OF REVImf NO. 3 6 SE? 1945 
CM ErO 15855 

UNITED STATES ) 28TH INFANTRY DIVISION. 
) 

v. 	 ) ·Trial by GCM, convened 
) at Kaiaerlautern, Germany,

First ·Lieutenant GORDON W • ) 21 May 1945. Sentence as 
WILSON (0.-342308) and ) to Wilson: Forfeiture ot 
Second Lieutenant GEORGE ) $100 per month tor four . 
E. WARREN, JR. (0-1826309), ) months. Sentence· as to 
both ot Company I, ll2th ) Warren: Pism1ssal. 
Intantry Regiment ) 

HOLDI!G by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY,. Judge Advocates 


1. The record ot trial in the case ot the officers 
named above has been examined by the Board or Review and 
the Board submits this, its holding, to the Assiat~1t Judge
Advocate General in charge ot the Branch Office of The 
Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

. 2. Accused were tried upon the following charges and 
apeci.fications: 

WILSON 

CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification 1. In that First Lieutenant 
Gordon W. Wilson, Company I, 112th Infantry,
did, ·at or near Durnbach, Germany, on or 
about 20 April 1945, violate orders prohib- · 
iting fraternization with German civilians 
by entertaining two German women, Miss 
Elizabeth Kreur and Mrs. Margaret Weber in 
his quarters and having sexual intercourse 
with.Miss Elizabeth Kreur • 

. ..; l -
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Specification 2. In that * * * did, at er 
near Durnbach, Germany, on or about 
22 April 1945, violate orders prohibiting
fraternization with German civilians by
entertaining two German women, Miss 
Elizabeth Kreur and Mrs. Margaret Weber, 
and having sexual intercourse with Miss 
Elizabeth Kreur. 

Specification 3. In that * * * did, at or 
near Bendorf, Germany; on or about 20 
April 1945, violate orders prohibiting
transportation of civilians in military
vehicl.es, by transporting two German 
women.for an unauthorized purpose from 
Bendorf, Germany to Durnbach, Germany. 

Specification 4. In that** *"did, at or 
near Durnbach, Germany, on or about 21 
April 1945, violate orders prohibiting
transportation of civilians in military
vehicles by transporting two German 
women for an unauthorized purpose from 
Durnbach, Germany to Bendorf, Germany. 

WARREN 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 85th Article ~f War. 

Specification: In that Second Lieutenant George
E. Warren, Company I, ll2th Infantry, was 
at Bendorf, Germany, on or about 18.April
1945, found drunk and disorderly while on 
duty as platoon leader o~ a security guard. 

CHARGE II: Violation of 96th Artic~e of War. 

Specification l. In that ***did, at or n6ar 
Durnbach, Germany, on or about 20 April 1945, 
violate orders prohibiting fraternization 
with German civilians by entertaining two 
German women, Miss Elizabeth Kreur and 
N.rs. Margaret Weber in_hia quarters and 
having sexual intercourse with Mrs. Margaret
Weber. 

Specification 2. In that ***did, at or near 
Durnbach, Germany, on or about 22 April
1945 violate orders prohibiting fraterniza­
tion with GerIQS.n ~iviliana by serving food 
to and entertaining two German women, 
Miss Elizabeth v,.eur and Mrs. Margaret ·15 8 S 5 
Weber. - · 
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·Specification 3. In that * * * did, at or 
near Bendorf, Germany, on or about 
22 April 1945, violate order• proh1b1­
t1ng transportation or civilians in · 
military vehicles by transporting twQ 
German women tor an unauthorized purpose
from Bendorf, Germany, to Durnbach, 
Germany. 

Specification 4. In that * * * did, at or 
near Durnbach, Germany, on or about 
23 April 1945, violate orders proh1b1-·
ting transportation or civilians in 
military vehicles by transporting two 
German women for an unauthorized purpose
from Durnbach, Germany to Bendorf, 
Germany. 

Each accuaed pleaded not guilty and each was found guilty 

ot the respective charges and speciticationa against him. 

No evidence ot previous convictions waa introduced aa to 

either accused. Wilson was sentenced to torf'eit $100 per

month tor tour months and Warren was sentenced to be dis­

missed the service. The reviewing authority, the Commanding

General, 28th Infantry Division, approved the sentences, 

ordered the sentence as to Wilson executed, althoug~ deem­

ing it inadequate, and forwarded the record of trial for 

action as to Warren under Article of War 48. The confirm­

ing authority, the Commanding General, European Theater, 

confirmed the sentence as to Warren and withheld the order 

directing execu~ion ot the sentence pursuant to Article 

ot War 50!. · 


3. The prosecution's evidence established that on 

the evening ot 18 April 1945 between 1900 and 2130 hours 

at Bendorf, Germany, accused, Lieutenant George E. Warren, 

was drunk and .disorderly while on duty as platoon leader 

of the Third Platoon of Company I, ll2th Infantry, which 

was then engaged in the town guar:il.ng two bridges, check­

ing passes and maintaining order. He appeared on a 

street without. side arms or helmet, staggering, cursing

and acting "silly" until guided back to his billet by

enlisted men (Rl3,l5,l6,'l8,l9,26,28,30). Four military


·witnesses testified he was drunk ({tl.5,17,26,30). 
~ 

On 20 April 1945, accused, Lieutenant Gordon W. 

Wilson, was in command or Company I, ll2th Infantry,

stationed. in Durnbach, Germany. On that evening at about. · 

2300 hours, Lieutenants Wilson and Warren were driven 

from Durnbach to the town of Bendorf about 13 to 15 kilo­

meters distant 1n a company jeep where they called at a 
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certain house for two German women, Miss Elizabeth Kreur 
an:l her sister, Mrs. Margaret Weber, both of Ben:lorf 
(R3l,33,4a,41,50,5l,54). The women returned with the 
officers to the latters 1 quarters in Bendorf, riding 
in the rear of the vehicle an:l concealed from view be­
neath blankets. During their visit the women were taken 
to separate be:lrooms where each ha:l sexual intercourse, 
1i1ss ~eur with Lieutenant Wilson -a.n:i 1.irs. 'Heber with 
Lieutenant Warren (R33,34,39,41,42)-. The women were 
returned in the jeep to their home at about 0200 hours 
the following morning by Lieutenant Wilson (R33,37,51,52,53). 
Age.in on 22 April Lieutenant Warren was :iriven to Bendorf 
in a jeep, returned with the same women, who were on this 
occasion billete:i in a house in Durnbach where both 
officers spent the night with them in separate bedrooms 
an:i each again had sexual intercourse as on the previous 
occasion (R33,34,36,38,40,41). The women remained all 
:lay 23 April and food was brought to them from the 
company mess by Lieutenant Warren {R34,39,57). 'l'he 
officers visited them early in the evening on 23 April 
an:l at about 2100 hours a jeep was ordered and again 
used by Lieutenant Warren to return the women to their 
home (R33,34,41,42,47). · 

4. After their rights were explaine:l, Lieutenant 

'.'v'arren elected to remain silent (R71, 82). Lieutenant 

Wilson testifie::l that the women were transporte::l and house::l 

in Durnbach substantially as shown by the prosecution. 

However, he denied that the _blankets were us e:i t0 conceal 

them but rather to keep them warm, :ienied that they were 

brought from Bendorf to Durnbach for fraternization 


·purposes and :ienie::l he had sexual intercourse with either 
of them {R77). They were transporte:i in accordance _with 
a plan conceived by him an::l Lieutenant Warren to 11 trap 11 

~ertain enlisted men who haj been fraternizing. This was 
the sole purpose of their visits (R76,78,80). He never 

. saw 	 them. at the ti:ue of their seconj visit (RBO} •. Uis 
plan was unsuccessful on the first occas1 on because "the 
whole company was not in" an:i he was 11a bit upset" because 
the companri which was suppos ej to move "was not at that 
hour moved. 1 (:=i78-79). .On the second. occasion 

"1 t was a check on the house to house 
canvas on the fraternizing~ If wor::l. 
ever came to me that they founj some 
women or the women reported that some­
body ha:i been down there then I woulj 
know the men were out again 11 (R79). 

Evijence was received of the gooj character an::l 

excellent prior service of both accused (R68,69-70,7l; 
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Def • ·Exs • Nos • 1-15). 

5. a. As regarjs Charge I anj Specification against 
Lieutenant Warren, the court was fully justified in finding 
him guilty as allege:i (MCI.I, 1928, par.145, p.160). 

. b. With reference to Specification l an:i 2 of the 
Charge against Lieutenant Wilson an:i Specification 1 an:i 2 
of Char6e II against Lieutenant Warren, the alleged orders 
prohibiting fraternization were not introduced in evidence. 
licmever, the specifications properly set forth offenses in 
violation of the.theater policy in effect at the time 
alleged as contained in Appendix A to letter, 12 September 
1944, Supreme Headquarters, Allied Expe:Utionary Forces 
and quote:J. in CM E'"l'O 10967, Harris. The testimony of 
Lieutenant Wilson ::lemonstrates that both accused. were fully 
aware of the prohibition against fraternizing an:J. the mean­
ing of the term. His testimony regarding their scheme to 
discover the enlisted men in his organization who were 
fraternizing· was unconvincing an:i was overwhelmed. by the 
testimony of the two J.ern1an women involved, which was 
corroborated throughout by ruilit ary witness.es. The findings 
of guilty are supported. by the evidence. 

c. Regarding Specification 3 anj 4 against 
Lieutenant Wilson and Specification 3 anj 4 of Charge II 
against Lieutenant Warren, no evidence was intro::'l..uced of 
the alleged orjer prohibiting the transportation of civilians 
in military vehicles. However, this was not necessary since 
the specifications describe a violation of P~mphlet, AG 
451/2 Pub GC, Maintenance and Operation of ;,:otor V~hicles, 
Headquarters, European Theater of Operations, 24 January 
1944, which was governing at the times alleged. and which in 
effect prohibits the transportation of civilians except on 
official business. The evidence showe:i clearly that each 
accuse:i transporte:i the two German women in a military
vehicle as allege:i in the specifications against each. The 
evidence supports the fin:iings of. guilty (Cf: CM ETO 2966, 
Fomby; Cl/I E'rO 7269, Van Houten). 

6. The charge sbe ets show the followinc; concerning the 
service qf accused: -\ 

Wilson is 30 years five months of age and was 
11 Commiss1oned June 1936; 2n:i Lt; promoted 1st Lt Dec 1942; 
assigned 112th Inf. per Par 13 SO 20 dated 5 Feb.45. Ind. 
Fed. Service 5 Feb 1942 11 

• 

Warren is 21 years eight months of age and was 
"Appointed 2nd Lt. 24 Sept 43; assigned. 112th Inf. per 
Par 2 so 34 :iate:i 3 Kar 1945 fr 28th Inf. Div. In:i. Ped. 
Service 12 February 1942 11 

• 

No prior service is shown as to either accused. 
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7. ~he court was legally constituteO. an::l ha::l 
juris::liction of the pe1•sons anO. offens es. No errors 
injuriously affecting the substant.1al rights of accuse::l 
were comruitte::l ::lurine the trial. ~he Board of Heview is 
of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the fin::lings of guilty and the sentences. . · 

8. As to ·warren, the penalty for an officer foun:i 
::lrunk on duty in t 1me of war is ::lismis sa.l anO. such other 
punishment as a court-mart1 al may :iirect (AW 85) • 

rtJ:~c-~ JuO.ge Advocate 
I 

~~ <-~·~ ,, . ·JuO.ge A::lvocate 
' ,. ..- / 

-~_,,..~~-->-~_,&_1~?_:·~_.,:_,_"~/--·--?__Ju::lge Advocate 
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lat Ind. 

War Departmen~, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate, 

General with ·the European Theater. ; 6 SEP 1945 

TO: Commanding General, United States Fe»ces, European

Theater (Main), APO 757, u. s. Army. 


1. In the caae of First Lieutenant GORDON W. WILSON 

(0-342309) and Second Lieutenant GEORGE'E 1 WARREN, JR. 

(0-1826309), both of Company I, ll2th Infantry Regiment, 

attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 

Board of Review that the record of trial is legally suf'fi ­

cient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence 

as to each, which holding is hereby approved. Under the 

provisions of Article of War 50i, you now have authority 

to order execution of the sentence as to accused, Second 

Lieutenant GEORGE E. WARREN, JR • 


2. When copies. of the published order are forwarded 
to·thia office, they should be accompanied by the fore­
going holding and this indorsement. The file number of 
the record in this office is CM ETO 15855. For conveniebce 

·of 	reference, please place that number in-brackets at the 

end of the order: (CM ETO 15855). 


K/~t~·--r',. '/ !(. C • l'IIcNEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States Army, 
__A_~J~iJ_teJi:~ JlJ.dge A9-vocate Genoral~, 

-----------------	 - A.\\bL'!.J.18/.&;:.,,,
( ·.\8 to accued WUltlll, sentence ordered executed. GCKO 411, ETO, 15 Sept 194n. 

I 
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RESTRICTEI' 

Branch Office or '!he Judge Advocate General . 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF R1'VIEN No.·2 
13 QS.T 1~45 

CM ETO 15858 

U N I T E D S T A T E S ·~ 75TH INFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 

First lieutenant ALFRED W. 

) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Vfinterberg, 
Landkreis Brilon, Gerimny, '2h llay 1945. 
Sentence: Dismissal, total forfeit- .. 

INGHAM '(Ol%5.3S5), Company L, 
290th Infantry , · 

1 ) 

l 
urea, confinement at hard labor .f'or 
10 years. The Eastern Branch~ United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
haven, New Yor,k. 

HOIDING by ;BOARD OF REVIE.W NO. 2. 

HEPBURN, MIU.ER and COLLINS·, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer ~d above has been 
examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its holding, to 
the Assista~t Judge Advocate General in charge o.f' the Branch Office of '!he 
Judge Advocate General with the European '!heater. · 

2. Acc~ed was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of .the 75th Article of War. 

Specification: In that First Lieutenant Alfred Vi. Ingham, 
Compaey L, 290th Infantry at or near Auf dem Schnee, 
La.ndkreis Hagen, Germany, on or about 12 April 1945, then 
in command as leader of the first platoon, while before 
the enemy, did, by his misconduct, endanger the safety of 
his pla~on, in that he was drunk and unfit for military 
duty. 

CHARGE II: Violation o.f' the 96th Article of War. 

Sp~cification: In that**~ did at or n~ar Auf dem Schnee, 
Landkreis f{agen, Germany, on or about 12 April 1945, while 
in conmarxi of a platoon, during the course of an attack, 
wrongfully dr:ink intoxicating liquor in the presence of 
an enlisted man. 

RESTRICTEP 15D5R 
-1­



(60) 

He pleaded not· guilty to and, two-thirds of the members of the court pre­
sent at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the 
charges and specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was intro­

.( 	 duced. '.l.\vo-thirds of the members of the court present at the time the Toi;e 
was taken concurring; he was sentenced to be dismissed the service, to for­
feit all -pay and allowances due or to becane due, and to be confined at hard 
labor at such place as the reviewing authority 1DB:3' direct for a period of 
ten years. The reviewing authority, the Collllll&lding General, 75th Intantry­
Division, approved the sentence an:l. forwarded the record of trial for ac­
tion under AW 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, United 
States Forces, European Theater, confirmed the sentence, designated the 
Fastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New ~rk, 
as the place of confinement and withheld the order directing execution of 
the sentence pursuant to Article of War 50i. 

3. Evidence for the prosecution: On 12 April 1945, near AUf dem 
Schnee, Landkreis Hagen, Germany, the accused, First Lieutenant Alfred w. 
Ingham platocn leader of the first platoon, Company L, · 29oth Infantcy 
,(R6,13), during an attack against the eneley' with the objective of taking 
that town . (R7,12), entered a building therein. He was in possession of a 
bottle of alcoholic liquor from which he drank (R22,2.3). He consumed about 
six drinks (R27). He did this in the presence of at least two enlisted 
men in his conunand (R22,26). He offered them a drink from the same bottle 
(R22,27), and then put the bottle in his pocket (R23). Accompanied by one 
of the enlisted ~n he left that building to go to the company command post 
and on the way a shell was heard coming. They "hit the ground" and the 
shell struck and exploded about 50 to.75 yards away. The explosion was 
not visible to them (R2.3-24). The enlisted man felt no concussion from it. 
Accused and the enlisted man arrived at the company comrrand f-3t in·cbout 
10 to 15 minutes (R.24) at about 2030 hours. At that time the accused's 
breath smelled of alcohol (R?). He was unsteady, and>he had difficulty in 
ligh~ing a cigarette (Rl6). The company comn'l9.Ilder inquired of accused as 
to the whereabouts of his platoon and directed that he bring it to the 
company comnand post as it was necessary to relieve the second platoon whi~h 
was then "pinned down" by enemy fire (R7). ·when the first platoon did not 
appear at the company command post after the expiration of a short time, 
the company commander again inquired of accused as to its whereabouts. 
Accused replied that "he would go after it himself". However, two soldiers 
were sent on the mission. During the period the company conunander awaited 
the arrival of the first platoon there was rifle fire and sniper fire 
(RS,16,20). After the passage of about 20 minutes the platoon had not 
arrived. The commander ag?in called for accused (R7). Upon being informed 
that accused was sick and was in the back of the building, the commander 
went to the rear of the building (RB). Accused had ~reviously left the 
house with the expressed purpose of locating the sniper and shortly there­
after he "slumped" to the ground outside of the hoW:le (R20). It was neces­
sary- to drag him inside in order to protect him from being shot (RS,17,21). 
The partially filled bottle fell from his jacket (Rl7). 

1 r; (' l;' () 
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While the company commander was trying to map out the nm move 
in the attack for his company, the accused caused a further commotion by 
getting up from the floor and trying to go down into the basement of the 
building. It required three men to bring him back. He became unconscious 
again. Water was then thrown on him in an effort to revive him without 
success. He shouted "Bill, get the platoon out of the artillery" in an 
eysterical manner and then lay stupefied on the noor (RB-9,18). It was 
feared that accused's shouting would attract the fire of the sniper who had 
previously given trouble (R8). Accused then vomited on the floor. He ­
emitted a strong odor of alcohol (R.8,9). Thereafter he was carried forward 
to the platocn command post in a tank (R9,25). At 2300 hours accused was 
able to sit up but could not or did not talk. He stared into space. Be­
cause he was "under the influence of alcohol.and unsatisfactory to perform 
military duty!', the company commander relieved him tram duty (RlO). He 
was placed on his !'eet and taken in a j3ep to an aid station at 0230 and 
given a sobriety test (R9-10). 

The battalio.n surgeon examined the accused and although there was 
an odor of alcohol 'in his breath he was not at that tiloo under the influence 
of alcohol. He responded normally to all tests. He was in a dazed condi- · 
tion (R29). About 10 minutes later, accused jumped up from the chair in 
lfhich he was sitting and asked what he was doing there, what had happened 
to him, and stated that he remembered nothing since a shell had hit near 
him several hours previous (R32). In the opinion of the surgeon he was 
not suffering from battle fatigue, blast injury, or hysteria (R33,34,47). 
The surgeon admitted that under nonnal conditions one vlho was unconscious 
from intoxicating liquor could not pass the sobriety test given within tour 
hours as shown (R.30). Accused was given another physical and mental exam­
ination on 4 May 1945 and found to be free of any peysical or mental defects 
(R35-36). 

4. The accused, having been advised of his rights as a witness, elected 
to testify in his cwm behalf. He related his participation in the ·attack 
as platoon leader (R39-4l). As he was leaving his platoon building and was 
fi:.ve yards away fran it a shell struck about 20 or 30 yards away. He "hit 
the dust" when he heard it coming. After it exploded he did not remember 
anything until he was being questioned by the battalion surgeon at 0230 
hours the following morning (R42). ~ cross examination, he admitted that 
he had "a drink of beverage" that he did not believe was alcohol about 
4:45 p.m. (R43). Some bottles of liquid were found in the house which the 
platoon occupied. 'Ibey were opened. He took two drinks and passed the 
bottle around to the other men in the room, among whom were enlisted men 
(R44). He took. the bottle along with him so as to share it at the company 
command post with the others (R44). He left the building at 2CXX> hours and 
has no recollection of drinking any more out of the bottle (R44-45). During 
the two days previous he had averaged only 3~ hours sleep (R.48). 

RESTRl~· i .t:..1.1 1[;f'r:ov. , . ... .: 
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5. Discussion: The evidence is clear and decisive that on the night 
of 12-1.3 April 1945, accused's company advanced toward the enercy" and was 
at that time.in continuous combat with it. ·The first element of the offense 
under the 75th Article of War was therefore sustained by substantial evi­
dence. Accused and his organization were "before the enenv" (CM ETO 1249, 
Marchetti; CM ETO 478.3, Duff; CM ETO 6694, Warnock). 

With respect to accused' a misconduct the following quotations are 
relevant and cogent: 

"a. llisbehavior before the enesr: * * * Misbehavior 
is not confined to acts of cowardice. It is a general 
term and as here used it renders culpable under the 
Article any conduct by an officer or soldier not con­
formable to the standard of behavior before the enesy 
set by the history of our anus. Running away is but 
a particular fonn of misbehavior specifically made 
punishable by this article; * * * " (MCM, 1928, par.
141.!!,, P• 156) (Underscoring auppl_ied). 

"Cowardice is simply one form of the offense, .which,
* * * may also be * * * the result of negligence or 
inefficiency. An officer or soldier who culpably 
fails to do his whole duty before the enew will be 
equally chargeable with the offense as if he had 
deliberately proved recreant" (Vlinthrop1 s Military 
Law and Precedents(Reprint, 1920~ p. 62.3) (Under­
scoring supplied). 

lfllisbehavior before the enemy may be e.xhibited in the 
form of cowardice, or it may consist of a. willful 
violation of orders, gross negligence or inefficiency" 
{Dig. Op. JAG, 1912 XLII- A, P• 128) (Underscoring 
supplied). · 

The evidence showed conclusively that accus~d vollllltarily rendered 
himself inc&.pable of performing his duties as platoon commander by the con­
sumption of intoxicants, at a time and place when his organization was en­
gaged in an attack upon the enemy. He was not only drunk but for a period, 
his intoxication rendered him insensible. It is probable that mere drunk­
enness without proof that intoxication was voluntarily produced by the accused 
"in order to evade taking part in a present or impending· engagement or other 
active service against the enemy" (Cf: Winthrop's Military Law and Prece­
dents, (Reprint, 1920~ p. 62.3;. CM ETO ,3885, O'Brien) would not constitute an 
offense under the 75th Article of War. However, the evidence in the instant 
case goes further than proof of ~re drunkenness. 1'1hile in a highly inton­
cated condition, he failed to assemble his platoon pursuant to the orders of 
the company conunander and the attack was conducted without its immediate 
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aaUstance. While in a drunken state he exposed himself to sniper tire 
which action required other officers and· soldiers to imperil themselves . 
to rescue him. He further conducted himself in such disorderl;r manner as· 
to threaten the satety ot tellow soldiers as to invite sniper fire unless 
he was suppressed~ It was necessary to relieve him o! his con:mand~ 

The conduct ot accused therefore involved not onl;r. drunkenness but 

also failure -1;0 perform his whole duty as platoon ·commander at a time llhen 

his unlimited, ,intell.igent and loyal services were demanded. In addition he 

was guilty o! acts o! disorder which tended to distract others trom undi­

vided attention to their duties. There is no difficulty in concluding that 

accused at the time and place e.lleged misbehaved before the enem;r within the 

meaning of the 75th Article 'of War (CUETO 11091 Armstrongi QI ETO 3081, 

~; CY ETO .3.3011 Stohlmann; '.Cf. Cll ETO 4352, Schroeppel/. 


Accused conte~ded that he was sutferir)g from shell shock and not 
trom the e.t.t'ects of his admitted imbibing !rom the bottle folllld in the build­
ing occupied by his platoon. This defense raised a factual question which 
was within the court 1s sole province to detei-mine. As its finding is based 
upon substantial testimoey it will not be distsmbed by the Board upon review 
(CM ETO 1404, ~; CY ETO 4194, ~). The findings ot guilty ot Charge 
I and its Specification are supported ~y the evidence. 

Accused's drinld.ng ot intoxicating liquor - shown--to be such.by 

its odor, appearance, and its effect· upon the accused - in the presence ot 

enlisted men in his command under the circumstancas shown was clearly pre­

judicial to good order and military discipline and therefore violated the 

provisions of the 96th Article of War. His convictioo of Charge II and its 

Specification will not be disturbed in this review (CY 211931. Raymond, 

10 B.R. 169, 175 (193i); Cf, Cl4: ETO 6235, Leonard). · 


6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years and one month of 

age. Without prior service he was inducted on 17 June 1942 and served as an 

enlisted man until 27 April 1943 when he was commissioned in the ~ of the 

United' St.Ates. 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 

person and offense. No errors injuriously af.t'ecting the substantial rights 

of the accused were .committed during the zyial. The Board of Review is of 


·the 	opinion that the record of trial is legall;r sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. Dismissal, total forfeitures and confinement at hard labor is 
authorized punishment upon conviction of an officer of offenses 1.lllder the . 
75th and 96th Articles o! War. The designation of the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement 
is proper (Cir.2101ViD114 Sept 194J;sec.VI, as amended). · . 

-5­
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http:194J;sec.VI
http:drinld.ng


RESTRICTED(88) 

lst Ind. 

War Departnent, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 13 OCT 1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European 'l'heater (fain), APO 757, 
u. s. Army. 

l. In the case of First Lieutenant ALFRED Yi. WGHAM (01945385), 
Company L, 290th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing hold­
ing by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding .is here­
by approved. Under the provisions of Article of Har 50k, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence. 

( Sentence ordered eacuted. GCYO 5261 USFET11 Nov 1945)• 

n::cto x rnc 1ED 
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Branch otl'ice ot The Judge Advocate General 
with the .. 

European Tb.eater 
APO 887 

BOA:RD OF REVIEW' NO. 3 2 8 SEP 1945 
CM ETO 15860 

U N I T E D S T A T E S ) lOlST AIRBORNE DIVISION 

v. ~ Trial by GCY, convened at Berohtesgaden, 

Private JOHN L.·ENSLEY 
) 
) 

Germany, 5 June 1945. Sentencea Dis­
honorable discharge, total forfeitures 

(35558394), Readquartera ) and confinement at hard labor for lite. 
Company, Second Battalion,) u. s. Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Penn­
506th Parachute Infantry ). sylvµia. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SEERMA.N arid DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in tile case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board o.f Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the .following Charge and Specifications 

CRA.RGE1 Violation or the 92nd .l.rtiole of War. 

Speciticationa ln that Private John L. Ensley, Head­
quarters Company, Second Battalion, 506th Parachute 
Infantry, did, at Ruchsen, Germany, on or about · 
26 April 1945, with malice aforethought, willfully, 
deliberately, feloniously, unlawfully, a.nd with 
premeditation kill one Private First Class il.fred 
Viethees, Company B, 327th Glider Infantry, a human 
being, by shooting him in the head with a rifle. 

Re pleaded not guilty e.nd, two-thirds of the mEIIl.bera of tile court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, was fotmd guilty of the 
Charge. and Speoi.fication. Evidence was introduced o.f two previous 
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oonviotions, one by speoial court-martial and one by aumma.ry oourt, 

tor absences without leave tor six days and one day respectively in 

violation of Article of ll'ar 61. Tbr•e-.t'ourtha bf the members of the 


..	court present at the time the vote lr&S t8': en ooncurringi l:!,,e was sen­
tenoed to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay 
and allon.noea due or to beoome due, and to be oontined at hard labor, 
a.t such place as the reTiewing authority may direct, for the term or 

his natural lite. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, 

designated the u. s. Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania,as the 

place o.t' confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action 

pursuant to Article of' War 5ot• 


3. Prosecution's evidence a 

.At about 0030 hours on 26 ifril 1945, Private First Class 
Alfred Viethees (the deceased) and three other soldiers, all of the 
327th Glider Infantry, were leaving a displaced persons' o amp at or 
near Ruchsen, Germany (R52), where they had visited with girls during 
the evening (Rl2,14). They ha.d not been drinking. Start Sergeant 
Andrew P. Campbell a.nd accused, both of Headquarters Company, Second 
Batta.lion, 506th Pa.re.chute Infantry; were sta.nding with a. girl in 
the doorway or one of the billets of the camp as deceased a.nd his 
three companions approached (Rll-12,14-15,20,221 27 1 33). Campbell 
and accused had been drinking all evening. There had been a lot of 
soldiers there "with guitars e.nd things. We ha.d music". Campbell 
was then "pretty well drunk" and accused "was drunk earlier in the 
evening" (R35-361 39). The girl spoke in German to deceased who with 
hla companions approached Campbell and accused. Campbell asked ~·­
ceased to tell the girl "she wasn't any good"• As decease~ spoke 
to the girl in German, accused said he was trying to take Campbell's 
birl from him. Campbell produced a pistol, pointed it at deceased 
and threatened, "You'd better get going". Deeeased replied, "Nioht 
verstehen", whereupon accused pushed him in the faee or chest with 
an Y-1 rifle, knocking him to the ground. Deceased ca?Tied a carbine 
slung over one shoulder but had made no unfriendly gestures toward 
accused (Rl3,15,17-18,20-21,23-24,28). As deceased slowly arose and 
started to step back, accused said, holding the rifle a.t his hip 
"I'll shoot you" (Rl3,16-18,21,23,24-25,66-67). An instant later a 
click was heard of the weapon's safety being released and the rifle 
fired at deceased from a distance of approximately five feet. Deceased 
fell with an extensive lacerated wound on the left side of his head 
which caused his death within a few hours (R9-ll,24). All of the 
soldiers i.Jmnediately left. Campbell and accused returned to their 
orga...~ization. The former reported the incident by telephone to his 
battalion commander, who directed that accused report to hi~ in the 
morning (R39,45,54). Accordingly, at about 0930 hours accused entered 
.his office and reported that he had shot a man (R45) and at approxi­
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mately 1000 hours said to his 00mpany commEl:l der, "Lieutenant I thilllc: 
I'Te done it this time • • • I think I've killed a man" (R43).. 	 . 

4. A.f'ter his rights were explained (R46), ac~used testified. He 
described the manner in which he spent the ev.ening of 25 April 1945 at 
a camp where he had been. invited by two Russian girls. He drank quite 
a bit and was feeling the effects, but he was not drunk. He rem.embere.d 
everything that took place and described the details of the ahooting·&s 
follows a 

"It was 12130 or 1100 o'clock. About the time I walked 
out, four boys from 327 came dom:i the .road and stopped 
there. They got into an ariument. Cainpbell told the 
fellows to take oft• I told all four of the tellmrs, 
'It you want a girl, there are plenty in the ba.rra.cka. 
Just go get one. Don't mess with another :ma.n's girl'• 
One fellow said, 'Go fuck yourself', and stepped in 
towards me. I picked up my m. I walked out of the 
barracks with it in my hand. When he stepped in I 
didn't want to tangle with four fellows with my fists. 
Campbell was drunk and I didn't want to tangle four 
fellows by myself', so I reached down and hit him with 
my ri~le. I just swung and Piocked him. down. He stood 
up again and I hit him again, and the second time I hit 
him the gun went ott• Maybe I had my hand on the 
trigger, but I don't know. I just had it in my hands. 
It the safety was oft the gun it must have been taken 
off in the barracks• Some Russian g~s were playing 
with i ti and I made them put it down. It was loaded. 
Everybody carried a loaded weapon in Germany. I didn't 
intend· to kill hila" (R47). 

6. All the elements of the crime of murder were shown beyond ~ · 
reasonable doubt by substantial evidence and the court's findings of 
guilty were fully warranted (CUETO 6159, Lewis,and authorities therein 
cited). His testimony showed he had a clea:r-r6collection of the events 

· 	 that surroimded the homicide. He testified he was not drunk. The 
court was ju.stifled in concluding that at the time he.tired at deceased 
he was not acting in self-defenae (CM ETO 1941, BattleaJ CM ETO 2007 1 

Harrie, Jr.). Even if accused'• testimony is believed that deceased 
*stepped"""in toward• me•1 •a slight assault does not just~ty killing 

· with a deadly weapon• (1 Wharton's Criminal Law (12th Ed.1932), sec.426, 
p.651J Cll ETO 835, Davia). Accused's claim that the shooting was acci­
dental presented a question ot fact that the court was tully warranted 
in resolving. asainst him imder all the circumstances lb.own. 
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6. a. While aocused was testifying in his own behalf' the follow­
·ing 	statement wa1 made to him by a member ot the court in connection with 
questions aakedt 

•it looks to me as though you're not telling the whole 
1tory. Possibly it is the wrole.story, but it doesnJt 
ring true, and a couple of' points don't help you very 
muoh9 (R69). · . 

b. In questioning Staff' Sergeant Andrew P. Campbell, recalled 
&I a witness for the oourt, a member relllBZ"ked follOlling one of' his answer1, 
•r get the impression you're not telling us everything you know" (R54) 

and inquired of' Private Jaok H. Deoker, Compa.ny B, 327th Gl:ider Infantry, 

similarly recalled, when he indicated he was positive regarding" certain 

of his testimony, •You're not making it up?" (R67) •. 


This cpoted language of the court constituted a grave h-regu• 
larity in the proceedings and improper conduct on the part of' the cc.1.4rt. 
However, since the proof' of' the commission of' the .offense charged was 
clearly and conclusively shown, no substantial right of accused was in­
juriously affected thereby (CM 116012, Dig.Op.JAG, 1912-1940, sec•395(48), 
p.2331 CM ETO 127581 St. George). . 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 26 years eight months of 
age and was inducted 9 July 1943 s.t Toledo, Ohio. He had no prior service. 

s. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and o.f.t'ense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of' accused were canmitted during the trial. The Board of' Revi6"' is of 
the opinion that the reoord of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the findings of' guilty end the sentence. 

- 9. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisonment as the 
court-martial 'fllY direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is autho­
rized upon conviction of murder by Article of War 42 and section 275 and 
330• Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 4541 567). The designation of the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, a1 the place of 
confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.lb(4), 
~). 	 . ­

Judge Advocate 
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Branch O.!fice o.r The Judge .ldvooate General 

with the 


European '.!heater 

.&PO 887 


BOlRD <F REVIEW NO. 2 9 OCT 1945.. 
CJl ETO 15862 

UNITED STATES ) lOlST AIROORNE DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCK, conTened at 
) Berchtesgaden, Germal'l1', 2 June 

Private First Class JAMES ) 1945. Sentence: Di1honorable 
D. McDANIEL (33846487), ) discharge, total rortei'blres a.zxi 
Comp~ C, ,5o6th Parachute ) conf'inement at hard labor tor 
Infantry ) lite. United States Penitentiary-,

) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIElt NO. 2 
HEPBURN, MILLER arid COLLINS, Judge Advocates 

l. '!he record o.r trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been exanrt ned by the Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the .following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation or the 92nd Article of War • 

.Specification: In that Private First Class James D. 
McDaniel, Company c, 506th Parachute Infantry did, 
at Landsberg Lech, Germany, on or about 30 April
1945, with malice aforethought, will.fully, deliber­
ately, feloniously, unlawfully, and with premedi­
tation kill one Frau Francisca Welz, a human being 
by shooting her w1th a rifle in the mouth. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members or the court present 
when the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty or the Charge and 
Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. 
Three-fourths of the members or the court present when the vote was taken 
concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be con.fined 
at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 
the term of his natural life. The reviewing authorlty approved the 
sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary-t Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
vania, as the place of confinement, a.zxi forwarded the record of trial 
for action pursuant to Article of War 50!. 
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3. The evidence tor the prosecution is substantiall.7 u·.rollOR"S: 

.&ccuaed lf88 a member ot Company c, 506th Parachute Intantr.r. 
Oil 30 April 1945 that unit us located in the vicin.it;r ot Landsberg Lech, 
Gel'lllBey', and had the da.'Q' ot searching Ollt several small taW?UI in the 
vicidty !or prisoners, military- articles, 8JllllltWt1.on, aru and food 
(R28). Accused was detailed on such a searching party and accompanied 
the other members o.t the detail until at least 0930 or 1000 hours (R28,29). 
He was supposed to be carTJ'ing a carbine (RJO). .lt about l6oo, he and 
another soldier entered the residence of Anna Gertm1 in Unter Diessen, 
Landsberg Lech. Accused asked tor weapons and schnapps aJXi went into the 
bedroom ani attic of the house (R35). Anna Gernm. did not see him drinking 
nor notice him staggering, and he was •standing prett7 straight"'.- ~e did 
not smell bis breath (R35,36). Her house is located about 100 metres :t'rom 
the house o! Anton Ried (R.34). 

Accused was seen by' another German civilian to enter the Ried 
house at about 1710 or 1715 on the day in question• .lt that time "he was 
drtmk" and not acting in a normal. manner. His eyes were "gla.:5sy" am. he 
was staggering back and .forth. He was not holding his rifie stead.7 (Rl.6). 
Thia civilian did not see accused point his gun at anyone, and the only 
words or gestures he observed were lib.en accused "told me (the witness) to · 
come to him. Then I went towards him. I had a loaf or bread under 1fl1' 
arm and I thought he wanted that loar or bread" (Rl.7). .l short time after 
he saw accused enter the Ried house, he heard the sound or crying and 
yelling frOlll that direction and investigated (Rl5). He s811' Frau Welz' s 
body lying on the kitchen floor in that house "covered with blood" (Rl.6) • 

.l twelve-year old grandson o:r Anton Ried, :Manfred, observed 
accused and another soldiet" i;>ass by the yard of the Ried house and go 
out to the stable. Accused pointed his weapon at a Russian 'Who was in 
the stable while he inquired as to his nationality. 'lhereatter the 
Russian told the boy to •go out~.that this was a drunken American soldier", 

·and :Manfred le.rt the stable (R.18). .l ferr minutes later he saw accused 
in the hallway and lei tchen or the Ried h011Se (Rl0,18). ' . 

In the Ried house were Anton Ried and his daughter Francisca 
Welz (R7). Ried first observed accused with the other soldier, in the 
hallway or his house, at about 1715 hours (R7,10). Accused was then 
"drunk", "wasn't very steady on his feet" and "wasn't walking verr 
steady" (Rl.O). Accused saw the grandson Manfred in the hallway, "pulled" 
him out of the leitchen and held the weapon "against" him, but the bey 
escapei .from him and went through the kitchen into the pantry, locking 
the door behind him (R8,19). ,Accused did not chase hini, and though he 
followed him he could not push through the locked door (R8,lO). The boy 
went from the pantry into the cellar and was just climbing out of the 
cellar windalJ lib.en he hea.rcV a shot nearby (Rl.9). 

After Manfred left, accused,, Ried, and Francisca Welz remained 

in the kitchen quietly standing aboa,t five feet apart from each other• 

.lccordillg to Ried, accused "didn't shoot right mray" (R8). For about 

two mirmtes he stood holding his weapon at his waist and pointing it at 

Frau \'ielz's stomach and chest (R8,ll,12). During that time, tl;le witness 
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"bellevelci7 he was steady on his feet, bu.t fj!J wasn •t al.ways looking at
him," diCI;;.inot lmow whether the rifie was wavin~ and didn 1t notice 'When 
it was raised to point at his daughter's head {Rll,12). Dllring that time 
accused did not say or gesture anything to her, nor touch her, nor did 
she say anyt.b:i.ng. They were standing there nTer;r quietly" (Rl4). Sa.dden­
1.y a shot n.s fired, and Frau Welz sank to the noor and died immediatel;r 
(P.8). . 

Accused then left the kitchen for a mimlte or two wt soon returned 
and "let himsel.f dawn on the noor and picked up both her wrists as if 
trying to feel her pnlse" (RB,9). Ried left the kitchen, aid accused 
locked the door and was in the room aboat ten minutes. !!'hen the other · 
soldier "came along" and accus3d left the house 'With him (R9,lO). When 
Ried returned to the kitchen Frau Welz was lying on the fioor with her 
legs spread apart and her bocy- nude up to her waist (R9). A medical 
officer found that she had been shot through the :aouth, the bullet 
emerging from the back of' the skullt am that the bullet wound cmisecl 
her almost instantaneona death (R23J. 

At about 1800 on the same day, accused's platoon commander observed 
him near a small town, the name of which witness did not remember (R29). 
Accused was "very drunk", and the officer ordered him placed in confine­
ment because of his condition (RJO). Shortly afterwards, he was turned 
over to Private First Class Hounshell, a member of accused's unit, to 
be put to bed (R31). Accused then had his carbine (R33). He was "drunk"; 
he could not control himself', he couldn't handle his bocy-" (R32). Accused 
talked to Hounshell and told him that he had killed a Kraut woman; how­
ever, the witness "didn't know whether to believe it or not"; he "thought 
the man was mighty drunk and didn't know what to think" about the statement 
he had heard accused make (R31,32). When accused was put on the bed he 
went "right off to sleep". In answer to the question whether the accused 
"passed out", the witness stated, "I wouldn't say he passed out. He wa1 
just gone. When you put· a drunk to bed you know how that is" (R33). 

4. '!he defense called as a witness Corporal. Nilllllo, the soldier "Who 
was with accused at the home or Anton Ried on the day of the homicide 
(R37). He testified that they were at that pl.ace at about 1645 hours and 
he and accused separated at the garage. At that time accused was "prett7 
well drunk" and "staggered a little". Seven or eight minutes later the 
witness heard a shot (R37). He looked for accused in the hallway or the 
house but did not firrl him there (R40). He went outside the house and 
next saw accused a few minutes later when the latter came up behind him 
in the front yard of the place (R37). At that time accused appeared 
to be "drunker" than he had been before. He did considerable talking to 
Nimmo, "saying qµite a bit, a little bit of everything.•"! /jiimrnif wasn't 
paying much attention to him. He told me he killed a man, and I said, 
"what did you do that for"? and he said "he was giving me some trouble". 
'!hey then walked approximately three quarters or a mile to the next town 
1'here accused was picked up by his platoon leader. Accused had difficulty 
walking and fell down severaJ. times (R38). 
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Private Hounshell, recalled as a witnese for the defense, stated 
that upon Corporal Nimmo's return to camp the day in question, he told 
the lli.tness that "McDaniel had killed a iroman", and that he, Nimmo went 
in and brought accused out of the house (R.47,48). 

The accused, a.rter his rights as a lli.tness were tully explained 
to him, elected to be Slrorn and testify as a witness (R48,49). He con­
firmed that his unit's mission was to search the small towns in the 
vicinity for "Germans, for prisoners, clothes, guns, anything /J.hei/ 
could find". They searched the first tom thoroughly, that operation 
requiring abotlt two hours (R.49). Th.ere he ~ot a bottle of cognac out of 
a German house and started drinking (R49,62}, He drank almost all of it, 
though an assistant machine gunner named Limcwa drank with him (R.49,67). 
'!hen they searched another town (R49). '!hey assembled with the rest or 
the compaey and had dinner at about 1300; howrever, accused ate onJ.y one 
rmr egg (R.49,70). He continued drinldng steadily all of this time (R49), 
having had, in addition to the cognac above mentioned, about half' a 
bottle of wine and several drinks of schnapps (R6o). He was tald.ng "quite 
a few" drinks and "drinking here and there" (R67), though he is not 
able to "hold his ·liquor" very- well (R.51), and it does not take "too 
ma.D.Y' drinks" to get him drunk (R69) • .l!ter dinner they went to a third 
town (name unrecorded), and accused and Linkwn set up a machine gun at 
the cross road in the town. Accused stayed there a few minutes, then 
left the gun a.Di went to "try- to find something to drink" (R49). He 
went in one or two houses and found a quart bottle of scJ:mapps which he 
started drinking (R49,58,59). He was very drunk at this·time, and 
remembered meeting up with another soldier, or soldiers, but did not 
remember who they were (R.49,58). Together the;r finished up the bottle 
of sclmapps by a garage, barn, or shed, and he set it up on a box. He 
testified that 11.f'rom there on everything seems to be a due.· I cen 't 
remember everything except when Hounshell and Lt. Robinson came down on 
a motorcycle. I don •t remember them again. It seemed like they 
stopped in front o! me and Hounshell said, 'he's drunk'• From then o~1
I don.'t remember anything that happened until 8:30 or 9:00 o'clock" (H49). 

He did not remember the name or the third town (R57), nor ot 
the soldier whom he met there (R58); nor seeing any women there (R58), 
nor of anything happening with reference to the deceased 1tl om he had 
never seen and had no reason to have killed (R.51); nor the m.ald.ng of 
~ statements with reference to haT.f.ng killed an;rone (R49-5l). He 
1'aS thoroughly cross-examined by the prosecution and. examined by the 
cotirt (R52-70), and few, it any, inconsistencies were developed in his 
testimony. 

5. '!he accused has been found guilty or the murder ot one Frau. 
Franci sea Welz. lhrder is .the ld 11 i ng of a human being nth malice afore­
thought without 1egal excuse or justification (ll.CJl, 1928, par.~~.£! p.162).
From the evidence outlined abOve it is clear that the accused ed Frau 
Francisca Welz at the time and place alleged in the Specification and 
that he had no legal excuse or justification for his act. ·'!he onl.1" 
element in issue 1'aS that or mal.ioe. 
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"Malice or malice aforethOllght is an 
essential ingredient or assau1t with intent 
to wrder. As in the case of ll'lllrder * * * 
malice may be either express or implied. 
It includes not only' anger, hatred, and 
revenge, but every unlawful and unjustifiable 
motive. .It is not con.fined to ill 1ril.l 
toward an individual, but is intended to 
denote an action flOlling from any wicked and 
corrupt motive, done with a wicked mind under 
such circumstances as evince a plain indica­
tion or a heart reckless of social duty and 
tatally bent on mischief. It is implied from 
any deliberate or cruel act against another 
which shows an abandoned and malignant heart. 
It is the opposite of en act performed under 
'uncontrollable action which prevents all 
deliberation.·or cool .renection in forming a 
purpose. 

* * * 
***-The existence or malice as.an element 
of assault with intent to murder may be in­
ferred or presumed from the surrounding cir­
cumstances, such as the use of a deadly 
weapon, the character of the assault, the 
unexplained attempt to talce life, or where 
the assault is unlawful and is done without 
reasonable provocation or circumstance of 
palliation, or is committed deliberately and 
is likely to result fatally, or from the · 
reckless disregard o'! human life" (40 CJS, 
sec.78, pp.940-942) (Underscoring supplied) 
(CM ETO 2899, Reeves). 

In the light of' this definition it is clear that there was ample 
substantial evidence of record from which the court could properly and 
leg~ presume malice. Notwithstanding his acts resulting in the death 
of the decedent, the accused contends that as a matter of lmr he was 
not guilty of murder because, due to his drwlkermess, he was not mentally 
able to entertain malice aforethought. 

"In eve17 case of apparentl;r deliberate and 
unjustifiable killing, the law presumes the 
existence of malice necessary- to constitute 
murder, 8Dd. devolves upon the accused the onus 
of' rebutting the presumption" (Winthrop's 
Yili i.117 Law and Precedents; 2d Fd., Reprint 
1920, p.673). 
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'lhe burden of proving his inability to entertain malice because of 

drunkenness was therefore on the accused. 


"Drunkenness: It is a general rule of law · 
that volUntary drunkenness, lfhether caused 
b;r liquors or drugs, is not ansccuse tor 
crime conmd.tted lfhile in that condition; but 
it maybe considered as affecting mental 
capacity to entertain a specific intent, 'Where 
such intent is a necessary element ot the 
or.tense. 

Such evidence should be caretul.J.T scratinized 
as drunkenness is eaail7 simulated or ms:r have 
been resorted to f'or the purpose ot stimlating 
the nerves to the point or committing the act. 

In courts-martial hairever, evidence ot drunk­
enness or the accused, as indicating his state 
or mind at the time ot the alleged offense, 
lfhether it ma.7 be considered as properl.1' 
affecting the issue to be tried, or only the 
measure or punishment to be awarded in the 

· event or conviction, is generally adiid.tted in 
evidence" (UCll, 1928, p.136, 126~). 

The erldence concerning his drunkemiess and its extent iras prop­
erly' admitted and it !ID.1st be presumed that it was considered b;r the court 
in reaching its findings. By its findings of gailty the court has in 
effect tonnd as a tact that the accused was not drunk to the extent that 
his mental capacity to entertain malice atoreth011ghtwas affected. 
Although admtttedly intoxicated, the accused was able to and did talk 
coherently. He was able to walk three-tourths ot a mile after the shooting 
eTen though he did so unsteadi.17 and fell a few ti.lies. He was able to 
stand a:>tionless with a gun pointed at his ultimate victla for two minutes. 
Before exposing to bis own view the l01rer part or the deceased 1s bod;r 
he was thought.till enough to lock the kitchen door. He realised that be 
had killed a German woman because he told others that he had done so . 
shortl.y' arter the shooting. One 'rltness 'Who saw him. about an hour betore 
the occurrence was or the opinion that he was not drunk at that time. 
His conduct toward that witness of pnJJ 1ng dam her •braces" indicated 
a sex desire which ma.y- have been his llOtive 'When he killed Frau Welz. 
His act ma7 also han been inspired by a reckless disregard rw blJman 
life. · 

"lhlle intoxication is no- defense to homicide, 
it may be operative to redu.ce D.lrder to man­
slaughter if sutficient.lJ' extreme to render 
the accused incapable or entertaining malice 
atorethoa.ght * * *" (CK ETO 9.365, llendosa). 

.. 	 .l casual reading or the erldence, suaarized abcwe, u to accused's 
comition at the time or the homicide 1lill satisty' azr:r reasonable miDded 
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peraon that it BhOft's u a substantial manner that he was not intoxicated 
to such extreme degree as to negative the ability to possess malice afore­
thought, as known and defined b;r law. Oppositel.1' it convincingly shOlfs 
that accused's .f'aculties were not beclouded or bermmbed. to the extent 
that he was deprived or the pawers or deliberation and judgment. Under 
such circumstances _the merciful pr:i.Jloiple announced ill the llendoza holdiug 
has no ~plication. The evidence which supports the .f'indtiig of malice · 
ie substantial (CU ETO 2899, Reeves; Cll ETO 4149, Lewis; CM: ETO 15416, 
Radclif.f'e) •.Neither was it nec:essar;r to prove a specific intent to kill. 

"A. specific intent to ld.ll does not enter into 
the de.f'inition of mrder at common la or under 
statutes declarator,- thereo.f'; it is 'Surf'icient 
i.f' the unlawful ld.ll.iJlg is w1th malice afore­
thought either express or i:mplied, and a homi.• 
cide may be malicious, and hence ms.7 be 1111rder, 
although there was no actual design-to take 
lite" (29 c.J. par 64, p.l09S). 

Tlle evidence in the case presents fundamentally questions 'llhich 
were w1th1ll the exclusive pro'rj.nce of the court ·.f'or determination. Inas­
WllCh as the findings are supported by competent substantial evidence 
they will be accepted as final by the Board or Rerlew upon appellate 
review (CK ETO 895, Darls et al; CY ETO 1554, Pritchard; CM ETO 16311 
Pepper). ­

6. The charge sheet shan that accused is 19 years and ten months 
of age•. Withoo.t prior service, he was inducted 18 March 191'4 at 
Washington, D • C • 

7. 'lhe coort was legally constituted. and had jurisdiotim or the 
person and the of.f'ense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights o.f' accu.aed were committed during the trial. The Board or Renew 
ie ot the opinion that the record of trial is legall7 sufficient to 
support the findings ot gnilt,- and the sentence. · 

.8. The penal:t.,. tor murder is death or life imprisoment as the 
court-laartial mq direct (AW 92). Confinement in a pem:tenti&r1' 1a 
authorized upoi:a coDTiction o.f' mrder by Article ot War 42 and aectt.OM 
275 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 454,S67). The designation 
ot the United States Penitential"1', Lewisburg, PemlS1'lva:nia1 as the 
place o.f' confinement, is proi:er (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 191'4, sec.II, p.ra.1!:?, 
(4), 3!:?,). 

- ·7 .. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
'With the 

European Theater· 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REv:rnY NO. 2 	 2 8 SEP 1~5 

CJL ETO 15867 

UNITED STATES 	 ) AIR TECHNICAL SERVICE CC»&AND IN 
) EUROPE 

v. ~ Trial b;y f,ICL{, convened at AAF Station 
First Lieutenant LYNDON R. MITCHELL,) 379, APO 633, U. S. Arrq, 14 May 1945• 
(0-569435), loth Airdrome Squadron, ) Sentence: Dismissal, total forfeitures 
27th Air Transport Group ) and confinement at hard labor for two 

) years.· Eastern Branch, United States 
) . Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
) New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HEPBURN and W:u.ER, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the caae of the officer naned above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its _holding, 
to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch Office of 
The Jud&e Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and spedifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 6Jrd Article of War. 

Specification l: In that First Lieutenant ~on R. 
Mitchell, 10th Airdrcme Squadron, 27th Air Trans­
port Group, did, at AAF Station 385, on or about 
2 February 1945, behave himself with disrespect 
toward Captain Jay A. Shroyer, his superior officer, 
by saying to him "You are a no good God-damned 
Captain just like others who have tried to get me 
into trouble", or words to that effect. 
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Specification 2: (Findings ot not guilty) 

ADDITIOOAL CHARGE: Violation ot the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that'***,, did,, while en route between 
AAF Station .385 and AA.F Station 590,, without proper 
leave,, absent himself from bis command. from about 16 
Februaey 1945 until apprehended in civilian clothes 

. about 20 lrarch 1945. 

He pleaded not guilt7,, and was found rx>t guilty o:t Speciticatiai 2 ot the 
Charge and guilty or the remaining charges and specifications. Evidence 
was introduced ot two previous ccnvictions by general court-martial,, cine 
for absence without leave for two ~s and wrongfully taking and using a 
government vehicle in violation o:t Articles o:t War 61 and 96,, respectively,, 
and the other :tor wrongfully making and uttering worthless checks (two 
specli'ications),, wroo.g.t'ul failure to pay debts (two specifications) and 

. dishonorable failure to keep a promise to pay ·a debt, all in violatiai 
;.~· g~;Article o:t War 96. He was sentenced to be dismissed the service,, to 

f9,'tfeit all p&7 and allowances due or to become due, and to be don!iiied 
at hard labor at such place as the reviewing authority may direct for two 

,,,.,.7ears. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, Air Technical 
·service' Command in Europe, approved the sentence and forwarded the record 
of trial for action under Article of War 48. The confirming authority1 
the Commanding General, United States Forces, European Theater, confinned 
the sentence stating that it was wholly inadequate punishment for an officer 
guilty of such grave offenses and that in imposing such meager punishment 
the court reflected no credit upo~ its conception of its own responsibility, 
and withheld the order directing execution of the sentence pursuant to 
Article of War 5<>k• 

,3. The evidence for the prosecution is substantiall1 as follows:­

• Accused was a member of the 10th Airdrome Squadron of which 
Captain Jay A. Shroyer was the commanding officer (RB). Accused was 
assistant billeting officer and Secretary and Treasurer of the Officers• 
Club (RB). Captain Shroyer, shortly after.24 Je.Puary 1945,, ordered him 
to close the Officers' Club on .31 January 1945 (RB). On the morning of 2 
February 1945, Captain Shroyer inspected the club and found it in a 
11deplo~able condition" (R9). Early that afternoon he called the accused 
to his office and asked him about the condition of the club. Accused 
replied "It was ncne of 'fif1' God-damned business - it was his personal· 
property am I had noth:ing to do with it 11 • Capta:in Shroyer informed him 
he should be reclassified for making such remarks to a superior officer. 
Accused hit the top of his desk with his fist and said 11God-damn it, you 
can't do it nor anyone like you" (R9). After first telephoning him, Captain 
Shroyer started to take accused to Ule office of the Group Executive Officer. 
As they went out the door of the Captain's office, accused said he would 
''bust 'fif1' God~ed ass for this" (R9). They reported to the Group Execu­
tive Officer where Captain Shroyer related the immediate prior occurrences. 
Accused denied making the statement attributed to him 
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and the Executive 6fficer instructed Captain Shroyer to prefer charges 
against accused (R9,10). Arter being dismissed by the Executive Officer 
and 'While going dawn the back steps to the Administration Building, the 
Captain asked accuaed why he had lied to the Executive Ot!icer, with 
reference to the statements he had made to 1he Captain in his office. 
Accused replied to Captain Shroyer that. he "iras a no good God-damned Cap­
tain and just like soma others that tried to get hi.a into troublen (RJ.O). 
On .3 February 1945, Captain Shroyer summoned accused to his o!tice and 
announced to him that he (Captain Shroyer) was preferring charges against 
him. At this time accused apologized to Captain Shroyer nfor the wa7 he 
had talked and the way his actions toward me were" (Rl5 1 21). 

An authenticated copy of paragraph 6, Special Orders NUlllber 24, 
Headquarters, 27th Air Transport Group, APO 774, u. s. Aruq, dated 28 
January 1945, was received in evidence (Rll; Pros .Ex.l). '!his order 
relieved accwsed from assignment with the loth Airdrane Squadron, AAF-.385, 
and assigned him to Headquarters, Base Air Depot Area, AAF-590, in Lancas­
ter, England (R2.3; Pros.Ex.l). · About 10 Februar,y 1945, he came into the 
loth Airdrome Squadron supply room seeking a clearance on propert7 and 
stated that he believed he was going to Burtomrood AAF-590. On 16 Febru­
ary 1945 accused left his station, apparently in accordance with the above 
order, and was a passenger on an airplane that lef't Le Bourget Field, 
France, about 1400 hours and landed at Biggin Hill, near London, &gland, 
about two hours later. He took a bus into Iondon, went to the Iondon 
Transportation Office an:i was last seen there about 17.30 hours (R2.3,24). 
Accused had not ~en granted any leave or delay en route (Rl.5). The 
Assistant Adjutant General, Base Air Depot Area, AAF-5901 testified (by 
deposition), that he was the custodian of the officer's register mainpained 
at that headquarters; that he could ascertain fran his records whether 
accused reported to that headquarters on or after 28 Januar,r 1945 and that 
accused did not report to Base Air Depot Area, AAF-590, on or after 28 
January 1945. On cross-examination, he stated that he did not know of his 
own knowledge whether every officer reporting to his headquarters sigJ:led 
the officers• regi.~er and that it was possible for an officer to have 
reported for duty and still not have signed the o~fi.cial officers' register 
(R26; Pros.Ex.J). '!he court took judicial notice of paragraph 6, AR 605­
120, requiring officers to register in person at the local headquarters, 
upon arrival at a place where there are United States troops on foreign 
service, and to furnish certain data (R.49). On 17 March 1945, Captain 
Shroyer went to England on official orders to search for accused (Rl2118) 
and, on 20 March 1945, with the help of the Assistant Provost llarshal 
from Londcn and four military policemen, he apprehended accused as he 
entered a civilian residence at 16 Cranswater Park, Southall, Engl.am. 
Accused was accompanied by a civilian l'f0man 1 was wearing a civilian sport 
coat and sport trousers and was highly into.xicated. He was confined in 
a detention barracks in Landon (Rl.3,14; Pros.Ex.2). 

4. AccU.Sed, after his rights as a witness were fully e:xplained 
to him (R.30), was sworn and testified in substance as follows as to 
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Specifications l and 2 ot the Charge:­

The night before 2 February 1945 he attended a farewell party 
at the Officers~ Club tor~officers who were leaving the baee the following 
dq (R32,40,4l). He became exceedingly' drunk and does not knOW' if he was 
able to get to bed himself or not (R33). '!'bey party lasted 'lm.til about 
0300 hours (103) and same property was broken in the club that night (102). 
He was called by a JDBssenger the next morning about 0800 or 0830 hours and 
told to report to Captain Shroyer (R33,39). He experienced sane difficulty 
in dressing and reported about 0900 or 09~ hours, saluted and said "Lt. 
Yitchell reporting" (R39). Captain Shroyer "asked me what the hell went en 
in the Club the previous night" and witness told him that the property 
that was broken over there was no concern of his as it was personal property 
(104,40,41). Because ot his excessive drinking the previows evening his 
mental cc:ndition was not normal but he knew where he was, and he knew Cap­
tain Shroyer was his coJllllllnding officer (R.40,44). While returning to the 
billeting area fran the Group Executive Officer's office, Captain Shroyer 
told him he thought he (accused) was "the kind of a ptmk that the Anrq 
didn't need", and 111 ju.st told him he was a no good Captain" (R42). He 

was "very nervous and jumpy" because ot his over-indulgence the night 

be.tore and it caused him to answer Captain Shroyer in a I!Bililer he would 

not have used had he not been feeling the effects ot the aforementioned 

drinking. He would, however, have given the Captain the sama answer con­


"cerning the damaged property had he been entirely normal (R44). On 3 or 

4 February he was sumnoned to Captain Shroyer•s office and told that charges 

were being preferred against him. After this interview he apologized to 

the Captain "for the conditicn in which he found the Club the day he 11'8.Ilted · 

to use it" (R33). 


A copy of the special orders, dated 7 March 1945, revoking accused's 
transfer to Base Air Depot Area, AAF Station 590, was received in evidence 
(R29; Def.Ex.A). . 

5. .!• Clear and substantial evidemte established that accused 
addressed his commanding officer with the disrespectful language alleged 
in Specification l of the Charge. In his sworn testimony he admits he used 
some ot the language in question, and that his attitude was not his natural 
one. There is sli>stantial evidence of all the elements of the offense charged 
in the Specification (Mell, 1928, :i;:ar.133, p.147; Cll ETO 2866, Woodson). 

2• Concerning the offense charged in the Specification of the 

Additional Charge, while there is no direct evidence accused did not report 

to his new station during the period of his alleged absence, as his orders 

required him to do, the uncontradicted proof that he left France by airplane 

and landed in England, that he failed to sign the officer• s register at 

hi3 new. station as required by Army Regulations and his apprehension over 

a mcxith later in civilian clothes in a different locality from that of his 

new station, constitutes a strong chain of circumstantial evidence from 
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which the court could properly infer that accused was absent without 
leave for the period alleged (Cll l26ll2, Dig.Op.JAG, 1912-40, sec.419 
(2), p.282; CM ETO 527, Astrella). 

6. '!he charge sheet shows that accused is 25 years, ten months ot 
age and that his commissioned service began 9 Decenber 1942 at Miami Beach, 
Florida. He had three years enlisted service. 

7. · The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
perscn and offenses. No errors injuriously- affecting the substantial. rights · 
of accused were conmitted during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find­
ings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. Dismissal, total forfeitures and confinement at hard labor are 
authorized punishmanl;s for vlolations by an officer of 6lst and 6Jrd Arti­
cles of War. The designation of the Ba.stem Branch, United States Disci­
pl.in8.ry Barracks, Greenhaven, New Yorlc, as the pl.ace of confinement is 
proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept 1943, sec. VI, as amended). 

TEMPORARY DUTY Judge Advocate 

~~udge Adwcate 

.£&~ i\J}fu.il.,, Judge Advocate 

-5­

http:i\J}fu.il
http:pl.in8.ry


(106) 


lst Ind. 

War Department,, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 2 8 SEP 10,45 TO: Coimnanding 
General, United States Forces, European 'lheater (Main)', APO 757,, 
u. s. Arrrr¥· 

1. In the case of First Lieutenant UNDON R. MITCHELL,, (0-5694.35),, 
10th Airdrome Squadron,, 27th Air Transport Group, attention is invited to 
the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is 
legally sufticient to support the findings of guilty an:i the sentence,, which 
holding is bereby approved. Under t~ provisions of Artie.le of War 5~1 
you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office1 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this iticwrsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 15867. For conven­
ience of reference, please place that nunber in brackets at the end of t~ 

'· 	 ;__,,. JMlil.er: ( C'!M F.'l'O 1 l\Af..? \. 
1 

McNEIL, 
~w'al,, United States Army-,, 

e Advocate General .. 

( Sent.ence ordered executed. GCMO 4831 USFET 13 Oct 1945). 

.· r. ( ,- r: 

.I l '·'I ./ 
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Branch Office of the Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European '!heater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. .3 7 SEP 1945 
CM ETO 15868 

UNITED STATES 	 ) lST AL'!\ DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
AAF Station 121, APO 557, 

First Lieutenant JPJIES E. ~ u. s. Army, 28 May 1945. 
CONNOLLY (0-2068368), 322nd ) Sentence: Dismissal and 
Bombardment Squadron< 9lst ) total forfeitures. 
Bombardment Group (HJ ) 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEl'f NO. 3 

SIEEPLm, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


1. llie record of trial in the case of the officer Ilam'3d above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European '!heater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 94th Article of War. 	 ' ' 
·specification l: In that First Lieutenant James E. 

C?nnolly, 322nd Bombardment Squadron, 9lst 
Bombardment Group (H), did, at Arnu Air Force 
Station 121, APO 557, u. s. Army, on or about 
l March 1945, wrongfully and knowingly sell a 
bicycle No. 777, Frame No. T-79050, of the value 
of less than $20.00, property of the United 

,,_ 	 States furnished and intended for the militar;r 

use thereof 


Specification 2: (Disapproved by reviewing authority) 
Specification .3: (Disapproved by reviewing authority) 

Specification 4: In that * * * did, at Arnu Air 

Force Station 121, APO 557, u. s. Army, on or 
 15868about 25 February 1945, feloniously take, steal, 

RE~tr~;:.:·. · 
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and carry away bicycle No. 777, frame No. T­
79050, of the value of less than $20.00, property 
of the United States furnished and intended for 
the military service thereof. 

He pleaded not guilty to, and was found guilty of, the Charge and 
specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. 
He was sentenced to be dismissed the service and to f or.f'eit all i:aY and 
allowances due or to become due. '!he reviewing authority, the Commanding 
General, lst Air Division, disapproved the findings of guilty of Specifi ­
cations 2 and 3 of the Charge, approved the sentence, and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 48. The confirming 
authority, the Commanding General, United States Forces European Theater,, 
although deeming the sentence wholly inadequate punishment for an officer 
guilty of such grave offenses, con.finned it and withheld the order direct­
ing its execution p.irsuant to Article of Viar 50i· · · 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that early in ~rch of 
1945 accused was seen painting a bicycle green ani cream in color and 

-that he sold this bicycle a short time later to Second Lieutenant Glen 
A. McClure for the sum of four pounds (Rl.4,27). The bicycle in question 
was identified by serial nunber and other characteristics as one which 
was issued to Technical Sergeant Henry Heuberger in March of 1944 and 
reported missing by .him on or about 22 February 1945 (R9,ll,l3;Pros.Ex.~). 
When first missed, the bicycle was olive drab in color and the paint was 
in perfect condition (RlO). A memorandum receipt covering the issuance 
of the bicycle to Heuberg-er described it as "Base Ordnance Property"-· 
(R9;Pros.Ex.3). · 

In a sworn statement made by accused on 7 March 1945, he recited 
that he had purchased the bicycle approximately one month previously 
from an officer who was leaving the station. The bicycle was then being 
repaired and delivery was not ma.de at the time the sale was conswnmated. 
He later went to the repair shop and took possession of a bicycle which 
fitted the description given him and which he believed to be the one he 
had purchased. After repairing this bicycle, he sold it to Lieutenant 
McClure for four pounds (IU6,17;Pros.Ex.5). It was stipulated that the 
officer from whom accused asserted that he purchased the bicycle was 
transferred from the station by orders dated 22 January 1945• 

An officer who had lmown accused intimately since October of 
1944 testified that in the period during 'Which he had known accused he 
had never nanifested undesirable traits of character, had never committed 
any act involving m:>ral turpitude, and that he, the witness, would trust 
accus!d fully "with anything that I had" (R39-40). 

Accused did not testify. 

For a roore detailed statement of the tacts, reference is made 

to paragraphs 5 and 6 of the review of the Staff Judge Advocate of the 

confirming authority, which the Board of Review adopts h~rein. 
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4. The physical appearance of the bicycle in question before 
repainted by the accused, the manner of its issuance, and its descrip­
tion as base ordnance property on the memorandum receipt all evidenced 
the fact that the bicycle was property of the United States, furnished 
and intended for the militaxy service. There was evidence that Heuberger 
missed the bicycle.on or about 22 February 1945 and accused was shown 
to have been in possession of it shortly thereafter. Accused's explana­
tion that he acquired the bicycle on or about 7 February 1945 by purchase 
from an officer departing the station, ma.de in a pre-trial statement of 
which no corroboration was attempted at the trial, was weakened by the 
fact that the officer from whom he asserted he purchased the bicycle was 
shown to have been transferred to another station by orders dated 22 
January. His act in repainting the bicycle from its original olive drab 
color also casts doubt ci.n the credibility of his story. It was clearly 
shown that he sold the bicycle to Lieutenant McClure. The Board of 
Review is of the opinion that there is ample evidence to suppol't tbe 
court's findings that he was guilty as charged. 

5. The charge sheet shows that accused is 23 years nine months of 

age, served as an enlisted man from 13 November 1942 to 26 August 1944 

and was appointed second lieutenant at Ellington Field, Texas. · 


6. Dismissal is authorized upon conviction of of'i'enses in violation 
ot Article of War 94. 

/ (. .· .­
__f-_... _1_.t\_.._._r_·l'_.t._:.._.~_z_·_·__ Judge Advocate 

/ 

!hat<&tm {; -4~ Judge Advocate 

,; I
_.,__,1_(__.......__/_,_·"----- Judge Advocate 

! _.,; -...; 

' 
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War Department, Branch Office of The Jwi~e Advocate General with the 

European Theater. 7 SEP 1945. · TO: Commanding 

General, United States Forces European Theater (Main), APO 7571 u. s. 

Arrlq. 	 • 

1. In the case of First Lieutenant JAMES E. CONNOLU' (0-206S.368), 
.322nd Bombardment Squadron, 9lst Bombardment Group, (H), attention is . 
invited to the foregoing holding by- the Board of Review that the 
record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty 
and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions 
of Article of War 50l, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 

office1 they should be accanpanied by the foregoing holding and this 

indorsement. The file nUIIber in this office is CM .ETO l5S6S. For 

convenience of reference, please place that number 1i1 brackets at the 

end of the order: (011 ETO 15S6S). · · 


. /(/q ~lcce) 
E. C. McNEIL, I 

Brigadier 	Ge~ United States Arrrv. 
Assist~~~cate General. 

( 	Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 4C[/1 USFET1 15 Sept 1945) •. 
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Branch Office of ~he Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOAP.D OF REVID'f NO. 3 6 OCT 1945 
CM ETO 15870 

U N I T E D S T A. 'I' E S ) SEVEHTH UNITED STATF.S AITJ.['[ 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Gutersloh, Germany, 21 June 

Technician Fifth Grade ROBERT ) 1945. Sentence as· to each: 
HA.."i.RIS (38299110), and Private ) Dishonorable discharge,. total 
LEOIJAP..D HA..TffiIS (38392919), ) forfeitures, confinement at 
both of the 402nd ~artermaster ) hard labor.for life. United 
Truck Company ) 

) 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOA.l'ID OF Rifrur NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DE'lJEY, Judge A.dvocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused Robert Harris was tried upon the following Charge and . 
Specification: 

CHA.11.GE: Violation of the 9?.nd Article of War• 

. Specification: In that Tee. 5 Robert Harris, 402pd 
Quartermaster Truck Company, did, at Lens.trup, 
Lippe, Vfestfalen, Germany, on or about 15 April 
1945, forcibly and feloniously, against her will, 
have carnal knO'tVledge of ~airianne Grossjohown. 

Accused Leonard Harris was tried upon the following charges arrl 
specifications: 

Cllil1tGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of 'ITar. 

~cification: In that Private Leonard Harris, 402nd 
Quartermaster Truck Company, did, at Lenstrup, 
Lippe, "Testfalen, Germany, on or about 15 April
1945, forcibly and feloniously, against her vdll, · 
have c~nal knowledge of l{airianne Grossjo~own. 

- 1 ­
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CHARGE 	 II: Violation of the 93rd Article of 'Viar. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Lenstrup, Lippe, 
Westfalen, Gennaey, on or about 15 April 1945, 
with. intent to do him. bodily hann connnit an 
assault upon Meier zu Beerentrup, by wilfully and 
feloniously- strild.ng the said Meier zu Beerentrup 
on the back of his hand with a revolver. 

Each pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the charges· and · 
specifications preferred against him. As to Robert Harris, evidence 
was introduced of one previous conviction by su.rnriia.ry court for entering 
a house or prostitution in violation of Article of War 96. As to 
Leonard Harris, evidence was introduced or one previous conviction by 
special court-martial for misappropriating sugar or a value of approxi­
mately $2.00 in violation of Article of War 94, and of four previous 
convictions by summary court for speeding and wrongfully appearing 
without his weapon, both in violation of Article of War 96, and for 
three absences without leave for a few hours each in violation or 
Article of Ylar 61. Three-fourths of the members of the court present 
at the time the votes were taken concurring; each was sentenced to be 
dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and al1owances 
due or to become due, .and to be confined at hard labor at such place 
as ·the reviewing authority might direct for the term of "your" natural 

'·. 	 life. As to each, the reviewing authority appr01 ed the sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as 
the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action 
P'..irsuant to Article of War 5ot. 

3. Evidence for prosecution: 

On 15 April 1945, the prosecutrix, Mairianne Grosjohown, a 
married woman 24 years of age with two children, was in the home of 
'Meier zu Beerentrup (RJ.7) near Lenstrup (RJ.2), Lippe, Germany (R17). 
&bout 2100 hours the prosecutrix, hearing a knocking at the door, 
opened it and found herself face to face ~th t'ITo negro soldiers (Rl8) 
and a Russian (R20). The negro soldiers, ·who were identified at the ­
trial by the prosecutr:Uc (RJ.8,23-24) and by Frau Emile Meier zu 
Beerentrup (RJ.2,13) as the accused, entered (Rl8,20); the Russian did 
not (R23). Robert, whq was the shorter (RJ.4), remained standing just 
inside the door (R20) vdth his pistol (Rl.4) • Leonard asked a railroad 
employee there whether he was a_ German officer. Then he demanded and 
was given cogna:.c by Meier zu Beerentrup (RlJ,20) to whom he returned 
th~ bottle to drink thereof first. During this time he caused Meier's 
hand to bleed by hitting it with his pistol (RJ.4,20). · · 

Leonard then grabbed prosecutrix and palled her crying into 
-~ 	 the adjoining room. (RJ.4,20). With his pistol d.r8.11Il he indicated that 

she should lie down. When she remained standing, he blacked her eye, 
pushed her onto the couch, ripi:ed off her stockings and undergarments 
(R20-2l) and, despite her crying (RJ.4,21), had intercourse.with her. 
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Ha.ving finished, he left the room (R21) and took Robert's place at the 
door. Robert then entered (RJ.5) the room where the prosecutrix was 
(R2?.) and there, despite her cries (Rl5,22-24), had intercourse w.i.th 
her (1122). After11ards, the two "drove right away'' firing a shot as 
they left (RJ.5). · 

Over objection, Erich Wetzel testified that the two accused 
ceme to his house in Lenstrup one night, where.they demanded and were" 
given cognac,.and Robert insisted on seeing a camera belonging to a 
nurse who was present (R30-32). At about 2030 or 2100 hours, they 
drove away in an ariey vehicle, whose number he 'W!'ote down. The· follow­
ing evening, 16 April 1945, he traced the vehicle's tracks to the 
Beerentrup farm about one and one-half kilometers distant. The road 
consisted of gravel covered with sand. He was a farmer -- not a 
detective or policeman. The tracks were very obvious around the 
curve -- not quite as ob-.rious on the straight road because it was a 
hard road. There was another track on the road but they were naITow 
tracks (R9-ll). 

The prosecutrix testified that, at a parade of American 
soldiers on 11 !fay 1945, she picked out a soldier. She believed it was 
Hobert Harris "but when Robert Harris came in front of me by himself, 
I said that I don't think it was him because I could not say that it 
was him and not be convinced it we.s him". She was convinced at the 
time of trial "because right now I recall tli.e picture in my mind and I 
know that it could· not have been nobody else11 (R23-24). Emile Meier 
zu Beerentrup testified that she· picked out a.soldier in the para.de but 
when she saw him closely she saw she was wrong (RJ.6). Erich v:etzel 
testified he was unable to identify anyone at the parade (RlO) • 

.After he was e.dvised of his rip,hts, Leonard Harris made a 
voluntary statement to an agent of the CriI'linal Investigation Division 
which was admitted in evidence over objection and with the caution that 
it was.to be disregarded insofar as it implicated Robert Harris (R27-29j· 
Pros.'.Ex.I). Therein Leonard Harris stated that he v;as 20 years of age, 
entered the service in JulJ 1943 and came overseas in August 1944. . 
About 1830 hours, 15 April 1945, he and Robert Harris went in the latter's 
truck to a German farm, asked for and were given cosnac. While t..liere 
he was shown a camera by a "German Red Cross rn.J.rse 11 • They then drove 
to another farm house where they demanded and were given cosnac. He 
asked a woman to have intercourse with him. She went into another room 
where she laid down on a sofa arrl he had "a sexual act" •vith her. i'lhen 
he fi."lished, he went out and P.obert Barris went in and had intercourse 
with the woman. 'lhey then went back to camp (Pros.Ex.I). 

f'..fter being advised of his rights, Robert Harris made a 
voluntary statement to a CID agent which was adrni tted in evidence over 
objection (R26-27,32; Pros.Sx.2). Therein he stated he was 24 years 
of aze, married, and with one child. He was inducted in the fall ot 
1942 and came overseas the· early part of 1945. After supper, 15 April 
1945, he and Leonard Harris went in a truck to a Gennan fann house 
where they vrere. ;:;iven cognac by a nurse. He remembered nothing that·- ·· 
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happened after he drank' the cognac (Pros.Ex.2). 

·4. ,Evidence for defenses 
, 

· After bis rights as a witness were explained to him, each 

accused elected to remain silent (RJ8). · 


Erich Wetzel, when called as a witness for the defense, testi ­

fied he gave the rmmber of the truck to American police. When the tll'O . 

negro SQldiers were at his home they were not accompanied by a Russian. 


· Asked l!hether Frau Beerentrup had Russian labor in the vicinity of her 
farm, Wetzel replied "Not in Lenstrup but there were Russians at Beerentrup" 
'Who, he further testified, lived in an adjoining house (R.3.3). 

l major testified that on ll Ya;r 1945, at a parade of soldiers, 

including Robert but not t.eonard Harris, five civilians, including the 

prosecutrix an:! Wetzel, identified four soldiers, none of whom was either 

accused. \ihen brought face to face 1f1th the identified soldiers the;r 

said the soldiers they had identified were not the guilty ones (R.34-.35). 

He further testified to receiving from higher head.quarters a letter 

stating the number of a truck which, upon investigation, he found to 

have been assigned to Robert Harris. He had examined the road between 

the Wetzel and zu Beerentrup houses. Because of' the type of' the road 

it would be difficult to trace tracks on the road (R.36-.37). 


5. a. Each accused's identity was sufficiently established to 

support the court's findings of guilty• Each was identified in court 

by the prosecutrix and by Fmile Meier zu Beerentrup. In addition, they 

were identified in court by Erich Wetzel whose testimony' placed them 

in the vicinity of the Beerentrup house on the evening in question. 

While no other negro soldiers were present in court other than a 

member of the court (Rl.2), "there is no requirement in the law that 

***art accused**·* be identified as the culprit either as one of 

a group or in any other particular way'' (CM ETO 8451, Skipper, Die. Op. 

BOTJAG, ETO, p.456) • There was no error in requiring accused to don 

helmets so that a witness might distinguish one from the other (RlJ). 

1~lhile such practice is susceptible of abuse * * * accused's consti ­

tutional privilege under the Fifth Amendment * * * was not infringed" 

(CM ETO 20021 Bellot, Dig.Op~ BOTJAG, ETO, p.441). Whether it 1f8S 


proi:er fo-,:- the trial ju~ge advocate, in having a Witness distinguish 

between Robert and Leonard Harris, to point out the latter and to ask 

if he were the one (R.3), need not be determined (see Cl! ETO 3859, 

Watson et al, Dig. Op• BOTJAG, ETO, p.445-446; Underhill's Criminal 

EVidence (4th Edition) sec.126, p.171). They were properly distin­

guished by the prosecutrix whose testimony furnishes complete· proof 

of the offenses charged. That prosecution witnesses had failed to 

identify accused in an identification parade was a matter going only 

to the weight of their evidence in identifying them in court (cf: CM ETO 

9246, Jacob, Dig. Op. BOTJAG, ETO, p.459-4&>). 


b. Substantial evidence supports the findings of rape (CM ETO 

10857~ We!ch et al). &l.bstantial evidence likewise supports the 

rindings of an assault with intent to do bodily harm. "A pistol used · 
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as a billy or club is a dangerous weapon" (CM ETO 3366, Kenne~, Dig. 
Op. BOTJAG ETO p.491; see also CM 144295, Dig. Op. JAG, 1912:0, 
sec.451(11) p.313). While the ass~lt consisted. of no more. than a 
striking of a hand with a pistol l'li th such force as to cause the hand 
to bleed, the court, Ullder all the circumstances shown, had substantial. 
evidentiB.17' basis for inferring therefrom that 'the assault upon zu 
Beerentrup mi.s with the intent to do bodily harm. 

6. The charge sheet shows that Leonard ·Harris is 21 years .four 
months of agC' and was inducted, without prior service, 8 July 1943 at 
Shreveport, Louisiana; that Robert Harris is 25 years nine months o.f 
age and was inducted, 1lithout prior service, 5 October 1942 at· fyler, 
Texas. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction ·o.f the 
persons and offenses. No errors injuriousl.1 affecting the substantial. 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentences. 

a. The penalty for rape is death or lire imprisonment as the 
court-martial may direct (Article of '\Yar 92). Confinement in a peni­
tentiary is authorized upon conviction of rape by Article of.War 42 
and sections 278 and 330 1 Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 457, 567). 
The designation of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
vania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, 
sec.II, par.1£(4), 3£). 

---~--=-"-------------Judge Advocate 

/rlal~ C. ~~ Judge Advocate 
/ ,_,., . 

'# ... ;' .'° / ·")
-)'· ~' ,,, . -­
/ /""- · !(_,,., ...:::: <·.r ./1 Judge Advocate 

/·:/·.. 
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Branch Oftioe ot The JUdge Advocate General 
Yith the 

European Theater 
.Aro 887 

(ll7) 

BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO.;, 
22SEP1945 

C1I ETO 15879 

UNITED STJ.tES SEVENTH UNI:rED STATES .ARMY ~ 
Te ) 

) 
Trial by GCM. caivene4 at Augsburg 
Germany. 15 June 1945. Sentence 

PriTates ROBERT JACKSON (34843910) ) as to each accused a Dishonorable 
and JAMES LOWERY ( 34676870) • 
both of 446lst Quartermaster 

) 
) 

discharge, total forfeitures· and 
confinement at hard labor tor life. 

Service Company. ) United States Penitentiary, ~sburg, 
Pennysylvania.. 

HOLDING BY BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3. 
SIEEIER~ SEERMAN AND DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

l• The record -of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
ha.a been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused irere tried upon the following char~eG ard specific­
ationss 

JACKSON 

CRARGEs Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification li (Finding of not guilty) 

Specification 	21 In that Private Robert Jackson, 446lst 
Quartermaster Service Company• did• at Gernlinden., 
Germany, on or about 3 May 1945, forcibly and feloniously. 
age.inst her will, have carnal knowledge of Mrs • .Anneliese 
Birnstiel. 

LOWERY 

CH.ARGEa Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification 11 (Findi~g of not guilty). 

Specification 21 In that Private James Lo-..ery, 446lst 

i~97Q
.a • 	 (") .... 
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Q.uartermaster Service Company,, did, at Gernlinden,; 
Germany, on or about 3 May 1945, forcibly and. 
feloniously, against her will, have carnal knowledge 
ot Mrs • .Anneliese Birnstiel. 

Ea.ch accused pleaded not guilty and, three•f'ourths of the members 
of' the court present at the time the votes were taken concurring, 
each was tOWld not guilty of Specif'iot1.tion l and guilq of' Spec­
ification 2 and the Charge against him. As to Jackson, evidence 
wa.s introduced of two :previous convictions by special court­
martiel for absences without leave for 9i hours and 10 de.ya respec-e­
ively in violation of Article of War 61. As to Lowery no 
evidence or previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths 
of the members or the court present at the time the vo'tes 119re taken 
concurring, each accused was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to forfeit ell pay and allowances due or to become due, 
and to be confine~ at hard labor, at such ple.oe a.a the reviewing 
authority m.ay direct,, for the term of hia natural life. The 
reviewing authority approved the sentences, designated the United 
Sta.tee .Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania., as the place of 
confinement, and forwarded the record or trial for action pursuant 
to Article of War ~. . 

3. The evidence f'or the prosecution with respect to Specification 
2 age.inst ea.ch accused shows that e.t about 1230 hours on 3 May 1945 • 
both accused walked up and gestured for admittance to the house or 
Frau Katherin Rieder in Gernlinden, Germany,, at vnich prosecutrix, 
Frau Anneliese Birnstiel, and Frau Rieder were present. _ Accused . 
had rifles in their hands which they "la.ter brought to e. ready 
position". Frau Rieder e..dmitted them to the house (R7-8). After 
they entered the kitchen ui,1 openec drawers in a cupboard, 
prosecutrix followed Lowery upstairs, thinking he was looking for 
weapons and being afraid he might take something away. ·At the top 
or the stairs she started to turn back when Lowery grabbed her by 
the a.rrrry and pulled her into a room (RS). He put his rifle in a. 
corner or the room (RlO). She testified& 

"With gestures he made me understand he wanted to 
have ~exua.l intercourse with me end I shook my 
head and tried to go outside the room. I tried 
to go out the door but he stood in front or th9 
door. I fbught hiri., end in the struggle he foroed 
me to the floor• * •Ile threw me to the floor * * !" 
I jumped up right a.way end tried to go out the 
door but he age.in threw me on the floor. I again 
roae from the floor and then he hit me with the 

_butt of the rifle in the face. I age.in fell on the 
floor and I continuously cried out. He tried to 
choke me. * * * As I was lying on the floor he tore 
off my clothes and threw himself upon me" (R8·9) 

· RE!:Tf.? 7 
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When she screamed, at one time he put part of a table cloth in her mouth 
(Rl3-14). Although she continued ·to struggle, he succeeded in penetrating · 
her private parts with his sexual organ· for about 10 minute.a (R9) 

When Lowery had finished, Jackson came upstairs and prosecutrb: 
immediately jumped up, thinking. she could run away, but Jackson pushed her 
down on the floor and "forced his penis into my vagina", in spite of kicking, 
shoving end struggling by her (R9-10,13). He had hill rifl~ "alw~s with him." 
(RlO). Hearing someone coming upstairs, Jackson let proseoutrix go end went 
with her out the door, 'Where they saw a priest (RlO). Prosecutrix asked the 
pri~st .to go for help, and Jackson "took him. by .the back or the neck and 
thoved him down the steps" (Rl4) · · 

Lcftery then pushed prosecutrix into another room, and although she 
kicked her leg.a, moved her arms and cried out, he had intercourse with her 
again. Then Jackson came in and pushed J.owery a~ and had intercourse with 
her a second time in spite or resistance by her (Rll-12). Through the window 
she showed Jackson two French policemen who had arrive outside the house, and 
after one of the policemen fired a shot, he buttoned his pents and both 
accused left (Rl2,14). Prosecutrix was excited and in very gre'at pain. 
Accused were at the house for more than, en hour (Rl2) · 

At about 1515 hours that afternoon, a German doctor examined prosec­
utrix, llho told him. what had happened. She was "crying and very nervous", 
and her left eye was bloody. The outside and inside of her vagina was 
bloody and B'WOllen. No examination for the presence or semen waa made. 
(Rl4-17). 

The priea1; testified that he ~ame to the house at the aummona ot 
Frau Rieder e:iid called out, whereupon Lowery , jU111ped over the fence with a. 
ritle and forced him. to go upstairs, 11here he heard prosecutrix calliJ:Jg tor 
help and then aaw her come out of a room with her blouse in disorder. He 
went for help, ani llhen he returned he aaw proaecutrix standing outside the 
house. "Blood 11as running down the inside or both her lega• (Rl7-21) 

Frau Rieder corroborated the testimony of prosecutrix as to the 
initial actions of accu11ed, neither of "Whcna she was able to identify positively. 
She heard crying and screaming upstairs while Lowry was with proaeoutrix, and 
10 Jackson l!:O upata.ira, after llhich abe went out on the street end called to 
the nei&bbora. (R21-24). 

4. Arter their rights u witnesses wre explained to them, acouaea 
Jackson elected to testify and accused Lowry to remain 1ilent (R39-400. 
Jackson testified that he is 22 yea.rs old and cmpleted th• aennth grade in 
school (R40). He denied having intercourse with Frau Birnstiel (R'2), or ··, 
eTer Tiliting the heme of Frau Rieder (R4S). He admitted carrying a ritle 
and b~onet to town at about 1145 hours on S liq with Lo..17 (RU-43,50), 
but aa.id they went OTer to a refugee cap m! talked a. long tiJle (RU). Von 
ot hia teatiaon)' relate• to Specification 1 u to which be wa.a tcnm4 not 
guiltJ. 
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5. The testimony of prosecutrix, ilhich is .strongly corroborated by 
that ot a doctor, a priest and Frau Rieder, vividly sh.ows that each aoouaed 
peysically overpowered her and had carnal knowledge of her, foroibly and 
against her will, at the time and. place alleged. While accused Jackson 
testified in denial of any connection with the acts, identification of him 
by the prosecutri~ and the priest is positive and compelling. The aota of 
accused, as established by ~ evidence, clearly conatitu~ the crime of 
rape and the findings of guilty are amply supported by the record ot trial 
(ClC ETO 611 PorterJ CUETO 1202, RamaeyJ Cll ETO 4608, Murra;yr CM ETO 
10103, Washington) • . 

6. The charge sheets show that Jackson ii 23 years seven months ot 
age and wa.s inducted 2 September 1943 at Fort Jackson, South. CarolinaJ Lmrery 
11 20 years one month ot age and was inducted 6 July 1943 at Fort Bragg, 
North Carolina. · 

7. The court was legally constituted end had jurisdiction of, the 
persona and oi'i'enses. llo errors injurioudy affecting the substantial rights 
ot accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review ii of the 
opinion that the record of' trial is legally sufficient to support the findings 
of guilty and the sentences. 

s. The pen&lty for rape is death or lite imprisonment as the cpurt• 
martial mq direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized 
upon a conviction of the crime of rape by .Article of' War 42 and sections 278 
and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USC.A. 457, 567). The designation of' the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confine• 
ment is proper (Cir.229, 111>, 8 June 1944, aeo. 11, pa.rs. :ie,(4),~). 

• 

JUdge Advocate 

Judge Advocate 

Judge J.dToca.te 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• .3 

CM ETO 15881 

UNITED STATES ) .3RD INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Salzburg, 
) Austria, 28 Y.ay 1945. Sentence: 

Private CLIFFURD B. HALVERSH:N ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
(.32967472) 1 Company "E", .30th ) feitures and confine~nt at ha.rd 
Infantry ) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 

) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOWrnG by BOAI-'.D OF R.BVIS';T NO • .3 

SLEEPER, SH2RMAN and DENEY, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the· following Charge and specifications: . 

CHPRGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification.: l. In that Private Clifford B. Halversen, 
11E11Company , 30th Infantry, then Private First Class, 

Company 11E11 , JOth Infantry, did, at or near St. Die, 
France, on Q[ about 5 November 1944, desert the service 
of the United States by absenting himself without proper 
leave from his organization, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: combat with the ene.rey, and did 
remain absent in desertion until he was apprehended at 
or near Plombieres, France; on or about 27 December 1944. 

Specification: 2. In that * * * did, e.t or near Kingheim, 
France, on or about 7 January 1945, desert the service 
of the United States by absenting himself without proper 
leave from his place of duty, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: combat with the ene.rey, and did 
remain absent in desertion until he was apprehended at 
or near Blamont, France, on or about 14 January 1945. 
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Specification: 3. In that ***did, at or near 
St. Croix, France, on or about 22 January 1945, 
desert the service of the United States by absenting 
himself without proper leave from his organization, 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: combat 
with the enemy, and did remain absent in desertion 
until he surrendered himself at or near lfunich, 
Gennany, on or about 5 May 1945. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court present 

at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of all charges 

and specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. 

Three-fourths of the menbers of the court present at the" time the vote was 

taken concurring, he was ~~ntenced to be dishonorably <iischarged the ser­

vice, to forfeit all pay· and allowances due or to become due and to be 

confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing"~uthority may direct, 

for the term of' his natural.life-. The reviewing authority approved the 

sentence, designated the Uni~ed States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 

New York, as the place of cGr..fj1 ce:wr:t, and forwarded the record of trial 

for action pursuant to J..rticle· of War 50-~. 


J. The evidence for the prosecution may be summarized as follows: 

On 5 November 1941+, at a. time whert Company E, 30th Infantry, 
was receiving small arms and artillery fire, a platoon runner ~-as ordered 
to notify accused that he was detailed to go on a patrol. When the runner 
went to the foxhole which accused had been occupying earlier in the day, 
accused was not there. A search of the area for him proved unsuccessful. 
His equipment was found the following day (R8,9). To the knowledge of 
the platoon runner, no one had pe:nnission to be absent from the platoon (RlO). 

On or about 7 January 1945, accused was brought to the command 

post of the second battalion, 30th Infantry, then located in Kunzheim, 

France, for return to his unit (Rll). He was told that his company was 

engaged with the enemy and intermittent artillery fire was being received 

at the battalion command post at the time (Rl2-14). Accused at first told 

the adjutant that he would not go back but later promised that he would 

return (Rl2). In the normal course of events, he would have been taken to 

his company either by a company runner or by the sipply sergeant. However, 

on 7 January no one took him back to his company because "he wasn't around" 

(RJ.4). A search of the area occupied by the battalion command post was 

made but he could not be found (R12-l4). 


For five days prior to 22 January 1945, the second platoon, 
·..Oompany E, 30th Infantry, then at St. Croix, France, had been undergoing 
training for a river crossing (IU5). According to the platoon leader, 

·accused 
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"was present to my lmowlecige at least one day 
of training, and all of the members of the 
platoon werthaware of the fact that we were 
going into/at"tack, and this man {;.ccusei/ 
was there in time enough to lmow we were going 
into the attack" (Rl7). 

On or about 22 January, as the company was moving to the assembly 
area, t.he platoon leader checked his men and accused was absent (Rl.5,16; 
Pros.Ex.A). In making the crossing, in which accused did not participate, 
mine fields and artillery fire were encountered {Rl5 ,16). 

On 15 Uay 1945, accused voluntarily made a statement to an in­

vestigating officer. His statement reads as follows: 


11Cn or about the 2nd of November 1944, I re­
turned to the Company from hospital. I just 
couldn't stand it in the lines and on or about 
5 November 1944, I left my position, ani went 
back to Plombieres, France. There I stayed 
around the hospital area until I was picked up 
tl'Xlre on or about 26 December 1944. 

"I was returned to Battalion CP, and told that 
I was to go to my Company. At that time I was 
still sick, so I went back to the Medics. The 
Medics gave me some pills and told me I was 
O.K. I then went back to Flombieres, France. 
I sta~d there until I was picked up by the 
lP 1 s on the 14th of January 1945, and returned 
to the Company, then in a rest area.· 

"On or about the 20th of January 1945, while the 
Company was still in the rest area, I left the 
Company and went back to an Ordnance Outfit. 
I stayed there, with them, until they came to 
1.'unich, Germany. I then went to the 3rd Division 
Personnel Office, and on the 5th of !Lay 1945, I 
turned myself into Captain Lewis, the .30th 
Infantry Personnel Officer" (Pros.Ex.B). 

4. For the defense, a non-conunissioned officer of accused's unit 
testified that he had seen accused in action for about a month before the 
date of the offenses here alleged and that, in the opinion of the wit~ss, 
accused had been a good combat soldier. .Another enlisted 'Witness testified 
that prior to 5 November 1944 accused "carried out his duties as directed" 
(R20). Accused, after having been advised of his rights as a witness, 
elected to remain silent. 
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5. The evidence adduced by the prosecution, including accused's 
own pre-trial statement, shows that he absented himself without leave 
from his organization at the times and for the periods alleged. There 
was also evidence from v.!J.ich the court could find that, on the initial 
date of each abs~~ce, hazardous duty was either impending or actively 
in proeress and that accused was aware of that fact. Accordingly, the 
court was warranted in finding that accused absented himself without 
leave to avoid hazardous duty in each instance, as alleged (Cf, C1i E'IO 
14792, Langan; C~ ETO 7413, Gogol). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 25 years of age and was 
inducted 9 June 1943. He had prior service with Company C, 11.th New York 
Infantry (National Guard) from 9 Ii.arch 1937 to 8 ?.::arch 1940. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense, No errors injuriously affectingthe substantial· 
rights of accused Y•ere cor:unitted. during the trial. The Bpard of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of tri:il is legally sufficient to support 
the findings of guilty and the ~entence • ..,...,.. 

80 The penalty for desef:1,ion in time of war is death or such other 
punishment as a court-martial maX_ direct (AYi 58), The designation of the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, .Greenhaven, New York, 
as the place of confinement, is authorized (A~'l 42; Cir.210, WO, 14 Sept. 
1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

,r{ Ii· .r / . r 
_.....,r..,_.• ____. -'-"-·-·. _r_.£,....../,=-~-c_._;-___Judge Advocate 

h,d~i?~ Judge Advocate 

·~ _., 

__..___.._r__.___~_,_____________Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO SS'] 

BOARD OF REVIE'N NO• 3 

CUETO 15901 

UNITED STATES ) SEVENTH UNITED STATES AR11:! 
) 
) Trial by GC~, convened at Gutersloh, 
) Germany, 6 July 1945. Sentence: 

Private J.AlES A. HICKS (3345600$), ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
440th Q.iarterma.ster Truck ) !eitures and con.f'inement at hard 
Company ) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 

) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greenha.ven,'New York. 

HOIDDJG by BOA.'1D OF REVIDv NO. 3 

SIEEPER, S'rllli:M.AN and DE'ViEY, Judge Advocates 


1. The recat'd of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. · 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Chart;e and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private James A. Hicks, 44oth 
Quartermaster Truck Company did, at Stolberg, Germany 
on or about 0730 hours 24 lMch 1945 desert the service 
of the United States a..~d did remain absent in desertion 
until he was apprehended at Liege, Belgium on or about 
1545 hours 15 l~ 1945. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds o'r the rrembers of the oourt present 
at the time the vote was ta.h"en concurring, was found guilty of the Charge 
and Specifica.tion. Evidence was introduced of three previous oonvictions, 
one by special court-martial for absence without leave for three days, one 
by summary court for failure to repair, and one by special court-martial 
for applying to his own use a government vehicle, all in violation of 
Article of War 61 (sic). Tilree-fourths of the members of'the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concuil'ing, he was sentenced to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
or to become due, and to be coofined at ha.rd labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authoril.y may direct, for the term of his natural life. The re­
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viewing authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, 

United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 

of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial !or action pursuant to 

Article of War 5~. 


3. The prosecution introduced in evidence a duly authenticated 
extract copy of the morning report of accused's organization for 
25 March 1945, showing accused "Fr dy to NliOL as of 0730 hrs 24 Mar 1945" 
(R5, Pros.Ex • .!). Testimony by accused's company commander shows that on 
24 llarch 1945, the company was at Stolberg, Germany, engaged int rans­
porting signal supplies from Lieee. .Accused was with the company "for 
detail and for guard duty" (RS,10). At about 0730 or 0800 hours, upon receiving 
a report from the first sergeant, witness ordered a search of the area 

:··-, and personally conducted a search of both the installations and the area, 
··~_put accused was not found (R6). He had no permission to be absent {R9),

'· 	 ~\'.!. was not seen again until 5 June (R7). Several months before, in 

January or February, accused had requested permission to marry a young 

lady he said he had 11in a family way". The request was sent to battalion 

headquarters, but no action was taken on it (R8-9). The company commander's 

testimony relating to accused's absence was corroborated'substantially 

by that of the first sergeant (.lU0-14). · 


At about 1600 hours on 15 May 1945, accused was apprehended in 

uni.term, without a pass, by the military police in Liege, Belgium. He 

was with a girl who had oome papers, and told the military police that 

she was pregnant by him and that he y.ras trying to get their troubles 

straightened out (RJ.5-19). 


4. After his rights as a witness were explained to him, accused 

elected to remain silent and no evidence was introduced in his behalf 

(Rl.9-20). . 


5. The evidence clearly establishes absence without leave of 
accused from his organization from 24 tarch to 15 lay 1945. 'ifuatever 
may have motivated him in remaining absent for such time, there is no 
evidence that he at any time attempted or intended to return to military 
control. From his unauthorized absence for 52 days, most of which was 
in an active theater of operations, terminated by apprehension, the court 
was authorized to infer an intent on·the part of accused to remain per­
manently away from the service (CM ETO 1577~ Le Van; CM ETO 1629, 0 1Donnell; 
CM ETO 5406, Aldinger;· CM ETO 15593, Joseph). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years five months of 

age and was inducted 2 March 1943 at Fort Myers, Virginia. · No prior ser­

vice is shown. 


7. The court was lecally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is of 
the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 

- 2 -	 15901 




(127) 

the finding1:> ;)f ,,_;....Uty- and the sentence. 

s. The :penalt7 £or desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (il' SS). 'lhe designation 
of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Oreenhann, 
New York, as the place of confinement, is authorized (AW 42; Cir.2101
WD, 14 Sept. 1943, sec. VI, as amended). 

~e AB--A Judge Advocate . r .. 
i.h-1 ..? / . (! A/
/i~ · ~._..-i,.~Judg? Advocate 

/1 ·1 
,ef/~//,_ .· 

_&_--.::7....../·-""-/.-.f.,_,c.S::.-~_(_.....f:_./_/_..J__Judge Advocate </ 
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and unlawfully, and with premeditation kill one, 
l.:a.rtba Gary, a human being, by shooting her with 
a sub-machine gun. 

He pleaded not guilty. All members of the court present at the time the 
Tote was taken concurring, h• was found guilty of Specifications 2 and .3 
and of the Charge, and of Specification l, guilty- except the words nbave 
carnal knowledge of Elfriede Weiasbarth" aubatituting therefor •commit 
an assault upon Elfriede Weiasbarth with intent to commit a !el0D7, viz. 
rape, by willfully and feloniously pointing a fireana a.t her, forcing 
her to lie down, and attempting to insert hie penis in her n.gina."; of 
the excepted words, not guilty, of th• substituted woJ"d1, guilt7 and, of 
the Charge, pertaining to Specification l, not gu1lt7 but guilty or a 
violation of the 9.3rd Article of War. No evidence o! prnioua convic­
tions wa.s introduced. All members of the court present at the ti.la th• 
vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be banged by the neck until 
dead. The reviewing authorit7,. the Commanding General, 45th 'ln!antry 
Division, approved the findings o! guilty of Specifications 1 and 2, and 
or Specification .3 with substitution or the word "gun" for "machine gun•,
approved the sentente and forwarded the record o! trial for action under 
Article o! War 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, 
European Theater, confirmed the senten" and withheld the order directing 
the execution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War 5~. . 

3• ETI.denoe for proaecution: 

American soldiers entered Laut, Germany, on 15 April 1945 
about 1930 or 2000 (R7,25). On the morning of the 16tk, fourteen or 
more German men, women and children were assembled in ta• air raid 
cellar of the castle there {R9,25). The cellar was a.bout 70 square 
meters in area, contained one electric light {R9), a:nd was the second 
or bottom cellar (R.S,.32). About 0400 or 0500 an American soldier and 
a Pol• entered th• cellar and were followed in a !ew .mitiutea b7 accused 
{R7-9,1S,25,36-.37), who did not speak Genna.n {R9,l3,15,26,32). H• nnt 
to Elfriede Weissbarth, pointed his rifle at her {R26) and motioned !or 
her to leave {R9,26). Sh• departed, followed by accused holding b11 
weapon at her back {Rl9 126), and by th• other American soldier and th• 
Pole (R9). 

Outside accused stopped and •was going to tear my clothes 
open•. To prennt thia Fraulein Weissbarth opened her coat. He then 
foreed her into a corner, tor~ her pants down, and forced k•r to lie 
down: Accused aust have been with .her for 15 or 20 ain.11.t.es. Froa what 
she belined, aecused•s penis entered her n.gina, but. ail• did not know 
!or she wa1 •conatantl.y: sellli-conuioua•. Her doctor would know. Sh• 
was •ninety-eigllt perce~t" Prtain that &8CUaed WU t:lle soldier• When 
sh• drHHd later, ah• found her •panties full o! blood•. Alao, there 
was a little on her coat and around her private part1. Sll• n.s not 
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menstruating and did not know from where the blood came. She did not 
give accused permission to have intercourse vii.th her. She couldn't do 
anything. 11 I was afraid * * * because before h• had constantly pointed 
his rifle at us. * * * I wanted to yell, but he held my mouth"• She 
did ask the other soldier for help (R26-29,41). 

Within 10 or 20 minutes, accused returned alone to th• cellar 
(R9,l9), approached Frau llartha Gary, a 41 year old civilian, and made 
some sounds and motions. Frau Gary stated she was a Swedish citizen 
and exhibited her passport (Rl3,20,32-33). She also gave him her pocket 
book and ring (R20 ,33), but accused returned everything (R20) and motioned 
by placing his hands on his chest and throwing them to the sid•. The 
others present told Frau Gary that accused wanted her to undress (RlJ,20) 
which she began to do slowly (R.20). All the while accused held his gun 
in a "ready position" (R2l,32). She undressed (R20,33-34) to a point 
that the top of her sanitary pad was visible {R2l). Asking "VJhat is 
that?", aceused pointed his finger at Frau Gary who replied, 111 am ill", 
whereupon accused fired (Rl4-l5) as she was about to open her girdle 
(R20,33-34). Frau Gary fell (Rl4) backwards (R2l,34) • It was then about 
0515 or 053.0. At about 0630, still in the cellar, she remarked that 
she "has to q.ie" and requested some coffee (R39). Between 0900 and 1000 
a witness saw Frau Gary laying in the cellar "without a sign of life"• 
In her right side was a wound about the size of the little finger (R2l-24). 
About 0930 Frau Gary's body was prepared for burial by an assistant 
undertaker. In her right side was a bullet hole which "tore out th• 
back" (Rll-12) • 

After accused had fired he reloaded his weapon (Rl0,14,16-17). 
With his rifle "in readiness" (Rl4), he .motioned for Frau Babette Kuhndor!er 
to go with him (Rl4,2l,34,37). With accused following with his rifi• in 
his arm, sh• nnt up to th• "house noor", undressed, laid down whereupon 
accused inserted his penis in her private pi.rts. Sh• allowed this "because 
I thought I would be shot" (R37-38). 

Two witnesses were asked upon cross-examination whether accused 
seemed to have been drinking. One testified accused had a little trouble 
reloading his rifie {Rl0,16-17); the other, "He had a very staring look 
but when I look at him now he has that n (R36). 

4. Evidence for defense: 

Aft~r his rights as a witness were ex.plained to him (R42), 
accused testified that he was a "full blooded Navajo Indian", 29 year• 
of age. He had attended an Indian school for 6 years and com.plet.d th• 
third grade at the age of 13. Sine• Anzio he had been with the tank 
company, f'irst as assistant gunner and then as gunner. He had killed a 
lot of German soldiers in battle. After the company came to Laut, he 
drank "very much" cognac and schnapps (R43-44). Upon c:ross-ex.amination, 
with defense strenuously objecting, accused also testified that his per­
sonal weapon was a tonmiy gun; that upon entering the town, he had a little 
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something to eat and, with another soldier and a civilian, "took some 
cognac and went down to where some Polish and Russian people were in a 
cellar•; that therea.!ter he remembers nothing until th• next morning 
when h• found himself in the turret of his tank (IW+-47) • 

Introduced into •videne• by th• defense (R48-49) were th• 
procHdingl of a board of officer• (Defense Ib.:.l), concluding aa 
.f'ollon: 

"Although this man ha• a J1.entalit7 of ll ;rear1 
(high-grade moron) h• has shown by past beb&Tior, 
action•, and accomplishments to hav. adjusted to 
a satisfactory level to the rules o.f' normal.lT 
accepted aociet;r. He denies civilian conflicts 
with the law. His li:rmy life has shown satisfactor;r 
ability to adjust. As the examiners on th• board 
did not have th• opportunit1 to examine thi1 m.n 
on or about th• 16th of April, they are not in a 
position to venture an opinion as to whether or 
not he was intoxicated at that time. It is the 
unanimous opinion of all the members of the board 
that this man does not have psychoneurosis or 
psychosis (insanity)•. 

Included in the proceedings were accused's testimony that he had been in 
the a.rmy in excess of four yec&rs and ca.me overseas in August 1942, and 
that he had no recollection after going into the cellar - he was drunk. 
Also included was the testimony of his coDpaJV comnander and a tank 
driver. The former stated accused was a cal.a soldier under eO!llbat condi­
tions but when drinking "he seelllB to go wild". The latter stated that 
when accus~d got to drinking he "gets' off his nut• * * * playing around 
with the women and chasing after them * * * to get in their pant•" (Def. 
Ex.l). 

A German physician testified that about 1 l.!ay 1945 he examined 
the condition of Fraulein Wdssbarth's hymen. It was not damaged end, 
in his opinion, she had nsver had sexual intercourse (R49-51). · 

5. Rebuttal evidence for prosecution: 

An American medical officer e.xamined Fraulein W•issbarth on 
2.3 Uay 1945. Her hymen had been ruptured and was in a condition ordinarily 
found in married women (R54-56). Another examined her, on 26 l[ay 1945 
and likevrise found her hymen ruptured. Its condition was not such as 
would normally be found in a virgin (R56-57). Fraulein Weissbarth testi­
fied she had not engaged in any sexual acts since the alleged offense. 
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6. a. Defense interposed drunkenness. Voluntar7 drunkezmesa, 
while not an excuse, "may be considered as affecting mental capacity to 
entertain a specific intent" (MCM, 1928, par.12~, p.J.36). "Whether 
he was too drunk to entertain a specific intent * * * was a question 
for the court's determination" (ClJ NATO 774, 2 Bull.JAG 427). Aside 
frOJn accused's testimony, there was little or no evidence of drunken­
ness. One prosecution witness did testify that accused had some trouble 
reloading his weapon. And another stated "he had a very staring look but 
when I look at him now he has that11 • From the testimony adduced and from 
accused's conduct, the court could reasonably infer that he was in suffi­
cient possession of his faculties to entertain the necessary specific 
intents (Cl: NATO 774, supra; CM ETO 6159, Lewis; Cl: ETO 10957, Turner). 

b. Specification l: 

. Though accused was charged with rape, he was found guilty of 
an assault 'With intent to commit rape. "Among the lesser offense• which 
may be included in that of rape" is assault with intent to co:i:mrl.t rape 
(MCM, 1928, par.148£., p.165). While Fraulein Weissba.rth was only "ninety­
eight percent" certain as to the identity of accused, two other witnesses 
identified accused as the soldier who forced her to leave the cellar. 
Accused's actions in forcing Fraulein Weissbarth to leave the cellar at 
the point of a gun, commencing to tear open her clothes, pulling her 
pants down, holding her mouth, and forcing her to lie down, particularly 
when construed in the light of his subsequent doings of the evening, 
support the court's finding that accused intended to have carnal lcnowledge 
of her whether she consented or not. While she seems to have resisted 
only to the point of asking help of the other soldier, she testified 
she \'las afraid of his gun and well she may ha.ve been as shown by accused's 
subsequent conduct. The record supports the finding (CM ETO 4386, ~' 
~). 

·c. Specification .3: 

The evidence shows that Frau llartha Gary was disrobing, before 
others, pursuant to accused 1 11 unlawful. demand. When she had disrobed to 
her girdle, accused, apparently enraged to find she waa menstruating, 
suddenly, \Ulexpectedly, .and without shown reason, shot her. From the 
evidence adduced the court was justified in concluding that her death 
resulted from the wound inflicted by accused. Medical testimony was not 
a sine qua non. "J.itli-der is the unlawful. killing of a human being with 
malice aforethought" (MCM, 1928, par.148!;, p.162). "lifaJ.ice is presumed 
from the use of a deadly weapon" (U:::M, 1928, par .ll2a, p.llO). In CM 
ETO 190. liranda; CM ETO 6159, ~' and CM ETO 10957, Turner, sudden 
and \Ulexpected killings, to al.l appearances without motive, were held to 
be nl1.1I'der. In accordance with the principles and authorities there con­
sidered, the evidence is sufficient to support the finding of guilty. 
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The variance between the allegation and finding on the one hand that 
Frau Gary was shot Yd.th a "sub-machine gun" and the action on th• 
other hand that she was shot with a "gun" was not fatal (C!: CM 144295 
and CU 155377 Dig.Op. JAG, 1912-40, sec.451(11), p.313; CM ETO 3614, 
Davia, III Bull.JAG 514). Whether accused used a carbine or sub-machine 
gunwas immaterial. He did not clai.11. surprise. 

d. Specification 2: 

While Frau Babette Kubndorfer offered no resistance but instead 
went uekly to a room, undressed, and allowed accused to have intercourse 
with her, she testified sh• did not resist because sh• was a.i'raid. And 
well shs may have been for accused had just shot Frau Gary. Whn• a 
woman "ceases resistance under !ear of death or other great harm * * * 
the conswmna.ted act is rape 11 (l Wharton' a Cr1minal Law (12th Ed. 1932), 
sec,701,p.942). The circumstance• belie that accused could haye thought 
she consented voluntarily, Throughout the night he elected to rely upon 
his lethal weapon to accomplish sexual intercourse. The record supports 
the findings of guilty (Cl~ ETO 5584, Yancy). · 

7. One question requires independent comment. Th• defenae objected 
strenuously and repeatedly to the prosecution'• cross-examination of 
accused, contending that it went beyond the scope of the direct exami.na.tion 
and violated accused's constitutional right against self-incrimination. 
It need not be determined whether the cross-examination was too great in 
latitude or infringed accused's constitutiona1 right against self-incri­
mination. In total, accused, upon cross-sxam.ination, admitted that he was 
in the cellar and that his personal weapon was th• "tollllllY' gun". Independent 
or accused's admission the eYidence ie compelling that accused was present 
in the cellar. Five witnesses ao testified. Except that one of the fin 
was only "ninety-eight percent" certain as to accused's identity, the re­
cord contains no suggestion that some person other than accused may h3ve 
col1llllitted the alleged offenses. ~ccused's admission to hia presence in 
the cellar did not injuriously a.ffect his substantive rights (Cf: CM 1609$6 
and CM 192609 Dig.Op. JAG 1912-40, sec.395(10), p.2o6; CUETO 2297, 
Johnson and Loper)• Nor did his admission that his personal waapon was 
the "toDllcy' gun"·•:- Five witnesses testified accused had a gun, the majority 
identifying it as) a carbine. Whether the weapon was a carbine or submachine 
gun was i.ml'lla.terial (see par .6c hereof)• f;;~ 

s. The charge sheet shows that accused is 29 years on• month of 
age and was inducted, without prior service S lCarch 1941 ·at Santa. Fe, 
New Mexico. 

9. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 'the 
person and offensu. No errors injuriously affecting th• substantial 
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rights of accused were· eommitted during the trial. 'fhe Board o! 
Review ia of the opinion that the record of trial ia l•gall.7 suffi­
cient to support the .findings of iUilty a.nd the sentence. 

10. . The penalty !or murder and rape i• death or ill• iapriaon­
•nt as the courf;...m.rtial may direct (AW 92). · 

--~~"""'-~~-1.. ;;.a....·1_,.f!U\_. _J.udg• Advocate 
. . . I 

·a~(?~ Judge Advocate 

. /) 
d? / ;: . (2 

Q:......._.1;..../_.__4_'....·~--5:.,._...._.......__Judge Advocate 


/: // 
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1st Ind. 

War Department1 Branch Oi'!ice o! The Judge Advocate General with the 
:Guropea.n The~ter ~ 7 SEP 1945 · . T01 COlllllanding 
General, United States Frocea1 European Theater (J.:a.in) 1 APO 7571u. s. A:rmy. 

l. In the case of Private First Class ~ ·w. l.:ARLU~O (JSOJJ.593), 
Company c, 19lst Tank Battalion, attention is invited to the foregoing , 
holding by the Boa.rd ot Review that the record of trial is legally suffi ­
cient t·o support the findings of guilty and the entence 1 which holding 
is hereby a.pproved. Under the provisions of Article of liar 50-}, you now 
have authority to order execution of the sente~c•• . 

2. The accused is a i'ull blooded Navajo Indian, who finished the 
third grade oi' school, has a cla.ssi!icetion test score of Sl and is 
classified by a medical board as a high grade moron. lie undoubtedly 
was intoxicated and claima to remeniler none of the events of his cr1m1nal 
rampage• His shooting ot Ua.rth& ae.r, is inexplicable except tha.t be was 
an 1'.ndian with too much liquor, similar to the case of Joe Lewis. Qt lk'l'O 
6159. He states he b.e&an usi?li liquor by buying "'beer at .tbe .~11. 

He has been in the l.:r."tr~ for more tha.n i'our years and overseas 
34 months. He served in ~e.nd and A!rica, was in combat at Anzio 
and throughout the later Italian campaign, !ought continuously in France 
and GerinaJV until his arrest on 16 April 1945. Fellow soldiers testified 
that he was calm and composed in battle and always obeyed orders. 

In \tar Department letter 2l July 1945 on the subject o! courts­
.martial, par. 3d reads: 

, '1· 14, 1S ; r.,hile a creditable combat record does not endow
""'·>· ·-~ 7> . the individual Yrith any special immunity,· neglect 

~.-,, ·• · • · • to give it due weight is ·~ a.n, injustice and
' 	 ., ,o.~1 "-.. a.n impairment of public respect for the Army's
-j · ··. .., administration oi' military justiceu • 

:~ ~../;~· ../j?-: .fr.n,' spite o! his conviction of murder and two other major crimes, 
~·) I~ ~ta.tion or.the sentence should be seriously considered. The 
~·~~- Board ot'Review e::xpressed the same view. · 

~ ,..,.,....~!'"°':"I'-' 

' ~ ~ "3. nllen copies or the published order are forwarded to this office, 
·" 	 they should be aceompci.nied by the foregoing holding, this indorsement and 

the record of trfal which is delivered to you herewith. The file number 
of the record in this office is CMETO 15902. For t e of reference( 
please place that nwnber in brackets at the end 

qi T 6'•N ~ 
\ O SEP 1~45 

~ e p~~ 2:'s C1if ETO 15902)• 
• 
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4. Should the sentence u imposed by the court and con.rirmed ·· 
by you be ~arri•d into execution, it is requested that a .tun copy 
ot th• proceedings be !orwarded to this ottic• in order that its 
tiles may be complete. 

. . ?!~/?~--;­~~~ 
. 1'. c. Mc~, · 

Brigadier Ge~r~,. United States J.r'rq-1 
Assistant Judge Advocate_General • 

. 
( Sentence ordered executed. GC1".> 4S81 USFET, 6 Oct 194.5). · 

\ 
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Branch Office of The Jud6e Advocate General· 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOAR!) OF fil.""\TIE',Y N0. 3 2 2 SE? 1945 

CM ETO 15905 

U N I T E D S T A. T E S ) 7TH ARMORED DIVISION 
) 

v. 

Private·First Class LUPER. 
ARIAS (39418223), Company B, 
23rd Armored Inrantry 
Battalion 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial by ·GcM, convened at APO 
257, u; s. Arrrcr, 19.Jfay 1~5. 
Sentence: Dishonorable dis­
charge, total forfeitures and 
confinement at hard labor for 
life. u. S. Penitentiary, 

) Lewisburg, Pemisylvania. 

HOLDING by BOt\RD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEi'fEY, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case or the soldier na"!led ahove 
has been examined by tho Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Ad7ocate General in charge of · 
the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater. 

2. Accused· was tried upon the following Charee and Specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification l: In that Private First Class Lupe R.
' 	 Arias, Company 11 B11 , Twenty Third Armored In:fantz-.J 

Battalion, did, at Rosdori", 3ermany on or abo'ut 
27~April 1945, forcibly and feloniously, against 4 
her will, have carnal knowledge of Else Bergrath. 

Specification 2: (Finding of not guilty). 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of t.~e co~t present 
at the time the vote was taken concurrina, was found guilty of the. 
Charge ani Specification l, and not guilty of Specification 2. 
Evidenca was introduced of three Previous convictions, one by 
stmmlary court for absence without l~ve for 10 days, and two by 
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special court-martial !or respective absences without leave :for 35 

days and J.4 days, all in 1"iolation or Article of War 61. All or the 

members or the court present at the time the vote was taken concurr­

ing, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the ser,vice, tO 

forfeit· all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be shot 

to death with musketry. The reviewing authority, the Commanding 

General, 7th Armored Division, approved. only- so llll,1Ch of the sentence 

8S provides that the P~CUSed be Shot to death with. llDl.Sketry, am 

forwarded the record or trial for action under Article ot War 48. 

The con.f'irmLng authority, the Commanding General, United States 

Forces, E-J.ro:i;:ean Theater, confirmed the sentence but commuted it to 

dishonorable discharge from the service, f'or.f'eiture or all pay and 

allowances due or to become due, and confinement at hard labor tor 

the term of his natural life, designated the u. s. Penitentiary, 


. Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place o.f' confinement, and withheld 
the order directing execution or the sentence pursuant to Article 
or War 50i-. . . . 

.3. The evidence .f'or the prosecution shows:that at about 03.30 

hours during the morning ot 27 April 1945, accused climbed through 

a window or a house in Rosdorr, Germany, and went into a roan in 

which 26-year-old Frau Gertrude Pelzer, her 13-yea.z-old niece, 

prosecutrix Else Bergrath, and five other persons were sleeping. 

Carrying a pistol in his hand.!' he lit a match, then a candle 'Which 

was handed him, and asked that the shades be pu.lled down. He also 

"talked out of' the door as 1.f' there were other :people present outside" 

(R7-8,l2,l4). He .forced a male occupant or the. room to accompa.n;r ' 

him to various rooms both upstairs am downstairs, and.then to return 

to bed (RB-9). He asked the age o.f' Else, whose mother said she was 

13. He pulled the covers.oft o.f' Gertrude and made her go 'W'ith him 

upstairs, 'Where he had intercourse with her (R9-l2). The court town 

him not guilty or rape as to this act. 


Gertrude test:U'ied that on returning downBtairs, accused 
motioned that Else should go w1th him, and Else asked, "Aunt Gertrude, 
1'hat is he going to do to me?" He took Elle upstairs, 'Where she was 
later heard to er:; "out loud"• After about thirty minutes tbey 
cane back down sni Else's rather said, "Child, I cannot help 1011", 
and Else said, "But father, I am not going BllY' more". She then went 
back upstairs arxl her groana were heard later downstairs (Rl2-l.3 116-l7). 

, Else testified that when accused kept motioning, her rather 
told her she had to get up (Rl.8). She dressed and went upetairs 'Id.th 
accused, 'Who had a pistol in his hand. He motioned for her to r81'1lOV'e 
her pants and lie down, 'Which she did. He went downstairs tor abc:ut 
five minutes am then returned, unbuttoned his pants,. am lay on her 
(Rl.9). She did not know exactly what he was going to do, b.lt she 
"was too much in .f'ear" to tr,y to prevent 1t it she had' known. He had 
intercotll"Se 11:1. t.11 her against her will. He "pu.shed 1 t in" and, because 
it pained her, she "cried out and he held the pistol against rq temple"'• 
Part o! his body was inside her gEllitals ahou.t an inch and a halt•. 
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"He took it out and put it in several times" (R20-2l). They went 
back downstairs and then accused made her bring the bed clothes 
upstairs and l~ down again. He again pushed his male organ into 
her temale organ .for about an inch and a pal.r, against her 'Will • 
.ltter five to ten minutes he la7 beside her and went to sleep. She 
was naked (R2l-23). Her !sale organ was bloody' (R24) • 

I ' 

In response to the sum:nOns ot a civilian, an .American soldier 
on gu.ard chlty came to the house, and on finding accused upstairs, 
Dllde !rom. the waist dawn, lying on a mattress beside Else, he took 
accused ~ (R23, 2.6-29). , 

At about 1~0 hours that day, Else was examined by a medical 

officer, who tound two tears ot the hymen, one ot which contained 

some ecchymosis and blood, indicating it was a fairly recent tear. 

'!here was also some tenderness, but no spermatozoa were found. A.8 

tO puberty, Else was about halt-developed (R2.5). 


4. .ltter his rights as a Ydtness were explained to him, accused 

elected to remain silent and no evidence was·o.rtered in his behal.t 

(R29). . . 


.5. The testimony ot the 13-yea.r-old prosecutrix shows that 

accused had carnal k:nOW"ledge ot her two tines, on the date and at 

the place alleged, against her 'Will, by putting her in fee.r or death 


·or serious bodily injury- ·by the use .or a pistol. Her account ot 
the acts is strongl7 corroborated by the testimony' or a medical 
officer as to her plJiysical condition following the acts, by the 
testimony' of her aunt as to accused's actions prior to going upstairs 
and her cries after going upstairs, and by the testimony o.f an 
American soldier who .found accused asleep beside her after the alleged 
acts. Under aJ.l the circumstances shown by the evidence, the 
elements ot the crime ot rape were clearly established and the .findings 
ot guilty are amply supported by t~ record (CY ETO 3933, Ferguson 
et a1; CM ETO 37401 Sanders et al; CU ETO ·10841, Utsey; CM ETO 
I2472, Syacsure). . 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 28 years old and was 

inducted 11 August 191.i.3 at Sacramento, Ca1ifornia. No prior service 

is shOMt. ' 


7. The court was l°egally constituted and had jurisdiction ot 

the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­

stantia1 rights or accused were committee. during the trial. The 

Board or Review is o! the opinion that the record of trial. is legally 

sufficient to support the findings or guilty and the sentence as 

approved am conmru.ted. 


a. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the 

court-martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a United States 
... 


. r. CJ :~ r::)
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. 

penitentiary is authorized upon a conviction of the crime of rape 
by Article of -Nar 42 ~d sections 278 and 330, Federal Criminal Code 
(18 USCA 457,567). The designation of the United States Penitentiary-, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place or confinement is proper 
(Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec•II, pars.1_2(4), 3£). ­

&'/P~Judge Advocate 

'/JrJ~ r.~Judge Advocate 

Vtf&:fr}j Judge ~ocate 

• 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge .Advocate General w::i.th 
the furopean Theater. 2 2. ~d .1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, ~opean 11.'heat~r (Y.ain), APO 7571 u. s. Array. 	 / 

· l:• In -the ca.se or Private First Class LUPER. ARIAS (39418223), 
Company B, 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion, attention is invited to 
the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record or trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the 

. 	sentence a.s approved and colllllJ!lted, which holding is hereby approved. 
Under the provisions of Article of War 50i, yoa ll01" have authority 
to order execution or the sentence. .. 

2. When copies published order are :forwarded to· .this 
office, they s . . ab ompanied by the foregoing holding and, • • 
this · <IA • ·- The' number of the record in 'this office is 
CK 1~ 5~ For conven(~ce of reference please place that 

i. 

:nwn r in brackets ~he '1¢ 
n . . 

. 
. . r: (CM ETO 15905).; 

: f 

·tt 1-tce-u_ 
~I 

McNEIL, 
United States Arm:r, 

.Advocate General. , 
·i 

(.Sentence as comuted ordered executed. a6ro 465, USF$1'1 7 Oct 194S)~ 
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Branch Oftioe ot ~ JUdge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
.uo 1587 . 

BO.ABD OF .REVlEW NO• 3 

CM ETO 15929 

UNITED STATES ~ 
63RD INFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 

Private JOim R. ANDERSON 
(36790431), Private llJTHER 
FRISON (36582801) and Private 
R. D. ATKms (35721449), all 
of 898th Quartermaster ~undry 
Compmy 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

. ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, oonvened at Head• 
quarters 63rd Infantey Division, 
AFO 410, u. s. Army, 16 July 
1945• Sentence as to ANDERSON 
and FRISON1 Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard lab or tor life• United 
states Penitentiary,· Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania. Sentence as to 
ATKINS I Confinement at hard labor· 
for six months and forfeiture of 
$18.66 per month for six months. 

.seventh Army stockade • 

. HOIDIID by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. Z : 
SIEEPER, SHERKA.N and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

l. · The record o£ trial in the case o£ the soldiers named Ii> ove has 
been examined by the Board ct Review. , 

2. 	 .A.ocused were tried upon the ·following charges and specificationu 

ANDERSON 

CHilGE 	 Ia Violation o£ the 6lst .Article of War. 
(Nolle prosequi) · 

. · Speci.f'icationa (Nolle prosequi) 

CHARGE Ila Violation o£ the 96th Article of 11u-. 
(lfolle prosequi) 

Specifications ·(No~le prosequi) l592! 
RES!f:R~D 
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ADDITIONAL CHARGE Ia Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private John R. Anderson, 
898th Quartermaster Laundry Conpany, did , at 
Reutsachsen, Germany, on or a.bout 6 11a.y 1945, 
forcibly end feloniously, against her will, 
have carnal knowledge of Ilse Rudolph. 

ADUITIOHAL CHARGE Ilt Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specifioa.tiona In that * * * did, at Re~tsa.chsen, 
Germany, on ar a.bout 6 lJay l 945, unlawfully 
enter the dwelling of.Otto Erich Friedrich 
Gustav Rudolph, and Elise Wollmerheuser, with 
intent to commit a. criminal offense, to wit, 
rare therein. 

FRISON 

CT-JAR.GE It Violation of the 92nd Article of war. 

Specifications In that Private Luther Frison, 
898th Quartermaster Laun1ry Company, did, 
a.t Reutsaehsen, Germany; on or a.bout 6 May 
1945 forcibly and feloniously, against her 
vlill, have carnal knowledge of Ilse Rudolph. 

CH.AR.GE II t Viola.tic.in of the 93rd Article of Vfa.r. 

Speoifica.tiont In that * * * did at Reutsachsen, 
Germany, on or a.bout 6 May 1945 unlawfully 
enter the dwelling of Otto Erich Friedrich 
Gustav RUdolph and Elise Wollmerheuser with 
intent to commit a criminal offense, to wit, 
rape the rein. 

ATKINS 

CHARGEt Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specifioationt In that Private R. D • .Atkins~ 
898th Quartermaster laumry Company, did, 
at Reutsachsen, Gernany, on or about 6 May 
1945, unlawfully enter the dwelling of otto 
Erich Friedrich Gustav Rudolph and Elise 
Wollmerheuser, with intent to commit a 
criminal offense, tow it, rape therein. 

Each accused pleaded· not guilty and, three•fourths of the member, of 15929 
the court present at the time the votes were tala!tn concurring, was·.. 

·~ . 
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was found guilty of the respective charges and specifications age.inst 
· him. Evidence ,was introduced of two previous convictions against 

Anderson,· both by special court-marti.a,l~ one for violation of the 
6lst Article of War and one for violation of the 65th Article of War. 
Ev~ence was introduced of two previous convictions against Frison, 
one by special court-:m.a.rtial and one by summary court, both for vio­
lations of the 6lst Article of War. No evidence of previous con­
victions was introduced against Atkins. Three-fourths of the members 

· of the court present at the time the votes were taken concurring, 
Anderson and Frison each were sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, 
and to be confined at hard labor, at such ple..ce as the reviewiqi; · 
authority may direct, for the term of: his natural life, and Atkins 
was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit 
all pay and allciwances due or to become due, and to oe confined at . 
hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 
ten (10) years. The reviewing authority approved the se:n!;ences against 
Annerson and Frison, designated the United States Penitentiary, lewis­
burg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confin;iment, and withheld the order 
directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War ~. 
As to Atkins, he approved only so nuch of the findings of guilty of 
the Specification of the Charge and the Charge as iJ:IVolves a finding · 
of guilty of wrongfully entering the dwelling.of otto Erich Friedrich 
Rudolph and Elise Wolimerheuser at the ti100 and place alleged, ,in 
violation of the 96th-1.rticle of War, approved and ordered executed 
only so much of the. sentence as provides for confinement at ha.rd labor 
for six months and forfeiture of$18.66 per month for si:x:months, and 

· designated the Seventh Army stockade as the plac~ of confinement. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that at about 1900 hours 
on 6 Uey 1945, the three accused and a. Serbian or Yugoslavian soldier · 

. knocked at the door of the dwelling of Otto Erich Friedrich Gustav 
RUdolph and Mrs. Elise Wollmerheuser in Reutsachsen, Germany (R37,89) • 

. Upstairs in the house were lifr. and Mrs. RUdolph, the maid, a small son, 
a'hd two daughters, one ei~t years of age, and Ilse RUdolph, the prose­
cutrix, age 20 (Rll-12). On hearing the knocking, Ilse preceded her 
father downstairs and locked herself in a room with Mrs. Wollmerheuser, 
who resided downstairs (R30). After loud banging and threats by the 
Serbian soldier to break in the door, Mr. Rudolph opened it (R9,24). 
All three accused were armed (Rll), and were "completely sober" ·(R23). 
Accused Anderson said, "i7here is the Frau? Vvbere is the lady?" Mr. 
Rudolph replied that "they were gone", whereupon all three accused 
entere1 the house (Rl0,20). They first searched the barn, after 'Which 
Anderson 8n:i Frison came back and ordered the family upstairs while 
Atkins remained at the door (RlO). Accused had no permission'to enter 
any rooms of' the house. (R16,26,37).. Anderson and Frison kept asking· 
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for the da.ughter, Ilse, and sea.rcil.ed the house for her, at·the same. 
time forcip.g the family up end dovtn the stairs by ~abbing, short~· 
end pushing them, and pointing their guns a.t Ur. Rudolph (Rl0-13) • 
Finally, onei aocuaed, or perha.ps •all thre!t~ of them; broke the look 
on the living-room door downstairs and foro~d or smashed open the door 
(Rll-12 1 29,37). Anderson and Frison then went into the kitchen wb,ere 
Ilse 8lld Mr.,. Wollmerheuser were, alld Frison tfJleld a. gun at our chests" 
and forced them to go into the hall (Rl.2 1 29). Atkins and the Serbian · 
soldier went outside with Mrs. Wolllllerheuser, 8.Xld· Ilse and her family 
were forced upstairs by· Amerson end Frison at 'the point ot the 1r guns 

· (Rll-13,29 ). 

After they reached an upstie.1r s bedroom, Anderson pulled Ilse 
from the room into the hall. She an:I the children were crying. Mr. 
RUdolph warned Frison that he would report any offenses against his · 
daughter to the military government, whereupon Ilse came back into the . 
room end told her father to "be quiet~ nob to do anything", because 
she knew he had trouble with his heart. Anderson then pulled Ilse dam 

, the hall into an adjoining bedroom. Mr. Rudolph attempted to get up 
from a chair, but Fris.on punched h?-m in the chest and threate°'d to 
shoot. him (Rl3-14 ,29) • · . · . . 

Proseoutrix testified that An:lerson tried to make her go up 

to the attici' but; she would nob go •. He told her to go into another 

rocm. "but I didn •t want to go 8lld then he turned his gun around as 

if to threaten tha.1: he wanted to hit 111' on the head with it if I 

didn't go with him". He tmn took her into the room and looked the 

door and put the key in his pocket (R29-30). She blocked on the wall 

and her father heard it (Rl4,31). Then, she testifieda. 
. ' . 

"I stood. against the wall and he said to me tha.t... 
I should give him a kiss. I said no and he said 

· I should lSiY on the bed and I resisted a.gain. He 
"t;hen fooled arcund with his gun 8lld said he would 
shoot my father and hit me over the head with it and 
he pulled me on to the bed and wanted to take my' coat 
off but I took that c:£ r myself and I resisted again 
and I wanted to get. up an! he held me down. '.L'hen he 
pulled down my' pants and loosened my' stockings. , Then 
he started - • • * I a.lweys pt·shed him a.way with my' · · 

hands and wanted to get out or the room. • • •-With 
one hand he held me tight and-with the other hand 
he pulled down my pants" (R29•30). 

She held her legs closed tightly1 but he took his hands and forced them 
a.pa.rt (R32). He then ha.cl sexual intero<itirse with her, penetrating her 
vagina with his penis (R30-3~). She did not cooperate with him. His 
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gun was be~een the bed and the door. She did not call for help because 
she knew her pa.rents could not help her and the people in the other 
houses were afraid for themselves (R30). She wa.s too a.fra.id to cry 
out; (R55). After Anderson had been in the room for .three to five 
minutes (R22), accused.Frison knocked on tile door and had a conver­
sa.~ion with him, after which Anderson left the .room. She testified a 

"I, of course, wanted to go out too and I tried to 
get out but a.t the same moment this f!risoJl came 
and he took my hand an:l threw me on the bed· and 
started in too and in the ma.ntim!J I didn't get a 
chance to put my pant; s back on again•. An1 then be 
held me tightly and lleld me on the bed. I tried 
to' resist again and I oouldn 1t do anything and he 1 

started· in and I didn't cooperate with him l'lla.tsoever" 
(R31). 

Frison had intercourse with her, the a.ct being "exactly the sSJie as with 
Anderson"• He penetrated her person with his organ (R3l,33). 

Apparently while Frison was still engaged in the act, accused 
Atkins ran u·psta.ir s and yelled that the police were coming, whereupon 
Frison left the room an! ran a.way a.cross a field (Rl5,31,34). .Anderson 
also looked out and saw the police and went downstairs "like lightening", 
after which he and Atkins were tUen a.wa:y by some officers in a car 
(Rl4-15). Anderson's clothi~ was orderly when he came from the room 
with Ilse (Rl6).. Proeecutrix' mot;her testified that Ilse "was very ex­
cited end upset" about five or ten minute& after accused had left the 
house (R27). Ilse iIIlll'8dia.tely told the officers that .Anderson had· 
threatened to "Slll8.sh her head with the barrel of the gun" and moot 
her· pa.rent s if she ma.de fitly outcry (Rl6). · · 

4. After their rii;hts were explained to them, ea.ch elected to re­
. ma.in silent (R46-47). . . 

For the defense, it was stipula.ted that Dr. Georg Sausr, M.I>., 
Rothenburg, Germa.n:y, if present, would testify that he examined Ilse 
RUdolph on 9 May 1945 ans fcund no evidence of physical violence, 
·venereal disease or pregnancy, and that subsequent exsmina.tions failed 
to show evidence of venereal disease ar pregnancy (R41J Def.Ex.A)• 

. . 
Mrs• Wollmsrheuser testified that Ilse Rudolph had associated 


with German "SS soldiers", who had visited. her house. American colored 

soldiers had been to the house prior to 6 May, but the witneu and her 

maid always left the house when they came (R42-43). The mid, Luisa 

lliedinger, aged 17, testified that the colored soldiers had visited 
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the Rudolph• every day tor a.bout e~t d8\Y'S and "used to sit on the 
sofa and smoke cigarettes• and ga.ve Ilse cigarettes. The witness 
lei't the house because she wu a..f're.id of them. Ilse was not married 
and had a. child about. ~o. e.M .. one-ha.lt years of age. The witness 
lei't the house on the night or 6 '.M8i'f by the windCl'R, and Ilse did ' 
not go thro~ ttie winiOlll' also "because the nigger came in t}J.e roam 
too fast" (R44-46). 

s. The testimony or prosecutri:x, 'Which ia corroborated in part 
by testimony of her parents and Mrs. Wollmerheuser, clearly shows 
that; accused Amerson and Frison each had carnal knowledge of her by 
force and without: her consent at the tie 8ltl place alleged. In its 
entirety the evidence fairly suppcrts the conclusion that she· was put 
in fear of losiz:g her life or of sufferix:g great bodily harm if she 
resisted to any greater degree, and that she took suo~ measures to 
frustrate the desi~ or each accused as 'were called for by the circum­
stances (1£M, 1928, par.148~, p.165; CM ETO 3933, Ferguson et al: 
CM ETO 10841, Utse;p CM ETO 14382, ~). 

The unla.wi'ul entrance of each a.ccused into the dwelling of 
Yr. RUdolph &ni Mrs. Wolltmrheuser is established by their testimony. 
It is of no signif'ioanoe that Mr. Rudolph actually opened the door as 
a result of loUd banging .upon it and threats to break it in, sinoe 
the circumstances clearly show a construotive breaking (CM ETO 3107, 
Mannig;J MCM, 1928, pa.r.l49d,e, ·p.169). The intent of accused Anlerson 
and Fris cm to commit the orTn;° of rape at the tine or the unlaw.ful 
entrance is shewn by their demands an! searches for the irosecutrix 
and the subsequent actual commission of the offense by them (CM ETO 
3679, RoehrbornJ CM ETO 4071 1 Marks et al). The unlawf\11 entrance of 
accused Atkins into the dwelliz:g was clearly a 'Violation or Article 
ot War 96 (CY ETO 5362, Cooper). ' 

s. Duri~ interroga.tion of the prosecutrix by the court, she was 
asked whether she had ever ha.d int~roourse with Alllerioan soldiers before 
(R33), and on cross-e:xaminaticn by the defense she was a.eked if' any 
"SS troops" ever visited her except; for two d8\Y'S during which she ad­
mitted they were quartered at her house (R52). Objections bv the prose­
cution were sustained in each instance. In view of the well:.recognized 

, rule tha.t bad repu!:ation of the prosecutrix for chastity may be sham 
as bee.ri~ on the probability of consent (CM 218643, Brig1lt 1 12 B.R. 
l03J 52 CJ, seo.109, p.1079), &nd in view of the showing that colored 
soldiers ha.d .vi sited proseoulirix tor eight d~ye prior to the visit by 
a.coused and that she ha.d an illegitimate child, it would ha.ve been 
more proper to allow a thorough interrogation of' proseoutrix by the 
court a.ni defense. However, from an examinaticn of the record of trial 
as a. whole, it ia oonolUded tha.t the rulings did not injuriously affect 
the substantial riglrt;s of any of the accused. 
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7. The charge sheets sh OR" that accused An:lerson is 23 years 
and one month of age ani was iniucted 10 July 1943 at Chic~, 
Illinois• Accused Frison is 00 years ei~t months of age e.ni was 
inducted 10 March 1943 at Detroit, Michigan. .Accused Atkins is 
22 ~ ars eleven months or age and wa.s inducted 2 January 1943 at 
Evansville, Indiana. No prior service by any a.ccused is shown. 

, 
a. The court we.a legally constituted ·and had jurisdiction or 

the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously atrecti~ the sub­
stantial rights of accused were colll!llitted during the trial. The 
Beard of Review is of the opinion tha.t the record or trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings or guilty and the sentences as 
approved. 

9. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the· 
court-martial may direct (AW 92). Confinemei:rb in a United States 
penitentiary is authorized upon convicticn of the cri~ of rape by 
Article of War 42 and sections 278 and 330, Federal Criminal Code 
(18 USCA 457 ,567). The designation of the United states Penitentiary,· 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir. 
229, WD, 8 Jun9 1944, sec.II, pars.1~(4), 3~). 
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Brancp Office ot The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theatef 
'APO 887 .. 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 ·. 7 DEC .1945 

CM ETO 15990 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 

v. 

) . 
)
)
) 

THIRD UNITED STATES ARMY~ 

Corporal CLARENCE S. THOMAS )
(34486312), 650th Quarter­ . ) 
master Truck Company )

) 
) 

Trial· by GCM convened at Reg­
enstaur, Germany, 16 ~ray 1945. 
Sentences Dishonorable discharge
(suspended), total forfeitures·,. 
confinement at hard labor for 

) five years. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
BEP1:3URN, F:ALL and COLLINS, Judge Advocates 

1. The record.of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined in the Branch Office of T}:;e Judge Advocate 
GenerD.l .with the EuropeanT})eater and there found legally insuff­
icieµt to support the findings and sentence. The record of trial 
has.now been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits 
this, its opinion to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge
of said Branch Office. 

2. ·Accused was tried upon the following charges and 
specifications: · 

CHARGE.I: Violation· of the 64th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Corporal,Clarence s. Thomas, 
650th Quartermaster Truck Company, didi· at or 
near Birkenfeld Germany on or about April
1945, offer violence agalnst, First Lieuteria'nt 
EDWARD B. BZDULA, his superior officer who was 

., 	 in the execution of his office, in that he said, · 
"Come and get nlf? 11 , and did make striking movements 
with his arms. 

CE!i.RGE II:' Violation of the 65th Article of Viar. 
RESTRICTED 
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Specification: In that * * * did, at or near 
Birkenfeld, Germany, on or about 1 April
1945, assault Staff Sergeant, Robert L. 
lforrow, a Non-Commissioned Officer, who 
was then in the execution of his office,
by striking him on the face with his fist. 

· He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the 
court present at the time the vote was taken concurring,:was
found guilty of all the charges and specifications. No evidence 
of previous convictions was introduced. Two thirds of the 
members of the court present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he.was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the· 
servicet to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, 
and to be confined .at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing
authority may· direct,. f~r lO years. The reviewing authority
approved the sentence, remitted 5 years of the confinement, 
suspended the executio'n of that portion of the sentence adjudging 
dishonorable discharge, designated the Delta Disciplinary Training
Center, Les Milles, Bouches du Rhone, France, as the place of 
confinement and, as thus modified, ordered the execution·of the 
sentence. The proceedings were published in GCMO No.295, Third 
United States Army, 2 August. 1945. 

3. About 2 P.M. of the afternoon of (Rl9) 1 April 1945, 
the accusedt a member of the 650th Quartermaster Truck Company, 
drove one:or the trucks in a convoy on a road near B1rkenfeld, 
Germany, under the command of Lieutenant Edward B. B~dula of the 
same organization (R6-7). Just what took place at that time and 
place is fairly and ably described in a summary of the evidence 
of record prepared by the Military Justice Division of .the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater, 
U.S.Army. The conclusion reached by the·Military Justice Division 
was based upon the £acts contained in that summary and therefore 
this Board adopts it for th'0 purposes of the review as constituting
all of· the facts of the case under discussion material to the 
issues. It reads as followss 

il• Evidence for the prosecutions. 

On l.April 1945 the accused, a Corporal was in a convoy
driving a truck (R7). Accused's truck apparentiy·ran into the 

truck preceding it, and Firs.t Lieutenant Edward B~ Bzdula, the 

officer in charge of the convoy, came to the scene to investigate

(R7 ,24). Accused ft$. round sitting in his truck uttering unint­

elligible words (R8). He.:"ias ordered by Lieutenant Bzdula ·to 

get out of the truck. (R8h .:Accused did not o'Qey· :the order, . 

whereupon the Lieutenant bad seven.enlisted men who were present 


• i • . .,._ • 

·:,,. 
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remove accused.from the truck for the purpose of transferring

him to another .(R8,9). During this bodily transfer of accused, 

accused broke away from the seven enlisted men who were trying 

to handle.him and was running w.ild around the immediate vicinity

of the trucks with the seven enlisted men, together with five 

officers, trying to stop him (Rl0,11). During this commotion 

accused struck Staff Sergeant Robert L. Morrow on the face with 
his fist (RB,17,18). At that time Harrow had been ordered to 

-place accused under arrest and was attempting to do so (Rl7,18).
After accused had struck him with his fist, Sergeant 1.!orrow hit 
accused over the head with the stock of his carbine, breaking
the stock (RB,17,18121). Accused then struck another soldier 
who was present {Rl;,18¥1). During this time accused was in an 
t 1uproar state" and was swinging his arms wide in a sort of flailing 
movement (Rl3,14). Accused thereafter was placed in another truck 
than his own, got on the driver's side of the seat and attempted 
to start the truck but was unable to do so because the rotor had 
been removed (R9,ll). Lieutenant Bzdula then ordered accused to 
get out of the driver's seat (fi9). At the time the order was 
given Lieutenant Bzdula was standing very close to the window of 
the cab of the truck in which accused was seated (Rl4). Accused 
at the.time of the order. said "Come and.get me", and leaned out 
of the window of the truck cab making striking motions with both 
of his hands, swinging from his shoulder (R9,ll,14). Lieutenant 
Bzdula moved away from accused and was not hit by him, but stated 
that he would have been struck by accused had he not moved away
(R9,14).. · · 

( The aboye is this reviewer's interpretatibn of the order 
of events from a very confused'record of trial. There is some 
evidence in the record indicating that accused was placed in 
the second truck by the 7 enlisted men, that thereafter he.struck 
at the Lieutenant and that-following that incident he got off 
the truck,. struck. the Sergeant and" ran wild" (R24)J 

Lieutenant Bzdula testified that he smelled liquor on 
accused's breath, that accused was in no condition to drive a 
truck, that he ·was in an "uproar state", was" running wild" and 
was.drunk (Rl0,12,13,15'). Staff Sergeant Morrow testified that 
he SEW a~cused ~t noon and could tell that he had been drinking; 
that the above incident occ~rred some two hours later and that · 
at that time ac~used couldn't have been sober and was drunk (Rl9 . 

. 20). . . 

b. Evidence for the Defenses 

Lieutenant Bzdula testified that he had known accused for 

approximately 14 months prior to the· above incident, had had an 

opportunity to observe him during that period of time, and con­

sidered §tW£to be an excellent soldier of excellent character 


·• (R15',~6). /~ergeant Morrow testified tha~ he .had known accused 
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for 15 or 16 months and that during that time accused has. 
been a .good soldier and has never .had any_ trouble (R22). · 
Technician Fifth Grade Johnson, another soldier accused 
struck at the ti~e of the above incident, testified that 
accused was a good soldier (R26). · 

Accused was sworn as a witness and testified in his 
own behalf(R29). On the nigLt before·the incident in question 
occurred accused had not eaten supper, and the next morning 
he had no breakfast (R31). When he got up in the morning
he drank a half bottle of champagne which was all he drank 
that day (R30,31). ThE;reafter he went out with his truck,_ the 
truck broke down and he took the truck to ordnance. His 
platoon sergeant told hin:·not to·dri:D.k any more. He does not 
remember leaving ordnance, and from that time he does not recall 
what happened until about seven dclock that night when he woke 
up in confinement (R30). ' 

4. The lfiilitary Justice Division after examin;ing the 
record found the evidence • legally suffic1ent, to suppor.t only
findings of guilty of assault and ass~ult and batter:y in-vio­
lation of Article of War 96 and not in violation of Article of 
War 64 or 65. This· conclusion was reached upon the reasoning 
that the.accused was so drunk that "he did not possess sufficient 
mental perception to understand the nature of his conduct and 
to know the persons against whom it was c;lirected". · 

In other words, that'he was not drunk enough to be excused from 
committing the offense o~ assault and battery in violation of 
Article of Ear 96 but was too drunk to know .who the persons· we.re 
upon whom he committed the assaults - notwithstanding the test­
imony that they both knew the accused at least 14 rp.onths, were 
in the same organization with him, and the event took place during 
daylight hours - and therefore he could not be guilty of ·vio­
lating Articles of War 64 or 65. 

The question presented is whether the accused was so drunk.at 
the time that the Board of Review may reverse the findings of 
guilty of the court and hold as a natter of law that the accused. 
was excused from beine held responsible for knowing the military 
rank of the persons whom t.e assaulted. It is conceded that he 
did at the time and place alleged in the specifications offer 
violence against First Lieutenant Edward B. Bzdula and that he 
did strike Staff SErgeant Robert L. Harrow on the face with his 
f'.ist, while those two were acting in the execution of their 
respective offices~ 

All of t:e elements of proof necessary to support a finding
of guilty of viola ting ArticlES of VJar 64 and 65as ·set forth in ;.rc:v:, 
1928, pars. 134.e:. and 135 pages 148 and 149 were cle.arly proved.
However, the r.;:anual fer tourts-I/artial recognizes as a defense · 
to Charge I (an offe~ cf violence against a superior officer in 
violation of Article of 1·:ar 64) that the accused "did not know 
the officer· to be r_is srq2_erior" (ibid,p.147). Altbough the 
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Manual is silent on .the subject, nevertheless· to be 

consistent, the defense that he did not know the soldier 

that he struck was a non-commissioned officer should also 

be available to the accused in defense of Charge II. We · 

will recognize such a defense for the purpose of this case. 


. 	 , . 
. 	 . 

It should be noted that the accused did not contend 

nor introduce any evidence to show that he did not know 

that those whom he assaulted were superior in rank but . 

contended that he was unconscious of any wrongdoing and 


· all other conduct on his part during the entire afternoon 
because of the effect of the intoxicating' liquor that he · 
had consumed on an empty stomach •. There was therefore no 
direct e~idence of the extent of his knowledge at the time· 
of the incident under discussion. The only direct evidence 
on the subject was t11e accused's testimony that he was entire­
ly uncons~ious mentally. As against this was ~he evidence 
of the surrounding circumstances and the accused's actions 
from which the court might infer accused's intentions, thoughts
and knowledge. 

. 
Undoubtedly the accused was drunk at the time he committed 

the alleged illegal acts. Evidence of his drunkenness and its 
extent was properly admissable not only to prove the possible
lack of knowledge on the part of the .accused of the rank of his 
assaulted victims but also in extenuation of the offenses. 

"It is a general rule of law that voluntary
drunkenness whether caused by liquors or 
drugs is not an excuse for crime committed 
while in that condition; but it may be con­
sider~d as affecting mental capacity to en­
terta!n a specific intent, where such intent 
is a necessary element of the offense. 

Suen evidence 'should be carefully scrutinized 
as drunkenness f.~ easily simulated·ormay have. 
been resorted to7°the purpose of stimulating the 
nerves to the point of committing the act. 

In courts-martial,- however! evidence of drunkenness 
of the accused, as indicat ng his state of mind at 
the .time of the aJleged offense, whether it may be . 
considered as properly affecting the· issue to be 

' 	tried, or only the measure of punishment to. be 
awarded in_ the event .of conviction; is·generally
admitted ·1n ·evidence" ·(MCM, 1928, par.126~, p.136). 

The court having heard all of the evidence found the accused 
guilty and thereby indiqated that it inferred from the accused's 
acts committed under the circumstances shown and found as· a fact 
that the accused was not so drunk that he did not know the rank 
of the persons assaulted. by him but that he possessed sufficient 

-5­
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sense of vision and reasoning power to observe and to 
recognize in daylight the rank of his victims. In our 
opinion this question was purely one of .fact for the 
sole determination of the court and it is beyond the 
provj,.~ce of the Board to reverse its decision under the 
circumstances. It must be assumed that the court took 
into consideration all of the evidence<vhen it deliberated· 
upon and determined 'the guilt of 'the accused. According 
to his own statement the half bottle of champagne which 
he drank when he got up in the morning was all he drank 
that day. Thereafter he was able to drive his truck and 
had sufficient judgement to take the. truck to Ordnance 
for repairs when it broke down. He remembered that his 
platoon sergeant advised him not to drink anymore. The 
accused apparently was conscious and possessed his sense 
of sight so that he could see, observe, and recognize his 
own superior commissioned and non-commissioned officers 
and their rank. No doubt the court balanced the above 
facts against the various descriptions of the accused's 
conduct indicating drunkenness1 and his testimony that 
he was mentally unconscious. The issue.presented was one 
of fact and not one of law. The accused although voluntarily
drunk. had the. right to show that fact to the court and have-
the court take that fact under consideration in reaching its 
findings. Having resolved the issue against the accused, it is not 
within the province of the Board in-reviewing the case to hold 
that he was too drunk. to be able to see and recognize that which 
was obvious simply because the Board may differ from the court 
as to tte inferences which may be drawn from the evidence. That 
wou,ld be weighing the evidence - a ft~nction vested exclusively
in the fact - finding body. The comment of the Board of R~view· 
with respect to factual situations similar to that disclosed 
in, this case is appropiate: 

I 
"The. wei.ghing of evidence and determining 
its sufficiency, the judging of credibility
of witnesses, the resolving of conflicts 
in the evidence and the determination of 
the ultimate facts were functions committed 
to the court as a fact-finding tribunal. 
Its condusions are final and conclusively ' 
binding on the Board of Review where the 
same are supported by substantial competent 
evidence**~· {CM ETO 895, Davis, et.al 
3.B R (ETO) 59,97). . . . 

The findings of guilty.of the Charges and Specifications are 
therefore sustained • . 

In a similar·case (CM ETO 2484, Morgan). the Board held 
that: 

"Whether.or not accused had knowledge that the 

--6 ­
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person he struck was a commissioned 
officer was a pure question of .fact 
to be det~rmined by·the court from 
a consi~eration of all revelent 
circumstances revealed by the record 

'Knowledge * * * of particular matters,
by its very nature, is not susceptible 
to di.rect proof, but must be determined 
by inference from indicative conduct or 
from the inherent quality of the occurr­
ences or circumstances by which it was · 
acquired" (Equitable Life Assur.Soc.v. · 
Saftlas (D.C.,E.D.Pa. 1 1941(38 Fed.Supp.
708, 712,affirmed (CCA - 3rd Cir •.1942)
129 Fed. (2d). 326) '." . 

In CM 223336.(1942), 1 Bull JAG 159, the Board of Review 
held as a matter of law, where an officer and a non-comm · 
issioned off-leer gave orders to a soldier who was very drunk 
and whose acts were described as "inconsistent" 7 '"uncontrolled" 
and obviously '·'out of control" and the soldier testified that 
he remembered nothing after drinking some ethyl alcohol and he . 
was convicted of willfu;n~ disobeying the orders and thereby
violating the 64th and b5th Article of War,· that the record 
was legally sufficient to support only as much of the findings.
of guilty, as involved findings of guilty of failures to obey

.the orders, in violation of Article of War 96. The Board in its 
opinion stated: · · 

·• . 
"The gravamen of the offenses alleged by

these Specificati0ns was willfu1:µ1sobed­
ience or 'intentional defiance of authority', 
a deliberate refusal or omission to do what. 
was ordered. Mere wrongful omission-or neglect 
to obey.is not willful disobedience. Manifestly, 
a conscious rational mental process is involved 
in willful disobedience, else the design and 
purpose which, according ~o authoritative 
definitions, characterize an intentional act, 
would be absent .(pars .134!?., 135a, MCTv!)" • · . 

The word "willfully'' in AW 64 and AW 65 applies only to dis­

obedience and &oes not qualify striking or offering violence. 

The 64th AW reads in part "Any person * * * who, on any · , 

I?retense .. wha tl3oever, strikes his superior of.Jl::er or * * * 

offers any violence against him" (underscoring supplied). 

In the companion case of CM 223335, Price, 13 B.R. 383 a 
conviction of a violation of AW 64 and AW 65 was sustained when 

· a drunken soldier struck an officer and a non-commissioned 
officer who were then in the execution of their office. 

- ~--
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The concJusion reached by the Board in the instant 

case does not, in its opinion, conflli.ct with the con­

clusion reached in CM ETO 9162 t ~ilb.Q..lltll wherein the 

conviction of a violation of AW 4 was reduced to a 

yiolation of AW 96 because the accused was drunk. In 

that case the assaulted offi~er testified that the 

accused "apparently failed to recognize him as an officer" 

because o! the accused's intoxicated condition. It was 

also shown in that case that the accused failed to rec- .. 

ognize a fellow member of his company at the same time. 

There was therefore· evidence of his inability to recog­

nize an officer whicn is lacking in the case under dis­

cussion. 


No reference is made to recognized authorities on 

law aliunde military authorities because the civil auth­

orities do not favor the defense of voluntary intoxication 

to the extent indicated by the military precedents above 


. (1 Whartons Criminal Law, sec~ 68, p. 98; 22 c.J.s. sec. 
66, p. 130) and the offense under discussion is purely
a'military offense. 

,.
5. The charge sheet shows that the accused is 24 years

and four months of age. He was inducted into the service 
on 6 Deceml:ier 1942.at J~ckson City, Mississippi. He had 
no prior service. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had juris­

diction pf the person and offense. No errors injuriously 


. affecting the substantial riehts of accused were committed 
during the trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion
that the reco~d of trial is legally sufficient to support
the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

7•. The per+alty for offering violence against a superior
officer in the execution of his office is death or such-other 
punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 64). 

~<-D_I_S~SE_NT>.__~----Judge Advocate 

- 8 ­

http:conflli.ct


(161) 

Branch Office of The J'udge Advocate General 
with the ·· · 

Eiiro:pean 1reater 
.APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 
5 OCT 1945 

CM ETO 15995 

UNITED STATES ) SEVI!NTH UNITED STAT.ES .AR4Y 
) 

v ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Gutersloh, Germany, 29 June 

Private J'.4MES LEWIS ) 1945. Sentence: Dishonorable 
(33742762), 3456th Quarter­ ) discharge, total forfeitures 
master Truck Campany and confinement at hard labor~ for life. United States 

) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIE'N NO 3 
SLEEPER, SHE&MAN and DEi'iEY, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Boal-d of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War 

Specification: In that ?rivate James Lewis, 3456th 
Quartermaster Truck Company, did, in vicinity of 
Shepmilse, Germany, on or about 13 May 1945 forcibly 
and felo~iously against her will have carnel knowledge 
or Elfrieda Esta. 

;;;as 
He pleaded notguilty to and,/found guilty of, the Charge and Specification. 
Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction by sumnary court for 
appearing in Toul, France without an authorized pass in violation of 
.lrtlcle of War 96. 'lhree-fourths of the members of the court present 
at the time the vote was. taken concurring, he wr;s sentenced to be 
dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all ~Y and allowances 
due or to beccme due, and to be confined.at hard labor, at such place 
as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural 
life. 'lhe reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated" 
the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Penn..~lvania, as th~ place 

-1­
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of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial f'or action pursuant to .Article 
of War 3Jt 

3. Prosecution's evidence: 

On 13 May 1945 between 0400 and 0500 hours accused., armed w1th a 
rifle, knocked at the door of' the heme-. of Karl Esta in Shepmilse, · 
Bielefeld, Ge:rmmy. Herr Esta opened; tne door. .Accused pushed him 
into the house. Herr Esta ran around the accused~ left by a window and 
proceeded on his bicycle to the hane of his eister. .Accused meanwhile 
grabbed. Elfrieda Esta, age 21, daughter of Karl Esta end, by hitting her 
on the heu and pointing his rifle at her, forced her to go a short 
distance from the house (R5,e,13). Her cries for help were heard by 
Frau EmDa Becker, a neishbor, who got out of bed, 'went downstairs and 
outdoors to observe accused about 100 meters away following Elfrieda with 
a rifle •• .After El.fried.a war~ed, •He will shoot•, accused •shot at me•. 
She could s•>e him pushine; the girl in front of him. Fral.l Becker •went 
backn (R14, -1.5). Accused continued to pull or push Elfrieda al on&;, 
hit re r a,sa:. .1 on the l:e ad when ·she re~:,eated her calls for help, pushed her 
into a bomb crater and made her lie down. .After again]X>inUng his rif'le 
at her he inserted his penis into her va~ina. She did not know bow fer. 
He the:i grabbed her ar,,11 walked with her a short dista?J.ce, at,;ain ma.do her 
lie down and repeated the act of insertinb his penis into her·ve~ina.. 
She had intercourse with him becasue she 'had to" and because when 
she•refused to go, he pointed the rifle at me• (R6-8). He had a 
pocketful of money and after the second intercourse {;.ave mr 200 marks :;hi ch 
she took in her band because he held it out as though "he was ~~inL to hit 
me, ii' I didn't take it' (R?,10-11). 

I 

At this moment, Herr Esta with an interpreter, his sister and 
two soldiers ar·rived on the scenein an automobile. Accused was standing 
abo~t a yard from the girl, whose hair was •disheveled and dirty• with 
an •imprint of a hand-mark' on her cheek. Accused end the girl were 
taken to the camns.nd post of Battery B, 215th Field Artillery, where 
she tol~ her story to an army officer (R7-10,19-21). Within two 
hours thereaaer she was examined by a doctor (R8-9). 

4. For the defense, Dr Heinrich Upmann, Hillesossen, k'reis, 
Bielefeld, Germany,. testified that he me.de a vaginal examination of 
Elfrieda Esta qn May 13, 1945 at about 0700 hours. ~ was unabl'e to 
determine whether or not her vagina had been penetrated earlier that 
day. , He did not notice any bruises or marks of any kind upon her (R26,28). 
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5. .A.tter his rights were explained,· accused elected to remain 
silent (R28-29). 

6. ~e court's findings of guilty are supported by substantial 
evidence, which contains all the elements of the crime of rape and are 
tinal and binding upon appellate review (CM ETO 4661, Pucote,and author­
ities therein cited) 

7. 'nle charge sheet shows that accused is 28 years tenmonths.of 
age and was irducted 5 June 1943 at Fort !Iyer, Virginia. He bad no 
:prior service. · 

8. 'lbe court was legally constituted e.rd had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were camnited during the trial. The Board of 
Review is ot the opinion that the record. of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

9. 1be penalty far rape is death or life imprisonment as the 
court-martial may direct (.AW92). Confinement in a United States 
Penitentiary ia authorized upon conviction of rape by .Article of' War 
42 and section 278 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCJ. 457; 567). 
The ·designation of the United States Penitentiary, LewUburg, Pennsylvania, 
ae the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944• sec IX, 
pars, lh (4) • 3R.> • 

. Judge .Advocate 

Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office ot '1'he Judge .ldvocate Genera1 

with the ·· 


.European. '1'h8 ater. 

APO &l7 


BO.ARD OF, REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 1600.5 

UNITED S1'ATlCS ·) lOTH ARl.DRm DIVISION. ' 	 . . . 
. v. 	 · Trial b:J GCM, convened at Garmisch­

Partenldrchen, Germany, 3,4,5 August 1945. 
Technician Fifth Gr:-ade l'lELOON · ) Sentence as to each accused: Di.shonorable 

l 
W. JONES (3M497SO) and Private ) discharge, tota1 forfeitures and con.tine­
First Class BENJnDN D. HOUGH ) ment at hard labor for· lite. United 
(34475131) 1 both of Troop "C" 1 ) States Penitentiary,· Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
90th Cavalry Reconnaissance ) vania.. . . . 
Squa~n (Mechanized} ) 

HOIDING by BO,'\RD OF ~'EVJE'li NO. 2 . 
VAll BENSCHOTEN, HEPBURN and m.u:R, Judge Advocates 

l. The record ot trial in the case of the soldiers named above has 
been examine.~ by the Board. ot Revi~. 

2. Accused were tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGR I: Violation of the 92nd Article ot War. 

Specification: In that Technician Firth Gr:-ad.e Weldon w. Jones, 
. 	Troop "C", 90th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (Mechanized) 1 

and Private First Class Benjimon D. Hough, Troop "C", 90th 
Caval.ty Reconnaissance Squadron (Mechanized), acting jointly 
and in pursuance of a common intent, did with malice af'ore- · 
thought wlll.f'ully, deliberately, feloniouely-1 unlawfully' and 
with premeditation kill one l5ichael Floritz, a human being, 
by- striking ea.id Michael noritz about the body with their 
hands and feet at or near Oberapfeldort, Germany-1 on or about 
8 July 1945, then and there 1nfl.icting upon the bodT of said 
l.!icahel F.Loritz wounds from which the sd.d. 1!1.chael Floritz 
died on. or about 9 Jul.7 1945 at Schongau, Germany. 

CHARGE II: Violation ot the 93rd Article of War. 

Specii'ication: In ·that Technician Firth Gr:-ade Weld.on W. Jones 1 
Troop "C", 9oth Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (Mechanized),· 

' and Private First Class Benjimon D. Hough, Troop "C", 90th 
Cavalry Reconnaissance.Squadron (Mechanized), acting jointly-· 

· iEsTn.tcTEn 
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and in pursuance of a common intent, did, at Oberapfeldorf, 
Germany, on or about 8 July 1945, in the night time feloniously 
and burglariously break and enter the dwelling house of 

·lLichael Floritz with intent to commit a felony, viz: robbery, 
therein. 

CHlJl.GE III: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Technician Fifth Grade Weldon Jones, 
Troop "C", 90th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (:M:echanized), 
and Private First Class Benjimon D. Hough, Troop 11c11, 9oth 
Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (MechanizecJl acting jointly 
and in pursuance of a common intent, did, at Peiting, C-ermany, 
on or about 8 July 1945, wrongfully take and use without 
authority a certain vehicle, to wit: one (1) one quarter Ci) 
ton truck No.1;~~20224044, Property of the United states, 
furnished and intended for the military service thereof, of 
a value of more than $50.00. 

Each accused pleaded not guilty an~, two~thirds of the n:embers of the court 

present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the 

charges and specifications preferred against them, except the words and 

figures "No.11-20224044" in the Specification of Charge III, and of the ex­

cepted words not guilty. Evidence was introduced of one prior conviction of 


·Hough by summary court for being drunk on duty in violation of ~ticle of War 
85. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced as to Jones. Three-

fourths of the mambers of the court present at the time the vote was taken 

concurring, each accused was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 

service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be. 

confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct 

for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the 

sentences, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 

as the place of oonfineroont, and forwarded the record of trial for action 


. pursuant to 'Article of War 50i. · · .. 

J. A summary of prosecution evidence is. as follows: 

On 7 JUly 1945 accuseds' organization was stationed at Peiting, 
Germany (R64). · Private First Class John P. Grady, of accuseds' organization 
testified that about 8:30 o'clock in the evening on 7 July 1945 he, the 
two accused and another soldier went to Apfeldorf, Gem.any, in ~ governm:mt 
vehicle tor llhich he (Gridy) had a trip ticket from Division Dispatch, for ~ 
the purpose· ot the trip to Peiting, but had no trip ticket to go to Apeldorf (Rl+7 
In testifying Private Grady repudi?-ted previous written statements that he 
bad ma.de to the Division Provost Marshal and 1n view of the apparent perjury­

. of the ldtness, the court rejected his testilllon7 a.nd previous written sworn· 
statements in entiret7. Previous written statements .of' Private Grady which 
bad been introduced into evidence as Pros.Ex.No. "4" and "5" were withdrawn 
(R63). 
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Technician Fifth Grade Max J. Knouse, of the same organization 
as accused, testified that he was on duty as guard at the Division o-atpost 
check-point on the road between Peiting and Apfeldorf, about one mile from 
Apfeldorf, from 2100 to 2400 on the night of 7 July, 1945. That between 
9:00 and 9:30 pm a jeep headed for Apfeldorf on the road from Peiting stopped 
at his outpost in 'Which· jeep were Private Grady, the two accused and a, 
fourth occu~ant not known to him (R66). He did not check the dispatch 
ticket (R67). The vehicle did not return ,past his outpost prior to the 
time he was relieved at 2400 on 7 July, 1945 (R65-67). 

At approximately 2400 ho~s, 7 July 1945 (Rl3,27,,29), occupants 
o.f house 123, Apfeldorf, Germany, were awakened by a noise at the door &.nd 
the sound of shattered ~ass (Rl.3,14,24,29). The house was occupied by 
Michael Floritz, age 70,·his daughter, Anna Floritz, his daughter-in-law, 
Kreszenz Floritz, her two children, and Anna Grund, sister of Kreszenz 
Floritz (Rl3,22,23,29). Photographs of the exterior and interior of the 
house, taken and identified by the Division photographer, were introduced 
in evidence without objection by the defense as Pros.EK. "A" through "J" 
inclusive (RS,9). Also sketches drawn to scale and identified by a drafts­
man of the 55th En~eer Battalion, of the house, the noor.plan and conti­
guous terrain were introduced in evidence without objection by the defense 
as Pros. Ex. No. "2A", 112B11 and n3n respectively (RS-12). Pros.~. No. •3n 
was prepared from a map, scale 1/100,000, wliich was introduced into evidence 
without objection by the defense as Pros.Ex. No. "3A11 (R28). 

Kreszenz Floritz when awakened went to the windaw and called 
''What ts going on here?" to 'Which one voice replied in German "Where husband?" 
and the other exclaimed also in German and repeated about ten times "I 
shoot" (R29,30,32) • .Anna Grund followed by l1ichael Floritz then proceeded· 
down the stairway in order to open the door (RJJi.,J0,32), but when half way 
down the staircase, Anna saw that the front door was broken open and a 
vehicle with headlights burning was at the door (Rl.4,15). Two !merican 
soldiers were in the hall; one was "a tall blond with a long face" and 
the other had "a round face" and wore a steel helmet (Rl.J,14). The tall 
blond grabbed Anna Grund by the neck (Rl4) while she was still on the 
staircase and asked for "sc~~pps" (R2l), but the other soldier released 
her from his grasp (Rl4). ·The soldier who grasped. her by the neck was 
probably injured in the hand because the scarf whe wore was "full of blood• 
(Rl~). On cross-e:x.amination, this witness testified in cormection with 
this incident; "It was the soldier with the round face, he grabbed.by · , 
the scarf" (R2l). "One of the soldiers" then dragged Michael Floritz down­
stairs (Rl6). The llblond one" then went up to the roan of Kreszenz Floritz 
(Rl6,l~,JO), where he pulled her from bed (R30). After a brief struggle 
during which "drunk as he was he fell upon me in the bed." she managed to 
escape and ned to the barn. (RJO) through an upstairs door (R27), where 
she remained until the soldiers bad departed (R30) • 
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Ann Grund in the .meantime had follo~d the "blond one" up­

stairs to her sister• s room (Rl6). .After her sister escaped to _the 
barn, he grabbed her by the wrist an<,\ questioned her about her husband, 
pulled a picture from the wall and jumped on ~t (Rl7). H$. then 'Went . 
back ciownstairs and from the head of the stairs she .saw him grab . 
l!r. Floritz by the shoulder. Then he knocked him over with his foot 
and stamped on his chest with his foot.(Rl7-l9). A!ter the soldiers 
left between 12:.30 and 1:00 o'clock g July 1945, the women assembled 
downstairs where they found Michael Floritz lying unconscious on the 
noor near the door, bleeding. from his mouth, ears, "yes and nose (R25,31). 
They moved him to a couch and later secured a doctor who arri.ved at 5:00 . 
ofclock that morning (R25,34). They noted at this t:We that th8 door anc1 
window near it were broken (R15,20,24,25). The bolts were torn out of 
the door and a piece was broken off where the vehicle· hit the door (Rl.5). 

Dr. R. Raab, physician of Apfeldorf, Germany, testified that 

he was caJ.led to the F1oritz home and arrived there at 5:00 o'clock on 

8 July 1945 (R.34). He found the door and the first window to the right 


, 	of the door broken (R.34), :Uchael F1oritz was on the couch unconscious, 

and blood was flowing. from his right ear and out of his no~e. He had 

wounds on his nose and on the right and left eyebali.s and the upper lip. 

There was a deep wound on the skull base behind his right ear and wounds 

on both hands. The main injury was on the skull behind the right ear 

(R.34,35). The wounds appeared to have been inflicted three to five . 

hours :irior to his examination (R.36). At the direction of the doctor 

the patient ·was· removed to a .hospital in Schongau, Germany, _where he, 

died the next day without regaining consciousness (R.35-39). On 16 July 

1945, the body of Michael F1oritz was exhumed and removed from the 

cemetery for the purpose of an autopsy. Father Comrade Wier, p;i:ieet of 


• 	 ~pfeldorf, Germany, identified the body as that of Micahel F1oritz (R.40). 
Captain ae·orge H. Parlee of the 9th Evacuation Hospital, who performed 
the autopsy, testified that deceased died as a result of a skull fracture, 
contusions of the brain and hemorrhage (R43); that such injuries could · 
have been inflicted by someone·kicking deceased and that the location of 
various bruises, and contusions discounted the possibility that ·he died 
as a result of a single fall (R43). Report of autopsy was introduced 
into evidence, after remova1 of page 3 thereof at request of defense, 
as Proa.Ex.No. "3B'! (R42). 

, Technician Fifth Grade Knouse after completing his tour as guard 
at the :road check point near Apfeldorf at 2400 hours· on 7 July 1945, 
visited a house in Apfeldorfhausen, Germany, about three ld.lometers from 
Ap.f'elcforf (Rl21) • He was accompanied by Private First Class Joseph Fadleyich . 
also of Troop ncn, 90th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron (Mechanized'• 
Between 00.30 and 0100 hours on $' July 1945, both of the accused appeared 
at.this house to seek aid for Jones 'Who had cut his hand (R77,ll3). Knouse 

' 	and Fadlevich wasked and bandaged the cut which was on one of the middle 

fingers of Jones• left hand (R77 17S,ll4,118) •. Accused at this time had · 


~ l+ ;.. 
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a quarter ton truck in which they departed about ten minutes after their 

arrival and after th~ finger had been be.ndaged"{Rll6), stating that they 

were going to Peiting (R80). Knouse could not positively identit7 the· 

vehicle as being the same one which had passed his outpost earlier in the 

evening, but they "both had 1he top up" (R81) • • 


Corporal Alvin T. Monson, Troop "C", 90th Cavalry Reconnaissance 
Squadron (Mechanized), testified that he was on duty at the Division check 
point outside of Ap:teldort,, Germany, on the road between Apfeldor! and 

· Peiting, from ZOO, 7 July 1945 until 0300, 8 July, 1945 .(R84). That dur­
ing said tour only two vehicles passed his post, both being quarter ton' 
peeps coming from the direction o:t Apfeldorf (R84,85). The first one con~ 
tai.ning Technicians Fifth Qroade Turner and Loper who were known by;witlless, 
stopped shortly after ZOO, 7. July 1945 • The other quarter ton came by . 

·.his l'ost between 0100 and 0200, 8 July 1945, but did not stop. That the 
top was ·up on this latter vehicle and he did not see or recognize the 
occupants (RS5). 

Captain Robert P. McPeak, Provost Marshal, 10th Armored Division, 
te,sti!ied that he conducted an investigation o. t~. facts and circumstances 
cohcerning an alleged murder that took place near Apfeldorf, Germany, on 
or ~bout 7 or 8 July 1945. Civilian witnesses were afforded the opportunity 
of viewing all .suspects, but did not identify either of the accused. (R$7). 
On 13 July 1945, in conjunction with Captain Rugh, Trial Judge Advocate, he 
obtained statements from each of the accused (Pros.Ex.No. 6 and 7), after 
explaining to each of them his rights under Article of War Z (RSS,89). 

Statemmts subsequently made by the accused to Major John E. 

Finch, Investigating Officer, on 18 JUly 1945, after being duJ,y warned o! 

their rights, were also admitted into evidence over objection of the · 

defense as Pros.Ex. No. Sand_ 9 (Rl41,143). 


In his sworn staterrent dated JJ July 1945, accused Jones stated 

that he and Hough stopped at a house to obtain some schnapps and an old 

man 'Who came to the door said he had none. Hough knocked him down with 

his fist and went upstairs where some women "hollered". Hough came down. 

and "stomped on him (th~ old man). I think it was on the head. I tried 

to get him not to do it". This occurred between 12:00 and 12:30 at night. 

Jones admitted he broke the window, but denied touching the "old man" 

(Pros.Ex.6). · 


In his 5"'orn statement also of 13 July 1945, accused Hough ad­

mitted he was "stuck" in front of the house in the peep; that he entered 

the house and went. upstairs. When he came. d:>wn "Jore s was beating the 

old man*** The old man was laying.there". He told the old man to help 

push the peep and "he did not get up and I.thought he was pl.eying around. 


kicked him on the shoulder". He further stated "Jores was kicldng the 

old man with his foot. He was kicking him on the head or body somev.here. 
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. ' . 
just sa.w him kicking and stomping * * * When I went in I hit the old 

man backhanded with 'l1l'J' fist * * *"(foe.Ex.7). 

· In their sworn ste..temente dated lg J\.\ly 1945, both accused 

told in greater detail, substantially the same stories (Pros.Ex.8 (Jones) 

and Pros.Ex.9 (Hough)). · · 


4. Pursuant to an agreement between the trial judge adVicate, 

accused and their counsel, llhich was ratified by the court (R96 197) each 


· accused took the stand for the express and limited purpose only ot testify- ' 
ing regarding the facts and circumstances surrounding the obtaining of their 
s~atemente or confessions by the Division Provost Marshal on 13 July 1945, 
wJ:U,ch were subsequently admitted into evidence as Pros.Ex. No. 6 and 7 ' 
(R97-112). 

In defense First IJ.eutenant James J. ·n.ood., TroopJ c, 90th Cavalry 
Reconna.is!>ance Squadron (Mechanized), testified that he was the comma.rxler 
ot Troop C and ·had lmown both the accused for appr-aximately two and a half 
years (R145); that accused. Jones was a very good soldier·, that he had & 

ilstinct d.ialib tor Ge:anan eold.iers; that he volunteered for all types 
of patrols and was never one to hesitate and that witness would rate his 

·character as "Superior" (RJ.46). That accused Houghls ability as a peep 
driver -was well lmown throughout the platoon; that he was alw~s present 
and ready for combat with his platoon during eight .t00nths of combat and 
that the witl).ess 190uld rate hia character as "kcellent" (RJ.46 ).. . 

Each accused after his rights as a witness were fully explained 

to .him, elected to remain silent (Rl.47). 


5. a. The action of the law menber in directing that 

"In view of the apparent perjury of this litness 
. (Grady) that all statements made by this witness,. 
either.prior or during the trial, be, as, a matter 

· ot law, disregarded by- the Court" (R63) . 

was mani!estly- erroneous. Grady- was a lfitness for the prosecuµon. He 
testified to certain tacts in dire ct. con!lict with statements ma.de in his 
prior extra judicial statement. Thereupon the trial judge advocate interro­
gated him upon the cOnnic~ing declarations ccntai ned. in said prior extra 
judicial statements, and. the statements· themselves 111ere admitted in evidence 
(R54,55;Pros.Ex.4; R6o; Pros.45). The proseeution asserted that the state­
roonts were introduced in. nid.ence "for the purpose ot impeaching the credit ­
abilit7 (sic) or the witnen" (R54) and •tor the purpose ot impeaching 
the witmse now on the .stand~ (R60) •. It.ia evicient that the trial judge 
advocate, l&w member and d.efenee counsel wboll7 ignaretl the established ,, 
principle that forbids the prosecution to impeach ita own witness, bit which 
permitte& the prosecution to 1n"fite Grady's attention to prior ccnflicting 
statements •to retreah his 11lte1llt>r'1' and. move him ·to speak the truth b7 
probing his. conscience• (CK m'O 438, Smith• 1 BR (:S:'l'O) Yf/, 389) • 'lb• prior 
statements were not-- origina1 811bstanti'f9 evidence in aicl o! establishment 
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of the prosecution's case against accused (70 CJ, sec.1236, p.1042, note 
86; CM ETO 4581, ~ and authorities therein cited). 

The difficulties which arose in dealing with this recalcitrant 
witness resulted from the non-observ-ance of thsse legal principles. The 
sµccessful impeachment by the prosecution of its own witness, however, did 
not justify the action of the law zoomber in striking all of Grady's testi ­
mony and ruling as a matter of law that it was inadmissible and not worthy 
of belief. Whether the testimony gi.ven by Grady was 1110rthy of belief or 
possessed any evidential value were cpestions for consideration by the 
court Ylhen it deliberated in closed session upon its findings. It was no 
~ction of the law member to pass upon said questions. He usurped author~ ty 
when he excluded Grady's testimony1 and committed an error which was in­
excusable no matter the provocation (16 CJ sec 2291, pp 930, 931; Mi Jl; 
llCK,19213, par. 124, pl32; Winthrops Military Law and Precedents - Reprint­
p.360). . . . . 

The qrestion remains, however, whether this manifest error pre­
judiced the substantial rights of accused. Grady was a prosecution witness, 
The fact that the prosecution was deprived of his evidence, regardless of 
its value, is no cause for complaint by accused. In this aspect of the 
matter of accused benefited by the erroneous action of the law 1t13mber 
(see also par.a infra), unless therl' was eonta:ire d in Grady's excluded 
testimony aey statezoont of exculpatory value to accused. It is evident 
evident that Grady on the stand attempted to tell the truth of his relation-· 
ship to accused and admitted that bis prior statemmts were false and !radu­
lent, but a careful study of Grady's testimony fails to reveal a single line 
ot evidence beneficial to accused•. Oppositely it possessed some inculpatory 
affect and the accused were relieved of its intluence b1 the action of the 
law menber. His ruling made it clear to the court (R6J) that accuseds1 

rights were not to be prejudiced by either Grady's court testimony or his 
prior stateioonte. The error was, insofar as accused are concerned, clearl.T 
one that was non-prejudicial. to them under the .37th Article .of VI~. However, 
the Board ot Review haa made extended coD1100nt on the action Of the law member· 
in order to register its emphatic disapproval of the practice followed by 
him in the instant case. 

b. 'with respect to the admission in eviderce of the extra judi­
cial statements of accused the following quotation is relevant and cogent s 

•The 	ultimate qwstion for determination b1 
the. court was whether accused voluntaril:r 
gave the statement. This was one of law and. 
fact and its determination was peculiarl7 
within the .function· of the court. Upon appellate 
review the questions are wrether there ..was sub­
stantial evidence before the court that accused 
did not act under force and compulsion when he 
gave the statemant and whether the court abused 
its judicial discretion in· determining the first 
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of these two..: que stions. A c~eful analysis 
of the evidencea·:eonvinces the Board of Review 
tli.a~ the. first c;iuest~?,n. m.Wi~d},_,~~;w-~:r;e~ in. the 
affirmative. Vhth' respect to the" exerc:t~: ~o.l' 
judicial discretion by the court in reachirig· · ·• · ·· 
the conclusion that the statement was voluntary 
it should be reme.mbered '* * * it is peculiatly
the province of the trial, as distinguished from 
the appellate, court to pass on the preliminP..ry 
proofs essential to the admission of certein kinds 
of evidence, such as * * * confessions * * *' 
(17 CJ sec.35$2, p.242 (CUETO 11075, Chesak)). 

The foregoing principles have been consistently applied by the the Bee.rd 
of Review (Cl: ETO 2007, H~; ~ ETO 2926, Norman and Greenwalt; C:M ETO 
3469, ~; CM ETO 34991 Bender et al; Cll ETO 4055, Ackerman; CM ETO 5137, 
Baldwin; CM ETO 5747,H~rison; CUETO 7518, Bailey et al). . 

Ttere is substantial evidence that both accused acted freely 
and voluntarily when they gave their pre-trial statements and were under 
no threats or compulsion nor did eitrer of them hope to be revrarded as a 
result of their acts. 'l'he mere fact that each accused was informed that 
the other had made a statement implicating the accused then being inter­
viewed did not rende:t the confessions involuntary (~ tl...& v. United 
States (CCA.DC.1926) 13 F (2nd) 298). With respect to the murder and 
burglary charges the proof in each instance of the corpus delicti of the 
crime is so obvious that comment is unnecessary. The admissions of the · 

, confessions in support of said charges was free from error. 

6. Prosecution in presenting its evidence followed the theory that 
accused's acts constituted what is designated as "felony-murder",., viz a 
homicide committed during the comnd,ssion of a felony. In this instance 
the concommittant felony w2.s the burglarizing of the Floritz dwelling 
house. In the opinion of the Board of Review no such refinement of the 
evidence is.necessary. The facts' exhibited both by the testimony of eye 
witn~sses an& the confessions of accused show that the deceased was first 
knocked to the floor by Hough, who upon returning from the second floor 
kicked him. Notwithstanding Jones' assertion otherwise, the evidence is 
clear that the prostrate victim was thereafter kicked and stamped upon by 
one or both of the accused. The injuries to his skull and face speak in 
conclusive terms the malignity of the battery. His death is directly 
traceable to a basal fracture of the skull, resultant upon this assault. 
There is not the shadow of a doubt as to the cause of the man's death and 
the evidence conclusively brands both of the accused as murderers. Neither 
the evidence of eye witness nor the statements of accused themselves offer 
a . single reason or excuse for the vicious, cold blooded and deliberate . 
kiiling of the deceased. The record fully justifies the conclusion of the 
court th~t deceased was nrurdered and the the accused were the nrurderers 
(CM ETO l 9Z2, Forester ~; CU ETO 2007, Harris ~·; C:!.: ETO 3042, ~~ 
C~ ETO 157$7, Parker and Bennerrn,.')ll). Each accused aided and abetted the 
other ,_::;.xi the commission of the RE,151-Tifi~of~ were chargeable as principals 
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(CME'IO 1453, Fowler~; CM ETO 1922, Forester~). 

7. 	 "Burglary is the breaking and entering, in the 

.night, of another's house with the intent to 

_commit a felony therein. The term 'felony• 

includes; among other offenses so designated 
at common law, murder * * * robbery and 
larceny*** It is i.mmaterial'whether the 
felony be committed or even attempted, and 
where a felony is actually intended it is 
no defense that its commission was impossible
* * * the house must be in the status or being 
occupied at the time 

1

~f the breaking and enter­
ing * * *" (MCM, 192S, par.149!!, p.16S). 

The evidence, corroborated by the statements of accused proved 

that they_ stopped their peep or it was driven into the front of the house 

and that its door was broken in and a window smashed. Accused entered the 

house. When the old man, Floritz, came downstairs, Hough knocked hiJll · 


·	·down after accused had. demanded schnapps and were told he had none. Hough 
went upstairs still in search of schnapps and assaulted and terrorized two 
of the women in the house and smashed f'urniture • . On· his • · ~-urn downstairs 
Floritz either failed to understand accused's demands or w- ~ ~ble to 
assist them in moving their car• One or both of them. kickea dJ'ld stamped 
on the old man (Floritz), resulting in injuries causing his death. . .. 

Proof of accused's breaking and entering the Floritz dwelling 
house in the night time while it was occupied is substantial a.pd in truth 
it stands uncontradicted. It was charged that accused broke and entered 
for. the purpose ot committing robbery. The intent must be proved as . 
alleged. Ylhile the evidence on this issue is not as explicit as could be 
wished, there is substantial evidence that accused sought alcoholic beverages. 
Their inquiries and demands and the action or Hough after entering the house 
permits the definite inference that the two accused intended to t&ke and 
carry away such intoxicating liquor as they might discover in the place, 
using such force and compulsion as might be necessaI7 -. 

"An intent to rob rather than to coIIlllit a 
simple larcency, may be inferred from the 
fact that the defendant broke and entered 
the house noisily * * *" (9C:.J,sec.lJS,p.l~). 

The record or trial is legally sufficient to support the .findings or guilt7 

of burglary (CM ETO 78,~; CM ETC 3754, ,G11\!J1!aters). · · 


&. . The only testimony covering Charge III and its Specification was 

that of Priv• First Class John P. Graey-. His testimony in court, ~ wll 

as his previous written statements were all withdra'Wil from .consideration b7 


' 
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the court through the ruling of the law member leaving nothing to support 
the court• s findings of guilty thereto. Even though a lfl'Ongf'ul misuse 
by acc~sed of the Government vehicle ,might be tortured from their extra­
judicial stateimnts 1 the striking of Grady's testimony effectively removed 
all proof o! the corpus delicti of the crime and thereby rendered the con­
fessions inadmissible in proof of such charge. 

9. The charge sheet shows accused Hough to be 23 years and seven 
months of age and without prior service. He was inducted 28 October 1942 
at Camp Shelby, Yl.ssissippi; tha~ accused Jones is 23 years and four months 
of ag~ and without prior service was inducted 29 October 1942 at Fort 
Mc;herson, Georgia. I 

10. The court was legally- constituted and had jurisdiction ot the 
persona and offenses. hcept as herein noted, no errors injuriousl7 
affecting the substantial rights of the accused were commi~ted during the 
trial. The Board of Reviev1 is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally insufficient to support the findings of guilty as to Charge III 
a.nd its Specification, legally sufficient to support the findings of guilt1 
as to Charges I end II and their specifications and the sentences. 

11. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisonment as the court­
martial. may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized 

. upon conviction 	of murder by Article of Har 42 and by sections 275 and 3301 
Federal Criminal Code (la USCA 454,567) and for burglary by Article of War 
42 and sc.ction 22-1801 (6:55), District of Columbia Code. The. designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, is proper (Cir •. 
229,, llD, a June 1944, sec.II, pars. 1£(4) I 3:2,). 

_ _.,(..;;;'IID~'PO_RAf~_.lY--.D_UTY_....)._______.... 	 Judge Advocate 

~~h~J~e Advocate 

~L/ /3-, ~ Judge Advocate 

- 10 ­
RESTRICICED 



Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 

BOARD OF &!.'Vlilf NO. 2 2 2 SEP 1945 
CM ETO 16006 

UNITZD STAT;.:;S ) B~ PORT caa.:..lliD 

v. ~ 
) 

Trial. by GCM, convened at Bremen, 
Germany, 30 July 1945. Sentence: 

Private Ll.ONA...'1.D CRO.'IDZR Dishonorable discharge, total for­
(37404271), JS67th Quarter­ . ~ feitures and confinement at hard 
master Truck Company ) labor for life. United States 
(Transportation Corps) ) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOIDING by BO.A-RD OF REVUW NO. 2 

VAN B~l\SCI-mnn, HMBURN and MILIBR, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. 	 Accused was· tried upon the ·following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

S'pecification 1: (Finding of not guilty). 

Specification 2: (Finding of not guilty). 

Specification .3: In that Private Leonard Crowder, 
JS67th Quarte:nnaster Truck Company, did, at Bre~n, 
Germany, on or about 14 June 1945, forcibly and 
feloniously, against her will, have carnal lmowledge 
of Anne l.:arie Kulicke. 

CHARGE: II: TJ1olation of the 93rd Article of 'ilar. 
(Finding of not guilty). 

Specification 1: (Finding o:f riot guilty). 

Specification 2: (Finding of not guilty). 
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CHARGE III: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification l: In that * * *did, at Bremen, 
Germany, on or about 14 June 1945, without 
authority, wrongfully take and carry away one 
two and one-half ton General Motor Corporation 
Cargo Truck value about $2,500.00, property of the 
United States. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, at Bremen, 
Gennany, on or about 15 June 1945 1 wilfully 
maim himself in the chest by shooting himself' 
with a .45 Colt revolver, thereby unfitting 
himself for the full performance of military ..service. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the court present when the 
vote was taken concurring, was found not guilty of Specifications 1 and 
2 of Charge I and of Charge II and its specifications, and guilty of 
Specification 31 Charge I, and of .Charge I, and of ,.Charge III and its 
specifications, except the word "revolver" in Specification 21 subst.:l.tuting 
therefor the word "pistol". Evidence was introduced of two previous 

·convictions, one by a summary court-martial for transporting civilians 
in an arll\1 vehicle in violation of Article of War 96, and one by a special 
court-martial for absence without leave for 19 days in violatio;i of Article 
or War 61.· ~of the menbers of the court present at the time the vote 
was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to 
be confined at hard labor at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
~ennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of 
trial for action pur~U4Ll'lt to Article of War 5Dl· 

· 3. The evidence for the prosecution in support of the findings ot 
guilty shows that about 0330 or 0430 hours on 14 June 1945, accused drove 
a government truck away tran his compaIJ3' area in Bremen, Germany (R65, 
66,78). The vehicle was a 2-1/2 ton, 6xh GMO standard cargo truck, valued 
when new ·at approximately' $2,955.00 (R66,70). Although the accused dis­
played an apparently proper trip ticket to the guard at the exit gate, 
he was using a trip ticket which had been issued for an earlier trip to 
the dispensary' (R66-68,So~8l). After he retumed tz:an the disi)ens&ey" he 
bad no authorit7 to take the vehicle from the area and should have turned 
in the trip ticket (RS0,81). Hie, later ·use ot the vehicle on the morning 
of 14 June 1945 was without authorit7 or permission (R69,75). At 0600 . 
hours this truck was discOY"ered to be missing, and the next day it was 
to\md abandoned. in a ditch on the outskirts ot town, near a damaged house 
. (R75,82). ­

./ · About 04.30 hours 1 14 June 1945, Frau Anne lfarie Kulicke 1 a 

· resident. ·ot Bremen, Germany, lett her home on a bicycie to go to the 
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railroad station (R51,61). The accused, driving a vehicle, stopped 
her. He gave her to understand that he was from the police, and indicated 
that she should enter the truck. She complied. The accused then started 
the vehicle and drove along the street. In making a turn, the vehicle 
was driven into a ditch and forced to stop (R51). Frau Kulicke dismounted 
from the truck and asked the accused for her bicycle. Instead of comply­
ing with the request, he pointed his pistol at the woman and indicated 
that she should accompany him to a nearby.ruined house. She did not want 
to go arld called loudly for help. Accused hit her on the head with his 
fist, causing her to collapse and become semi-conscious (n52). He then 
carried her· into the house, pulled off her pants, and had sexual inter­
course with her, penetrating her vagina with his sexual organ (R52,53). 

· Although she did not consent she did not offer further resistance 
bec~use she feared his pistol (R52,53). Thereafter, during the episode, 
he struck her on the head ;md body with his fist, threatened her with his 
weapons, and had intercourse with her twice ioore (R54,55). He finally 
left her and departed from the place on foot, abandoning the truck (R59). 
Frau Kulicke's testimony as to the circumstances of the attack upon her 
was corroborated by a ne~ghbor woman who saw the truck go into the ditch, 
heard loud cries of fear and intermittent screams and saw a colored 
soldier armed with a weapon leave the bonb-damaged house. She also 
observed the injuries sUffered by Frau Kuli~ke (R59,60). The latter was 
thereafter hospitalized for two days (R63,65). 

At about 2030 hours 15 June 1945, a shot was heard fired in the . 
region of a bombed building in accused's company area,•shortl.y after he 
had been seen there, shaking and acting nervous (R70,SJ,84,86). Witnesses 
who immediately investigated, found him bleeding from a wound in his left 
side (R71,84). He had his pistol in his hand and stated to the men from 
his company who picked him up, that he had shot himself (RS8,92). l'fuen 
asked wcy, he said "I heard they were going to kill me so I thought I would 
kill Jey'self" (R90). Examine.tion revealed a bullet wound in his left 
breast which passed through his body and emerged thz:ough the left 

• 	 shoulder, causing a fracture of the left scapula and a laceration of the 
lung (R71,98). He was confined to the hospital for over a month (R74). 

4. 
' 

The accused after his rights as a witness 
' 

were fully explained 
to him elected. to remain silent and no evidence touching upon the offenses 
of which- he was convicted was introduced in his be~f (R9J_A). 

5. a. Rape is defined as the "unlawful carnal. i,..L~lled~e of a woman 
by force ind without her consent" (MGM 1928, pa.r.148.(;;:165 ). 'lbe un­
disputed evidence in the instant case establishes the conmission of 
that offense as .found by the court (CU EI'O 3933, Ferguson et al; CM ETO 
908.3, Berger et al), and accused was clearly identified as the perpetrator 
thereof. 

. . 

· E.• He was also .found guilty ot having wrongfully ta.ken and 
carried away a 2~ton government truck, value about $2,500, llithout 
authority. The unlawful taking was proved by the prosecution's evidence, 
which also established that the value ot the property taken was in 
excess of $50.00 (CM El'O 70001 Skinner). ' . · : 
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c. .The court's finding that accused wiltul.lJr maimed himself 
therebY' preventirig his tull pertormance 0£ m:Uitaey dutY' was clear]Jr 
j~titied bT the evidence adduced {ClL ETO ll61, Waters). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 24 years and three months 
ot age. Without prior service he was inducted 17 Decenber 1942 at 
Jefferson Sarracks, :uissouri. 

7. The court was lega.lly constituted and had jurisdiction ot the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of the accused were conmd.tted during the trial. The Board of 
Review is ot the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings 0£ guilty and the sentence. 

a. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the 
court-martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiaey is 
authorized upon conviction of rape by Article of War 42 and eections 
278 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (lS USCA 457,567). The designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylva.riia, as the place 
of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, S June 1944,.sec.II, pars.lE,(4), 
3E_). 

-a.;(T-~-·"-ORAR=-RY-....-o_u;..;;:TI.;;;.o...)___ Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate -:?~ 
. Judge Advocate ~~ 
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:Branch Office ot The Judge, Advocate General 

with the 
European The'ater 

.A.PO aa1 

00.Al;U) OF REVn'\'f NO. 3 
6 OCT 194S. 

CM ETQ 16018 

UN 'I T. ED STATES SEVENTH UNITED STATES AR1l.Y~· 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at Gutersloh, 
) Germany, 19 June 1945. Sentence: 

Private JOSEH1 AUGUSTINE Dishonorable discharge, total for,.. 
, ( 384119Sl), 3246th Q.uarter­ ~ ·reiture end confinement· at hard 
.,.ater ,Service. Com~any ) labor for life. United States 

) Penitentiary, ~wisburg, Pennsylvania 

HOIDING by BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 8 

SlEEH:R, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of tri&l in the case of the soldier named above has 
.been ex8Jnined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications1­

CHl!RGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Pvt. Joseph Augustine (Col~), 
3246th Quartermaster Service Company, did, at 
Senden, Germany, on or about 14 April 1945, 
forcibly and feloniously, against her will have 
carnal knowledge of Adelheid Walterbusch and 
Gerda Richlowsk:y. 

CF..ARGE II:· Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that·* * *• did, at Senden, 
Germany, on or about 14 April' 1945, wrongfully 
commit an assault upon the person of Franz 
.Walterbusch by threatening him with a dangerous 
weapon, to wit, a carbine. 

Specification 2~ (Disapproved by ·reviewing authority) 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of, both charges .and their 

specifications. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions 

by summary court for absence without leave for two days and ten hours 

respectively in violation of Article of War 61. Three-fourths of the 

members of the court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, 

he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit 
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all pay and allowances due or to become due and to be confined at he.rd 
labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term 
of his natural life. The reviewing.authority disapproved the findings 
of guilty of Specification 2 of Charge II, approved the sentence, desig­
nated the. Ullited states Penitentiary, Lewisburg, PeDnsylvania, as the 
place of confineme~~f and forwarded the record of tr,ial for action pursuant 
to Article of War ~· .•

~ . . .. 
. f • 

3. 	 Pr.~~ecution's Evidences 

-~~~1~.~<~\.: 


Accused and Private Charles Forehand, both of 3246th Quarter• 
master Service Company~ were on guard duty on 14 April 1945 in Sen.den, 
Germany-, when at a.bout 1900 hours two civilians crone along on bicycles. 
One of them did not have a pa:;s, al~eging that it was at his home. With 
the permission of the corporai of the guard, the two soldiers accompan­
ied the civilian to his home to examine his pass. Accused entered the 
house with the civilian. Forehand waited outside. for five or ten 
minut~s, then called to accused '~'Jhat are you doing!" · He replied "I am· 
waiting for the guy to find his pass". Forehand left saying "I am 
going on and you bring him on in if he don't have his pass" (RS-6,13). 
On this occasion accused was wearing the corporal of the guard's helJDet, 
marked in front with corporal's stripes under which was written the 1name 
"M. Wallace" (R7-8,llJ Pros. Ex. 1). Forehand returned to his post. (R9). 

At this time the occupants of the house consisted of' the follow­
ing personsa Franz Walterbusch; his mother; his sister "tU-s. Huesmann" 
and her two children (Rll,14,17); his niece .Adelhaid Walterbusch, 15 years · 
of age (Rl3,l5,19), ·and her little brother, George (Rl7); Gerda Richlowsk}r 
(Rll,17), age 17, who was helper in the house (Rl8,25); and a Belgian · 
civilian (Rl7). ·Upon accused's request, Herr 'Nalterbusch brought'him a 
cup of water which he drank. Accused "said he wants to promenade with 
liadam", but ~'Ialterbush told him it was quite dark already. · Accused then 
"became quite outspoken" an~ pointed to Adelhaid. Although it was made 
clear to 'him she ·was only a Child of 14, he 

"didn't give in and he kept on pointing to .Adelhaid 
and when ·he saw that we didn't want to he took.his 
rifle and handled it as if he were loading it. He 
threatened us with the rifle then" (Rl3,20,23,26). 

He pointed his rifle at all of them, hold in~ it waist high and making a. · 
. se::ni-circular movement around the room. (Rl3), and also pointed it directly 

at ~7alterbusch. He then grabbed Adelhaid and pushed her upstairs in 

front of him• ta.kin~ her into Walterbusch' s bedroom. She was heard to 


• yell, "Ow, ow, ow" (Rl4,l7,26). Adela.id testified, identified accused 
in court (Rl9) and described in detail the ma.nner in which he hit' her in 
the face, dragged her upstairs, "undressed the bottom pa.rt of me", 
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touched her sexual organs with his fingers and used "his fingers in 

pushing his sexual parts in me". He had sexual intercourse wi~h her two 

or three times (R2l). His rifle was leaning against the wall (R23). She 

remained with him from ?.100 until 2245 hours, thereafter returning down­

stairs to join the others. She looked ;iale and "completely exhausted" 

with the "top part of her clothing down" {Rl4, 22, 26) 


Accused followed her downstairs (R26) and indicated that he n~.xt 

wanted Mrs. Huesmann, the sister of Walterbusch, to come along with him, 

but she "was in front of him lying on her knees and begged him not to". 

She sug;;;ested to Gerda "that she should go along bec.ause she was not 

married yet". Gerda. was hiding behind a chair and when accused pointed 

at her she started to cry and yell for help. But accused "simply ~rabbed 


her and took her along", while the other occupants of the house hastily . 

,fled because "we were so afraid" (Rl5, 26). He dragged Gerda upstairs 

to the same room, placed her on Walterbusch's bed and commenced disrobing 

her. When her girdle presented .an obstacle he was going to open it with. 

his bey-onet had she not opened it herself. . He then completely undress-ad 

her, threw her on .the floor and tied her right hand to a chair with a. 

white string (R26-28). lie place1 himself' on top of her "pushed his 

finger into ey vagina and then he used his organ",. ·she was "sure that it 

was the organ" that penetrated her (R26). She tried to push him a.way md 

resisted "with my legs" when he 11 aga.in put ma down on the floor", took her 

"to the ccuch" and sat her on his lap (R29-30). She was afaaid all the 

time, "had pains, and it really hurt. * * *" (R26). She never had had 

intercourse with a man ·before (R30). She remained with him until 0030 

hours the following morning when she came downstairs, cried for help and 

hear~ a car outside. It was a white officer and several colored men 

including Forehand. They searched the house for accused but he could 

not be found (Rs,a.26,27). However, they discovered the corpcral of 

the guard' a helmet which a.ocused had worn at the house upon his arrival 

(R7,e,lli Pros. ~.I}. They returned to accused's post where they founi 

him (R7). . 

.Adelhaid "Nal:l·ierbusch and Gerda Richlowsk:y were both examined on 15 

. April by a German dootor, whose examination disclosed evidence of recent 


sexual intercourse by each of them (R31, Pros. Ex. II). 


4. For the defense, Forehand testified that the house where the incid­

ent occurred was about a mile from accused's peat (33).· Accused was 

@.I'l!led with a carbine on 14 April and Forehand did not see that he had any 

bayonet with him. The bayonet is not :i.s.sued with a. carbine (R32~33). He 

identified Gerda as a girl he saw at the house in question (R35). Re 

found a helmet in a bedroom upstairs in the house when he.returned looking 

for accused (R36). 


5. Arter his rights were explained (R37). accused m.aae an·'unsworn state-. 

ment. After the corporal of the guard sent hilll and forehand with a 

civilian to the latter's house for identification papers, the civilian 

gave them some cognac to drink. Forehand le:f't then, but accused was 

"pretty well feeling bad with the stuff I drank". lie got back to hi• 


. post after l5 'or 20 minutes and -~'When I got there ·chey were.go~"· It 
. was while he was on his way back to his post that some shooting ata.rted. 

·,Re ducked down to the ourb and dropped his helillOt.tUn bullets whistled 
, , ·· . ~· -e•.s'flUC'l' , 1 f- 0 ( / 8 .. -:s-~ . ' ........... ..., ..... 
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close to him. Re didn't look for it and ran on back to his post (R37). 

6. Accused was charged u1lder Charge I and Specification with the 
rape of t"wo womsn. It is improper to allege two offenses' in ODS 

specification (MCM, 1928, par. 29~ p.19). However, this is'1·not a. fa.ta.l 
defect. Accused was definitely apprised of the offenses alleged and 
no objection was raised to the inclusion of two offenses in one specific­
ation. ' 

7.a Charge I and Specifioe.t.ioxia The court 1 s fi1ldings of guilty are 
supported by substantial evidence, showing that both of· accused's victims 
resisted his advances, that they were placed in fear and that he achieved 
carnal knowledge of each of them by force and without their consent. The 
evidence in each instance contains all the elements of the crime of rape, 
and the court 1 s .f11ldings of guilty are final and bixlding upon appellate. 
review (CM ETO 4661, Ducote, and authorities therein cited J CM ETO 11621, 
~.r,ujillo, e~ .!!.I CM ETO. ·3·9·33, Ferguson, et al). . . 

b .Charge II, Specification l. The assault upon Franz Walterbusch 
as alleged was clearly estab~ished (MCM, 1928, ~ar.l49lpp.l77-l7S). 

S.The charge sheet shm•s that accused is 29 years one month of age 
and was inducted ll January 1943, at Houston, Texas. He had no prior 
service. 

9.The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. Uo errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findix:ip;s of guilty as approved and the sentence. 

10.The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the court­
martial ~ direct (Ail 92). Confinement in. e. United States Penitent­
iary is authorized upon conviction of the crime of rape by Article of 
War 42 and sections 278 end 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 457, 567). 
The designation of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
vania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir. 229, YID, 8 June 1944, 
sec. II, pars. 11?, (4), 31?,). 

~Judge Advocate 

·htJ~('.j~udge Advo~ate 

~~%g JUdie Advocate 
. '// ."'r ,. ' . 
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Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 807 


BQ\RD OF REVIEW NO. 3 1'5 SEP \945 
CU ETO 16022 

- UNITED STATES 'lHIRD INFANTRY DIVISION 
' ~ 

.v. ) Trial by GCM,, convened at Salzburg,, 
') Austria,, 21 May 1945· Sentence: Dis­

'Private TO:~lMIE L. BARFIEID ) honorable discharge (suspen:ied), total 
(34822772),, Compmy H,, 15th ) forfeitures an:i confinement at hard 
Infantry ) labor for .20 years. Delta Disciplina.ry 

') Training Center,, Les Milles,, Bouches du 
) Rhone,, France. 

OPINION by BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. .3 
SIEEPER,, SHEIMAN an:i DEl'lliY,, JOO.ge Advocates 

. ' 
i' 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been exaniined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the European Theater an:1. there found legally insufficient in part 
to support the fin:iings of guilty. The record of trial has now been 
examined by the Board or Review an:i the Board submits this,, its' opin­
ion,, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge or said Branch 
Office. 

2. Accused was tried on the following charges aIXi specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification l: In that Priva.te Tommie L. Barfield,, 
Company "H",, 15th Infantry (then Company ''lDf,, 
15th Infantry) did,, at Naples,, Italy,, on or about 
19 July' 191i4,, desert the service of the United 
States by absent'S..ng himself without proper leave 
from his organization,, with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty,, to wit : An ami:hl-bious operation 
against the enenv,, an:i did remain absent in de­
sertion until he was returned to mil1tary control 
at Rome,, I~ on or about 18 September 1944. 

-l 6~1 ')?...t v ...... ,,J 
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Specification 2: (Findi~ ot not guilty). 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 6lst Article ot Vla.r•. 

Specitication l: In that * * *did without 
proper leave, absent himself from his 
organizati~n at Remiremont,, France .from 
about. 10 Ocwber 1944 to about 22 October 
1944. . 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, without 
proper leave, absent himself' from his or­
ganization at Nompatelize,, France from 

. about 4 November 1944 to about. 5 !Jovember 
1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the lmlnbers ot the court 
present at the tine the vote was taken concurring, was found not 
guilty of Spec:itication 2 of' Charge I and guilty of' the other 
charges and spec:itications. No evidence o.t' previous convictions 
was intro::l.uced. Three-fourths of' th.e members of the court pre­
sent at the time the vote was takEn concurring, he was. sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, to .f'or.f'eit all pay 
and aUCMances due or to become~ due, aIXi to be confined at hard 
labor, at s1;1-.ch place as the reviewing autilor.!.ty ra:q direct, for 
40 years. J.he reviewing authority awroved only so much of the 
"findings of Specification l of Charge 1 11 as "involves .a finding 
ot accused guilty of desertion by deserting the service of the 
United States to avoid hazardous duty, at the time, place an:i in 
the manner alleged, and remaining in desertion until he re'b.l.med 
to military control at a time and place unknown", approved the 
sentenc'e but redtx:ed the period .. o.f' confinenent to 20 years, ordered 
the sentence as thus modified executed but. suspended the 'execution 
of that portion thereof adjudging dishonorable discharge until the 
soldier's release from confinement, and designated the Delta Dis­
ciplinary- Training l.:enter, Ies Milles, Bouches du Rhone, France 
as the place of confinement. The proceedings were published. in 
General Court-Martial Urders No. 260, Headquarters Third Infantry 
Division,, APO 3, U. s. Anny, 2 August 1945• 

3. The evidence supports the findings of guilty of Charge 
II and its specifications and no discussion of them is necessary. 
The only evidence tor the prosecution relating to Specification l 
of Charge I is as· ;follows: 

A duly authenticated extract copy of the morning rdport 
of Compaey M, 15th Infantry, !or 20 July 1944, introduced in evid­
ence without objection, shows accused from duty to absent without 
leave as ot.19 July (R7; Pros.Ex.A). . · 

- 2 - .. 
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A section sergeant of Co~ny M testit'ied that about. 19 

July 1944 the COID.IX:i-IIY was located "around Naples" taking amphibi- .. 

ous training consisting of boat l.aadin&s and drills, hikes,, and 

gun drills md training. He thought the training had been in pro­

gress about two weeks but was not sure of the dates. .It was COIIllllon 

knowledge in his section that "we were going to make an amphibious 

·landing someplace * * * in enemy territor7". Accused was not in 
his section or platoon and Yi:ltness could not sa7 haw long accused 
had been with the organization,, whether he had participated in the 
amphibious training,, or whether he had the 11dOlllIIOn knowledge" possessed 
by members of witness' section. Subsequently, about; 15 August,, the 
company made a landing and engaged the eneiey', encountering mortar 
tire arxl sustaining casualties (Rll-15). . · 

4. After his rights were explained to him, accused elected to 

read an unsviorn statement,, and to testify as to Specification 2 ot 

Charge I (ru.2,,45). In the uhnorn statement, atter detailing conbat 

experiences at Anzio and in the Rome push, he stated: 


"Then we got into Rome and stqed about two 
weeks and came back to Pozzouli to take train­
ing. I got a letter from my wif'e that my baby 
was sick. I got to worrying about her and 
started drinking -about; three days later. I 
got a letter f'rom my mot.her saying she was 
sick an1 ~eded money arxl I knew she did 
because I.have five brothers and sisters, 
my father is dead and my mother ohl.y got a 
$60.00 check a month f'rom. the gove~nt 
so I was woITied all the worse. * * * As_, 
far as ever trying to desert the service· 
I never will and I have seen plenty of · · 
tough !ightihg and imny a good soldier die 
in battle" (H.43,44). 

A staff· sergeant, a private first class and accused's platoon 

leader each testified that accused 1s reputation as a combat soldier 

was good (R30,,31,,36). Othar portions of accused's staten:ent an1 testi ­


. mony and other testimony for the. defense are not relevant to Specit'i ­
cation 1 of Charge I. 

5. The morning report entry establisms absence without leave 

of accused on 19 Jul,- 1944. The only question for consideration is 

whether the evidence is suf'ticient to show that accused had knowledge 

of ai imperxling, imminent amphibious operation against the eneJey" ,and. 

that he absented himself' with a. tb:m existing intent to avoid it 

(see CM ETo 8300,Paxson; CM Ero 6751,, ~et al). 


_ 'lhe only circt.UnStances appearing iii the record from which 
knowledge of the alleged amphibious operation could be inferred are 
that the comparv was taking some amphibious training "around Naples" 

' 1fJ?9
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&nd 	that it was common knowledge in a company section, of which 
·accused was not a member, that an amphibious landing would be 

made in enemy territory. It does not appear that accused was 

present with the company prior to 19 July, that be had taken · 

any part in the preceding two weeks of training, or that his 

platoon or section or he as an irxlividual was at any time aware 

of the 11common knowledge". There was nothing inherent in the 

tactical situation of his organization, so far as is shown, 


-.to charge him with such kncmledge. It is therefore extremely 
dot:bt.1\11 it such meagre and vague evidence is legally sut!icient 
to charge him with knowledge, on 19 July, of any future amphibious 
operations by his organization (CM :r.:To 1921 ~ CM .i::TO 8700 Straub). 

Moreov~r, even it accused were present with the· com:paey and, 
possessed the common knowledge", it does hot appear when, accord­
ing to such knetdedge, the operation, which actually occurred nearly 
a month later, was to have been undertaken. Mere knowledge that his · 
organization might engage in m amphibious operation at some inde­
finite time in the future does not, without more, furnish tl:e neces­
sary probative basis from which the ultimate fact of' intent to avoid 
the o_peration may be inferred (CM Uro 5958 Perry et al; CM ETO 7397 
De Oarlo, Jr.; CM ETO 2396, Pennington). There is nothing in accused's 
unsworn statement to support such m inference. • . . 

Assuming accused was absent f'rom his company on 15 August, · 
which fact does· not a!firnatively appear, mere proof that the opera­
tion was carried out during his absence does not disch&rge the burden 
of proof which rested on the prosecution (CM ETO 7532 Ramirez). There 
is no sti>stant.ial evidence supporting the finding of guilty of Speci­
fication·l of _Charge I. 

6. The charge sheet sha-;s that accused is 23 years of ag~d 
was indu::ted 11 June 1943 at Fort McPherson, Georgia. No prior service 
is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of th:I 
person and offense. Except as noted rerein, no errors injuriously af­
fecting the sti> stantial rights of accused were conmitted diring the 

' 	 trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support only so much of the fin:l.ing of guilty 
of Specification l of Chal'ge I, as approved, as involves a finding 
that accused did, a.t Napl.88, Italy, absent himul.f' without leave from 

1 	 his organization from. on or a.bout 19 July 1944 to a time unknown, and 
only so much of tm finding of guilty of Charge I as involves a finding 
of guilty of a 'fiolation of the 6lst Article o.f' War, an:i legally- sut'fi ­
.cient to support the remaining findings of guilty and the sentence. 

, ~· Judge Advocat~ 
~~Judge Advocate 

~/JZ fl Judg• Advo~a(-•,- -? ,, 
. ~E:C>:'t.!C'rZ.D ~- . 	 J ~ U'" ·· • 
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1st Ind.. 

War ~epartment, Branch Of'tl:.,ce of Tm. 4~ge Advocate General with 
the ~pea.n Theater. IJ.-3 S~t' 1~ TO: Commanding · 
General, United states Forces, Luropean '!beater (Ma.in) APO 757, 
U. S. Anny. ' 

1. Herewith transmitted for your action under Articl& of 
VIar 50!, as amen:led by Act 20 August 19.37 (50 Stat. 724; .10 u.s.c. 
1522) and as ftrther amwded by Act l August 1942 (56 Stat. 732; 
10 u.s.c. 1522), is the.record ol' trial in the case of Private 
Ta.a.rm L. BARFIELD (34$22772), Compmy H, 15th Infantry. 

2. I concur in the opinion of the Board of Review and, for 
the reasons stated tre rein, recoranend that tre :findings of guilty · 
of Specification l of Charge I ard Charge I, except so much thereof 
as involves findings of guilty of absence vlithout leave in violation 
·of Article of l'!ar 61, be vacated, and that all rights, privileges 
and property of which he has been deprived t>y virtue of that portion 
of tre .findings, viz; conviction of desertion in tire .of war, so 
vacated, be restored. · · 

J. Inclosed is a form of action designed to carry, into ef­
fect tre recommendation hereinbefore ma.de. Also inclosed is a 
draft Gm,:o for use in promulgating the proposed action. Please 
return tre record of trial \Uth required copies of GCM:O. 

I . 

E. c. McNEIL, . 
Brigadier General, United states Army, 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 


.•. . 
(°Findings of Guilty o! Speci!ication l of Charge I and Charge I, except ao · 

much as involns ttndings o! ·guilty of absence with out leave in 'ri.olation 
of .lrticle o:f War 61, vacated. OCllO 476, USFr!, 2S Sept 1945). 

RESTRICTED 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

Eurooean Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 	 22 OCT 1945 

CM ETO 16044 

UNITED STATES 	 ) ..SEINE. SECTION , THEATER SERVICE 
) FORCES, EUROPEAN THEATER 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Paris, 

Private HUBI1Y L. JAf.,IBRSON ) France, 27 July 1945. Sentence: 
(34677041), 3739th Quarter­ ) Dishonorable discharge {suspended), 
master Truck Company ) confinement at hard labor for 

) five years. Loire Disciplinary 
) Trainine·Center, LeMans, Sarthe, 
) France. 

OPINION by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

H1'PBURN, MILLER and COLLINS, Judge Advocates 
______·-;,,,,;-.,_______________________ 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined in the Branch Office of. The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater and there found legally insufficient to support 
the findings and sentence. The record of trial has been examined by 
the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its opinion, to the 
Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of $aid Branch Office. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private 	Hubby L. Jamerson, 
3739th Quartermaster Truck Company, United 
States Forces, European Theater, having taken 
an oath in a trial by general court-martial 
of Private Paul J. Thomas, before Captain 
Leland J. Smith, a competent officer that he 
would testify truly, did in general court­
martial at Paris, France on or about 14 May 
1945, willfully, corruptly, and 	 contrary to 
such oath testify in substance that he had 
seen Private Paul Thomas at 2:30 am 17 March 
1945 in his room at the 399th·' Quartermaster 
Truck Company, United States Forces_, European_ ..-,,-:-~·--~< 
Theater, then stationed at Le Havre, France·,.l'": .. ·· · · ·. , 
which testimony was a material matter which · 
he did not then believe· to be true. 
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He pleaded not guilty and was found guilty of the Charge and Specification. 
,.No evidence of orevious convictions was introduced. He was sentenced 

· 	 to be dishonorably discharged the service, to.forfeit all pay and allow­
ances due or to become due, and to be confined ~t hard labor, at auch 
place as the reviewing authority may direct, for five years. The review­
ing authority approved the sentence, directed its execution but suspended 
the execution of that portion thereof adjudging dishonorable discharge 
until the soldier's release from confineM~nt,.and designated the Loire 
Disciplinary Training Center, Le Mans, Sarthe, France, as the place of 
confinement. The proceedings were published by General Court-Martial 
Orders Number 1010, Headquarters, Seine Section, Theater Service Forces, 
European Theater, dated 14 August 1945. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution is summarized as follows: 

On about 16 May 1945, accused, a member of 3739th Quarter~aster 
Truck Company (R20), was called by the prosecution as-a witness in the 
trial by general court-martial of Private Paul J. Thomas (R.7), charged 
with murder of Albert Govan and Gilbert N. Couch on or about 15 March 
1945 (Rl6-17; Pros.Ex.D). The oath was administered to the accused by 
Captain Leland J. Smith who was Trial Judge Advocate of the general court­
martial before which Private Thomas was brought for trial (R5,6,7; Pros. 
Ex.A). The evidence in the Thomas case showed that Couch and Govan were 
shot outside a cafe at St. Denis, S<"!ine, France, at about 2230 hours, 
16 March 1945 (RB). Accused .testified that he. saw Thomas on 17 March 1945; 
that at about 0200.or 0230 Thomas came into his room, woke him up and 
said, "Govan is dead" and to accused's inquiry as to how he got.killed, 
"He got killed by an MP and I got away","Bo, I know, I'll show you that 
Govan is dead" (RlO; pp.160-161 of Pros.Ex.B). On 17 May 1945 a contin­
uance in the Thoraas trial was granted until 4 June 19LS (R7), at which 
time accused was recalled and sworn (R25-26) R.S a witness for the defence 
(Rll, p.222 of Pros.Ex.C). On this occasion accused testified that 
Thomas did not wake him up on the morning of 17 March at about 0200 hours 
or 0230 hours; that his former statement in court that Thomas woke him 

·up at 0200 or 0230 was not true (Rll,p.224 of Pros.Ex.C); that he so 
testified because he read lt on a statement he had siened but that part 


·was not on the statement when he signed it, and that Paul Thomas did not 

·come into his room (p.228 of Pros.Ex.C). . 


L. The accused was advised of his rights by the law member and 
·elected 	to be sworn (R20) and testified on his own behalf, substantially 

as follows: 


He is 23 years o~d and went to the eighth grade in school. He 
was called as a witness in the trial of Private Paul Thomas. The testi ­
mony he gave or or about 14 May 1945 was true. Prior to his tP.stimony 
on 4 June 1945, he had a conversatlon with Captain Rhodie, the defense 

.counsel for Thomas, who told him he wanted to question him and asked him 
what kind of a statement he made.. Accused told him it was true and 
Captain Rhodie said "what are.you trying to do, are you trying to get this 
boy life" (R21). Accused told him "No" and that he wanted to help him · 
to which the Caotain replied "it sure does not look like it" and told 
him he could heip Thomas by changing some of the minor 'things in this 
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statement. When accused asked him ;ibout his· •oath he was taking, he said 
,.you won't have to worry about that". By chaneing some of

• I.

the "minor" 
things he was supposed to change, he didn't change it like he was supposed 
to and ''that is where the perjury nart was brought in on me". He was 
asked to change that part of his testimony about· Thomas coming into the 
room around two o'clock. The counsel gave him an exRmination on what he 
asked him to do and went over it with him before he took the stand (R22). 
The testimony he gave on L June is false (H25). 

5. 	 "Perjury is the willful ar!d corrupt giving, upon a 

lawful oath, or in <my form allowed by law to be 

substituted for an oath, in a judicial proceeding 

or course of justice, false testimony material to 

the issue or matter of inquiry*** 'Judicial 

proceedings or course of Justice' includes trial 

hy courts-martial * * *" (MCM, 1928, ~ar.1491, p.174). 


The ev~dence here presented is clear and µndisputed. that the 
accused was under oath and was testifying at the time and place before a 
general courts-martial as alleged. Likewise, it is undisputed that he 
testified before that court-martial in the mannE::r allegP.d. To sustain 
this conviction there must be sufficient evidence that the testimony set 
forth in the Specification was false and material to the issue or natter 
of inquiry. (MCM, 1928, par.1L9i, p.175). Assuming, but not deciding, 
that his testimony was material, the Board of Review will consider only 
whether a· person may be convicted of perjury solely by evidence of con­
tradictory testimony given by him in the same trial with his assertion 
during that trial that the testimony, with which he is now charged as 
having falsely given, was falee. The record discloses, no other evidence 
introduced. by the prosecution to show that the alleged false testimony 
was in act false. Accused in his own trial steadfastly maintained 
that the testimony, with which he is charged as having given falsely, was 
not given falsely-and was true. It is obvious that he gave some false 
testimony at the trinl hut it must be noted that he is charged with 
perjury only as to his testimony of about 14 May 1945 which is not 
contradictory in itself. The Board has carefully r.onsidered the uroblem 
presented and, is of the opinion that the r.onviction may not legally be 
sustained. The Board is of the further opinion that the analysis made 
hy the original exar:iiner in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate 
General with the European Theater was both thorough and accurate and 
adopts his citation of authorities. Pertinent excerpts therefrom 
read as follows: 

"In Wharton's Criminai Law (12th Ed.) par.1583 it is stated thit1 

where 8.i defendant has made two distinct statements under oath, one directly 
the reverse of the other, it is not enough to oroduc~ the· one in evidence 
to prove the other to be false. Several English and American cases are 
cited for this nroposition. A case directly in point in State v. Burns, 
113 S.E. 351, 25 ALR 414 (So. Car. 1922) in which the defendant at--S.--­
preliminary hearing testified he saw HJ hit X with a blackjack and kick 
him into the river. On the trial of RJ he testified that his previous . 
testimony was false, that RJ did not hit X and did not kick him into the· 
river. There vms no .other evidence presented except the two statements. 
The court said:· 
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"It is well settled that a conviction for 
perjury cannot be sustained merely on the 
contradictory sworn statements of the defendant. 
The state must prove which of the two statements 
is false, and must show the statement which is 
made the basis of the perjury charge to be false 

·by other evidence than the contradictory statement": 
(citing cases). 

The annotation which follows this case at 25 ALR 416 reads as follows: 

"As is stated in 25 R;L: 2,70, it is now well 
established that a· c~riviction of perjury cannot 
be had upon proof alcine'that accused made con­
tradictory statsments; b;ut Jn a few instances, 
and with contrary results, ·rui attempt has been 
made to avoid the rule by proof of admission by 
the accused in addition to the second contra-­ ,:. 

ictory statement". 

No Federal case precisely in point has been found. In Phair v. 
United States, 60 Fed (2d) 953· (CCA 3rd, 1932), defendant made an---­
affidavit stating that he was not connected with the saloon business 
since such a date, on which date he conveyed_ his saloon business to JM. 
There was evidence by three witnesses that he later admitted owning the. 
saloon. The court said that is was necessary to be more than oath 
against oath; there must be two witnesses against the defeQdant or one 
witness plus witten documents or strong corroborating circui;istances. 
But if the perjury consists in the defendant having sworn contrary to 
what he had sworn to before, one witness only swearing to the contrary 
fact is sufficient. It was held that all that the testimony of the three 
witnesses anounts to is the establishment of a denial by Phair of his 
affidavit and the mere denial of the truth of the affidaviti'S not suffi­
cient to sustain the charge of perjury. 

In Clayton v. United States, 284 Fed 537 (CCA 4th, 1922) the 
only evidence of falsity is what was told to two witnesses sometime 

. before the alleged false testimony was given before the ,irand jury. It 
was held insufficient. · · ­

In United States v. Ruckner, 118 Fed (2d) 468 (CCA 2d, 1941) 
the defendant was indicted for perjury in a statemtnt before a grand 
jury. At the trial in that matter she stated that her statement before 
the grand jury was false. At this trial she took th~ stand and ad­
mitted the grand jury testimony was false. Held, it may be that at the 
close of.the government's case the proof was insufficient for the 
reason that her admission of g11ilty wa~ given in another action but 
when she took the stand here and asserted the falsity of her prior 
testimony any further proof wa.s unnecessary. It was equivalent to plea 
of guilty. 

- 4 ­



(193) 

The defendant in-HallllTler v. United States, 271 US 620, 70 Law F,d 
1118 (1926) was indicted for suhornation of perjury. The only evidence 
aeainst him was one witness who testified that at defendant's request 
he had testified to certRin facts in a bankruptcy proceeding, that such 
testimony was false. It WRS held thcit this was not sufficient to 
establish the falsity of the oath alleged as perjury. The court said 
it was a question of law whether the unsupported oath of the witness is 
sufficient to justify a finding that the testimony given by him before 
the referee was false. 

"The general rule in prosecutions for perjury is 
that the uncorroborated oath of one witness is 
not enough to establish the falsity of the testimony 
of the accused set forth in the indictment as 
perjury. The application.of this rule in Federal 
and State courts is well nigh universal {citing 
cases). The rule has long prevailed and no enactment 
in derogation of it has come to our attention" 
{Page 626 of 271 US) •. 

In the tmitant case the prosecution attempted to prove the 
falsity -Of the testimony which is the basis of the perjury charge by 
proof of accused1 E contradictory testimony as a witness for the defense 
in the same case wherein the alleged perjured testimony was given. With 
the introduction of such proof, it stopped. Under the settled principle 
of law above set forth, the proof was wholly inadec1uate and will not 
Eupport the findings of guilty. 

6. The charge sheet sholTS that accused is 23 years of age and was 
inducted 30 July 19L3 at Fort Bragg, North Carolina. No pr~or service 
is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. For the reasons stated, the Board of Review is of 
the opinion that the record of trial is legally insufficient to support 
the findings and the sentence. 

~!J;_tlt:PB!IBN_____________ Judge Advocate 

_.J.Qll_~~~2______________Judge Advocate 
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(191.i) 	 1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 22 OCT 1945 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main), APO 757, U. s. 
Army. 

1. Here-rith transmitted for your action under Article of liar 5~, 
as amended by the Act or·20 August 1937 (50 Stat.7211; 10 USC 1522), 
and as further amended by the Act of 1 August 19l.i2 (56 Stat.732; 10 
USC 15?2), is the record of trial in the case of Private HUBBY L. 
JAMERSON (34677041), 3739th Quartermaster Truck Company. 

, 2. I concur in the opinion of the Board of Review and for the 
·reasons stated therein, recotllllend that the findings of guilty Md the 
sentence be vacated, and that all rights, priveleges and property of 
which he has been deprived by virtue of said findings and sentence &o 
vacated be restored. 

3. · Inclosed is a forn of action designed to carry into effect the 
recommendation herelnbefore made. Also inclosed is a draft GCMO for 
use in promulgating the proposed action. Please return the record of 
trial with required copies of GCMO. · 

B. FRANKI.IN RITER 
Colonel, JAGD 

3 	Incls: Acting Assistant Judge Advocate General 
Incl. 1 - Record of Trial 
Incl. 2 - Form of action 
Incl. 3 - Draft GCMO 
(ftnfil:ngs and sentence vacared. GCMO 6Ie, USFF.'1, Dec 19li5 

http:FRANKI.IN
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:3ranch Office of The Judge fldvocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVI2X: NO. 5 7 S[;-i 1945 
Cl.C E'ID 16078 

UNITED STAT3S )
) 

45TH INFAm'RY DIVISION 
--.- ,,;-,., 

; _.. 

v. ) Trial by GCM, conv~ned "a,:t APO 45, 
) U. s. r1.rllzy', 7 ..:.ugust 1945· Sentence: 

Private D01J .C. :'.ART3NS ) Dishonorable discharge; total for­
(35542539), Company B, ) ·feitures, and confinement at hard 
180th Infantry ) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 

) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) ,Greenhaven, New York. 

HOIDDG by BOAF.D OF R.!c."T.:..£"il NQ. 5 

HILL, :SVINS and JULIArJ, Judge advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­
tion: 

CHARGE: Violation of tha 58th b.rticle of War. 

Specification: In that Private Don C. 11artens, 
Company B, 180th Infantry, did, at Detaclunen t 
Number 3, Ground Force Reinforcement Command, 
APO 776, at or near Phalsbourg, France, on or 
about 9 February 1945 desert the service of 
the United States a ni did remain in desertion 
until he returned to l.:ilitary Control on or 
about 9 February 1945 desert the service of 
the United States and did renain in desertion 
until he returned to L:ilitary Control on or 
about 9 fay 1945· 
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He pleaded not guilty to, and was fowid guilty of, the Charge 

and Specification. Bvidence was introduced of one previous 

conviction by si;ecial court-martial for absence without leave 

for eight days in violation of Article of \iar 61. Three­

fourths of the w;mbers of the court present when the vote was 


, taken concurring he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
tre service, to forfeit all pay ard allCM"ances due or to be• 
coma due, and to be confined at hard labor at .such place as 
the reviewing authority may direct for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designa­
ted the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and for­
warded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of 
War 50~. , 

3. Ertdence introduced by the prosecution shows that 

accused was a rember of Company'B, 180th Infantry (R4,5). On 9 

February 1945, he was attached to Detachnent 3, Ground Force 

Reinforcement Command, and on 10 February, he was entered ab­

sent without leave as of 9 February on the morning report of 

the organization (R4; Pros.Ex.A). He was returned to his 

company in the 1$0th Infantry about 11 May 1945 (R5). On or 

about 31 July accused volwitarily nade and sigred a written 

statement to the officer who was investigating this charge. 

In the statement, accused said that he had, been assigned to 

Company B in October 1944 as a rifleman, that 3 November he 

received a piece of shrapnel in his right thigh am was hos­

pitalized for about two and one-half months. He was then dis­

charged from the hospital - too early, he intimated - and sent 

to the "Reinforcement Depot. near Phalsbourg, France, around the 

7th or 8th of February 1945 and went A.VIOL from there the follow­

ing day". accused explained: "I was scared because they were 

going to serxl me back to the lines". He also said that he was 

"picked up11 near Paris around 25 April 1945 (R6-9; Pros .Ex.B). 


4. Advised of his rights as a Vii.tness, accused elected 

to remain silent. 


The defense called the corrmanding officer of Company 
B as a witness and he testified that after accused wa• returned 
to his company he was not placed in confinement, but was available 
for duty; and that his conduct was proi;er arxl caused no complaints 
(Rl0,11). On cross-examination, accused's platoon leader, a prose­
cution witness, said that from 11 :U.ay, men accused returmd to his 
company, he had been a good soldier, doing guard duty (R4,6). 

5. The morning report entry (Pros.Ex.A) ma.de out a prima 
facie case of absence without leave on 9 February, and this absence 
may be presumed to have continued W'ltil te:nnination is factually 
shown (MCM, 1928,, par.130,!, p.143). Accused's wluntary statement 
(Proe.Ex.B) substantiates this initial absence in every particular, 

i6U7t 
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places the occurrence at Phalsbourg, France and ehows that 

it continued until 25 April•. It also states that accused's 

reason for absenting himselt was due to fear of (more) ·front 

line duty. ·The issue thus raised as, to whether this absence 

continued 'only to 25. April or until 9 Yq 1945, as alleged, 

ifs .immaterial in view ot the fact that the shorter period 
amount.a to about two and one halt months. 

''Desertion is absence withoU't leave ac­
oompanied by the intECt.ion not to return, 
or to avoid hazardous duty, o:r to shirk 
important service" (MGM, 1928, par.130!,,
p.142). 

On this period ot unauthorized absence, two ard, 
one-halt months, terminated by apprehension, and on accused's• • 
tear of retuming'to hazardous duty, the court was justified 
in imput~·to accused an intention not to return to military_ 
control and in finding him guilty ot desertion as charged. · 

6. 'lbe charge sheet shows that accused is 21 years, 11 
. months 	ot age, and that he was inducted on 18 January- ·1943. 
'!here is no record ot previous service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jur!.sdic­

tion ot the person arxi offense. No errors injuriously affect-. 

ing the substantial rights ot accused were colllllitted during 

the trial. The Board ot Review is of the opinion that the re­

cord ot trial ·is legally sut.ficient to support the tindihgs ot 

guilt7 and the sentence. 


8. 'lbe penalty tor desertion in time of' war is death or 

such other punisl:lllent as a court-martial m;q direct (AW 58). 

The designaUon of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplin­

ary- Barracks, Greenhavan, New York, as the place of confi.nament 

is authorized (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, l4 September 1943, sec,VI, as 

amended). 


A-~~ . Judge Advocate 

%~· ..· :Z::.~ Jmge Advocate

To; !J ' . 
.,. .,J,,4,,._Judge Ad...ate(( ... . 

. . 	 •, 

16U7h 
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Branch Office of 'lbe Judge Advocate Gereral 
with the · 

European l'heater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF flZVID( NO. 5 	 14 SEP 1945. ·· 

CH ETO 16080 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 83RD INFANTRY DIVISION 

) 


v. ) Trial by 	GCM," conVEID:l d at ·Vilshofen, 
) Germaey, 7 Augmt 1945. Sentence: 

Private NORMAN E. FISHER. ) Dishonorable d1.s charge, total for­
(33624803), Company. C, ) feitures and confinanent at hard 

· · 	330th ·Infantry ) labor for life. Eastern Branch, 
) United States l.>j_sciplinary- Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

. ·..... ,,., 

HOIDINJ. by BOARD OF R.EVIEl"i NO. 5 

HILL, EVIN:> and JULIAN, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in tre case of the soldier na.m:1d above 
has been examined by the Board of Revi f1il. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­
tion: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th 	Article of Viar. 

Specification: In tra t Private Norman E. Fisher, 
Company C, 330th Infantry, did at or near 
Bihain, Belgium, on or about 12 January 1945, 
desert tm service of the United States by­
absenting himself without proper leave from 
his organization with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty and did remain absent in 
desertion until he was apprehexned at 
Liege, .Belgium, on or about, l3 June 1945· 

pleaded not guilty to the Charge and Specification, but guilty 
'bsence without leave from his organization at or near Bihain, 
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Belgium, .f'rom on or about 12 January- 1945, to on or about 

13 June 19451 in violation of Article of War 61. He was 

.found guilty of the Charge and Specification. No evidence 

o.f' previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths of 

the JIE!llbers o.f' the court present at the time the vote was 


· taken· CQncurring, he was sentenced· to be dishonorably dis­
charged the service, to .tor.f'eit all pay and allowances dUs 

·or to become dus, and to be con.tined at hard labor, at BUch 
place as the reviewing authority ?DJq direct, .tor the term 
o.f' his natural life. The reviewing a¢hority approved the 
sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Dis­
ciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place o.f' 
confinemmt, and forwarded the record o.f' trial for action 
pursuant to Article of ~iar Soi. 

3. Evidence for the prosecution showed that accused 
was a member o.f' Company C, 330th Infantry, which was committed 
against the eneley' on 12 January- 1945 at Bibain, Belgl.um (R6, 7, 
15). On that date he was present with the organization, hav­
ing been brought up that morning by the BUpply sergeant to tre 
company conmand post from Hebronval, Belgium (R7). The eneley' 
was then about .300 or 400 yards in front of the company, which 
was bei~ subjected to mortar, artillery and small arms .tire 
(R7,S,12J. The preceeding day the company had su!.f'ered heavy 
casualties (RS,12). Accused absented himself without leave on 
12 January, and was not seen by- his first sergeant or company 
commander until returned to his unit in Germany on 3 July 1945 
(R9,12). It was stipulated that accused was apprehended and 
returned to military control at or near Liege, Belgium,. on or 
about 13 June 1945 (RS,12; Pros.Ex.1,2). 

Upon his return he was questioned by th:! company 
commander, 'Who first explaired to him the seriousness of his .. 
offense 1 advi.sing him tbat he did not have to say. anything and · 
tha.ti anything he said might be used against him (R9,10). Accused 
related that wheri brought back to tra line, the sergeant left 
him and that he decided to "take off" to the rear because he 
was scared. He ~ged to reach Verviera and then went to 
Liege, Belgium. He made his living by gambling, an:i ate with 
civilians and at rest camps. He was having a good tins and it 
never occurred to him to turn in (Rl0,1114). 

4. Accused, after being fully advised of his rights as 
a witness, elected to remain silent. 

5. Compe:tent uncontradicted evidence establisred tl'Bt 
accused absented himself without leave from his organization 
on 12 January 1945 and that he ranained in unauthorized absence 
until apprehen:ied 13 June 1945. At the time of his initial ab­
sence, Company C was engaged in combat with the eneley' and was· 
being Subjected to enemy artillery, mortar and small arm fire. · 
He left the company to avoid tra hazards of combat. This fa.ct 
he admitted oh his return when he stated he "took off 11 becau8e l GU t: O, 
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he was "scared". The court was justified in .finding that 
accused absented himsel.t' llithout leave with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, and that he was.there.fore, guilty o.t' desertion 
as suc)s o.t'fonse is de.t'ined by Articles o.t' Kar 28 and 58 (CM 
E'ro ~30, l.ragnanti; CM ~TO 7W, Gogel). 

6. 'lb8 charge sheet shows that accused is i9 years and 

10 months o.t' age and was inducted 3 May" +944·at Allentown, 

Pennsylvania. He had no prior service. 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdic­

tion o.t' the personmd o.t'fense. No errors injuriously affect­

ing the substantial rights ot accused were committed dlll"ing 

the trial. The Board o.t' Review is of the opinion tbat the re­

cord o.t' trial is legally suf'.t'i~ient to support the findings o.t' 

gullty and the sentence. 


s. '!he penalty .for desertion in time or war is death 
. or such other punisruoont as a court-martial may direct (AYI 58). 

The designation o.t' the Easteni Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, ~s th~ce o.t' con.tinemant is . 
authorized (Mi 42; Cir.2101 WD, l4 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amended) • 

....,,.~-=.-.1;_,.;:::~-"'~:;..L~- Jooge Advoe ate 

"<2~~· Advocate 
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Branch Ottice of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


:European theater 

J.FO .887 

BOARD OF llVIEll uo. 3 

CY E'l'O 16104 

U H I T :E D STATES 

v. 

Private First Class~ J. 
BLANCHiT!'j; (3l34ll74) 1 Troop D1 
86th Cavalr7 Reconnaissance 
_Squadron :Mltehanized 

12 SE? 1945 

) 6TH AR?..'.QRED DIVISION 

~ Trial by GCM, convened at Gross 

l 
~ 

) Ostheim, Bavaria, Germany,
) 10 August 1945. Sentence: 

Dishonorable discharge (suspended) 1 
total torteitures, and confinement 
at hard labor .for 20 years. Delta 
Disciplinary Training Center, 
Les lE:Ules1 Bouche• du Rhone 1 France• . 

OPINION by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

SI.EE:Hi:B.1 SHEmWl and m.YlEY, Judge Advocatea 
. 
 .. 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the iuropean Theater and there ·round legally insufficient in part to 
support the .findings end sentence. The record or trial has now been 
examined by the Soard of Review and the Board submits this, its opinion, 
to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ot said Branch Office. 

2. Accused was tried upon the !ollowing:·charges and specifications: 

CHAR.a& I: Violation or the 58th Article of Vlar. 

Specification: In that Private First Class.a. Rene J. 
Blanchette, Troop D, S6th Cavalry Reconnaissance 
Squadron Mechanized, did, at Kahl.a., Stadtroda, 
Thuringia, Germany, on or about 2l June 1945, 
desert the service or the United States and did 
remain absent in desertion until he Tias appre­
hended at Micheroux, Belgium, on or about 26 
June 1945. 

'~ ' 
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CHJ..R.GE II: Violation of the 94th l.rticle of war. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Y.ahl.a., Stadtroda, 
Thurineia, Gerrnany, on or about 2l June 1945, 
feloniously take, steal and drive aVlay a 1/4 ton 
truck of the value of about $1407.00, property 
of the United States, furnished a.nd intended for 
the military service thereof. 

Cii.:'.R.GE III: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at llicheroux, 
Beleium, on or about 26 JU.ne 1945, wrongfully 
and unlawfully attempt to sell a i/4 ton truck 
of the value of about :iPJ.407.00, property of the 
United States, furnished and intended for the 
military service thereof. 

lle pleaded not {;Uilty to and was found guilty of all charges and speci­
fications. Evidence 'Vtas introduced. of one previous conviction by 
summary court for wrongfully altering a pass in viola~ion of Article of 
War 96. Three-fourths of the members of the court present at the time 
the vote was ta.ken concurring, he was sente~ced to be dishonorably dis­
charged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become 
due, and to be confined at he.rd labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for ,'.30. years. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence but reduced the period of confinement to 20 years, ordered 
the sentence as thus modified executed but suspended the execution of 
that portion thereof adjudging dishonorable discharge until the soldi~r•s 
release from confinement, and designated the Delta Disciplinary Training 
Center, Les lill..es, Bouches du Rhone, France, as the place of confinement. 

'lhe proceedings were published by General Court-Martial Orders No. 56, 
Headquarters 6th Armored Division, 16 Aueust 1945 • 

.'.3 • The evidence for the prosecution showed that on the evening 
of 21 June 1945, accused absented himself without authority from his 
organization in company with another soldier from his unit. In absent­
ing themselves, the men took with them, without authority, a vehicle 
of the type described.in the specifications of Charges II and III. On 
26 June they entered into negotiations with certain Belgian civilians 
looking toward the sale of this vehicle. ~•'bile accused 1 s companion 
apparently was the moving spirit in these negotiations, accused also 
participated in them to some extent. These transactions led to their 
apprehension and arrest that same day by iilnerican military police. The 
record contains substantial evidence to support the findings that accused 
was guilty of Charges II and III and their respective specifications. 
Eovrever, it will be noted that the absence without leave upon the basis 
of which accused was found guilty of desertion Un.der Charge I, although 
terminated by apprehension a.nd accompanied by other illegal activities, 
was of five days' duration only. In a pretrial statement, accused 
asserted that at the time of his initial absence his companion told him 

1 ~ 1" I~ 
...-... ...... _.1_ 
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that he was going to a nearby Polish camp in a jeep to pick up some 
laundry and wa.s going to return. to the area immediately thereafter. 
On the basis o! those representations he decided to go along 11for the 
ride"• Thereafter, his companion refused to return and also prevented 
him from doing so. It is thus seen that accused's absence was neither 
prolonged nor unexplained and there is accordingly little basis !or the 
inference that accused's absence was accompanied by the requisite intent 
to constitute his o!!ense that of desertion. Further, the fact that his 
absence took plac• after the c•ssation of hostilities in this Theat,r 
makes it unlikely that he entertained the intent to remain permanently 
away from the service. In general, it may be said that Americans are 
not !!2!! deserting in Europe. It is concluded that the evidence of re-· 
cord in support of Charge I and its Specification is legally sufficient 
to support a conviction of absence without leave only (CMEIO· 1541+2, 
Bifano; Cl.I ETO 1567, Spicocchi). 

4. The charge sheet shows that.accused is 22 yea.rs of age and was 
inducted 22 March 1943 at Hartford, Connecticut. No prior service is 
shown. 

5. The court was lega.l.l.7 constituted and bad jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses·. :&xcept as noted, no errors injurioual.y affecting 
the substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally . 
sufficient to support only so much of the finding of guilty of Charge I 
and its Specification as involves a finding that, accused did, on or 
about 26 June 1945, in violation of .Article of 'llar 61, and legally suffi­
cient to support the reraaining findings of gui1ty and the sentence. 

6. The designation of Delta Disciplinary Training Center, Les 
Jalles, Bouches du Rhone, France, as the place of confinement is authorized 
(Ltr. liq. XTO .AG 252, Op. ~, 25 lla.y 1945, par.2b). 

~I'</-: Judge Advocate 

ht~ r J~ Judge Advocate. 

//'_fl . 
4 ._/, kMr/ ~.~:-Judge Advocate6 : 

._. 
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\ 
1st Ind. 	 \ 

War Department1 Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater 12, ~? 1945 TO: Co.mma.nd.ing
General, United States For~es,-.&Uropean Theater (J.:ain) 1 Aro 7571 .. 

u. s. army. 

l. Herewith transmitted for your action under Article of War 50-k 
as amended by Act 20 August 1937 (50 Stat. 724; 10 u.s.c. 1522) and 

• 	as further amended by act 1 August 1942 (56 Stat. 732; 10 u.s.c. 1522), 
is the record of trial in the case of Private First Class R&;iE J. 
BLAHCHET'm (31J4ll74), Troop D, 86th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron 
Liechanized. 

' 2. I concur in the opinion of the Board of Review and, for the 
reasons stated therein, recommend that the findings of guilty of Charge 
I and Specification, except so .much thereof as involves findings of 
guilty of absence -.rithout lec.ve in viohtion of Article of War 61, be 
vac<'.ted, and that all ri::;hts, privileges a.nd property of which he has 
been deprived by virtue of that portion of the findings, viz: convic­
tion of desertion in time· of nar, so vac.:.ted, be restored,- and legally 
sufficient to support the rei:ia.iniJag findings of guilty and the sentence. 

1. In view of the reduction of the conviction of desertion to the 
lesser included offense of absence without leave for five days, the 
staff judce advocate' s stater:.ent tb.a.t accused is 11not brichtn 1 and 
the fact that accused, a comparatively young soldier, was apparently 

·somewhat under the domin:ction of his companion, I recommend reduction 
. of the confinement imposed to a period not exceedl.ng ten rears. 

4. Inclosed i~ a form of action designed to carry into effect the 
recornmen&.tion hereinbefore made. Also inclosed is a draft GCi£O for 
use in promulgating the proposed action. Pl.ease return the record of 
trial viith required e¢piea of GCW. 

1 fU'/ttkc·f .t 

/,'~ 
E. C. licl~JI.,. 

:_:er.igadier General, United~.y, 
{'." As;tlstant Judge Advo~~!!~Y,~ 

(Findings vacated in part and condnement reduced to ten years in accordancw 
with l"eCOIJ:Dendation o! !:heA·Assistant Judge A.dvocateGAneral • GC1tJ 496 

USFET, 20 0 ct 1945)• ' 	 ~-,.. 1 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO S87 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 5 

Cl.i E'IO 16100 

UNITED STATES ) 
) 

3RD ARMORED DIVISION 

v. 

Privates CHARLES E. KEETON (37010960), 

) 
) 
) 

Trial by GC~, convened at 
Darmstadt, Germany, 21 July 1945. 
Sentence. as to each accused: 

and NICHOLAS Y. I..,EMU; (42091525), both 
of Company A, 8'.3rd Armored Reconnaissance 

) 
) 

Dishonorable discharge, total 
forfeitures and confinement at 

Battalion ) hard labor for life. Eastern 
) 
) 

Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenbaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 5 
HILL, EVINS and JULIAN,. Judge Advocate• 

1. The record of trial in the ca&e of the soldiers niJned above 
nas been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused were separately arraigned and with their consent tried 
together upon the followin' charges and specifications: 

KEE'IDN 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 5Sth Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Charles E. Keeton, Company "A", 
83rd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, did, at or near 
Erezee, BelgiUA, on or about 29 December 1941+, desert the 
service of the United States, and did remain absent in 
desertion until he surrendered himself at New York City, 
on or about 4 April 1945. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the ?5th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Charles E. Keeton, Company "A", 
83rd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, did, at or near 
Erezee, Belgium., on or about 27 December 1941+, misbehave 
himself' before the enemy, by refusing to advance with his 
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squad, 'Which had been ordered foward by Sergeant 
Joseph Zerbny, Company "A", 83rd .Armored Reconnaissance 
Battalion to engage with elements of t.he German Army, 
which forces, the said squad was then opposing. 

~ 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of•~. 

Specification: In that Private Nicholas M. I,.emme, Company "A", 
83rd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, did, at or near 
Erezee, Belgiua, on or about 29 December 1944, desert 
the service of the United States, and did remain absent 
in desertion until he was apprehended at Sandusky, Ohio, 
on or about 12 April 1945. 

CHARGll: II: Violation of the 75th .Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Nicholas M. Lemme, Company "A11, 
$3rd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion, did, at or near 
Erezee, Beliiua, on or about 27 December 1944, .misbehave· 
himself before the enemy,· by re!'usin& to advance with his 
squad, which had then been ordered forward by Sergeant 
Joseph Zerbny, Company "A", 83rd .Armored Reconnaissance 
Battalion to engage with elements of the German Army, 
which forces the said squad was then opposing. 

Each accused pleaded, with respect to the charges and specifications against 
him, guilty to the Specification of Charge I, except the words "desert" 
and "in desertion", substituting therefor respectively the words "absent 
himself without leave from" and "without leave", to the Charge NOT GUILT! 
but GUILT! OF VIOLATION OF THE 61ST .ARTICLE OF WAR, and NOT GUILTY to the 
Specification. and Charge II. All of the members of the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, eaca was found guilty of the charges 
. and specifications preferred against hia. No evidence of pterlous conrlc­
tions was introduced as to either accused. ill of the members of the court· 
present when the vote wa• ta.ken concurr~, each was sentenc~d to be dis­
aonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or 
to beoome due, and to be confined at hard labor, at suoh place as the re­
viewing authorit7 ~Y' direct for the term of aia natural life. '!'Re rerlew­
ing authorit7 apprOTed the sentencies, designated the Eastern Branca, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhnen, New York, as the' place of 
oon!inem.ent and forwarded the record o! trial for.action purwant'to Article 
o! War 5oi• 

.3. itldenae for the prosecution allows that on 24 Deeelllber 1944,' 
bot}l accused were 11.embera of Compan:y A, 83rd Armored Reooanaisaanoe Batta­
lion, whicll organizatioa was located Dear Uernem:, Bel&iua (R7,8,9). Oa 
this date and as a result of the breakthrouga during the "Battle o!' the 
B'lllce", Compa.D1' A was surrounded by the enemy (R9,14) • However, the Ma 
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excaped from this encirclement by wal.ldng out during the night and 
leaving behind their vehicles and certain pieces of equipnent. They 
carried their arms and ammunition with them (R9,10,l3). After 'With­
drawing from Lierneux to an aeselllbly area near Erezee, Belgium, a 
distance of about 10 miles, they were issued aane guns and hand 
crenadea and on 27 Do~ember ordered to advance and olear a designated 
area of woods of German soldier• (R7,S,ll,l3,15). Ameriean paratrooper• 
had been dropped nearby these woods into 'Whicll eneiey- troops had infil ­
trated (R7,,11,,15). The ri&ht fiank of Company A was also supported by 
other American troops (Rll,,12). Following the command from higher 
authority to move ,forward in attack, which order was passed on to accused 
by their squad leader,, the two accused eo.mplained of being improperly 
equipped and indicated that they "did not want to go out" (RS,,15). 
They were not present with their unit when the company moTed forward 
in attack in regular combat formation (RS). Although the weather was 
cold and snowy and morale was low, contact with the German enelllJ" was 
made after a march of about 10 miles forward (Rl0,,15). Accused did not 
accompany their unit and took no part in this attack. Taeir absence 
waa unauthorized (RS). Extract copies of the mo~ report of COlllpany 
A, 83rd Armored Reconnaissance Battalion were received in evidence,, with­
out objection by defense, showing both accused · absent vdthout leave 
on 29 December 1944 (R6, Pros.Eu. A and B). It wa.s stipulated between 
counsel for prosecution and defense that Private Keeton surrendered 
himaelf to military ~ontrol at New York City, New York, on 4 Apr:l11945,, 
and that Private Lemme was returned to military control at Sandusk;y,, 
Ohio, on 12 April 1945 (R6,,7). . 

4. After being advised of their rights as witnesses, both accused 
elected to remain silent. The following ftatement signed by the Transport 
Commander of United States Army Transport No. 1433 was read by defense 
coun~el on behal! of accused Lemme: 

"Private Nicholas Lemme came aboard this 
srip a prisoner, was released from confine­
ment after twenty four hours at sea and was 
again confined twenty four hours before 
arrival in ETO. Prisoner volunteered for 
duty and conducted himself in a good soldierly 
manner" (Rl7). 

5. Competent uncontradicted evidence establishes the fact that 
both accused absented themselves without proper leave from. their place 
of duty near Erezee, Belgium, on or about 29 December,1944, and that they 
remained absent until Keeton surrendered him.self to the military authori­
ties in New York City on 4 April and until Leumie was returned to military 
control at Sandusk;y,, Ohio on 12 April 1945. Their initial absence began 
when their organization was in the line during the Battle of the ~ge,, 
from whick situation they departed and completely abandoned the field of 
combat b7 managing to tranf,port thenselve.'3 n··~tside the Theater of Opera7 
tions and escaping to the United States where _they were returned to mili­
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tary control after an absence of more than three months. It is diffi­
cult to conceive of a. state of facts more clearly suited to show an in­
tention to desert the military service than those here presented. The 
offense of desertion, as to each accused, is fully established (kCU, 
192S, Par.130!,, pp.142,143; CM ETO 6840, Stolte). 

Concerning the offense of alleged misbehavior before the enemy, 
competent substantial evidence shows that accused' organiz~tion was be­
fore the enemy and that they were ordered to advance and attack; that •uch 
an attack was made but that accused, although present v,hen the order was 
given, were missing from their unit when the advance was m.:ide and that 
they failed to participate in this assault against the enemy. Failure 
to advance in attack when ordered or called upon.to do so has been con­
demned as, and held to constitute, an act of misbehavior before the enemy 
of the most grave and serious character (Winthrop's l.:ilitary Law and 
Precedents, (Reprint, 1920), p.622; CM E'IO 6177, Transeau and authorities 
cited therein). Although the record contains some evidence that as a 
result of the German breakthrough accused's company had abandoned certain 
of its equipment and that the men were not as fully equipped as desired, 
such facts do not constitute a defense to the Charge as other men or 
the company advanced and fought as courageous soldiers of gallant armies 
have done throughout history. Military necessity demanded perfor:nance 
or duty on this occasion. The breakthrough was stopped while accused 
cowardly escaped and sought safety in the rear. The offense of misbe­
havior before the enem;r in violation of Art:l.cle or War 75 is fully esta­
blished (CY ETO 41320, Skovan; Clll ETO 500+, Scheck; Cl.l: ETO 5114, Acers; 
C:U :JkTO 6177, Transeau, supra)• . 

6. The charge sheets show that accused Keeton is 28 years and· six 
months of age and was inducted l July 1941, at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, 
and that accused Lemme is 23 years and nine months of age and was inducted 
2S December 194.3, at Buffa.lo, New York. Neither accused had prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction.or the 
persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affeeting the substantial 
rights of either accused were committed during the trial. The Board of 
Review is of the opinion that, as to each accused, the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The penalty for desertion in time of war and misbeha.tlor before 
the enemy in violation of Articles of War 58 and 75 respectivel.1" 1• deatll 
or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58,75). The 
desigriation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barra.cks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is authorized (AW 42, 
Cir.210, ~'ID, 14 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

-4­
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIll'l NO. .3 
21 SEP 1945 

CM ETO 16122 

UNITED STATES ) 75'1H WFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

y ) Trial by GCJ.!, convened at l!aill.y­
) le Camp, France, lS July 1945. 

Technician Fourth Grade DARI. F. ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
BARTON (.39107099), Company C, ) total forfeitures and.confinement 
275th Conbat Engineer Battalion ) at hard labor for ten years. 

) United States Penitentiary, 
) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOIDIID by BOARD OF Rl!.~Il~if NO• .3 · 

SUr.:P2R, SHERMAN and DEllEY, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of tl)e soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­
tion (as amended immediately following arraignment):· 

I 

'CHARG3: ViOlation of the 92nd Article of ~!a_r. 

Specification: In that Technician 4th Grade Darl F. 
Barton, Co~any 11C11 , 275th Combat Engineer 
Battalion,· and Private I.ester (Nl.J:) Campbell, 

11c11Co::i,_Jany , 275th Combat Engineer Battalion, 
acting jointly, and in pursuance of a conmon 
intent, did, at 11les Hailes", Ste. Marie-aux­
1li.nes, France, on or about Z1 January 1945, with 
malice aforethought, willfully, deliberately, 
feloniously, unlawfully and with premeditation 
kill one Ali Ben 1.iohmoud, a human being, by the 
said Technician 4th Grade Darl F. Barton shooting 
him with a carbine and the said Private I.ester 
(i~) Campbell shooting him with a pistol. 

On motion of the prosecution the Specification was amended to read 
as follows, the defense stating there were no objections: 
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Specification: In that Technician 4th Grade Darl F. 
11C11Barton, Company , 275th Combat E.ngineer 

Battalion, did at 11I.es Hailes", Ste Marie-aux­
Mfues, France, on or about 2!) January 1945 with 
malice aforethought, willfully, deliberately, 
feloniously, unlawfully and with premeditation 
kill one Ali Ben 1:ohmoud, a human being, by the 
said Technician 4th Grade Darl F. Barton 
shooting him with a carbine (R5). 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. 'Ihree-fourths of tqe memb~rs of the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to becane due, and to be confined at hard labor at such place 
as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, but reduced 
the period of confinement to ten years, designated the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the pl.ace of confinement, 
and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of 
War 50!. · . 

3. Prosecution's evidence: 

Early on the morning of 29 January 1945 accused was drinking 
with members of his comp~, including Private First Class Albert L. 
Hurst and Private Lester Campbell, at a cafe in Ste. Marie-aux-Mines, 
France. They were still there drinking in the afternoon when the bar­
1Ilaid recounted to one of them a story, which he translated to the others, 
of her rape the night before by a certain French Moroccan soldier, seen 
earlier that day in the ca.fe. She "feared the man and said he might 
try it again". The group "discussed the matter and decided it was 
pretty bad" (Rll,15,18,24). Although "everyone was drunk" (Rl.9), 
accused "was the drunkest man in the cafe" (RlJ,16,18,26). Campbell 
said he was going to see this French Moroccan and at about 1800 hours 
asked accused and Hurst to go along with him 11to look for the Arab 11 

(Rl.2,13,24,27). Accompanied by the barmaid and "the interpreter", 
Campbell,· Hurst and accused 'Who was ~ry drunk (R27) proceeded to a 
billet where the barmaid nodded her head to show it was the right 
door (R.24). Hurst testified that Campbell was armed with a pistol and 
he believed accused had a carbine (RJ.4). As Campbell knocked on the 
door, Hurst left (IU2,24). At that moment "some line company" was 
forming on the street' (R.3.3). The "Arab" came to the door and Campbell, 
while "everyone was behind me" and with accused "behind me all the 
time", never took his eye~ off the man as he ''backed him into the room 
with my hand" (R24,28). 

Campbell, who on the day before the instant trial had been 
convictedpy a general court-martial of the murder of Ali Ben MohmolXi, 
the "Arab" in question, was the only witness to testify reg&r~tfl81. 2 2 
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the 	events that then inmediately followed. His testimon;r is brieta 

"I backed him into the r0om w1th rrq ·hand. It was 
just a small af.f'air and he went back toward the 
corner. 'lbere was a small table in the roan. 
He stood' between the table and some stoves and I 
was facing him. I had taken m:/ gml out ot ~ 

jacket pocket. He made a pass at me 'With a 

knite. I brought m:f gun up and squeezed it oft" 
WA). 	 . . 

The succeeding questions and answers disclose accused's part in the 
homicide: · 

"Q. \'ihat happened then? 
A. 	 Just as he was tailing there was another shot. 

Q. 	 Who tired the other shot? 
A. 	 Barton, sir. 

Q. 	 What happened then? 
A. 	 I picked up his bill.told .f'rcm the table and a · 

wristwatch and brought it back to the tavern. 
I asked the girl it that was him, showing her 
his picture. 

Q. 	 Did you observe the corpse after the secorxl shot? 
A. 	 No sir. 

Q. 	 What type o.f' weapon did Barton use? 
A. 	 A carbine, sir. 

Q. 	 What was the condition ot your sobriety at this time? 
A. 	 I was sober, sir. 

Q. 	 What did Sergeant Barton do next? 
A. 	 He. just tagged along, sir and came back to the bar 

with me 11 (RZlv-25). 

CaJllfbell did not see accused fire (R28). 'Ihe two shots were "almost 
lik,e one report. It was just enough to make me tlinch11 • Asked 11How 
did 	you know Barton fired the shot? 11 he answered, 11I don't lmow, sir 11 (R.30). 
It was somsthing that 

"happened'so fast that everything was over and 
done before you could snap your fingers. I turned 
and saw Barton and told him lets get "t-he hell out 
of here 11 (R.31). . .. 
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Asked if accused was holding a weapon in his hand, he replied, ''Yes 
sir, a carbinen and asked"!£ it was "in his hands", he replied, "I 
cannot truthfully answer that, sir". This colloq~ then follows: 

"Q. 	 I would like to refer to your earlier statement 
to the court. You stated that Barton .fired the 
second shot.· Is that correct? 

A. 	 No sir, I didn't say that. 

Q. 	 The question was who fired the second shot? 
A. 	 1fy answer was 1 I think Barton•, sir. 

Q. 	 You think Barton fired it? 
A. 	 Yes sir. 

Q. 	 After you came out of' the building you saw that 
Barton tagged along? · 

A. 	 Yes sir. 

· Q. 	 Was there ari.yone else outside the building? 
A. 	 The entire company, sir. 

Q. 	 You mean they were all watching you? 
A. 	 I mean there was the entire convoy wai. ting to 

move.out" (R.31-32). 

When Camp;:iell fired accused was "to the rear and left of' me", the "Arab" 
was standing in the comer of the room and "if' anyone else was there he 
was behind im" (R.3J). Canq:bell fired towards the deceased's stomach 
and "He seemed to buckle; bent in the middle, and he went down. I 
would say the other shot hit him before he hit the floor" (R25). 

An officer of' accused 1s company examined the boey- of the French 
Moroccan soldier at about 2.300 hours the same day, and observed that he 
was dead with wounds in the left temple (R20-21). The next. morning the 
body w4s examined by an agent of the Criminal Inves~igation Division, 
who identif:hed it as that of "Ali Ben Mohamed", a member of the French 
Colonial Arnw (R6-7). Captain lUlton Rosenthal, M.C. 5lst Evacuation 
Hospital, performed an autopsy. His certificate thereof, which was 
received in evidence without objection, further identified the deceased 
and describes the cause of death as follows: 

"I hereby certi.t'Y that I performed an autopsy on the 
body of Ali Ben Mahmoud, French Arm:r, ASN A-.359; 
Tunis JS, Orgn. 6.3rd Arty Regt. 2nd Group, 5th Bn, 
and found the follOlfing to be the cause of death: 

I. 	 GSW~ pen, left temporal bone, with . 
A. Wd lac left temporal lobe and cerebellum 

II•. Fracture, conuninuted, occipital bone, with in"":' 
A. 	 Separation of entire parietal bone at suture J.1!e{i t.. ;... 
B. 	 Fracture, linear, radiating, of both tempora.1. and 
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both 	frontal bones. 
c. 	Maceration of Cerebellum, posterior portion o! 

. both Occipital lobes, left temporal lobe. 
Note: 	 II, in rey opinion, was due to impact of back of 

head against flat unyielding surface with great 
force, as by falling backwards •. The flattened 
distorted bullet was found lying among the cerebellar 
tissue fragments in the posterior !ossa. 

Incidental findings were: 
III. 	 GS'N, pen, entry at left anterior axillary line, 

through the costal cartilage of the loth rib, with 
missile t~act throµgh transverse mesocolon, jejunum, 
through left psoas muscle, erector spinae, at level 
o! Lumbar vertebra 2, through transverse and spinous 
processes to rest under the skin justtFight o! mid~ 
line. 
A. Hemoperitoneum, ca 300 cc. 
B. Retroperitoneal haemorrhage, moderli\,ten (R35-36; 
(Pros.Ex.l). · 

4. For the defense: 

Accused's condition at the cafe in Ste. 1:arie-aux-tanes on the 

afternoon of 29 January 1945 was variously described by members of his 

company vmo were drinking with him as "drunk" (R40) "pretty.drunk" (RJS, 

44), "he staggered" and he was "staggering around the bar" (l'W+). 


. . 
Captain Leo \':alker, 275th Combat :i!:ngineer Battalion, testified 

that 	he had observed accused's conduct over a period of approximately 14 · 
months (W+O), that he is a very good soldier with a good reputation for 
truth and veracity (R41) and that he served with the battalion through 

· the Ardennes campaign ( R42) • 

Captain Stewart D. King, Ji. c., ?6th Ordnance Battalion l:edical 

Detachment, testified that a person sustaining the injuries described 

as Number I in the autopsy report (Pros .Lx.l) would have instantaneous 

death, that the injuries described in Number III thereof would not cause 

instantaneous death and that many so wounded survive if operated upon 

within twelve ·hours (P.1+5-46). 


Agent John S. Cole, Criminal Investigation Division, testified 

that, on questioning, accused stated that the "only carbine that was his' 

custom to borrow" belonged to the mess sergeant. A ballistics test was 

made with a .30 caliber carbine No. 2364$6 "obtained from the mess ser­

geant" and the result was a negative report as to the comparisons of 

the bullet and cartridge case found on the scene (RJ+6-47). 


. Stipulated testimony as to this test showed carbine No• 2364$6 

did not fire the ".30 caliber bullet found in the victim's head11 (R47) • 


. 1612: 
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5~ A.tter his rights were explained (R47-48) accused testified 

and described the manner in which he started drinking wine about 0800 

on 29 January 1945 at a ca!e in Ste. llarie-aux-Mines, continued to , 

drink, heard a story about·the raping or a French girl and became drunk 

about 1500 hours • In the morning after breakfast he had borrowed the 

mess sergeant's carbine but returned it. He carried a rif'le in combat, 

but around the mess truck he borrowed the ness sergeant's carbine and 

never borrowed any others. He had no weapon llith him at the cate. 

Arter getting drunk the next thing he remembered was waking up at 0400 

hours ·the next morning on a table in "our mess hall" (R48-51). 

I 

·6. At the request or the court further evidence was introduced 
showing that at least 40 mm were in the c*!e each armd with same weapon 
at the time Campbell, Hurst and accused were on their way to the "Arab's 
quarters" (R56) and that when the trio arl"ived at his doorway "There were 
trucks along the street with soldiers around them but at the quarters 
there were just the three (3) ot us" (R58). Campbell reiterated his 
fo:rnier testimony that he turned around after firing at deceased,. saw 
acctised in possession of a carbine and observed the weapon in his hands 
when they both left the "Arab's quarters" (R61). 

7. From the evidence outlined above it is clear that accused fired 
' 	at deceased with a carbine trom a distance of a tew feet, the bullet · 

entering his brain and causing almost instantaneous death. The question. 
arises, under all the circumstance's ot this unlawful homicide, whether 
the o.trense was murder or merely that ot manslaughter. Although it 
was here shown that accU8ed used a deadl,- weapon, it was also shown that 
he was extremly drunk at the time. While intoxication is no defense to 
homicide, it may be operative to reduce murder to manslaughter it sur­
ticientl.y extrema to render accused incapable ot entertaining.malice 
aforethought (MCM, 1928,, par.126,!., pp.135-136; Winthrop's Military Law· 
and Precedents (Reprint,, 1920), p.293; l Wharton's Criminal Law (12th
:Ed., 1932), sec.407,, p.599; 26 Am.Jur.sec.ll6-ll9,, pp.233-238; 12 ALR 
861; 79 !ALR 897). All the evidence in the instant c~se points to the 
fact that accused's drunkenness was well advanced. In the ca~ where 
there were at least 40 men at about 1800 hours on 29 January 1945 {R56),, 
"everyone was drtmk11 (R19) and accused "was the drunkest man in the ca!e11 

(R13,16,18,26). There was no evidence that accused prior to the shooting 
expressed any intention as regards deceased.or entertained any other 
purpose or inclination than that or drinking from the time on the moming 
ot 29 January when he to;J..d the mess sergeant that "the captain said he 
could take the day ott tor drinking" (R52). The record is replete with 
·the testimony of .ma.ny witnesses as to the advanced state or drtmkermess 
he achieved. before 1800 hour on that day (RJJ,,l6,19,21,22,,26,,27,3s,39, 
40,41,,43,44,,48-50,,52,57). Accused admitted that he heard the story ot 
the raping or a French girl but denied that he discussed it and testified 
that he had n6 recollection of the events of that day after 1500 hours 
(R50). However, ~twas clearl~ established that accused, armed with a 
carbine, di4 voluntarily accompany Campbell and Hurst, both ot whom were 
also amed,, to the billet of, the deceased. He entered the billet behind 
Campbell. As soon as Campbell fired upon the deceased, accused inlmediatel.y 

-6-	 16122 
i 

http:deceased.or


(217) .... 

.tired with such accuracy as to strike. deceased in the head. 

The Manual expressly provides that malice is presumed .trom the 

use ot a deadly' weapon (MCM, 1928, par.ll2!,, p.llO; and see CY 2.37641, 

Brackins, 24 BR 71). Harever, this is a presumpt.ion of fact, not of 

law, ani the inference or malice to be drawn from the ueo of a deadly' .. 

weapon is obviously weaker in a case where a h'omicide is committed bT a 

coobat infantryman to whom the use or a carbine is cOllllOOnplace than it is 

where a homicide is canmitted in a settled, peaceful community where the 

very possession arxl use o! firearms is extraordinary. In any event, tha 


. use or a deadly weapon is only one piece or evidence })oaring upon the 
question or ma.lice and th~ presumption or inference arising from this 
tact may be rebutted by the other tacts and circunstances surrounding 
the homicide. In other words, it is a m::>re accurate state~nt of the rule . 
to say t~t malice, it it exists, is to be inferred from ill the facts 
and circunstances or the case, .ot which the method by which the homicide 
was committed is only one (United States v. ·King (c.c, EDNY, 1888), .34. 
F .302; 40 CJS, sec.25, p.874). The court resolved against accused the.· 
question whether his intoxication was of such degree as to deprive him 
ot the mental capacity to possess malice aforethought. This was a ques­
tion of tact within the peculiar province o! the court !or determination. 
Upon all the evidence tba court was warranted in .tinding that accll9ed1s 
intoxication at the time of the shooting was not o! such severity as to 
deprive him of his powers o! deliberation. Such finding is binding on 
the Bai.rd ot Review upon appellate review (CM ETO .3180, Porter; CM EI'O 39321 

IO.wed.al; CMETO 7815, Gutierrez). . 

8. The action ot the approving authority in :reducing the period o! 
confinement from life to ten years was appropriate under all the cii ­
cumstances and was legal (SPJGK, CM 241226, Gray, 26 B.R. 239, II Bull. 
JAG 379). While the eviderx:e is legally sufi'icient to sustain the find­
ings o! guilty or murder, the tacts and circumstances sUITounding accused's 
part in the homicide create a pattern closely resembling that found in 

·cases 	of voluntary manslaughter accompanied by extreme intoxication · 
{see CM ETO 9365, Merxloza). 

. 9. The charge sheet shows that accused is 43 years ot age arxl was 

irxlucted 26 September 1942. He had no prior service. 


~ 10. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction or the 

person ani too offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substant:ial 

rights or accused were committed during the trial. T~e Board of Review 

is of the opi.mon that the record of trial is legally s utficient to' 

support t~ findings of guilty ani the sentence. 


11. The penalty for murder ·is death or life i.nlprisoruoont as the 
court-martial may direct (AW 92). Coi:if.i,nema~t in a penitentiary is 
authorized upon conviction of .murder by Article of War 42 and sections -~ · 
Z'/5 arxl 330, Federal Criminal_ Code- (18 USCA 567). The designation of the -:-;-~ 
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United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, .as the place of 
confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.1!2,(4), 
J:e,}. 

-~ Judge Advocate. 

t/JiJut:M(:~ Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate ~/zig 
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Branch Office o:t The Judge Advocate General 
with the "' 

Ehropean Theater · 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REv!Eli NO. 3 21 SEP1945 
CM ETO 16123 

).UNITED STATES 75TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Ma.illy le Camp, France., 16, 

Private LF..STER CAMPBELL ) 17 July 1945. Sentence: 
(36589616), Company c, ) Dishonorable discharge, total 
275th Combat Engine·er ) forfeitures and confinement 
Battalion ) at hard labor for life. 

) United States Penitentiary, 
) Lewisburg,,.Pennsy'lvania. 

HOLDING by BOA.t:ID OF REI/Im NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and .DDVEY, Judge Advocates 


' 1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has ...... 
been examined by the J?oard of Review. 

2. Accused Campbell and accused Technician Fourth Grade Darl F. 
Barton of the same organization, were arraigned upon the following 
Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation or the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Technician 4th Grade Darl F. 
Barton, Company "C", 275th Combat Engineer Battalion, 
and Private Lester Campbell, Compan;y "C", 275th 
.Combat Engineer Battalion, acting jointly, and in 
pursuance of a comnon intent, did, at "Les Halles", 
Ste. Marie-aux-Mines, France, on or about 29 January 
194.5, 1l':i.th maUce aforethought, willfully, deliber­
ately, feloniously, unlawi'ully and with premeditation 
kUl one Ali Ben Mohmoud, a bu.man being, by the said 
Technician 4th Grade Darl F. Barton shooting him with 

. a carbine and the said. Private Lester Campbell 
shooting him w.1.th a pistol. 

A. motion or the defense for s8Terance was granted on behalf of Barton 
'Who ~ w.tthdrew and the court proceeded with the trial of Campbell (R5-6) • 

.. .... .. 
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Without objection by defense, the Charge and Specification were a~ended 
as follows: 

11CJ:IA..-q(}E: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Sp:! cification: In that Private Lester Campbell, 
Company 'C 1 , 275th Combat Engineer BattaJ.ion, did, 
at 11Les Hallos", Ste. Marie-aux-Mine~, France, 
on or about 29 January 1945, Yd.th malice afore­
thought, willfully, deliberately, feloniously, 
unlawfully and with premeditation kill one Ali Ben 
Mohmoud, a human being, by the said Private Lester 
Campbell shooting him with a pistol'' (R6) • 

He pleaded not gullty and; three-.fourt.~s of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of 
the Charge and Specification. Evidence was introduced of two previous 
convictions, one by special court-.nartial for willfully disobeying the 
lawful order of a non-commissioned officer and for speaking disrespect­
fully to a conmrl.ssioned officer in violation of Articles of War 65 and 
63 res.re ctively and one by simmary court for operating a motor vehicle 
at excessive speed and for wrongf'ully taking a govennnent vehicle for 
private use, both in violation of Article of War 96. Three-fourths 
of the members of the court present at the time the vote was ta.ken con­
curring, he was sentenced to be dishonors.bly discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be 
confined at hard labor, at such place as the- reviewing authority may 
direct, for the tem of hi·s natural life. The reviewing authority 
approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 50-}. 

3. Prosecution's evidence: 

On 29 January 1945, Company- c, 275th Engineer Combat Battalion, 
was bivouacked in the town of Ste. Marie-aux-Mines, France. The company 
ordArly room was in a cafe in the town (R52). At about 1800 hours 
accused armed with a pistol was seen to enter a nearby billet in l'lhich 
shortly thereafter was found t.'1-ie body of a French soldier who had 
recently been shot (R8-9, 53-54). 

In the investigation that followed innnediately, the ~'Arab" 
soldier was found to be dead. He was identified as Ali Ben Mohmoud 
(R9,10,39-40,64). An autopsy disclosed a .30 caliber bullet in the base 
of the skull and a 7.65 caliber bullet in the base or the spine (R39-40). 

Accused's confession to an agent or the Criminal Investigation 
Division, dated 3 February 1945, which was received in evidence CNer 
objection of the defense, describes how he spent the afternoon of 29 
January in this ca..fe drinking wine and conversing with other members 
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of the compa.ey-, including Technician Fourth Grade Darl F. Earton and 
Private First Class .Albert L. Hurst. A sergeant in the compazv called 
accused over to him at one time ani said, "Here's a job for you to 
take care or", proceeding then to relate a story told by the bar maid 
that she had been "raped the night before by an Arab ldth a black 
moustache"(R37-38; Pros.EJc.I). This narrative was repeated to others in 
the cafe ani "everyone talked a little aba11t it" (R53). Accused had 
seen "this J.rab in G.I. unifom in the cafe" and knew to 'WhO!ll they 
referred. The proprietor of the cafe ,ani his wife said they were 
afraid of this ."Arab soldier", because he had threatened them w.1. th a 
knife and had warned the bar maid that if she had anything to do with 
American soldi<rs he would c0me back·and ld.11 them (R37,38,,52,,')6,,58-59,, 
69; Pros.Ex:.I). Accused said he "wa.s going to see, this fellow about 
it" (R53). His condition at this time was variousl;r described as
"drunk" (R61), "didn't appear to be very drunk or drunk at all" (R56),, 
"had been c'.!1.nking" (R63-64), but he himself did not think he was in 
arv way intoxicated (R.38; Pros.Ex:.!). 

Between 1700 and 1800 hours accused asked Barton and Hurst 
to accompany- him. While the bar maid stood at the door of the care, 
the trio walked down the street a short distance to a doorway indicated 
by the bar maid's nod as the place where the "Arab" lived. As accused 
knocked at the door, Hurst asked what he was going to do. Accused said 
"that he was going to get this fellow or see him or something to that 
effect***"• Hurst lef't (R38,53J Pros.Ex.I)~ Tl'le succeeding events 
are described in accused's confession as followsa 

"I got no answer, so kicked on the door. At this 
time it was opened by the Arab with the handle-bar 
J11DUstache. I asked him if Bey' American soldiers 
slept here. He didn •t understand me so I made 
motions. I kept walld.ng into the hallway, the door 
on the left just inside the front door was open. I 
pushed him w.i.th m:r hand until we both entered his 
room***• 

I was standing very close to the Arab, at this time 
r·had m:rWalther pistol 'Which I carry in a shoulder 
holster but had removed it from the shoulder holster 
and placed it in m:r right field jacket pocket before 
I entered the building. The Arab either picked up a 
knife or had a lmi:f'e in his hand. I can't describe 
the knii'e. I shot the Arab some place in the 
stomach. He reeled about and f'ell to the noor. 
Shortly after Barton stePIB d to m:r left and pointed 

.his carbine toward the Arab on the fioor. Barton 
shot him again ldth the carbine. I saw the hole in 
his head where Bartcn shot" (R.37-38; Pros.Ex.I). 
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Accused and Barton then returned to the care 'Where accused reported 

to an officer of his compa.ey- that "he had to shoot some French 

soldier around there" (R63) and told Hurs"li that "he had shot this 

fell011' 11 (R5.5). 


4. For the defense, Prl.vate Raymond St. John of accused's 

company saw him at the cafe in the afternoon of 29 January 194.5 and 

observed that he ''was more drunk than anything else" (R68) • 


Second Lieutenant Ernest Gallowicz of accused's compaey 
testified regarding the good qualities of accused as a combat soldier 
(R69). 

The defense offered the autopsy report, which was received in 
evidence id. thout object ton (R80; Def.Ex.A) • · . , 

5. After his rights were explained (R73)1 accused testified 

and described events in connection with the shooting substantially" 

in accordance 'Wi.th his confession (R73-78). He emphasized that when 


·he 	started for deceased 1s billet, .he ·had no intention of killing 
him. He "just thought somthing should be done to ·him" (R77). 

6. All the elements of the crime of murder were shown beyond 

any reasonable doubt by substantial evidence. The court's findings 

of guilty were fully warranted ·(cu ETO 61.591 ·Lewi.a and authorities 

therein cited)~ Regarding the evidence in the light most favorable· 

to accused, the court was justified in concluding that he was not 

acting in self defense at the time he fired at deceased (CM ETO 1941, 

Battles; CM ETO 20071 Harris,. Jr.). It was immaterial whether the 

bUllat fired by accused or 'Whether the bullet fired by Barton caused 

the death of deceased.. Accused was legally responsible for the acts 

of Barton and himselt in their inexcusable attack (CM ETO 19221 

Forester). 


1. The charge sheet shows that accused.is 29 years of age and 
was inducted 25 llarch 191.i.1. . 

e. -The coo.rt was le~ constituted and had jurisdiction ot 
.the lB rson and offense. No errors injurious~ affecting the sub­
stantial rigbtsot accused were committed during the trial. 'lhe 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legal.l.y­
suf'.f'icient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence• 

9. The penalty tor mrder is death or life imprisonment as 

the court;..martial may direct (B' 92). Confinement in a penitentiary 

is authorized upon conviction 0£ mu.rder bT Article 0£ War 42 and . _ 

Sectiana 275 and 330, Federal C~m1naJ Code (16 UsgA 4~1 567). Ti. 
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designation of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confinement, is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, 
se~.II, pars.1£(4), 3£). ' 

~ Judge Advocate 

~~~ge Advocate .~,,i Judge Advocate 
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BRANCH OFFICE OF THE JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL 
with the 

European Theater ~·•gtmwc 
APO. SS7 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• l 

CY ETO 16149 

UNITED STATES 

v •. 

Private DAVID a. BMLEI 
(6933432),'Co~ G, 
l4lst In!antey . 

2 5 AUG .1945 

) 36TH .!NFANrBI DIVISION. 

I 

! 


Trial by GCM, convened at Geialingen, 

Germany, 19 July 1945. Sentence: Dishonor­

able discharge, total !ort'eitures and con­

finement at hard labor !or 10 years. Eastern 

Branch, United States Discipl.ina.r,r Barracks, 

Greenhaven, New York 


HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO.l 
BII!iRCJf1 STEVENS and 'CARROU.1 Judge Advocates ... 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been ex&.mined by. the ·no·ard of Review and found legall1 sufficient to sup­
port the sentence. 

2. The instr\lllent executed by the comp&ey' commander. (Pros .Ex.l) 
· was competent eTidence o:t absence without leave bedause it was "An o!ticial 

etaterent in writing * * * /iiade b:r an o:t.ticer wi/ * * * bad the duty to 
know the matter so stated and to record it" (YC1L, 1928, pa.r.117,!, p.121), but 
enm it it were to be eondidered ml an o:tficial~ statemnt, it was then, under 
the evidence, clearly' an ent.ry in the regular course o:r busi.ness ot the com­
pany and thus admissible under the principles set tort.h ip the KnoIT case (Cli1 
ETO 4691, Knorr). · The Knorr case has not been oveITuled ·(CI.: ETO 6107, Cottam 
aJxl Johnsoii;Ci ETO 7686, Maggie and LewCldowsld.). ~~ · · ~;e::; ,~ ~ judge Aduoc~te 

"t&.;;{. ~-Judi• ~dvocot•. 
l&PD 2...,119111c,o•u1co _,a,..., M x a rt ¥,: . jvdge ~dvocate 
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UNITED STATES 	 ) 75TH :rnFA.'frRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GC:.i, convened at 
) llourmelon le Grand, France., 24­

Private CHARLES E. INGREAM (20324274),) 26 July 1945. Sentences 
Company C, 54th Signal Battalion. ) Dishonorable discharge, total 

) forfeitures, and confinement 

~ at hard labor for life. United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

) Pennsylvania. · 

HOlDING by BOARD OF P.EVIEW N0.3 

SIEEFER,_ SHERilAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier nruned above has 
been examined by the Boa.rd of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following amended charges and specif­
icationsa 

CHARGE Ia Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification.Ia In.that Private First Class Charles 
E. Ingream, Company C, 54th Signal Battalion, 
did, acting in conjunction with Private First 
Class Henry L. Ahrens, Company C, 54th Signal 
Battalion, at' La Cave, Oeuilly, Marne, France, 
on or about 6 June 1945, wrongfully commit an 
assault upon Gaston Roulot by pointing a pistol 
at him. 

Specification 2ain that * * * did, acting in con­
junction with Private First Class Henry L. 
Ahrens, Company C, 54th Signal Battalion, at 
La Cave, Oeuilly, l.:arne, France, on or about 
6 June 1945, wrongfully conun.it an assault 
upon !~. Albert Masson by pointing a pistol at 
him. 

-1­
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CH.AR.GE II: Violation of the 96th Article of -,for 
(Finding of not guilty) 

Specification: (Finding of not guilty) 

CH.AR.GE III: Violation of the 92d Article of War 

Specification 1: In that * * *• did, acting in 
conjunction with Private First Class Henry 
L. Ah~ens, Company C, 54th Signal Battalion, 
at La Cave, Oeuilly, Marne, France, on about 
6 June 1945, forcibly ar..d feloniously, 
against her will, ha'.'"e carnal knowledge of 

':Mlle. Lucienne .Roule'.,. 	to wit 1 while. the 
said Private First Cl!l.ss Charles E. Ingream 
had the carnal knrnvledge as aforesaid, the 
said Private First Class Henry L. Ahrens 
stood guard over the other ~embers of the 
household then present. 

Specification 21 In that • * •, did, acting 
in conjunction with Private First Class 
Henry L. Ahrens, Company c, 54th Signal 
Battalion, at La Cave, Oeuilly, l>iarne, 
France, on about 6 June 1945, forcibly 
and feloniously, ~ga.inst her will, have 
carnal knowledge of Mme. Germaine Masson, 
to wit, vhile the said Private First Class 
Henry L. Ahrens had the carnal knowlea ge 
as aforesaid, the said Private First Class 
Charles E. Ingream stood guard over the 
other members ·of the household then present. 

At the arra.igmnent, defense counsel stated that on "the advice of counsel, 
the accused, Private Ingream, stands mute before the court". The court 
thereupon entered a plea of not guilty on his behalf. He was found not 
guilty of Charge II and its specification and guilty of the remaining 
charges and specifications. Evidence was introduced of one previous 
conviction by summary court for absence without leave for 2 days in viol­
ation of Article of War 61. Three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at.the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be 
dishonorably discharge~ the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at such place a.a the 
reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. The 
reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution may be summarized as followsa 

At about 0300 hours on the morning of 6 June 1945, the family 
of M. Gaston Roulet was awakened by a knocking and kicking on the door of 
their home in the small village of La Cave, France (R29,30,36,50,59). 
Present in the house at the time in adcition to M. Roulot, were Mme. 
Georgette Roulot, his wife, :Mme ~ermaine Masson and M. Albert Masson, his 
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daughter and son-in-law,respectively, Lucienne Roulot, a younger 
daughter 17 years of age, and an infant daughter, then on_ly two days 
old, na:med Clodine. The house'was a small one and had only two 
µpstairs bedrooms, which were separated by a small hall or landing. 
Due to the fact that his wife had recently given birth to Clodine, 
M. Roulot was sleeping in one of the rooms on ·the. ground floor. The 
larger of the upstairs bedrooms was occupied by hi-a wife, his · 
younger daughter Lucienne and the infant daughter while the other 
bedroom was occupied by M. and Mme. Masson (R31,40,42,51,52)~ · 

Upon hearing the· noise at the door, M. Roulot arose and, although 
he at first hesitated to open the door because of the condition of 

his wife, he ultimately d~d so when a shot was fi~ed outside and the 
knocking and kicking continued (R30,34). An .American soldier later 
identified as the accused, accompaniec by a larger American soldier, 
then entered the house. Both were drunk and both ware armed with 
pistols (R30,36,43). After the men entered, the larger soldier 
threatened M. Roulot with his pistol and forced him to go upstairs 
(R30,31,59). Accused and his companion followed and, upon reaching 
the first· floor, herded all the occupants of the house into the larger 
of the two bedrooms (R51,52,58,60). An argument then ensued between 
the two men and M. Roulet which ended when the larger soldier said 
"I take Madame" (R31). With this, he forced Mme. Masson 1'under the 
menace of his revolver" to accompany him into the smaller of the two 
bedrooms (R41,52,67). In the meantime, accused remained in the larger 
bedroom. with the remaining occupants of the house, where according to 
M. Masson, he "played" with his pistol and "directed it at us to keep 
us from leaving" (R47,58). · 

Mme. Masson testifie:-l that when she entered the bedroom with the 
larger soldier he pushe~ her violently on a bed, pushed her back down 
when she attempted to arise, got on top of her immediately after he 
pushed her the second time, and had sexual intercourse with her (RGO, 
63). She attempted to push him from her but was unable to do 110 
because of his superior strength ·and because, "being in the family way, 
I have not my movements free as I would like, and I was still under the 
menace of his revolver" (R60,63). When he finished he permitted Mme. 
Masson to return to the other bedroom (R60)~ M. Roulot testified that 
when she crune into this room she was "very nervous, excited and she . 
was weeping - a pitiful state" (R42). A me!Hcal examination of this 
prosecutrix by a French a·octor later that morning was inconclusive since 
"four hours after sexual relation of a woman who has ha.a children before 
and who is awaiting with child, it was impossible to declare if she had 
sexual relation" (R27). However,, she exhibite~ nervousness, anxiety 
and fear at the ti.me of the examinai!ion (R27). · 

The evidence for the prosecution further shows that after the 
accuse~ 1 s companion and Mme. lv'!:asson returned to the large bedroom, accused 
forced Lucienne to accompany him into the other bedroom by placing "hie 
revolver in nrJ neck11 

, while his companion remained in the small bed~oom. 
with the other occupants of the house "holding us under the control of 
hh Itstol" (R60 ,68). After being taken into the bedroom, Lucienne wanted 
to leave but accused "didn 1 t want me to and he always had a revolver".· 
He then laid on the bed with her~ and had intercourse with·her, ..a.th 
the revolver lying on the bed "just alongside" (R67-69). She was .1 G~h 
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crying continuously and her uninterrupted 1'9eping, together with the 

acts of' the accused, caused her to vomit (R67). The other members of' 

the family heard her ceying a.nd her father heard her ca.11 for a con­

tainer into l'lhioh she could throw up (R32,33,57). According to 

wcienne, this was the first time she had intercourse but, although 

unfamiliar with the ·sexual act, she was certain that accused effected 

penetration (R69-7l). Some time later, she returned to the other bed­

room with the accused. Y. Masson testified tha.t· at this tillle she was 

crying and s a.id , "Oh, he hurted me, he hurted me 11 (R57) • • 1'1.en Lue ienne 

we.a given a mer'!ica.l examination later that morning, she was nervous and 

excited. It· .was determined tha.t there was some swelling of the vagina 

and that the hymen was not intact. The examining physician wa.s unable 

to state with certainty whether or not the hymen had been torn within the 

previous six hours (R28,29). 


After Lucienne and accused returned· to the larger bedroom, 

certain further activities not necessary to relate here took place 

after which, a.t a.bout da.ybrea.k, the two men forced the members or the 

househoid to return to their respective rooms. Accused's companion 

then went downstairs while accused remained on the stair landing with 

his revol~er in his ha.nd to see that the Roulot family remained in the 

rooms into which.they had been directed to go. Shortly thereafter the 

sound of a. motor was heard, accused's companion called to him, and both 

men left the house (R54,56,62,68). 


An enlisted man, who was on guard at accused's organization on 

the morning of 6 June 1945,testified that at about 0500 or 0530 hours 

accused e.nd "another fellow • * • Ahrens" drove into camp in a three­

qua.rter ton truck. He noticed that both of them were "pretty drunk". 

e.nd a.dvise<l them to go into the camp and go to bed (R75). On cross• 

examination, the witness testified that accused was still "1retty 

groggy" later in the day. He also testified that he had known the . 

accused for six or seven months and that he bore an excellent reputation 

in the company (R76). 


4. For the defense, M. Colnet, a resident of the village of La 

Cave who had known M. Roulot enn his family for about 30 years, testified 

that the reputation of Lucienne Roulot in the community both for truth 

and veracity and for chastity was bad. He stated that he had once come 

upon her and a German soldier under circumstances indicating that they 

had just "made love" ·and that~ during the occupation, she was seen with 

Germen soldiers "every day" (R79-81). On cross-examination, it wa.s 

developed that the relations between the Roulot family and the witness 

had not been friendly for some time (R82). Another resident of La 

Cave, Mme. Laura .Beaudoin, who had known the Roulot family for about 

eight months, also testified that the reputation of Lucienne Roulot in · 

the comm.unity both for truth and veracity and for chastity was "very bad". 

At lee.st one basis for her unenviable reputation was her reputed pro- . 

pensity for "going with German soldiers in the vicinity of the raiJ.rioad 

bridge" (R85). 
 4' 
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Technician Fifth Grade Frank Abbott testified that on the evening of 
5 June, he, a Sergeant Brien, a Corporal Pfeffer, Ahrens and the 
accused left their camp at about 2030 hours and went to a house in a 
nearby village where they purchased and drank five quarts. of wine, 
a quart of oognao and a quart of calvados. He left the party at 
about.2300 hours because he was "afraid the boys were drinking too 
milch" (R86,87). He stated that accused was a ":very good" soldier 
and bore a "very good" reputation in the company .(R88) 

Pfeffer confirmed Abbott's testimony and added that-two 
bottles of wine were consumed that evening prior to leaving camp 
in addition to that consumed later so that all together the group 
had drunk seven bottles of wine, one bottle of cognac and one bottle 
of calvados ~the evening in question· (R89,91 1 92). Ahrens e.nd 
accused drank more heavily than the rest of the men (R89). The 
witness, Brien, Ahrens and ~ccused left the house where they drank 
the wine at about 2300 hours and got into a truck to return to camp. 
At this time, accused was staggering and was very drunk, so much so 
that, he fell on the floor boards of the rear of the truck e,'.rter 
climbing o'ver the tail gate and had to be picked up and plac'ed on 
the seat. Ahrens, who was driving, also was very drunk, but the 
group got back to camp at about 2345 hours without accident (R89,90). 
Accused had always been an excellent soldier and bore an excellent 
reputation in the company (R90). 

Brien testified similarly and in &.ddition stated that when he 
saw accused about noon on 6 June the latter looked "like a man who had 
been on a terrible drunk and had not gotten over it yet" (R93,94). He 
also testified to accused's excellent reputation and his excellence as 
a soldier (R94,95) 

There also was testimony by two non-commissioned officers 
of accused 1 s company and stipulated testiJaony by his company commander 
that accused had performed his duties in an e.xcellent manner and bore 
en excellent reputation as a soldier (Rl04, 106,108). 

Ahrens testified that he, accused end others drank wine at 
their billet on the evening of 5 June and later went to a nearby 
village where they continued to. drink. He had "no idea" when they 
left the village, nor did he know what happened after they left. He 
had a ~istol with him on the night in question but accused was.not 
armed {R95-97).' . · 

Accused, after being advised of his rights as a witness, 
eleoted to testify on his own behalf. He also test'ified as to the 
drinking which took place on the evening of 5 June end stated that 
during th.e course of the evening "things started to get a little huy• 
(Rlll). He remembered leaving the house in the village and his next 
recollection was of getting up the following morning and drinking a 
cup of coffee (Rll2,ll6). lib.en asked whether he believed that the 
events described by the witnesses who testified at the trial had taken 
place, he replied,. "Well, Sir, it might have happened, and it might.not 
have happened" (Rll6). · 
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5. The testimony of the prosecuting witnesses shows that Ahrens 

had carnal· knowledge of Mme Germaine Masson and that accused had 

carnal knowledge of Mlle. M.l9ienne Roulot under circumstances clearly 

constituting such carnal knowledge rape. Their-testimony was 

corroborated as to surrounding circumstances by that of the other 

members of the family, and in effect was not controvered by accused. 

There also was· testimony showing that accused pointed a revolver at 

M. Roulot and M. Masson while Ahrens was in the bedroom with Mzue. 

Masson and at verious other times during the course of the evening. 

Hence, there is abundant evidence to support·the court's finding that 

accused raped Lucienne Roulot, aided and a.betted Ahrens in his rape of 

Mme Masson,_ for which he may properly be held guilty as a principal, 

and also committed the assaults alleged (CM ETO 15619, Capps and Erikson; 

CM ETO 9083, Berger and Bamford; CM ETO 3740, Sanders; MCM, 1928, par • 


. 1491 	p.177,178). The fact: that Lucienne Roulot may have had a bad 
reputation for chastity went only to the iss-ue of consent, . There was 
ample evidence from which the court could find that she did not consent 
in the instant case end the mere fact that she may have been freviously 
unchaste does not constitute a defense. Even a prostitute has the right 
to preserve the sanctity of her_person when she so elects (CM ETO 4589, 
Powell et al;cf. CM ETO 14875, Swain). 'lfuether or not accused was too 
drunk to he responsible for his--actS was essentially a question of fact 
for the court. In this connectioo, it will be· noted that all the actions 
of the accused while at the Roulot home.. evidenced an awareness of his 
surroundings and an· ability consciously to achieve the pnrpose for which 
he and Ahrens obviously entered. This being true, the court did not 
abuse its discretion in resolving the question whether he was responsible 
for his acts adversely to the accused (CM ETO 6207, Carter; CM ETO 4303, 
Houston). It is concluded that the evidence not only substantially but 
compellingly supports the findings oft he court. 

Certain.questions both of proce~ure and substance were raised 
· by defense· counsel at the trial. These questions as well as certain 

other questions raised by the record.are ably discussed in the review of 
the staff judge advocate of the reviewing authority and have received 
careful cons.ideration here. It is sufficient to say with respect there­
to that, after consideration of the questions presented, the Board has 
concluded that no errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights of 
the accused within the meaning of Article of War 37 were committed during 
the trial. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is :35 yea.rs eleven months. 
of age and was inducted_ ·3 February .1941 at Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. No 
prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 

person end offense. No errors injurio~sly affecting the substantial 


-rights 	0£ accused were committed during the tri4. The Boa.rd 0£ Review 

is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 

support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 
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8. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the court• 
martial may direct (Article of War 92). Confinement in a pertitentiary 
.is authorized upon conviction of ra~e by Article of War 42 ane sections 
278 and 330, Federal Criminal Code l 18 USCA 457, 567). · The .designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place 
of confinement, is proper (Cir. 229, W, 8 June 1944, sec. II, pars. lb 
(4), 3}~)· ­
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UNITED S T A T E S ) 

v. 

Private WILLIE ROLLINS 
(34227608), 4406th 
Quartermaster Service 
Company, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) ' 
) 
) 

~ 


5 OGT 1945 

OISE INTERMEDIATE SEC1'ION, 
THEATER SERVICE F OHCES, 
EUROPEAN THEATER 

Trial by GCM, convened at.Dijon, 

France, 13 July 1945. 

Sentence: Dishonorable dis­

charge, total forfeitures and 

confinement at hard labor for 

life. United States Penit ­

entiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 


l 

HOLDING by BOARD OP REVIE\V NO. 5 

HILL, JULIAN and BURl'S, Judge A:ivoca.tes 


l. The record of trial in the· case of the soldier 
named above has been examined by the Board of Review. . . . 

2. Accused was trie:i upon the following Charge
and Specification: · 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Willie Rollins, 
4406th Quartermaster Service Company, :ii:i, 
at Val D1Ajol (Vosges), J?rance, on or about 
2 Kay 1946, with malice afore thought, will ­
fully, :ieliberately, feloniously, unlawfully,
an:i with pre me di ts.tion kill one 11adame . 
Jeanne Schmith (French Civilian), a human 
being by striking her on the hea:i with a .45 
calibre automatic pistol. 

He pleaded not guilty and two-thirds of the members of 
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the court present at the time the vote was taken con­
·curring, was founj guilty of the Charee and Specification. 
Evi5ence was introduced of one previous conviction by 
special court-martial for absence with out leave for 3 
oays in violation of Article of War 61. Three-fourths 
of the members of the court present at the time the vote 
was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dis honorably
d.ischarsed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
d.ue or to become d.ue, and. to be confined at ha.rd. labor, 
at such place as the :reviewing authority may d.irect for 
the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority
approved the sentence, designated the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement and. forwarded the record of trial for action 
pur.suant to Article of War 5cr}. 

3. Evidence for the prosecution shows that on the 
evening of 2 May 1945 about six o 1 clock accused and 
Private Samuel Phillips, both colored s ol:iiers an:i members 
of the 4406th Quartermaster Service Company were in 
their quarters at Epina.l, F'rance, with two French women, 
Jeannette Schmith an:i Germaine Tisserand (RS,20,40). 
They decided to take the women to a cafe and then home. 
Private Solomon Simmons came in tbe quarters an:i 
agreed to drive the group in a weapons carrier. They
commenced the journey and, on arriving at,a town, stopped
an:i obtained a drink at a cafe and then ::l!·ove on to 
another town where they again stopped and where accused 
and Phillips each purchase:i a bottle of cognac (R40, 41). 
They returned to the truck, and the party continued on 
toward Val D1Ajol, drinking from the bottle from time 
to time (R36,4l). As they passed Remiremont accused 
fired his gun out the side of the vehicle into the 
wood (R32,35). On reaching Val D'Ajol, they stopped at 
the house of Germaine Marinoni as they wanted a place to 
sleep. She was not able to acconn:nodate them but agreed 
to take them to a place where they might stay; Ai''ter 
they had a couple of drinks, they went out and entered 
the weapons carrier, Germaine Marinoni in front with 
Simmons, Germaine Tisserand and Phillipa in the rear on 
the left side, anj Jeaxmtte Schmith and accused in the 
rear on the right side (Rl9,20,32,4l). They proceeded 
on their way, but after travelling a very short distance 
stopped at Mlle. T1aseran:i's home so t.hat·sbe could. 
secure some more clothes as she was cold. While they 
were wait1ng, accused. po1nt~.d his gun at Sd.mmon 1 s back 
and said, "Take me to the camp, take me right now" 
(Rl4,41,42). Simmons started the truck whereupon 
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Jeannette Schmith said "I.et me go" an:i trie:J. to climb 
into the front seat (R20). Accused "tore on her clothes 
to set her in the back of the car" an:J. then struck her 
heavily two to five times on the head with the gun 
which then "went off 11 (Rl4,20,22). Jeannette Schmith. 
fell on her back (R49). Sinnnons imme:J.lately said 11 1~an, 
you shot this i;t rl 11 (R4l). Phillips, who ha::i been r 

looking out the back of the truck, turned around, struck 
a match an::i saw that she ha:i a hole in her head larger 
than a dime. It was bloody. Someone suggested tbey 
take her to a hospital (R4l,49). They thereupon started 
for the 23rd Station Eos~tal at Epinal arriving about 
two a .m. after a 45 minute trip. Here accused took 
Jeannette Schmith out of the truck, and Simmons .and 
Phillips returned to their billets (Rl5,50). On tbe way 
to the hospital she could not sit up an:i kept sli:J.ing 
off. She was placed on the seat next to the driver but 
she slippe:i off to the floor. When they arrive::l at the· 
hospital she was on the floor of the truck with her head. 
on the seat. Accuse:J. remarked, "You.know, we got a 
:J.ea:i man in this wagon" (R45). A pool of blood was foun:i 
on the right front corner inside the bed of the vehicle 
the :lay after she was taken· to the hospital (R25). 

At 0800 hours 3 May, Pierre La Flotte, surgeon 

of the hospital in Epinal, examined a Jeanne Schmith, 

who was in a coma. She had lost consciousness from a 

wound in her head, part of her brains "were coming out", 

and she was paralyzed on the whole riBht si:ie. Dr. 

La Flotte saw her twice a :iay until she :iie:i abcut 11 

1Iay as a result of the destruction of the greater part 


. of her brain (R9). 

James P. Quinn, Jr., en:> Agent, went to the 

St. l•Iorltz Hospital, a civilian hospital in Epinal, on 

5 May, after having talked to Dr. La I<'lotte and asked 

to see lia:i~ Schmith (R37). He was taken to a w::>man 

lying in bed with her hea:i bandaged, who was unable to 

talk, or giv~ any sigi of comprehen:J.ing questions put 

to her. lie was shown a French ident 1fic ation card which 

hospital personnel represented had been found on her 

person?hen she came to the hospital. The card bore the 

name Jeannette Chalon Schmith and a photograph, vbich was 

~perfect likeness of the woman in the bed (R37,:38). 


The accused drank repeatedly ::'luring the evening, 
stumbled on the stairs as he left Germaine Marinoni's 
house, and talked loudly. The women pre sent stated he was 

. ' 
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drunk (R21,34,36). Sinhlions and Phillips testified that 
accused was not drunk but not whol'ly sober (R44,51). 

4. Accused,· after being fully advised .of ~is 
rights· as a witness; elected to remain silent. . 1 

I' 

5. The. first element of the' .corpus 'delicti in · ' · 1 

\:.lomicide cases is proof tbat the ,person alleged to have 
,.been murdered is dead. It is not essential that this 
be done by :iirect and positive. evidence. 

"Like any other fact the subject of ju:iicial 
investigation, the corfills delicti may be 
proved by evidence whic is probable and 
presumptive, -- that ts, circumstantial, - ­
as well as by direct evidence, if satis- . 
factory to the understanding and conscience 
of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt; but 
such evidence, wbere· relied· upon, nrust be 
strong and cogent, and leave no room for a 

. reasonable doubt" (l Wharton's Criminal Law 
(12th Ed., 1932), sec. 352, p.456). 

' ., 
The accused is charged with the murder of Madame Jeanne 
Schmith. The evidence introduced showed.that at 0800 
hours 3 May, a Mme~ Jeanne Schmith was examined by Dr. 
La Flotte, sUl'geon of the hospital in Epinal, and 
found. to have a wound in her head an:i "part of her 
brains coming out" and that she O.ie:i about ll May due 
to her brain injury. Further, it was proved that on · 
the evening of 2 May accused struck Jeannette Schmith 
on ·the heaO. several times with his gun which went off. and 
that she was taken to the 23rd Station.Ha~pital in 
Epinal about 0200 hours 3 May. On 4 May Quinn, a CID 
agent saw Dr. La Flotte. The following day Quinn went 
ta the Hospital St. Mor:!.tz and upon asking to see 
Ma::lame Schmith, was taken to a warO. and shown a woman 
whose head·was banp.aged and. who was unable to talk. At 
the same time he was shown an ijentificatian card which 
it was asserted by the P,~spital atten:iants was foun:i · 
among the effects of this woman when admitted to the 
hospital. The testimony of the agent that he was thus 
1nfonned. that the card was found on the person a:t the 
woman when she was brrught to the hospital was simply . 
he~rsay and ahoul:i be disregarded (Hopt v. People 110 . 
US. 574, 28L. Ed .262) • However,. the card. bore the name 
Qf Jeannette Charlon Schmith an:J. a photograph which was 
a perfect resemblance or the patient whose head was 
bandag_ed •. The testimony of the agent as to tm · 
resemblanoe of tbe picture to the 1njure:i woman was, at 
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course, relevant an:i competent evijence. The fact that 
the car:i was presente:i to the agent in the san:e hospital
where he foun5 the woman who resemblej the picture on 
the ijentification card was evidence that permitte:i the 
court to infer that the carj belongej to the woman. 
This fact leads to the conclusion that .the injured. woman 
was Jeannette Chalon Schmith. 

That the woruan Quinn saw in the civilian hospital 
on 5 Niay wa~ the same person who was struck on the head 
by accused on the night of 2 1'.Iay is- ~i:ie:i by the 
presumption that identity of names carries a presumption 
of .identity of person· (MCM, 1928, par .ll2a, -p .110). This 
presumption is strengthened by the fact that the woman 
in the hospital had her head bandaged and was unable to 
talk, the normal result of a· serious injury to the head.. 
The evidence shows that the victim of accused's assault 
was taken to a 1 military hospital in Epinal about 0200 . 
hours, 3 May, and that tb.e woman seen by Quinn was in a 
civilian hospital in the same town. The reasonable 
inference is that being a French civilian she was trana­
fe-rred there rather than being kept in the United States 

-- ·- Arnly Hospital. Dr. La Flotte testified that Jeanne 
Schmith died as a result ·of head injuries. The only , 
reasonable inference is that-Jeanne Schmith and Jeannette 
Schmith w.ere one and the same person. The time", 
place, and type of injuries found by the Doctor on 
his examination of Jeanne Schmith exclu:ies any fair and · 
reasonable hypothesis except that this woman, who died : 
shortly thereafter, was the one struck by the accused. 
~he court ha:i sufficient evidence before it to determine 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the woman alleged to 
have been murdered did in fact :lie and that she was the 
person whom accuse:i killed. 

6. · Mur:ier is the killing of_ a human being with 
malice aforethought an:i without lesal Justification or 
excuse (1fCM, 1928, par .148a, p .162). 

""An uninten:ied homicide, colllIUitted by one 
who at the time is engaged in the connuission 
of some other felony, is mur:ier both at 
comm.on law and under the- statutes * * * * 
However, the homicide must be an ordinary 
and probable effect of the felony in which 
he is engaged • * * *" (29 C .J. Sec.70,p.1097) 

"* * * * It must appear that there was such 
actual legal relation between the killing and. 
the crime committed or attempted, that tb.e 
killing can be said to have occurred as a 
part of the perpetration Of' the crime or 1n' 
furtherance of an attempt or purpose to 
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commit 1t. ·· In the usual terse legal
phraseology, death must have been the 
probable consequence or the unlawful act" 

. (13 R .IJ .t. Sec .148, p .845) ' 

. The Manual for Courts :Mart~al 1n de:t'ining murder 
bas adopted the foregoing principle:· 

11Malice aforethought may exist when the act 
is unpremeditated. It may mean any· one or ·. 
more of .. ~he :following: states of mind 
preceding or coexisting with the act or 
omission by which death is caused: * * * * * 
intent to commit a felony" (MCM, 1928, par.
l48a, pp 163,164) {Underscoring supplied). 

(Cf' CM E'TO 559 Monsalve; ·cM ETO 1453, Fowlar; CM ETO 49.m, 
Robbims. See also CM ETO 3614 Davis where it was held 
that death unintentionally resU1t1ng from a mere assault 
is manslaughter, because an assault is not a felony). 

The definition of the word "felony" as used in 
the Manual for Courts Ioiartial must be sought in federal 
law (CM 202359, Turner, SBR 87·,91) ·: . 

11Under the laws of the United States the 
:following crimes are felonies: Those declared 
expressly or impliedly by statute to be such, 
those punished under their comn1on law name 

_an:i which are felonies at common law, and 
those made a felony by a state law which are 
adopted by congress, United States v. Copper­
smith, iF. 198. Felonies are defined as 
follows bu fe5eral statute: 

!All offenses which may be punished by
death, or iruprisonment-:t'or a term 
exceeding one year shall be deemed 
felonies:. Sec. 335, Federal Penal Code, 'l 

USC 18: 541' n (CM 202359, Turner, supra) 

The crime of assault with intent to do bo:iilp: 
harm with a dangerous weapon, instrument or thing is 
denounced by the 92nd Article of War and Sec. 276, Federa 
Criminal Code (18 USCA 458). By the latter statute the 
maximum punishment of a fine of $1000.00 or imprisonment
of not more than five years, or both, is prescribed. 
The offense is therefore a :felony under the Federal law. 
(Cf: Hickey v. United States {CCA, 9th 1909) 168 'F.536) 

In the instant case the evidence is clear and 
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decisive that accused beat the deceased on the head 

with his loaded gwi during which action 1t was 

discharged and a bullet entered the deceased's head. 

causing her death. 


"Weapons * * * * are tlangerous when tb.dy 
are used in such manner as they are likely 
to produce death or great bodily harm" 
(NCiil, 1928, par. l49m, p.180). 

The gun was used.as a club and it was likely to produce
death or great bodily harm. As thus used and applied
it.was manifestly a dangerous instrument (CM ETO 3366, 
Kennedy). Accused was in the commission of .a felony 
at the time the gun was discharged. The homicide was 

·therefore clearly· murder under the authorities above 
cited. 

7. There was evidence presented that accused.had 
been drinking considerably during the evening, and he 
was described as drunk by two members of the party.
However, two other persons present testified he was not 
drnnk, al though he was not qµi te sober. Further 
evidence sh.owed that he was able to get in and out of 
the truck several times during the evening, talk 
articulately, and on arrival at the hospital he carried 
deceased Off the truck. The question whether accused 
was too intoxicated to have entertained the requisite
malice to constitute the homicide murder instead of 
manslaughter was one of fact for the determination of 
the court and in view of the evidence, its findings
will not be disturbed by the Board of Review (Cl! ETO 
l 901 M:iran::la; CM El'O 6265 Thurman et al) • 

8. The charge sheet shows that accused is 37 years
and 11 months of age and was inducted 30 July 1942 at 
Fort Benning, Georgia. He had no ·prior service. 

· 9. The court was legally constituted and had 
jurisdiction of the person' and the offense. No errors 
injuriously affecting the substantial rights of accused 
were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion .that the record of trial is legally
sufficient to. support the findings of guilty and the 
sentence. 

10. · The· penalty for ·murder 1s death or life 

imprisonment as the court-martial may direct (AW 92). 

Confinement in a penitentiary is authoriz~l upon 
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conviction of murder bi Article of War 42 snd.~ections 
275 and 330, Federal Cr1m1n~l Code (18 USCA 454, 567).
The designation or the United States Penitentiary,
Lewisburg, Pernsylvania, ·as the place of confinementr 
is proper {Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec. II, pars.
l:2_ (4), 3£). -- . 
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-
Branch Ottice of The Judge Advocate General 

_with the . ­
European Theater 

_ APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO 3 10 OGT 1945 

CK ET0-16188 


. UNI-TED ST .A.TE S · ) OISE INTERMEDIATE SECTION, 
) 	 COMMUNICATIONS ZONE, UNITED STATES 

v 	 ) FORCES, EUROPEAN THE.4\TER . ­

- Pri~ate OSIE T BROWN · ' ) 
) 

Trail by GCM, convened. at Reims, 
(36253669), 3777th ) France 12 July 1945. Sentences 
Quartermaster Truck ) Dishonorable discharge, total 
Company ) forfeitures, and co.nf'inement at 

) 	 hard labor for life. United. 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg,
Pennsylvania 

(\ . ,· / 
"' t •1 HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW N0.3- -)·~·-- ­

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates I 1 i 
I r 

'l. ·The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
abpve has been examined by the Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and 
Specification a· 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of WaP. 

Specification: In that Private, then Sergeant,
Osie T. Brown, 3777th Quartermaster Truck Company,
did, at Reims, France, on or about 19 April 1945, 
with malice aforethought, willfully, deliberately,
feloniously, unlawfully, and with premeditation · 
kill.one, Private Bert J Moyer, a human being by
shooting him wlth· a Carbine. 

1 
·­

He pleaded not guilty to, and was found guilty or, the 
Specification and the Charge. No ev:idence ·of previous
convictions was introduced. Three iourths of the members of 
the court present at the time the vote was taken concurring,
he was sentenced to be.dishonorable discharged the service, to 
forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due and to be 
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confined at hard laborfor the term ~f his natural life. 
The reviewing authority· approved the sentence, designated
the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania as 
the place of confine~ent, and f orwerded the record of trial 
for action pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 50t. 

, ' ~ :i:f 
~~, . 

. 3... The evidence o.f the prosecution shows that, at about 
2300 hours 19 April 1945, deceased and two other ~oldiers 
while guests at a paratroopers' dance at the Printinia Club, 
Reims, France, walked across the club courtyard to a corridor 
affording access to the courtyard from the street, and there 
encountered accused, a colored sergeantwho was at that moment 
ente~ing the courtyard (R7,11,17, Pros. Ex •. A). Deceased 
told acctlsed, "This is a private party, leave", precipitating· 
a short argument, during the course of which one of deceased's 
companions undertook to persuade accused to depart, and had 
actually succeeded in getting him into the corridor when 
accused told deceased to "Come on out, I'll fight you", where­
upon deceased stepped up to accused and struck him a "pretty
har.d blow"· on the chin, knocking off hj.s helmet liner (R7,
12-1):,15,17-18, 20-21). Accused "went back against the side 
of the wall and*** part~way down and then·he ran out (13).
The others followed him down the corridor to the street 
entrance. When they reached it, he wµs gone (R7,16,18).
One of them returned to the club (Rl8). The other - Private 
Wilson - remained with accused outside the entrance where 
they were joined in a very few minutes by a paratrooper, who 
had hardly &rrived when accused was- seen app+oaching at a 
Hfast trot" about 100 feet away, carrying a carbine and accom- · 
panied by a Polish "MP"-- "one of those forej.gn soldiers we 
use for guard duty" (R8,24 7 31). The three at the entrance 
ran backinto the corridor where the paratrooper hid behind the 

str~t. door, while the other two continued toward the ~ourtyardt
where Wilson took refuge in a latrine, ~ust as accused firea 
into tpe corridor and deceased cried out, "I'm l'].it" (RS,25,31).
Immediately thereafter he was found in the. courtyard near th~ 
entrance to the corridor with a gunshot wound in his stomach, 
from, the effects of which he died 18 d~ys later (RB,35,38,
44; Pros.Ex. H). A few minutes after. the shooting, accused 
was ap··11 ~hendedon the street near the entrance to the corridor, 
while pointing his carbine st ~he paratroo~er whom he had . 
discovered behind the door (R10,25,31). He wes then demanding 
an officer and readily surrendered his carbine when two officers 
approached (Rl9,33,39,41). The following day, after due 
warning, accused.made a voluntary statement to a CID agent,
reciting that while returning from delivering supplies in 

· Reims, 
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"I stopped my truck when ..L got to our maintenance 
shop which is :::across the street from a dance 
hall and care that our boys go to * * * I was 
going in~o the dance hall to see if any of our 
men were therefor "'they quite often would stop
there on the way home. I left my truck running
and walked into the hallway or the dance hall ­
the door being open. I went to the end of the 
hallway to another door and there was a group
of troopers waiting ther'e drinking and talking 
rather loud * * * the troopers as!.ed me where 
I was going. I said I had come to see if any 

or my men were in the dance so that.I could 

take them home. They said this is a privat~ 

dance and there are no niggers.here tonight.

I said OK, hunched my shoulders and tunned · 

around or started to when I was struck in the 

mouth by one of the group. I started to fall 


. down when I was hit a glancing blow on the back 
of my helmet liner witrr a champagne bottle * * * 
I.went down at leest partially and my liner was 
lmoclred off. I got up swinging for dear life 
trying the best I could to defend myself. Some­
body yelled 'kill him' a.few times and 'kill that 
nigger' while another sa~d 'Why don't you stop
beating that poor Joe - - you'f'e drunk, stop it
* * * Then I started to run and I got outside 
the hallway gate into the street and they caught 
me again. We started fighting again and then 
I broke away again and ran across the street. 
I ran up to our maintenance shop to the Polish 
guard j_n front of it. l tried to get him to 
come and help me and he didn't understand me. 
So I beckoned to hia and pointed to him and with 
gestures· and tugs· I got him to walk down with me • 
.About halfway * * * I asked for the gun but he 

·didn't understand, me., It was slung over his 
arm so I just slipped it off h~s arm and we both 
crossed the street together. We went to the door 
of the hallway of the dance h&ll and the crowd 
of soldiers there dispersed. Before I knew what 
happened I pull~d the trigger. I didn't aim at 
anybody. I just tried to scare the mob there 

out of the way so I could make it to my truck 
which was across the street between the dance 
hall and the shop, on the dance hall 
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side of the street. I pointed my gun at the 
mob of soldiers there who were coming for me. 
Then with the gun pointed at themI backed' 
away with the guard beside me. I then asked 
the soldiers to see one of the officers. Two 
officers appeared and I handed the gun to one 
of the officers. The gun was"a carbine and I 
knew it was automatic. The officers said * * * 
you better pray tonight that he lives. This 
was the first time I knew I shot somebody * * *" . 
(R29; ~.ro·~.lbc. E). 

4. For the defens·e, it was stipulated that if accused's 
commanding officer were present he would testify that accused's 
character was excellent, and his efficiency rating as a soldier, 
satisfactory. After his rights were explained to hi~, accused 
elected to remain silent (R46). . 

·. , 5. Accused was convicted of murder. Whether he 
deliberately aimed at deceased, as.may well be inferred from 

·the testimony of the prosecution's witnesses, or whether he 
"didn't aim at anybody" but "just tried to scare the mob by 
shooting at them", as he asserted in his .pre-trial statement, 
the record is 'legally sufficient to support the conviction of 
murder for · 

11 kno.wledge that the act whj.ch causes 
death will probably cause the death 
of, or gn;,vous bodily har~ to, any 
person, whether such person is the 
person actually killed or not, although.
such knowledge is accompanied by in­
difference whether death or grievous
bodily harm is caused or not or by a 
wish that it may not be caused". 

/

is one of the states of mind which, preceding or coexisting. :- . 

with the act or omission by which deathis caused, is comp,:t:.ehended 

within the term::"malice aforethought 11 (1·:C11(L 1928 par. 148i; 'pp. 

163-164). True, accused had been provoked by the deceased, 

and 


"The law recognizes the fact thata man 
may be provo;ed to such an extent tha~ 
in the heat of sudden passion, ca~~\by 
the provocation, and not from malice;.t:he 
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may strike a blow before he has had time 
to control himself, and therefore does not 
in such a case Pt:Ulish him ~--_ as severely as 
if he.were guilty of a deliberate-homicide". 

In such a case 
"The killing maybe manslaughter only 
even if intentional; but where suf,ficient 
cooling time elapses between the provocation
and the-blow the killing is murder, even 
if the passibn persists". ­

The evidence shews that after he.was struck by-deceased, accused 
left the spot and proceeded upon a course of C£n~rdinatea . 
action which consumed at least several minutes7wliicb involved 
procuring a weapon and returping to where he_ had reason to 
believe he would find the deceased, finding him there and 
killing him." Under the circumstances ­

"whether or not accused's intent to kill'. 
was formed suddenly, under the influence 
of an uncontrollable passionor emotion 
aroused by adequate provocation, whether 
or not a sufficient• cooling period' had 
elapsed** *-or whether the formation of 
the intent was a -result of mere anger, were 
questions of fact peculiarly within the 
province of the court, whose determination 
thereof against_the accused in finding
him ·guilty of murder rather than manslaughter
is supported by substantial evidence and will 
not be disturbed upon appellate review" 
(CM ETO 3042, Guy, Jr.) • 

. 6. The charge sheet shows that accused is· 23 year~ 

eight months or age and was inducted, with no prior.service, 

at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 29 July 1942~ 


._- ' ,. 
- ·7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 

-'of the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting l - -- ­
·the substantial rights or accused were committed during the 
trial. The Board: nr Review is of the opinion that the record 

of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings or 

guilty and the sentence. 


... 
·5- ­
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8. The penalty for murder is death or life imprison­
ment as a court martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement-in 
a penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of murder by 
Article of War 42 and sections 275 and 330, Federal Criminal 
Code (18 USCA,454,567). The designation of the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania as the place of confin­
ement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec. IV, pars •.l!!,' 
(4),3:Q). 

1A~/12 · L " ·. Judge Advocate 

_,.)n~;a..,'4,L~-CsS-~-------_.__-Judge Advocate......... .......... .......... 

~/~t-·.,...1J~,___Judge ~dvocate 

~. 
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Branch Office of 'Ihe Judge .Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

.trO 887 


.BOARD OF REVIEW N 0 2. 6 OC11945 
CM ETO 16191 

UNITED STATES ) 65TH INFANTRY DffiSIOi'l 
) 

T 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at Linz, 
) Austria, 21 July 1945· Sentence: 

Private First Class LYLER ) Dishonorable discharae, total 
RETEMEIER (20749615), Cannon ) forfeitures and confinement at 
Company, 259th Inf~ntry ,) hard labor for life. United 

) States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOABD OF REVI~•V NO 2. 

HEPBURN, MILLER, and cou.ns, Judge .Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier na:ned above 
has been exatlned by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and 
Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd .Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Lyle R. 
Rethmeier, Cannon Company, 259th Infantry, did, ·in the vicinity of 
U'rf$hl-~, Austria, on or about 6 July 1945, with 
malice aforethought, willfully, deliberately, 
feloniously, unlawfully, and with premeditation 

.	kill one LMow Skrobnlski, a human being by 
shooting him with a pistol. 

He pleaded not guilty and~ two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Charge and Specification.' Evidence was introduced of two 
previous convitions, one by summary court for wrongfu~ly appearing 
at Camp Maxey, Texas in improper uniform, in violation of .Article 
of War 96 and one by special court-martial for absence without leave 
for 28 days and breech of restriction, in violation of Articles of 
War 61 and 96 respectively. Three-forths of the members of the 
court present at the time the vote was•taken concurring, he was 
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sent~::iced to be dishonorably dischare,ed the service, t. forfeit all pay 
and allowa_1ces due or to becane due, and to be confined at hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewinL aurhority may direct, for the term· or 
his natural life. '.Ihe revieWing authority a_Jproved the sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburc, Pennsylvania, as the 

·place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action 

pursuant to Article ol' War .sot. 


,3• ~ccu~ed is a member ol' Cannon Company, 259th Infantry, 

Linz {Rl.j., 11). On the eve:J.i.ng of 6 July 1945, this organization 

sponsored a party at which wine, champagne and cognac were serv3d "{R5) • 


. Accused attended the party, which began about 1900 hours, and drank 
sane of the liquor (R5,11). .About' 2100 hours he and Private First Class 
K. C. Davis left the party and went to the PolLh Auhaf, a camp tor 

displaced persons, {referred to throughout the record as a •lager•). 

which was approximately one mile and a half from Urfahr, the place 

the party was held (R5).Davis was carrying a carbine and accused 

an Ml rifle. The latter also carried a foreign make pistol iI). a 

hip holster, beneath his field jacket. Before they left for the 

Polish Aubaf accused told Davis that he had one cartridge tor the 

pistol (Rll,12,13). Private First Class Lewis was on guard duty 

at the entrance to the lager, which is about 20 feet OLf the road 

and consists of an office building on each side of th~ road going 

into the lager. These buildings are connectea by a shelter, which 

ccmpletely covers the entrance road at this point (R5,1~.22)., 

De.vis deposited his carbine and accused hie Ml rifle at the office 

of the guard, with whom· they spoke for a mcment, a~d then they 

proceeded down the main entrance of the lager, where Davis met the 

girl he had cane to visit. She was accompanied by her sister, and 

the four went to the girl! room, which was .in.the first building on 

the left as they pr)ceeded down the road fran the entranqe to the 

lager (Rl.2,13,20). When they entered the room they found Sergeant 

.Albert T Rogers and Private First Cla s George S Be.cvinskas seated 

therein, drinking COe;Il.SC with two other girls (RG,14). In about 

five minutes Davis, accused and the two girls accompenyirl[; them 

left the barracks. Accused was walking imnediately behind Davis 

and when he (accused) reached the doorway o~ the barracks he called 

to Davia and said • he thought he might as well go home because hG did 

not think heCmuld do any good here this evenin&;. n AccD.sed had come to 

see one oi.' the girls wh;.i was with Rogers and Be.cvinske!:l but Davis told 

him he knew some others in the lager. Davis took accused to a window 

in the same barracks and •pointed out another friend inside'. Inside 

this romm. was a girl alli "some DP men• 'and after Davis pointed the:n. out 

to accused he and his. two girl companions left the lefuer (Rl.4,15,18). 

Accused climbed through this window into a room whsre Anna 

Kotesovcova, two other girls arid two men were present. The men 


'hre DPs -- Polocks' {Rlj.4, 77). After a short while accused 'pulled 
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out his pistol•, the girls were frighte'1ed and Miss Kotesovcoa and 
her girl friend went out and reported the incident to tl:e guard on duty 
(R78). Accused and one of the male displaced persons, who was present 
in Mia~ Kotesovcova 1s room, were seen leaving the back door of the 
barrscks shortly theraft.er (R78) ~ They proceeded to the entrance of 
the lager and went outside, passing within eisht to ten yards of the 
guard on duty at 1he entrance (R21) and two ma-le displaced persons who 
who were sitting there with the guard. One of these persons was a boy 
of about 13 years o? age and the other a man about 35 years or age (R22). 
At a point under the roof that covers the entrance to the lager, the 
displaced man accompanying accused stopped and said •One minute•. 
Accused said something to him and he followed accused out of the lager 
for a distance of about ten meters, where they stop~ed and engaged in 
conversation(R26,27,48). .After they stood there for a short time 
( estimated at from 5 to 15 minutes) acc~sed pulled out a pistol and 
shot the man with whom he was talk111£:, who was identified as za.zisla• 
Sk:robulski (R27,32,45,4s,55). The man who wes shot weaved slightly and 
fell to the ground (R23,45) • 

.Accused ran to the guard po;t and put a belt, which oo ntained a ·' ­
pistol on Tadensz Maberkiewicz, one of the displaced persons who.was 
talking to the guard (Rl+J.46). Accused told him to keep the pistol and 
belt but Maberkiewicz put it on a desk in the office of the entrance guard 
post. Accused went in the office, ·removed the pistol fran the belt and 
put it in his pocket CR47). Sergeant James J Ea.hey found a belt and 
holster on· the desk in this oftice about 2115 hours on the u&y in 
question and he also found a cartrigge case (estimated caliber - P38) 
next to the body. The next morcung he turned them over to Private 
First Class Thomas A Powell, a Criminal Investi£ation Division agent, 
and the latter etJ.Ve them to Lieutenant Colonel .ired N Whitney, who 
made an investigation of the shooting (RJJ,68,69,76). During the 
course of this investigation accused admitted that the belt and holster 
we~e his property (RJ6). 

Shortly after ac'cllsed left the room in the barracks where Sergeant 
Rogers was visiting with some girls, Rogers heard a shot e.nd went out 
to investigate. He found a man "laying nearly in the road, right 
in front of the gate there• (R6, ?) • · A crowd had gathered and he tried 
to disperse them and to get an a.,;bulance (R?,10). There was sufficient 
light so that one could see •pretty clearly• (RlO). Accused was see~ . 
in the crowd, at this time, acting as an interpreter for Sergeant Rog~rs. 
Rogers asked accused to inquire of the crowd as to who shot the,man. 
Accused spoke to someone in the crowd-and then told Sergeant Rogers, 
•D.P's say soldier shot this displaced rerso~ and ran away• (R24). 
Accused asked Miss K:itesovc6va, who was in the crowd\ •where is the 
Polack that shot this Polack?" and she replied "You did". Accused 
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then told her •that if I"eaid that the soldier done the shooting, he was 
going to shoot me• (R79). 

Sanetime'later Private First Claes George S• Bacvinskas approached 
accused in the <oOrowd at the scene of the shooting and suggested that they 
go to Cmnp Dornach and •pick up the guard truck and go home' R63). 
Before they left for Ce.mp Dornach, accused asked Be.cvinskas to go and 
pick a pistol up for him. When Be.cvinskas refused to do this, accused 
left for a few minutes and then returned and caught up 1ri th Be.cviMl:aas. 
They walked.to Camp Darnach, arriving there about 2200 hours, and entered 
a little·shack where Private Clarence L Snow was on gUe.rd duty (R65,7J.) • 
.Accused had a P-35 autana.tic pistol in the pocket. of his field jacket 
and he ask Snow to take the gun apart and throw it away. Snow brokls 
the gun down into three parts and deposited them in a latrine about 
200 yards down the road. Sn.ow testified there was no clip in· the gun 
and that he did not observe any bullet in the chamber (R72,73). Snow 
further testified he originally found this gun, he put it together and 
f!13.Ve it to one of the soldiers in his section, and later loaned accused 
money to enable him to purchase the gun from this soldier. He subse­
quently saw the gun in accused's posses~ion and on one or two occasi~~ 
tore the gundown and oiled it for him (R73,'i\). Snow identified the 
belt and holster (R76,Pros. Ex 1) as the pro~erty of the accused (R75). 

Private First Class Louis E. Fi.deli testified that for a little 
over two years he has been assigned to the Medical Corps and that during 
his training he received some instruction with reference to determining 
if a person is dead (R38-41). About 2200 hours on 6 July 1945. he took 
an ambulance to a displaced persons' camp on the outskirts of Urfahr and 
found a body of a man iying on the pavement about 25 feet fran the entrance 
to the lager located there. Be e..:mmined the body and found no pulse, 
heart beet or breathing. · There •~ a hole in the cenilil~ of his stomach, 
right above the naval. In Snow's opinion this hole in the body was the 
result of a e,unshot wound. 'lbe body was beginning to get cold ac1d 
clammy and by the time he got it to a funeral home, it was stiff. 
In his opinion the man was dead (R39,40,41). 

Sergeant James J Fahey, 65tQ Infantry Division, Military Police 
Platoon testified thatabout 2115 hours orr 6 July 1945 he was dispatched 
to the lager on the outskirts of Urfahr to conduct a certain investigation. 
He found the body of a mn lying in the driveway between the road and 
the gate house. In his work in the military police he hed occasion to 
exainine dead bodies and while examining this body he found a clean 
bullet hole •right above the naval button•. When the body was put on 
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~ stretcher the arms were already stiffened out and the body was lifeless 
bi67,68,70). 

With reference to accused's state of intoxieation on the nit,;b.t in 
quest~on witnesses testified that when he re~ched the Auhe.f Lager 1 he 1d. 
been drinking pretty heavily * • • hi3 face -- was extremely red.1 (RS); 
'he b.8d become slightly boisterous, but not over-intoxicated' (Rl6); 
he did not appear to have control over himself physically, he became 
incoherent and grew progressively worse (16); when Private Davis 
showed him to thewindow of the displaced persons' barracks he had to 
assist him (Rl8); he was •very drunk•, could not stand up straight 
without weaving, his words were 'slurred•, but he o::>uld always be plainly 
understood (R25)_, and after he and Private Bacvinskas reached camp 
Dornach, accused •passed out cold on the floor• and had to be loaded 
into a 1 truck and brought beck to his company (R67,75). 

4. Captain Calvin Polivy, after being sworn as a defense witness, 
testified he was defense councel in the case and that he had been given 
no prior warning that the prosecution intended to call Anna Kotesovcova 
and Stanislaw Kujawinski as witnesses (R82). 

Sergeant Rogers, accused's section sergeant. Technical Sergeant 
Howard P Henderson, accused's platoon sergeant and Second Lieutenant 
Robert G. Dammann, one of his company offi. cers, testified that accused 
was a very good soldier (R84), whose character and general reputation 
were excellent (R8h,86) and that they would like to have him back in 
the company{R86). · 

Accused after his rights as a witness were fully explained to him 
(R87), elected to remain silent. 

5. That accused shot the deceased at the time and place alleged 
is clearly established by the testimony of several eye-witnesses. While 
·there was no medical or other expert testimony offered as· to the cause of 
death none was necessary. Death followed immediately after an abdominal 
gunshot wound and two soldiers, who had previous experience exa;uinini; 
dead persons, testified convincingly as to deceased' s condition. · Lnder 
the circumstances the court was fully warranted in finding that Mr. · 
ski-~bulsi: met his death as a result of the gunshot wound inflicted 
by accused (Cl~ ETO 7518, Bailey et al). There remains for consideration 
by the Board of Review the question of whether there is ca:npetent and' 
substantial evidence to support the court•s,findinb that the homicide 
constituted murder. 

'Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with malice 
aforethouzht. 'Unlawful' means without legal justification 
or excuse• (MCM 192S, par. 14~. p.162). 
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If the hcmicide herein described was committed with malice 

aforethought am without legal justification, the crime of murder is 

canplete. 


•Malice 	is presumed from the use "of a deadly weapon• (JEM, 
1928, par.112!!_, ·P 110). 

'Malice aforethought may exist when the act is unpremeditated. 
It may mean any one or more or the following states or mind ­
preceding or coexisting with the act or anission_by wpich death· 
is caused. .An intention to cause the death of, or grievous 
bodily harill to, any person, whether such person is the person 
actually killed or not, etc.• (MCM, 1~28, par. 14~ p.163). 

There.is substantial evidence to support the court's conclusion 
that accused acted with mlice, aforethought in perpetrating this homicide.'. 
Eye-witnesses testified he deliberately drew a pistol from its holster and 
shot the unar:ned and defenseless victim w1 thout provocation· ot any descrip­
tion. ~he use of a deadly weapon under such circumstances is sufficie~t 
alone to warrant an inference.that the killing was deliberate and with 
malice aforethought. Since the court's determination in this regard is 
sustained by substantial evidence, it will not be diattmbed upon appellate 
review (CM ETO 9410, LQRAN). 

The question of the effect of intoxication upon accuaed's deliberative 
faculties was one of fact for the court and there is substantial evidence. 
to sup:;ort their conclusions therein. While there is considerable 
evidence that accused was highly intoxicated, his actions in attempting to 
give the gun to an eyewitness to the shooting, in threatening Miss 
KPtesovcova, in assisting Sergeant 1\ogers question witnesses arid his 
deliberate efforts to dispose of his pistol clearly indicated he was 
aware of the situation he was in. '.lhe findings or the court on this 
~uestion are clearly sustained by the evidence (CM ETO 6229, Creech) • 

6. Tha charge Sheet shows. that accused is 26 years or age and 

was inducted 6 J'anuary 1941 at Oliva, Minnesota. Prior service is.shown 

as 1 Btry F, 125th Field Artillery fran 4-19-38 to 6-1-40; Btry :11,2l51h 

·coast Artillery from 7-1-40 to 1-5-41". 

7• 'l'h.e court was legally constituted and had ~urisdiction of the " 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affectini the subste.Atial rights 
of accused were canmitted during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial 19 legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty-and the sentence. 

a. The penalty for mll.rder is" death or life imprisonment 89 the 

court Martial 111}:7 direct (.lW92). Confinement in a penitentiary is 
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authorized upon conviction of murder by Article of War 42 and sections 
275 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 454, 567). The designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the 
place of confinenent is proper (Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec. II, 
pars. l.Q (4), 3.Q). 

aLJJ.~-o""'f--it'-1"---"'"'·-++------'v~<J,.......___,Ju_de;e Advocate 
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Branch Of1'1ce of The Judge. Advocate General 

· with the· 


European Theater· 

Aro 887· . 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 3· 16 OCT .1945 
CM ETO 16196 

I· 

UNITED STATES ) 84TH INFANTRY DIVISION 

v. Trial by GCM, ·convened at Weinheim, 

l 
~ 

Germany, 7 August 1945. Sentence as to 
Privates First Class S.ALVAT<:m: each accused: Dishonorable discharge
LEONE {.31257356), and JAMES P. (suspended), total forfeitures; and 
LA BRAKE (32948856), both of ) confinement at hard labor for 20 years. 
Company F, .335th Infantey Delta Disciplinary Training Center, Lets ~ Milles, Bouches duRhone_, France. 

OPINION by BOARD OF REVIEW MO• .3 . 
SLEEPER, SHERMAU and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

' 

. le The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above was 
examined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the E\:ropean 
Theater atj· there found legally insufficient to support the findings. The 
record of~dal has now been examined by the Board of Review and the Board 
submits this, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge 
of said Branch Office. 

. 2. Accused were tried upon the following charges and si)ecifications: 

Ll BRAKE 

CP.ARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class James P. 
La Brake, Coinpa.ny •r, .335th Infantey, did, at · 
or near Kre.f.eld, Rhine Province, Ge:rm.&ey"_, on or 

· ·about 17 Merch 1945, desert the service of the 
United States and did remain absent in desertion 
until 6 April 1945. 

IEO~- ' 
CHARGE: Violation of the 5Sth ArticlA of War. ·­

Specii'ication: In that Private First ClaH Sal.Ya~· _·· 
Leone, Company •r, 3.35th 1:nfant.%'71 dicl, at~.:: 
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near Valkenburg, Holland, on or about 19 March 
1945, desert the service of the United States 
and did remain absent in desertion until 8 June 
1945. 

Each pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court pre­

sent at the time the votes were taken concurring, each was found guilty 

of th3 Charge and Specification preferred against him. Three-fourths 

of the members of the court present at the time the votes were taken 

concurring, each was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 

to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined 

at hard lo.bor at such place as the reviewing aut.hority may direct for 20 

years. As to each, the reviev.ing authority approved the sentence, ordered 

it executed but suspended that portion thereof adjudging dishonorable dis­

charge until the soldier's release from confinement, and designated the 

Delta Disciplinary Training Center, Les Milles, Bouches du Rhone, France, 

as the place of confirement. · · 


The proceedings were published by Ge~ral. Court-Martial Orders 

No. 113 and ll4, Headquarters, 84th Infantry.Division, APO 84, U.S. Army, 

14 August 1945 • 


3. Evidence for prosecution: 

On 17 Ji.arch 1945, La Brake absented ?d.thout leave from his company 
at Krefeld, Germany (R7-8,13; Pros.Ex.A). On the 18th, Leone was sent on 
detail to Valkenburg, Holland. On the 19th he was absent 'Without leave and 
failed to return With the detail to the company 'Which was still at Kre!eld, 
Germany (RS-10,13; Pros.Ex.A.,B). The company had been at Krefeld, Ge:nnany 
for approximately four or five days in a rest area (Rl2) which was approxi­
mately three miles from the front lines'"on the banks ·of the Rhine River"• 
While "primarily back for· a rest", the company was qoing some training (RS,12) 
-"more or le SS platoon tactics 1 reorganization and regrouping" and "pre­
paration for a move upon completion of our assignment" (Rl.2). 

La Brake was returned to military control by apprehension at 

l.tunchen-Gladbach, Germany, on 6 April 1945 (Rl.0-ll; Pros.Ex.C). 


A stipulation showing Leone's return to military control was 
admitted in evidence (RU; Pros.Ex.B). Concerning this stipulation, the 

. following colloquy appears in the record of trial: 

"Prosecution: * * * It is stipulated by and between 
th.e prosecution, the defense, and the accused, _ 
Salvatore Leone, that said accused returned to mili ­
tary control on 8 June 1945. 

President: Pfc Leone, do you have any objection 
to that stipulation'? 

Pfc Leone: No sir. 

President: Is that stipulation ccrrect? 
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Pfc Leone: It wasn't exactly that way 
sir. I was under military control before Jun~. 
I was put under control by the !LP' s and brought 
to Brussells, they kept me there for a while 
and then they, took me to Paris. I was on the move 
all the way through. 

President: (to prosecution). Did the accused under­
stand what he was signing when the signed that 
stipulation? 

Prosecution: ·I 
•. 

believe so, sir. 

Defense: · ·He understood what he was signing,. 
sir. I signed that stipulation and I understood what 
I was signing. There is no wa:y to prove wrere he was 
located when he first returned to military control 
other than his own testimony, and he does not dedre 
to take the stand and testify" (R.10) • · 

4. No evidence was presented by defense. .After his rights as 

~ witness were explained, each accused electe? to remain silent. 


5 • a. Substantial canpetent evidence established La Brake's 

unauthorized absence at the place and time and for the duration alleged 

and fctund; likewise, Leone's unauthorized absence at the place and time 

alleged and found. The question, trerefare, is whether the record con­

tains substantial competent evidence from which intents to desert may be 

inf'erred. 


· . · Under a "straight" desertion specification, the prosecution 
could prove "short" (AW 28) desertion (CM 245568, III Bull. JAG 142; 
CM ETO 5117, DeFrank). To prove "short" desertion it was 

"incumbent on the prosecution to_a,resent eubstantial 
evidence to .establish that /jachf accused at the time 

· o! hie initial absence (a) knew that present or 
imminent hazardous duty was 'required o! him and (b) 
that he intended to avoid its par!ormance (CM Ero 
7532, Ramirez; CM~ 8104., Shearer, CM li:TO 5958, Perry, 
et al.) 11 (CM J!:TO 8'708, ~). . · 

Accused absented themselves from a rest area 1tlere their compBJl1 
had been for !our or five days undergoing·tra1n1ng and "preparation for a 
move upon completion of our aesignment". The record contains· not the 
111.ghteat evidence of when or 'Where the compan1 was to move or did move ­
to say nothing of accueed•a knowledge thereo!. Training ot .a combat Unit 
imports ultim:a.te combat, but is not proot ot it1 imminency and is inau!ti ­
cient alone to support an in!erence of an intent. to a"VOid hazardous dut7 
(CM Ero 5958, Ferr_x, !i..!:l); .otherwise, all absences ;without leave !roa 
combat units would support. !indinge ot an intent to avoid hazardous dut7. 
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Though accused absented themselves from a rest area. which was some three 

miletfu~om the front lines, the instant case varies materially !rom CM 

E'l'9', 'il'archetti. There :Marchetti had first absented himself without leave 

to avoid hazardous duty and had 

"remained absent until he was •picked up• . 
a,.EPI"o.ximately one month lat.er. * * * Shortly" 
Ltteri/after * * * he again absented himselt
* * *• Although his unit was in a •rest area• 
at this time, it appears that such area. was a 
rest area more in name than in fa.ct. The area 
was on Anzio beachhead, wa.a subjected to occa­
sional shelling and was separated from the enemy 
lines by a distance of only a mile and a hal! at 
the closest point, and the enemy lines were nowhere 
more than ten miles distance * * * /}.bout 3~ months 
later he sun-endered himsely 'only after his unit 
had broken out of the beachhead and had gone on to 
i:articipate in the campaign of Francet11(CM ETO 6079, 
Marchetti, Dig. Op. ETO, p.57-58). . 

Neitper accused's unauthorized absence followed harc;l. upon a previous Ull­
authorized absence to avoid hazardous duty, as did J.;archetti•s. Moreover, 
the rest area. from which accused absented themselves was not, insofar as 
the record discloses, being subjected to shelling, occasional or otherwise, 
as was the area. from lfhich :Marchetti absented himself'. The Board Qf' Review 
is of the opinion that the court c.ruld not properly infer from the circum­
atances shown that either accused was aware of the existence of' imminence 
of hazardous duty and absented himself to avoid such duty (C:U: ETO 8708, Lee; 
CM: ETO l3l03, Israel; CM ETO 8300, Paxson)• 

There rennins for consid.er<lti-,n ·:~:.~t.'.1<-r. the court could have 
properly inferred that accused absented themselves with intents not to return. 

b. As to La Brake : La Brake 1 a unauthorized absence of 20 days 
did not, of itself alone, constitute a substantial basis for inferring an 
intent not to return (CUETO 6497, Gary, Jr., Dig Op E'.ro, p.232) even though 
it was teraj.nated t:y apprehension (CM ETO 8631, Hamilton, Dig Op ETO, p.234­
235) many miles away. Since La Brake was not shown to have absented himselt' 
to avoid hazardous duty, the circumstances under which he absented himself 
cease to have particular significance. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the court cvuld not properly infer that he absented himself 
with, or soiret iJne during his absence fonned, the intent not to return. A 
number of cases have been found where unauthorized absences of comparable 
durations were hl'!ld, in conjunction with c·c.her circumstances, to constitute 
desertion. Each is readily distinguishable from the instant case. ·In the 
instant case, La Brake was neither shown to have absented himselt to av:oid 
hazardous cbty as in CM ETO 4490, Brothers, Dig Op ETO p.224, nor to have 
absente.d himself for a secon:l ~ as in CM E'.ro 7379, Keiser, Dig Op ETO 
237-8; CM ETO 9333, ~, Dig Op ETO 238-239; and CY ETO 9957, Robinson, 
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Dig Op ETO 239. To hold that the record of trial supports a finding 
of desertion as to La Bra.ke would be, in effect, to extend the cbctrine 
of CM ETO 1629, 0 1Donnell, Dig Op ETO 219-220. The Board i.s not disposed 
so to do. 

c. As to Leone: The stipulation showing' Leone's return to 
military control should not have been accepted. It affirmatively appears 
that Leone claimed to have returned to military control prior ta 8 June 
1945, the time he was stipulated to have returned (see CM ETO 4564, Hoods). 
With the stipulation eliminated there only remains the proof that Leone-­
absented himself without leave on 19 March 1945 under the sh<YNil circum­
stances. 

One of the items of proof for desertion listed in MGM~ l;l,211 
par.409, p.344, and MCM, 1928, par. 130~, p.143 is "(c) that his Laccused'iJ 
absence was of a duration and was tenninated aa allegedtt. V/ith the sti ­
pulation eliminated, neither the time, place nor mcinner of Leone's return 
to military control was proved. The place of termination is not an essen­
tial element o! the offense of desertion (CJ.: 233688, 20 B.R. 49,58); nor 
the manner .of termina. tion (CM 159950, Dig f:)p JAG 1912-40 par .416(7), p.267; 
CM 230278, 17 B.R. 349; Cl£ 236914, 23 B.R.}'Il Bull JAG 270). What of the 
time of termination vlhere, as here, the intent to desert may be inferred, . 
in part at least, from the duration ot the unathorized absence? 

In so-called "shorttt (AW28) desertions proof of either the dura­
tion of the absence (CME'ro 2473, Cantwell) or the time of its termination • 
(CM NA'ro 2044, m Bull JAG 232) is not necessary because the offense is 
complete when the person absents himself without ;iut.hority from his place 
of service with intent to avoid hazardous duty or shirk important ·service 
(Cantwell, supra). The offense of "straight" desertion is complete when 
a pers::>n absents himself "with intent not to re'blrn" (llCM, 19281 par.130,!, 
p.142). In the light ot the foregoing authorities cited in this and the 
preceding paragraphs, the Board concludes that once an unauthorized initial 
absence is shown, to aistain a conviction of "str&i8ht" desertion only such 
furthel:' allegations need be proved as will support an inference of an intent 
not to return. 

It was proved that Leone absented himself without leave on 19 
March 1945. 

"The coniition of absence without leave with respect 
to an enlistment having orx:e been shown to exist 'lfJ&1 
be i;resumed to have continued, in the 11.bsence o! 
evidence to the contrary, until accused1 s return to 
military control under euch enlietment11 (i.lcM, 1928, 
par.130,!1 p.143). 

Leone could be presumed to have continued absent without leave only "until 
his return" which, as evidenced by bis presence in court to say nothing of'' 
his statement to ·the cairt 1 was sometime 1114b.sequent to his initial absence 
and prior to bis arraignmnt. It, ~refor~ 1 .tolle1rs that m mq have re­
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turned, as he stated he did, prior to 8 June 1945, v;hen he was alleged 
an:i_found, but not proV"ed, to have returned. The Board concludes that 
the evidence shows no more than that Leone absented himself without leave 
on 19 March 1945 and remained absent without leave until his return to 
military control at a time not shown. To hold otherwise would be to en­
able the prosecution to throw upon an accused the burden of proving his 
return, for, without knowledge of or regard for the actual duration of an 
unauthorized absence, the prosecution could allege it to have been of a 
duration sufficimt to support an inference of an intent to desert and 
thereby cast upon an accused the burden of proving his return at an earlier 
date than alleged. But implicit in proof of rettll'n is proof of an absence 
prior to return; the former presupposes the lat'ter. To thrust such a 
burden upon an accused would be to compel him to present evidence against 
himself, and is, ineffect, violation of Article of War 24 (cf: CM ETO 2297, 
Johnson and Loper). · 

A finding of an unauthorized absence on a specified.day, commenced 
by an escape from oonfinemmt, has been teld insufficient, nothing further 
being shown, .to support an inference of an intent to desert (CM 26lll2, III 
Bull JAG 379, cf: CM 281156 (1945) IV Bull JAG 277). By the same token, 
proof of a.n unauthorized absence for an undetermined period, commenced 
under the circumstances as here shown, does not. support an inference of 
an intent to desert. 

Leone's offense of absence 'llithout leave was comnitted when he 
absented himself. Insofar as the offense of absence without leave was 
concerned, proof of its duration was unnecessary (cf: CM NATO 1087, III· 
Bull JAG 9). . . 

6. Public Law 221, 78th Congress, approved by the President 20 
January 1944, amended the statute relating to loss of nationality or citi­
zenship as ~ result of convictinn by court-martial of desertion in time 
of war (54 Stat. 1168; 8 u.s.c._801 (g)), .so as to limit its application 
to persons "Who are dishonorably discharged·or dismissed from the service 
as a result of such conviction. ,The amendment provides for restoration 
of nationality on citizenst.ip lost by desertion in time of war to persons 
restored to active duty in time of war, or re-enlisted or re-inducted in 
time of war with permission of competent military or naval authority. 
The amendment, however, does not obviate the necessity of relieving, by 
appropriate order of restoration, the jeopardy in which the accused's· 
citizenship has been placed by his illegal conviction of desertion and the 
sentence of dishonorable discharge based thereon, despite its suspension 
by the reviewing authority. 

7. The ch~rge sheets show that accused La Brake is 20 years of age 
and was inducted, without prior service; 18 December 1943; that Leone is 
25 yeexs seven months of age and was inducted, vd.thout prior service, 17 
December 1942 at Fort Devens, 1'.assachuset ts. 

s. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
persons and offenses. Except as hereinbefore stated no errors affecting 
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the substantial rights of accused were co!1'll"..itted during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the sentences and, as to La Brake, so much of 
the findings as involves findings that La Brake did at the time and 
place alleged absent himself without leave from the service of the 
United States and did remain absent ·without leave until the time alleged 
in violation of Article of War 61, and, as to Leone, so much of the 
findings as involve findings that Leone did absent himself without leave 
from the service of the United States and did remain absent without leave 
until hie return to military control at an unshown time in violation of 
~~~~~. . . 

9. The penalty for absence without leave is such punishment as a 
court-martial may direct (AW 61). The designa.tlon of the Delta Disci­
plinary Training Center, Les Mill.es, Bouches du Rhone, France, was. proper 
(Ltr. Hqs. Theater Service Forces, European Theater, AG 252 GAP-AGO, 20 
Aug. 1945). 

..di....ll ............_,..-k...,"K,._.._·_·_·___....rtfl££11i....· J~ Judge .Advocate 
:/ 

Judge Mwcate 

_C_TEldPORAR_Y_D_U_TY_) Judge Advocate 
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1. Herewith transmitted for your action under- Article of War 50i 
as amended by Act 20 August 19'37 (50 Stat. 724; 10 USC 1522) and as 
further amended by Act 1 August 1942 (56 Stat. 732; 10 USC 1522) is the 
record of trial in the case of Privates First Class SALVATORE LEONE 
(.31257.'.356) and JALZS P. La.BRA.KE (.'.3294$856), both of Conpany F, 3.'.35th 

. Infantry. 

2. I concur in the opinion of the Board of· Review and,. for the 
reasons stated therein, recoillllend that the findings of guilty· of the 
Charge and Specification against each accused, except sq much thereof 
as involves findings of guilty that La.Brake did absent himself with out 
leave at the time and place and for the period alleged in violation of 
Article of War 61, and, as to Leone, so much of the findings of guilty 
as involve absence without leave at tile time and place alleged until 
his return to military control at a ti~ not shown, in violation of 
Article of liar 61, be vacated, and that all r.i.ghts privileges and pro­
perty of Which each accused has been deprived by virtue of that portion 
ot1 the findings, viz: conviction of desertion in time of war, so vacated, 
be restored. · . 

3. Inclo~ed are fonns of action designed to carry into effect the 
recommendation hereinbefore made. Also inil.osed are draft GCJlO for use 
in promulgating the proposed actions. Please return the record of trial 
with the required copies of acw. 

( Findings and sentence vacated 1n part 1n accordance with the rec01?1Dendat1on 
of Assistant Judge Advocate General. GCl«> 559(1.ABrake), USFET, 'r1 Oct 1945. 
OCH:> 560 (I.eone), USFET1 'r1 Oct 1945). . . . · . . 

- ... ­
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BRANCH OFFICE OP' THE JUDGE ADVOCA.TE GENERAL 

with the 


European Theater ~w·IF!!a,zr 

APO $$7 , 

BOA.RD OF REVI2W MO· 4 15 SEP .1945 

Cll ETO 16198 

.UNITED STATES ) OOTH nJFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 

Private AUL.IQ G. RUSSO!XINO l)Trial bf ocw, coovened at Aro so,u. s. 
(42105895) Company L, Arm::, 3 August 1945. Sentence: Dishonor­
Jl7th Infantry a.binle di1:1charge 1 t otal. forfeitures and con­.. 

f ement at h:·.rd 1abor for five yea.rs. 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York.! 

HOLDiNG by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 4 
DANIELSON. l1EYER and ,A}IDE.ttSON, Judge Advocates 

I 
l. The record or trial in the case or the soldier named above has 

been examined b7.the Board or Review a.nd round legally surficient to sup­
port ISll'•~ so much of the findings of guilty as involves absence 
v.rithout leave at the place al.leged from 4 April 1945 to 10 April 1945 and 
legal.ly sufficient to support the sentence. There being.1!tipulated testimony 
nnd accused's unsworn state~~ent sho~·;inz a return to military control qn 
10 April 1945, the record ~f trial is leGally insu~ficient to support so much 
of the findings of gui"cty as fovolvcs absrnt:e ·1dthout leave after that date 
( CA.::ETO 16240, Christiano). 

gs Aduocats 
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BRANCH OFFICE OF THE JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL 

With the 

European Theater <xl•¥R"*"l!!r!VxnW' 


APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO· l 

CM ET016240 

UNITED STATES ) 
v. ~ 

Private ROCCO J. CHRISTIANO \ 
(42l0l1241), Company L, ) 
317thinfa.ntry ) 

l 

3 0 AUG 1945 

80TH INFANTRY DffiSION 

Trial by GCM, convened at AFO 80, U.S. Army, 
3 August 1945. Sentence: Dishonorable dis­
charge, total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for 12 years. Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
haven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 
Btm.R!18, STEVEN'S and CARROU., Judge Advocates 

The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient to sup­
port F+iff ••• so much of the findings of guilty as involves absence 
without leave at the place alleged from 4 April 1945 to 10 April 1945 and 
legal.ly sufficient to support the sentence. Assuming that the plea of 
guilty went to the entire period alleged, which is not clear, it must in 8Xl'J' 
event be deemed a plea of not guilty in view of stipulated testimony- and 
accusediunsworn stateme~t showing a return· to military control on 10 April 1945 
(MCU, 1928, par.70,. pp.54-55; CM ETO 97791 Stanley and Shepherd). 
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Branoh Office of The Judge AdTocate Gener&! 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOAil.D OF REVIEW NO. 3 

C~ :C.:TO 16250 

U N I T E D S T A T E S ) OISE INTilliiAEDU.TE SECTION, COllSIUNWATION 
) ZONE, UNITED STAT.ES FORCES, £URO.PEAN 

T• ) THL.'\.TER 
) 

Private WILLIE N. GREEN (34027264)) Trial by GCM, convened at Reims, France, 
453rd Quartermaster Laundry ) 31 July 1945. Sentences Dishonorable 
Company ) discharge, total forfeitures and 

) cuntinement at hard labor for life. 
) 
) 

United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pe:nnaylvani& 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVISW NO. 3 
SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advooatea 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier na~ed above 
has been ex&.mined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accuaed was tried upon the fol1wing Charge aud Specifications 

CHARGEt Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specificationc In that PriTa~e Willie w. Green, 453rd 
Quartermaster Laundry Corapany, did, at Verzena.y, 
France, on or about 7 July 1945 with malice &fore­
thought, willfully, deliberately, feloniously, 
unlawfully, and with premeditation kill one 
Technician Fifth Grade Raymond J. Cully, & human 
being, by shooting him vd til. a pistol. 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds ot the members ot the court present 
at the ti.Jue the vote was ta.ken oOilcurring, was found guilty of the 
Charge and Speoitioation. Evidence was introduced of one previous oon. 
viotion by sum.'ll&ry court for frequenting an off limits hotel in Tiolation 
of Article of War 96. Three-fourths ot the members present ._t the 
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time the Tote wa1 ta.ken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably 
discharged the service. to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to bewme 
due. and to be confined at hard labor. at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for the term of his Da.tural life. The reviewing 
a.uthc&·ity approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. as the place of confinement •. and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 5oi• 

3. The evidence for the prosecution may be summarized as follows a 

On 7 July 1945, accused and other members of the 453rd Quarter­
master Laundry Company were billeted in a large building located i~ 
Verzenay, France (R7-9). A.t about 0100 houri on the morning of 7 July, 
accused, who was somewhat drunk at·lhe time, 11:1.d who lf&S bleeding from a 
cut over his eye, entered a room in the building ml began to point a 
pistol indiscriminately at several of the men with whom he shared quarter•• 
Technician Fifth Grade Raymond J. Cully (the deceased)• after telling h:illl 
to put the pistol awa;y &Ad go to bed, ap~roached him, and, after a brief 
struggle, 1ucceeded in disarming him. !ruring the 1truggle deceased was 
heard to say to Gree•, 11lt you tat.ke my pistol I'll kill you" (R9,13)• 

Shortly after he wa.a disarmed, accused went to Private Arthur 
L. Harril and asked him whether he had a gim.. When Harris produced a 
pistol, ~ccused took it from him over his protests and despite his warning 
that the weapon was loaded (R17,18)a "Somewhere about" 0400 or 0500 
hours a msnber et aooused•a compaey heard a match being 1truck and, lookilig 
up from his bunk, saw accused leaning oTer a bed with a pistol in his hand. 
However, nothing further h&ppened atihis time (Rl4,16). When the men arose 
at about 0630 hours Harris saw the aocuaed and asked him to returD. the 
pistol whioh he had ta.ken the night before. Accused replied. "I'll g1Te • 
it to you•. but left the room without doing so (Rl8,19)• 

At about 0700 hour•• while Cully was in the latrine. &ccuaed 
came to the door, 1tepped in~ide. and 1aid to Cully, "Where 11 my gun• 
(R22,23,32). At this time, Cully was some twenty feet diatsit troa the 
accused (R23,25J Proa.Xx.c). When Cully made no response, accused repeated 
the illquiey, at the same time drawing & pistol, and, when he aga.in reoeind 
no response he fired toward Cully three times. Atth!I second ·shot, Cully 
was heard to say, "You have shot :me";; and .tell to the floor {R23-26,32,M). 
Re died a. short tilll.~ later aa the result ot shook due to h~rage caused 
by a gun shot 11t>u:iadot the right chest(R27)• 

Two men who were- in the latrine at the time of the shooting 
1tated that they obsernd C'ully nade no mo1tet'. during the ti.lie e.ocuaed. 
wa.1 a1king Cully about hia piato1 oth<1r than 1'hoae inTolTed ·in turning 
&""'1 troa a urinal trough and buttonin~ his pan ts "like .he lf&I figuring 
to come out•. Rowenr, in turning away from the urinal. he did tura 
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toward &ccused (R24,34). After Cully fell, the pistol which he had 
takdn from accused the previous night was found on the floor lying 
between his outstretched arms (R33-35). Accused was not normally 
of a qu.&rrelsome disposition and had been friendly with the deceased 
in the past (Rl0,13,21 1 31). He did not appear to be drunk or 
other~ise abnormal at the time of the shooting (R201 26,3l). 

4. For the defense, Private First Class Oscar Broussard of 
accused's company testified that on the evening of 6 July he, a 
Private Jones and the accused, drank two quarts of cognac as well as 
some beer and returned to their company area at about midnight. Upon 
their return accused and Jon~s "wemt to the gambling table to gamble" 
and a short time later "we n:at to the hospital". While at the 
hospital accused received treatment for a cut over his eye. They 
returned to the company at about 0230 or 0300 hours. He did not know 
the source of accused injury (R37,38). Jones testified simil~rly 
but stated tha.~ the three men drank wine, champagne and cognac on the 
evening in question (R41) 0 

Accused, after being advised of his rights as a witness, 
elected to testify on hie OWll behalf. He stated that he, Broussard, 
Jones, and a nun named Allen, drank cognac on 1:he evening of 6 June 
and thereafter returned to their billet and began to gamble. Broussard 
and another man started to fight and he attempted to separate them 
without success. Following this, he started upstairs and: 

"I no more than get upstairs and opens the door 
a.nd that's the last that I re~ember. I had a 
cut over my eye. The last thing I rem.ember 
Cully and 111 other soldier bad me down on the 
floor. I don't know who the other soldier 
~u. They had .Ille do111. Cully grabbed this 
am. here. (witness indicating his left arm) 
and t...'~ts it. As close as I remember I held 
the gun •. ·th both ht11ds. He twisted my arm 
around to "' ~ shoulder and took the gun in 
this hand. The other soldier. I don't know 
who he was. I was bleeding around on my face. 
Then they had us in a jeep carrying us to a 
dispensary in a hospital somewhere• I had 
this cut on my head. I remember somethings 
but I don't remember everything. I remanber 
laying on a table, the doctor giving me an 
X-ray of my shoulder &.lld his saying that it 
was fractured. I remember him sewing up my 
eye. After that we comes back to the billets. 
I remember that I ha.d this other pistol in my 
duffle bag. I had it there b~fore I left for 
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the diapasary. I oom.es baok and triea to pull 
ott ay clothe• but my ahoulder was hurting bad 
ao I lies down 011 my bed until day. I don't 
know who woke me up but I woke up and goes to 
the latrine. I stops by the first urinal trough 
by the door. Cully waa atanding by the other one 
and I asked hilll tor my pistol. •GiTe me my gun", 
I asked hilll. He didn't aay anything but he bad a. 
mean look on his ta.ce. I asked him for my gun 
and !'remember him reaching for his pocket. I got 
scared. I don't know why he wanted the gun last . 
night and he lf&S on one end of the latrine :119a.ching 
for his pocket. I figured he couldn't give me the 
gun from thut end. He was looking at me and he bad 
a mean look on his face. I figured he wa.s going to 
shoot me so I comes out with the pistol I lad and 
fired. I tired it twice and he fell". 

He had nothing against Cully u.d regarded hill. a.1 a f'riend {!43). Re 
did not remember pointing a pistol at T&rious men in tho billot,IJ)r 
did he rem.ember ta.king a pistol from llarriaon t b.dipt ill questio:a (:H4:)e 
When he a.woke tho next morning ho "didn't aeem to be drunk • • • ju.at 
tolt orazY •like a.bout the head" (R46). At'tle time he fired at Cully, 
Cully had partially withdra.-.m hil pistol from his pocket. When asked it 
·it lf&I not possible that in withdrawing the pistol Cully intended to 
return the pistol to him in response to his request he replieda 

"He wouldn't giTe me the gun from that eni 
of the latrine • • * Re was just itanding 
there w'ith a mean look oia his face and 
didn't say a.n.ything. • • • I thought he 
was going to shoot me H I shot him" {R4:6)e 

5. The OTidence ah.owed that accused killed Technician.Fi~h Grade 
Raymond J. Cully at the ti.mo 111d plaee al le god, under the circumstances 
from which the court clearly cwld find tba.t he acted with the requisite 
ma.lice a.forethought to constitute his offense that of' murder {CM ETO 
292, lliokles; CM ETO 3042, ~; CM ETO 6682 Frazier; CM ETO 8533,, . 
Baptiste; CM ETO 16200, ~}.- 'While accused sought to show that he 

acted in self'-defense, in order for a homicide to be excusable on this 

grounds 


"The killing must ha.Te been belieTed 
on reasonable grounds by the person 
doing the killing to be necessary to 
save his life or the liTes of ihose 
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whom he was then bound to protect or to 
prevent great bodily harm to himself Or 
them. The danger must be believed on 
reasonable grounds to be imminent. and 
no necessity will exist with ihe person. 
if not in his 01'll house, has retreated as 
far as he safely can. To avail himself of 
the right of self-defense. the person doing 
the killing must not have been the aggressor 
and intentionally provoked the difficulty" 
(MCM,1928.pe.r.l48,!.,P•l63). 

Manifestly accused cannot avail himself of the right of self­
defense under the circumstances of the instant case. Nor can there be 
aey su;gestion here that the death was inflicted in the heat of a 
sudden passion caused by adequate provocation. thus reducing the offense 
to voluntary manslaughter. Assuming the provocation to have been · 
adequate in the first instance, a "cooling period" of some five hours 
elapsed between the tim~ cf the provocalion and the homicide,· and 
during this interval accused had an opportunity to deliberate upon 
his actions and to plan a means of revenge (cfa CM BTO 292, Mickles, 
supra; CM ~'TO 4497, DeKeyser). There 11'8.S no shawing that accused ll"llS 

not legally responsible for his actions, either because of drunkenness 
or otherwise. The record of trial amply supports tile court'• finding 
that he was guilty of murder, a a aDD ged. 

s. The chorge sheet shows that accused is 26 years of age, run . 
was inducted 20.ll&rch 1941 at Fort Bragg, Borth Carolina. No prior . 
service is shown. 

7e The court was legally oonstitutedand had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. Bo errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial• The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of. trial is legally autfioient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisonment aa the 
oourt-:m.a.rtial may direct (AW 92). CoDf'inement in a penitentiary is 
authorized upon conviction of murder by Article of War 42 and sections 
275 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 454,667). The designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the 
place of confinement, is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, 1eo.II, 
pars.l.E_ (4), 3.2,)• 

fi~ Judge A.dvocste 

flzaL.~ C ~Judge .ldvoeate 

_{_TEMPO__RARY_D_UT_Y)__ _____Judge J.d•ocate 
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Br.w1ch Oftiee et the Ju"1r.;e Advpcate General 
1tith the 

European Theat~r 
APO 8S7 

BO~ OF REVIE'J .:No. 2 

CJl EM 16261 

UNITED STaT.li.S 

Privc..te 	First Clb.SS H.LlffiY 
L. ~S (3.6842765), 
Co111pc.ny o, 54.th Sig,n.U 
Bc.tt;;,.lion 

5 DEC 1945 

) 
) 75th INF&i.NTRI DIVISIO.U 
) 
) 

~ Tri"'1 by cm:, convened at l:ourmelon­
) Le-Pi;itite, Fri:ince, l '-nd 2 ~~ugust 194.5. 
). 
) 

Senten~e: Dishonorc.ble disch...rge, 
totGJ. forfeitures, ~nd confin~~~nt at 
hQ.I'd lc..bor for life. United StQtes 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylv~r.ia. 

HOLDING BY BOMD OF fu.~;i No• 2 
HEPBU:-..N, H..LL ~nd COLI.INS, Judge ~dvocates 

1. The record of tri...:t in the case of the soldier n~r.<ed <.hove 
has been ex;;;mined by the I;oard of l"i.eview. 

2. i~ccused was tried on the follo·.d.ng chc.rgcs cmd specifice. tions: 

CHARGE 	 I: Viold.tion of the 96th ATticle of 1ir.0r. 
, 	 I 

Specification lt In thc..t Priv;;:.,te .First CliiSS H(;nry L • ....hrens, 
Company· C, 54th .Sii;nal Eo.tt<-.lion, did, in conjunction with 
Priv;;,.te First Class Cl:icil'les E. In~re~, ConpiJlY C, 54th 
Si~l ~~ttd.lion, at La Cave,, Oeuilly, Vo.rne, FrLnce, on 

... 	 or Cl.bout 6 June 1945, wrongfully cor.Jrit o.n g,ss~.ult upon 
Gaston Roulot by point~ng G pistol o.t him. 

Specifie;;.tion 2: In thc.t * * *, did, in conjunction dth 
Prhc.te First Clc.ss Che:.rles E. In;ream, Com;iw,y C, 54th 
Sign~l·Bat~ion, c..t tc.. c~ve, Oeuilly, ll~rne, Frc..nce,.on 

, or c..bout 6 June 1945, "wrongfully com;..it c..n ...ssGU.lt upon 
?.r. ~J.bert M.i.sson by pointing ,a pistol ~t him. · 

RES'I\RlC'i"ED 
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CILffiGE II: Violatfon of the 93rd 1.rticle of iior. 

S)ecificction: In th~t * * *, did, in conjunction with 
Priv01.te First Clo.ss Charles E. IngreQ.lll, ·compc.ny C, 
54th Sib-rial Batto.lion, ~t La C1;;.yc:, Oeuilly, l:c..rne, 
France, on or Ci.bout 6 June 1945, unlci.wful.ly enter the 
dwelling of Gaston Roulot, with intent to commit a 
criminal offense, to •~i~: r<.pe, therein. 

CHiJlGE lll: Vfo3.ati01'\ of the 92nd Article of ~ia.r. 

~pecification l: ·~ that ~ ~ *, did, in conjunction lith · 
Private First Class Ch<i.rles E. IngreG!ll., Company C, 54th 
Sign.al Battalion, at La Cave, Oeuilly, V.;;.rne, Frc.nce, 
on or Clbout 6 June 1945 forcibly Ql'l.d feloniously '1gainst 
her will, hav~ C'.<.rnal. knowledge of Mlle. lllcienne Roulot, 
to ritt whiJ.e'"tbls-.id Privo.te First Cl.Gss Charles E. In­
gream had the carnal knowledge as aforesaid, the said 
Private First Cl.ass Henry L • .bhrens stood guard onr the 
other members of the household th~n present. 

Specification 2: In that * * *, did, in conjunction with · 
PriTate First Cl.ass Charles E. Ingreaa, Co11pwiy C, 54th 

I' 	 Signal.Biottallon, <il.t La. Cave, Oeuil.l.y1 ~ne, Pre.once, on 
or &ibeta.~6 June 1945, forcibly and feloniously c.gainst 
her uill, have cw-m.l knowledge of Mb1e. Gerilli;i.ine l::i:i.Sson, 
to wit: while the said Private Henry L. wens had the 
carnal knowled~e as <:..foresud, the said Priv~te First 
Class Charles Ee Inbream stood guard over the other 
members of the household then present. 

Accused pleaded not gu.ilty and, three-fourths of the members of the 
court present at tho time the vote was taken concurr~, was found gi.iil.ty 
or the char&es ~d specifications. No evidence of previous convictions 
was .introduced, Three-fourths of the uembers o! the court present at 
the tiule 'the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishormrc..bly 

· disch~ged- the service 1 to forf'eit cill pr...y <..nd ~lowances due or to become 
due, and to be co.r:..f'i.u•.;d ei.t hard labor; &t such p~ce as the revi~wing 
authority may direct, !or the term of his Ii:.tural life. The reviev~ 
authority &iopproved the sentence, designated the United St..tes Penitentitt.r;r, 
tewis9urg, Pennsylvt.n.ia, as the place of confinement and forw..rded the 
record of trial for action pursu~nt to Article of Vlar 501. · · . 

·J •. The evidence !or the prosecution is summarized as follows: 

On 6 June 1945 (Rl.J), at about 0330 hours (Rl.4), accused, • 
· .111.ewber of Co.mp.any c, .54th Signal Battalion (B.34) with another soldier, 
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ca.me to the house· of Gaston Roulot, L& Can,. 0.ui.lly (R12), Francs 

(R22). · Roulot was a.wakened and indicated throU&h the wind.ow to the 


· soldiers that he could not open the door. · A shot wa.s !ired and still 
Roulot did ..no"t open the door. The soldier.s knocked ·,~stroniern at the· 
·door, Roulot, feiiU'~ the door would be broken, ·opened it. The accused 
called him "Boche", pointed a revolver at him snd told h1..m. to ta.~e o!! 
~s s.b..irt "because it was ~ Am.ericc.n shirt". Roulot was greatly 
nterrorized" and could hardly lllOYe. He explained that there was & 
small baby in the house and that his wife was sick but "they didn't w~t 
to understand &nythin.gn. They "made" him go up3t~irs following with & 
revolve~ pointed at hilll. For the next h<tJ.f pour, in the r~o.m. where his 
wife and baby were, Roulot trieq without success to pursu&de them to . 
dep;;..rt (RJJ). ~t about this time, ioulot 's D<.rried iiaught•r, ~Germaine 
~sson, E.nd her husbsmd:, Albert l:aason, were "forced" !in'to the same ·room. · 
(Rl.3, 20). Lucienne Roulot, the ei~teen year old ~rried daughter , . 
of GQ.ston Roulot (R29, 14), i'{.?.S also in the room in bed (RJO). The · · 
accusea began to" touch wid caress Gel'lllQ.ine 1l.asson and. tried to induce ~r 
to leQve the room while ~bert lla.sson tried to restriin her .(R24~25). · 
Accused held her h~d "tightly~ so she could not escape, although she · 
tried. He hc;.d a revolver in the other h.wid end she was afrc.id he would 
shoot her husband (R25). He.took her into another room while the other 
soidier renu.:..ined tnd s-at on the wife's bed with a ;;revol vu always in his. 
hand (RJJ). accused, with revolver in his hand, pushed Germaine JJasson 
on to the . bed.· She pushed hil;i .back and ~en he "iolent,ly pulled her on ·, 
the bed again. ·He then fell on her to prnent her. ad,sicg .while she . ~' 
cried a.nd shouted ,IB ~, 15). Accused then "took out his p~nis ·t.nd '. ' . 
introduced it iI). !Jler.ft'• 1'1hile accused was with Germaine, the other sblelier 
came near the door ~d.fired two shots (RZ5, 26, 30). J-.ccused allowed . 
her to return to her father•s.bedroom·and he stood on the stair landing 
memi.cing "us al111 nh:.le the other soldier went out Ydth Lucienne Roulot 

(R251 .3 0). "Under the menace of the revolvern ~ the other sold,ier took 

!Jl.ciennejRoulot from the room and "did what he should not flave done", be 

"raped Ltier:J' and [She·f~li] there had been a penetration" (!Q.O). She 


.. 	 became sick and called for e:. basin. · The soldier •went ~n Lhei/. !f.gain" · 
under the menace of the revolver {R.:30, 31).. She could not do enything; 
she was under the "menace" of the revolver and spe could not get •vra.7 
(R.30). She ·testified nc.s I haven't been with a man before, I don't know 

· anythirig,· but the doctor ·when he c-.me told me I hc.d been· with a man. 
There r"""d been a penetration"· (R.32). He then. took her back to the mother's 
room to her bed where he· sat beside her and. kissed her (P.Jl). ;Jiile the . 
soldier was out with Lucienne, accused ~gain took Germaine, nat the menace 
of his revolver" to the stair lG.ndiz;&.i forced her to tcke of! her clothes 
and again "introduc~d his penis to LhoiJ". He then al.lowed her to arise.·. 
He told her several things she could not.understand, and then took her into 

· the other room and, on the carpet a.t the foot o! the bed, forced her to have . 
intercourse. with him a third time ovhile her sister, Lucienne, was on the 
bed with the other soldier. He then let her go beck to her father's :booa 
and he remained on the lunding with his revolver in his hQlld (R25). After 
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the oth..:r soldier returned with Lucienne to hn mother's room &nd 
while he t.:.ll;:ed to her, <..ccused went out, brouLht • co:.r to the fror,t door, 
tnd cilled his companion \:ho \~ent out •dth him <..bout 0530 hours (aJ..4).o.fter 
shutting the people in tlle roou (R26). 'i'he <..uto:.~obile left in the 
direction of Epern<..y (R14). flt ;..bout 0530 hours, 6 Jun~ 1)45, the Qc~used, 
driving <:.n ...uto::..obile, :..ccomp,.:i.r..ied by Cllj;;.rles Intre<;.m, ..:.pproached the 
..,u<...rd i;;c.te of 54th Si.;n.U B..:.tt:..lion c..t <. ."pret.ty [;OOd r;;.te 11 of sp~ed, 
v;.;;;vering W.l over the ro._d. He hit the g:..te v.ith the mo-'.:.or vehicle. 
They v1cre both d:r-.ir.k <..r,d t::e i;;U<.rd told them to go to bed, •;hereupon 
accused p .. rked the vehicle -.lon.;-;tde o. bilildint; cbout 75 fed inside the t;c..te 
wid with In.;reioi.IU w<..lked to the ch<..te~u i1here they. lived (R36-37). 

J..t '-bout C900 hours <:. Fn11ch C:octor eXc?.lltined ~e. Gtra: ine I:..:.sson i:.Ild 

::D.ie. Lucienne Roulot. J,:r.,e. !.:<:.sson h<..d h.._d ..;. f<:!W 11hy.;ienic c.:.res" <'.nd <.n 

·internal injection. Pc.rticula.rl~r, she 110.s in <:.. ;;rout .&t;ite of n0rvousress, 
-.:.~it..tion c:.nd fri.;;;ht. Since she ~·1;.:.s five months pre[Jli.Ui.t, Lnd lJ...d hi..d 
c:nother b<:.by, it i·;<:.S .impossible to tell whether sht: h;;;.d h<:.d sexu.::.l intercourse 
.-:ithin sever<i.l hours provious to the exownin<.ction. Lucienne Roulot is no 
longer .. virgin but the doctor could not ~ayprocisely whether she had lost 
her viriinity this same i;;orning or on a. pri;,vious bcca.sion (Rll). He found 
no tn.ce of se;r;en by e..x<;J;tlm.tion yj_ th his fineer. He did note Q swollen 
pc.rt ~t the edge of the lips r1hich is a :)..:rt of the muscles insidQ .:.t the 
edJe of the v~0ina the r~~ult of friction or a knock. He did not believe 
th<J.t this swellin~ could be cLused b7 <.DJthin~ ctLer tb<i.n o. penis (Rl2). 

4. ""• iuter bo:::ing c.dvised of his ri.;)J.ts by th~ President of the 

court; wl;.o nas QJ.so ~~1...w ue::iber, c:..ccused elected to n:&.ke -.n. unsworn 

st.:..tement ;1l:ich is SUWJ.'-rized r;..s follows: 


He, Ir.I;;re-.r:i <:.nd three cooks dr<:.nk intoxicC;.nts <...t the ch.:..teoii.U. They 
h.;..d 11 two or three or four 11 bottles. They ·..ent fro;u there to o.. f;,u:dly 
house in the vill"'~e where they drank until 2400 hours. ,J.ftcr that, he 
did not rerncrnber events. Before com.i~ in the army over i. year ago, he 
worked in Q copper mine. He was in c. tomk outfit and volunteered for the 
p<:.ratroopers. He w;;.nted to ,go overseas. He has -. wife, one child "-nd 
ex;,0ecting another. He h~s never been in c.ny trouble before he ~ot in the 
o.rt:JY (R60-61) • 

b. Three soldiers-who were with accused <;.nd Ingreg,m on 5 June 1945 
from e~rly in the eve'ning until about 2230 hours testified that they were 
both very drunk; that the group drank five bottles of wine, one CO,?;rlC..C ~nd 
one "ca.lv.:..dose"; tho..t accused c:.nd Ingream. dr<:.nk IJ.ost of it; that neither 
~ccus~d nor IJ;l~ream were .7.rmed; wid, that both were &ood or exc~11~nt 
soldiers. One witness saw them next dc;.y t..nd they looked like they h.:i.d 
been "on a terrible drunk" (R40-47). One of the men left the p'-.rty e.;..rly 
bec..-.use he 1'1.:.s ~raid to ride b.::.ck with accused' because of his drunkermess 
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. (R41). 

c. ;:.n officer of accused's organization testified that o;.11 

sm..J.l ..:rr.1s were locked in the supply room and a. sergeant w<.;.s the only 

person who h<.i.d g,ccess to thw; th"-t during '!:-he l:.:.tter po.rt of l:iz.y he 

made a person:.:.l check for small arws, includin~ '-Ccused ts b~,t;s;. and 

that on 6 June he f~unci no pistols in a9cusecj.'s possession (R.53-54). 


d. On 7 June 1945, the Roulot ·home WGl.S visited by .._ soldier 

and found to be in c. st...te of disorder, Tu.pty wine rnd ch<.mpli.~ne 


bottles were strewn about the house and an uns~'.vory oder was present

.(R49-50). By agreement of prosecution <i.nd consent of accused the 

foruer hsti.mocy of witnesses ;a.t another trial was ackdtted (R5.5) as 


· .follows: One Colnet, neighbor of the Roulot f~ said ~he ge;neral. 
reputation of Lucienne Roulot for ch..,stity, truth, <..nd ver-.city lril.S 

bad. He h::.d see,n her pulling 'down her skirts ;;i.fter finishing rn.dd.ng 
love with Gerlll.G:ll soldiers. . He ~d seen her kissini!; c.nc! associ&.ting 
with Ger~ soldiers evecy du.y. 11<,dQ.me Roulot' s reputs.tion is •lso 
bad; he, the witness, had reldions with her and she ~d lied 11plenty11 

to him concerning me.ny me..t:ters (R.55-58) ,· .hnother ~ember of ,the . 
community, said the &eneral. reputation of tucienne/'.Roulot for truth and 
veracity was "very bad in al.1 11 (R.59) und 'that she didn't like the 
Roulots' because "they ·are not a good fwnily" (R60). · 

. e, With consent of c.ccused, and prosecution, defense introduced 

the stipul~ted testimony of C<_ptG.in Koerper, l:edictl Corps, to the e!fect 

th.a.ton 6 June 194.5 he wa.s called to ex.amine two.French women who were 

~llegedly ruped six hours previously and found both greatly upset ei.nd 

crying inter~iittently. The older wo~n, several months pregnant, told 

him she was neither bruised torn or scrctched and he did not consider 

vuginal •x.amination necessary. The younger told him she w-.s • virgin 

prior to the alleged riipe.· He e.x.;.wtlned h!ir ~d found that the vaginal 

orifice showed slight induration. Thu hymeneal. ring was· riot intact 

but there ·Mre no indic~tions that it ha.d been recently torn. Tho 

vaginal orifice w;;;.s l~rge enough to admit penetration. These facts 

can in no way be construed to mean she was or was not w. tlrgin prior to 

the alleged attack. It was also impossible to state.in View of those 

findJ.ngs that she had had intercourse lately (R61). ~ 


5. .After o..rra.ignment and before en.tering pleas to the generu 

issue, defense entered a special. plea on the ground that the case w•s 

not investig&ted in compliance with .ilrticle of War 70, pointing out that 

the investigr.ting officer was ~ppointed on 13 June 1945 whereas the ch<.l.rge 

sheet was dated 20 June 1945 (R.5 reverse). The trial. judge advocQte 

advised the court that the charges had been redrafted after the investigation 

(R6). The defense further contended that accused was not present &t the 

investigQtion and offered to pl~ce accused on the st~d to testify to the 
fact. The President o! the court, who was .:tso th·e law member, c.djourne<i the· 
court "for the purpose of permitting the law men:her to meet with the DiTision 
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Jud&e Advoc•te" {R7). The court re~onvened the next day, 2 illl~ust 1945, 

;;i.nd adr.:ittc:d,. over objection by defense,, the clw.r~e· sheet d._ted JJ June 

1945 .for the purlX'se of ·showin~ thc.t ""11 investi~i.i.tion hc:..d been. m<:.de of 

the cru1e c..lleji;ed (R9, Pros. Ex. L). Dd'ense counsel continued to 

object bec..,use ~ccused had not known the nature of the charges, had no 

"right" (sic) to cross ex<J.iine c:..nd confront vi?-tnesses durine the · 

invosti1;a.tion in direct viol~tion of J;rt,icle ef W;..r 70. ,The h.w lii~mber 

'overruled the Special ple<A Of defense SU~ject to objection Of llie:Ebers Of 

the court; he decl~red: · 


"as to the speci.-.1 plea in ~b~tenent, investigation 
of the records in this CQ.Se discloses th~t this set 
of cha;es h<-d been investi;;;..ted four tkes. , Once 
by l'ilit<:..ry Police, twice by the authorities of the 
French .~rr.~·, c:.nd once more by our ovm nilltary · 
~uthorities. In the ·case of the 1 .. st investigation, 
the invest.i.zdin& of!icsr certified over his mm siz­
natur• th...t the o1.ccusi;..d was present and h.t..d flill 
oppor.tunity to crass examine every witness. For that 
rea.son it is obvious th'1.t the ~ccused h~s ~de f"*1se . 
st.. te.:.ients to his ccunscl or that counsel hz.s toler•ted 
fr..,ud ·in the ·conduct of tho c;..se. . Bec..,use of the 
f.:..ct that the record shows that the tt.ccused was present 
dur~ an investiz<:.tion LIJ.d hcd ~~ll opportunity to cross 
ex£.W.1.ne the witnesses, the ple._. in <:.bde:.i.ent is not sust~ined" (R9). 

6. It is obvious thG.t the law.i.:ember tri.U: judre c.dvoco.te ;..ndI . o 
dofense counsel were not fw:J.ilio.r with the principle that non compliance 

with the provisions of the 7Cth ..irticle o.f War does not ..tfect the 

jurisdiction o! the court Wld that the investi~Qtion of the char~es 


·.under said i.rticle is -.n -..dm.inistrntive process inhnded prioarily for 
the benefit of the .;..ppointin~ authority (CM ETO 229477, Floyd 17 B.R. 
~149i Ci: ETO 106, Orbont 1 mr (ET0)95; Cl! E'ro ·4570, HGi.wl'..ins· Cl: ETO 5155 1
· C;a.rroll and D'Elia; CM ETO 6694, Hc..rnock); The speci"-1 pfe-. vr~s be..d on its 
!•ce G.nd should ho..ve been sU!lll:Aarily denied by the· 1-.w member. . H1i.d he followed 
this course. the irre.j;Ular fnd wholly .indefensiole proccedin~s which subs~qu~ntly 
followed vmuld not have occurred. · ­

7. The Board of Review is of the opinion that tho record of tri.U. 

i~ not le'go.11.y su!ficiEi.n'.t to support the findings of &uilty wid the 

sentence. The r.ctions_of the J.Ai.w .meµber, a.s narrCii.ted a.bove,.constituted 

prejudicial error. While the· Board b;;.ses its opinion on the law meniber's 

cond~ct o..s • whole, the ma.tter wj.11 be herein discussed in two aspects. · 


First9 Th• udjournment of court for tho purpose of permittinz the 

law member to consult with the Division Staff Judge ~dvoc.,te and his 

obvious e.x.aL:liDation of a file not •dmitted in evidence w•s prejudicial 

to the -.ccused' s. substanti.sl rights z.s held by the Board. of Review in the 
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Richter c .. se (C~ ETO 154S6). AS in the Richt~r trial, the file con• 

ta.ined infon1G1.tion which v1c:i.s prejudiciir.l to accused. The risychi..,tric 

Nport E..nd the St;;.!f Judge .tt.dvocate 1 s instructions to the Trii..l Jud&e 


'..;.dvoc<.:.te disclosed thc.:.t ...ccused h.i.d ~dl:tltted being in the Roulot house. 
In the record of trial the identific~tion of accused rests solely on 
the testimony of 'the inmetes of the house. ...ccused 1s g.d;.:dssion I:-.s 
not introduc~d in evidence. Furthermore, such w. ~dwission is ~ 
contrttdictory of accused's unsv1orn st.. tement Q.t the tri"'1 to the effect 
that he did not Neill occurrences .11.fter 2400 hours. Th~ i:.Ccused 
offered to testify concernin~ the investii~tion but he ~•s denied this 
ri.:.;ht. The L..vr uember detoroinod !rou the file th<.t ht; w;;;.s present
bectuse · · 

"the investi;;;a.tion officer certified over his o\'m 
si~ture that ""~cused W'"-S present". 

D;/ this announcement ~lone, he indic+ted a disbe:lle! in ''11¥ of ""ccused' s 
testimon,y E.nd deuonstr~ted a clear choice in beli~vin~ info1~iation found in 
tho file "-nd not in the evidence. I!is disre.;<>rd for his O<i.th· c.i.s • 
s::ember of the court rec;.:iired by Article of W.:o.r 19. nto truly try E.nd 
determine a.ccordin6 to the evidence" (underscoring suppllod)is i.pparent. 
~ihile the defense presented no evid~n:M expressiy ·contradictory to the 
prosecutions Ci;.se, it ?ld present subst&ntial evidence affecting the 
credibility or prosecution's witnesses- p::rticularly Lucienne Roulot on 
whose uncorroborated testhony the !indings of .;;uilty of Specification 1 
of Char&e III r.·llst rest as to the element of consent since this. alleged 
act took pl<.oce in a room Q.Wfl.y from the other witnesses. 

Secondly: The law member's st~tement 

11it is obvious that the acctised 
0 

ho:.s nu:.de false statements 
to his counsel or· th.:l.t counsel h~s tolercted fr~ud in the 
conduct of the case"

I . . . I 

not only cor.imutdcated his c'onclusions derived from ex...mination of the 
file to the other members of the court but a1so in effect, inpeQl.ched in 
his own mind and the other members' minds, the credibility of ~ccused a.s 
to ~y testimony he might have elected to bive. It clso cle;;..rly disclosed 
his o;m prejudice and his remarks were such ~s were C<oi.lculz.ted to influence 
tho minds of the other vot~ members. In v.:.ew of the issue raised as 
to the credibility of prosecutions' v1itncsses, it is the opinion of the 
Board of Review th-.t the evidence does not cornpell findings of 6Uilty as 
to all o!·the offenses or which Q.ccused stc.nds convicted end t~t the 
conduct of the la.w .me!:lber not only- constituted o.n error, but W.so that it 
was an error which preju~ced the subst~ti~l ritihts of ~ccused and 
re(iuires ~h&t" the findings. of a;uilt;" be set aside (C'..: ETO 1201, Pheil; 
CY ETO 2625, Pridgen). It is there!oie the ?Pinion of the Boo.rd of Re~iew 
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that accused ho.s b;..en denied' •"f..,ir trial irrespective of the 
subst;;;.utfality of the evidence C::.l ETO 13222, Howurd) • 

• 
. 8. This c;.;.se is a. com,P<nion c<:.se to C:W ETO 16151, Ingre~ 

wherein "' conviction b<-sed upon the s<0.rne incident vias sustfcined by 
the Eo;;.rd. The error corru:d.tted durin& the trial of the c<.:.se 
under discussion w;.s not comr:J.tted during the trial of the Int;ream 
c;;..se. I 

9. !he ch<-:::\;e sheet shows that accused is 25 ye.:;..rs and nine . 
r1onths of ~ge <:.nd w.._s inducted on 11 July 1944 ;;:.t ,lr.ilvrGl.Ukeo, Hisconsin. 
He h;.d no prior service~ 

10, The court v;;;..s legally constituhd and h.:.d jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. For the re~sons stated, the Eoard of Review is of 
the opinion that the record of tri<..l is leb~lly insufficient 'to support 
the findin~s ~nd the sentence. 

~~dvocc.te 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater · : 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW' NO. 3 


CM ETO 16278 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 	 ) 
) 

v. 	 ) 
) 

Private First Class DAVID ) 
J. ADAMCHECK (16029531). ) 
2256th Quartermaster Truok ) 
Company, Aviation, 45th Air ) 
Depot Group• IX Air Force ) 
Service Command ) 

IX AIR FCRCE SERVICE COMMAND 

Trial by GCM, convened at Tirlemont. 
Belgium. 31 July 1945. Sentences 
Dishonorable discharge, total tor­
fei tures • and confinement at hard 
labor tor one yefU' and six months 
(suspended). · 

.OPINION by BOA..W OF REVIEW NO. 3 

&LEEPER. Slf3RMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined in the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the European Theater and there found legally insufficient to 
support the findings and sentence. The record of trial has now been 
examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its holding, 
to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of said Branch Office. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Speoifica.tiona In that Pfc David J. Adam.check, 2256th 
QM Truck Co, Avn, 45th Air Depot Group, did, at 
Strip Y-91, on or about 17 June 1945, feloniously 
and unlawfully kill Tee 5 John L. Pandolfo by 
shootin.g him in the chest.with a 32-cal.pistol. 

- , 
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He pleaded not guilty to, and was found guilty of, the Specification 
and the Charge. No evidence ot previoua convictions was introduced. 
He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the ••?'Tice, to forfeit 
all pay and allowances duo or to become due and to be confined at 
hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority -.a:r direct, 
for one year and six months. The rerlewing authority approved the 
sentence but suspended the execution thereof. 

The result of the trial n.s promulgated in General Court­

Martial Orders No. 136, Headquarters IX Air Force SerTice Command, 

dated 14 August 1945. 


3. The evidence shon that on the evening of 17 June 19451 four 
enlisted men--aocused, deceased, Corporal Moore and another--were 
gathered around a bed in accused's barrack• diacuaaing Moore's pro­
posed purchase of a .32 caliber automatic pistol belonging to accused 
(Rl3,17). When the gun was first produced, Moore removed the clip 
and pulled the trigger. Thereafter the others each handled it, one 
of tham reinserting the clip a.nd putting the pistol on the bed, 
whence accused picked it up (R18-20). He was engaged in undertaking 
to again remove the clip, and thus render the weapon harmless, when 
it discharged, killing deceased (R8,12,24,28). 

There is attached to the record of trial a petition for cle­
mency, signed by each member of the court, reciting, as one basis 
therefor, the fact that 

"The evidence and circumstanoes of the case 
indicate that the killing was effected in a· 
purely accidental me.nnera. 

4. 	"Involuntary manslaughter is homicide caused in the com­
mission of an unlawf'ul act not amounting to a felony, 
nor likely to endanger life, or by culpable negligence 
~ performing !:; lawful act, or in performing an act 
required by law • • • Instances of culpable negligence 
in performing a lawful act are a • • • pointing a pistol 
in fun at another and pulling the trigger, believing, 
but not taking reasonable precautions to ascertain, 
that it would not be discharged; • • • " (MCM, 1928, 
pa.r.149_!, pp.165-166). 

"In general, every unintentional killing of a human 
being arising from a wanton or reckless use of fire­
arms, in the absence of intent to discharge the 
weapon, or in the belief that it is not loaded. 
and under circumstances not evincing a heart devoid 
of a sense of social duty, is manslaughter. • * * 
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"It has been said by the United States circuit court 

that * • • any unlawful and wilful killing of a human 

being without malice is manslaughter; adding that 

manslaughter oa.n be predicated on a homicide a.rising 

from the negligent use of such dangerous agencies as 

firearms. United States v. Meagher (Fed.) supra.

/J7 Fed.88.27 • • • 


·~ 

"Where it appeared that one person. picked up a revolver 
llhich he knew to be out of order and likely to go off 
unexpectedly, and recklessly pointed it at another, 
causing his death by its accidental discharge, the 
court held that a conviction of manslaughter was pro­
pel"g returned. State ·v. Tippet (Iowa) supra.. /J4 Iowa 
642f ••• 

"In State v. Coble (1919) --·N.C. --, 99 S.E. 339, it 
appeared that a gun in the hands of the accused had 
been discharged accidentally, or otherwise, causing 
the death of another. The accused was convicted of 
manslaughter, from Which conviction he appealed. 
The court sustained the following instruction: 'Man­
slaughter may be committed * * • if a person by the 
careless, negligent use of a firearm, and in ihe 
presence of other persons, either through carelessness 
or recklessness, wanton, reckless disregard of the 
safety of other persons, points a firearm at them, 
and handles it in such reckless, negligent lll.8.IUler as 
that it is exploded and causes the death of another. 
That would be manslaughter, although no death may have 
been intended or injury intended.' The court held 
that this charge was correctly stated. • * • " 
(.Annotation, 5 ALR 610-613). 

"Involrnta.ry manslaughter~results from the reckless 

use of firearms which migh,t be termed gross negli ­

gence" (Ibid, p.615). 


In CM ETO 1414, Elia, the evidence showed that while accused, 
deceased and another were'"1i'Uiiting from a jeep, accused rested his gun 
across his knees with the muzzle originally pointing away from his 
companions. The jeep 118.S proceeding across a stubble field at the 
rate of 15 or 20 miles an hour, when the driver applied his brakes 
and the gun discharged, killing deceased. In holding the evidence 
legally insutticient to support a conviction of involuntary manslaughter, 
the Boa.rd ot Review chare.o'f;;erized it as "falling short of shocking 

..... ,.-.... 
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one's sense of proper action under the circumstances"., asserting 
that " a proper understanding of the meaning of culpable negligence 
of necessity rests upon the assumption that accused knew the probable 
consequences., but was intentionally reckless or wantonly indifferent 
to the results". 

In the instant case., a.ccus~d's picking up the pistol and 
undertaking to remove the clip indicated a concer~ for rather than 
a disregard of the sa.i'ety of his companions. What caused the gun 
to fire is not shown. But it is far more consistent than inconsis­
tent with. all the facts which are shown.. to conclude that it was not 
any wanton., ~ or reckless negligence on the part of the accused. 
~oreover., the court's unanimous petition for clemency on the basis .. 
inter alia.. that "the evidence and the circumstances of the ca.se in­
dipate---tha't the kill~ng was effected in a purely accidental manner" • 

. is difficult to reconcile with findings of guilty necessarily bottomed 
··upon an inference of culpable negligence on the part of the accused 

': in handling the gun at the time of the pure accident. If his reckless 
handling of the gun. in wanton disregard of the safety of his compan­

~~_ions. under circumstances charging him with ~owledge of the probable 
consequences. had been regarded as-the cause of the killing .. it mieht 
indeed have been appropriately characterized as accidental but not as 
purely so. The only rational connotation of the language employed-­
the connotation practically compelled by the court's inclusion therein 
of ths adverb "purely"--would seem to absolve accused of the type 

-of negligence essential to constitute him guilty of involuntary man­
slaughter. 

However .. the language in the court's petition for cl6Wncy 
has relevancy only for purpose of argument; it has no place in the 
consideration of the question whether there is substantial evidence 
that accused's acts constituted "wanton", "gross" or "reckless" neg­
ligence.. In the opinion of the Board of Review, the record of trial 
does not contain substantial evidence effective beyond reasonable 
doubt to establish the grade of negligence necessary to support a 
finding of accused's guilt of involuntary manslaughter (C!li ETO 15217.o 
Nolan; CM ETO 15346.o Fondrew) .. and is therefore legally insufficient 
toSustain the conviction. 

5. The charge· sheet sho"'s that accused is 19 years of age and 
that .. with no prior service, he enlisted at Selfridge Field.. Michigan. 
4 March 1943. 

,r- 4 ­ 16278 
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a. For the reasons stated, the Board ot Review is of the 
opinion that this record of trial is legally insufficient to support 
the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

LJ £:~4/ / 
~~ Judge Advooate· 

tJh.J~ ~··~~Judge Advocate 

. / /~~,,. /
4'._,~_-?_~~-··~f>"_,,_1.A<_?_t:_c._._~·"'..,1__.' _,,,__Judge Advocate 

' ,, 
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Branch Office o! The Judge Advocate General 
With the 

European· Theater 
1P9 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 4 
J'2 NOV 1945 

Cll ETO 16296 

UNITED STATES ) SEINE SECTION, '!HEATER SERVICE 
) FORCF.s, EUROPEAN THEATER 

v. ) 

Private JOHN W. nm:> (l6o36245), 
Medical Detachment, ll6th . 

) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Paris, 
France, 27 September 1945. 
Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 

Infantry · ) total forfeitures and confinement 
) 
) 

at hard labor for 15 years. The 
Eastern Branch, United States 

) Disciplinary Barracks, Greenha.ven, 
) New York. 

ROWING by BOARD OF REVm'1 NO. 4 
DANIEISON, MEIER and .ANDERSON, Judge Advocates 

l. '!he record or trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and found legally sufficient.to · 
support the sentence. 

2. Eichibit "A" was properly received in evidence. In the absence of' 
impeaching evidence it is presumed that the officer llho signed the morning 
report on 6 August 1944 was at that time the c~anding of'.f'icer~ or acting 
commanding officer of the reporting organization. ' The fact that the same 
officer later, at an'undetermined date, authenticated ,an extract copy of 
this monrl.ng report as perso?ll)el officer does not rebut this presumption 
(CY ETO ·13484, DeVito). This morning report entry and the evidence showing 
apprehension of the accused on 23 December 1944 Uhder the circumstances 
disclosed by the record of.trial, made out a prima facie case of desertion 
against him, and consideration of the evidentia.ry value or Exhibit "B11 is 
not required for a dispositfon of the cs.Se. 

http:evidentia.ry
http:monrl.ng
http:sufficient.to
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Branch Of'tice ot The Judge J.dvooate General 

with the 


European Theater 


BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 5 

CM ETO 16307 

U N I T E D S T .A. T E S ) 
) 

v. . ) 
) 

First Lieutenant.BROWN o. ) 
BRYANT (0-1180134). Battery) 
c. 186th Field Artillery ) 
Battalion ) 

) 

APO 887 

2 0 SEP 1945 

V CORPS 

Trial by GCM• convened at Stralconice. 
Cuchoslova.kia. 26 llay 1945. Sentencea 
To be dismissed the service, to f'orf'eit 
all pay and allowances due or to become 
due and to be confined at hard labor tor 
six months. Eastern Branch. United States 
Disciplinary Barracks. Greenha.ven. Ile..- York. 

HOLDING by BOA.RD OF REVIEif JJO. 5 

HILL. EVINS and JULIAN• Ju~e J.dwcatea 


1. The record of' trial in the c aae of' the ottioer na.med above baa 
been examined by the Board ot ReviEllF and the Board submits this. "its 
holding• to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge ot the Branch 
Office of' The Ju~• .&.dvooate Gemral with the European Theater. 

2. The accused wa.e tried upon the following charges and speci­
!'ioations 1 

CHARGE Ia Violation ot the 95th Article of' War. 

Specif'icationa In that lat Lieutenant Brown o. Bryant. • 
Battery c. 186th FieU Artillery Battalion. was. 
at Lnare. CzechosloT&lcia. on or about 20 l4ay 
1945• grossly druDlc and conspicuously disorderly 
in unif'ora on a public street in the preamce ot 
civilians and military personnel. 

~63tl7 
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CHARGE Ila Viole.tion of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specificationa In that • • • did, at Lnare, Czecho­
slovakia, on or about 20 .May 1945, with intent 
to do her bodily harm commit an assault and 
battery upon Marie Pivnickova b1 willfully and 
feloniously choking and grasping her and strUting 
her, the said Marie Pivnickova, about the face 
with his hands. 

lie pleaded not guilty and. was folmd guilty of the charges and speci­
fications. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He 
was sentenced to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allow­
ances due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor at such 
place as the reviewing authority may direct for six months. The re• 
vining authority, the Com.118.!lding General, V Corps, approved the sen­
tence, commented upon its inadequacy end forwarded the record of trial 
for action under Article of War 48. The con.firming authority, the 
Commanding General, European Theater of Operations, con.firmed the sen­
tence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, &$ the place of confinement and withheld the order 
directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War se>i. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 20 .l4ay 1945, 
accused was a first lieutenant of Field Artillery and serving as exe­
cutive officer of Battery c, 186th Field Artillery Battalion, stationed 
at Lna.re, Czechoslovakia (RG,12). At about 7:00 o'clock that evening 
he attended a house party given in a. Czech home in -.hich there nine 
people present, including three American of'f'icers and five 'lfOlllen (RS, 
7,14,18). They played cards, danced and drank wine and Vodka (R7,12, 
17). Accused brought four bottles of champagne and a half bottle of 
Vodka to the party and consumed some of both (Rl3,l4,45). At about 
10 a 30 pa, the members of the party left the house together, with the' 
intention of going to a dance nearby (R7,18). At this time accused 
was slightly boisterous and his speech was thick (RS,12,14). He and 
a girl named Marie Pivnickova la.gged some-.hat behind the rest of the 
party and while walking arm in a.rm. aocuaed started "squeezing" her and 
Dwrenching"her hands (Rl8,19,22). She called to lla.rie Simunkova, -.ho 
was walking' about five or six steps ahead and when her friend came back 
to help. the accused pushed her awa.y and started choking MiH Pindckova 
(Rl9.20,24). The girl then tainted and upon regaining consciowsneas 

• 	 observed accused above her (R21). She started to scream whereupon 
aocused helped her to her feet but put his hand over her mouth to stifle 
her screams (A27,28,ZO). Several people, includillg Czech civilians 
and military personnel of the American army gathered at the scene ot 
the incident, which was on a public road with houses on both sides 
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(Rl0,11,27-30). At the time the first person, an .American soldier, 
reached them, he observed the girl in a kneeling or crouching position 
with accused holding her arms (R28). The lieutenant ordered the soldier 
to leave and tried to disperse the crowd by telling the civilians to 
return to their homes while waiving his arms in the air (R29,30). He 
was under the influence of intoxicants at this time and refused to 
listen to the soldier, who tried to persuade him to leave because of 
"-tihat the people were talking about and what the people were thinking" 
as a result of his conduct and the condition of his intoxication (R31). 
Ee went to a nearby how e where the girl was taken, cleaned some mud 
from his uniform and went to the dance {R9,12). It was stipulated 
between the prosecution and defense that a civilian physican examined 
Miss Pivnichova at about 11 o'clock that evening and discovered that 
the girl had sustained bruises on her face and back. One of her knees 
was lacerated and her neck and chin showed black and blue· bruise marks. 
Her nose was bleeding and she was exceedingly nervous and upset {R39; 
Pros.Ex.A). 

4. Accused, after his rights as a witness were explained to him, 
elected to remain silent {R48). The defense re-called two of the pro­
secution's witnesses but inasmuch as their testimony corroborated the 
evidence previously adduced as to the extent of accused's intoxication 
it is not repeated here (R45,47). 

5. Competent uncontradicted evidence establishes that on the 
evening in question &CCised consumed a considerable quantity of intoxi­
cating beverages following which he committed an assault upon Marie 
Pivuickova by choking her and striking her on the fa.ce. The fact that 
the assault was of a vicious nature is disclosed by the results of the 
medical examination and the fright which the girl sustained. She fainted 
and upon regaining consciousness accused was bending over her body and 
holding her by the arms. Following her outcries a number of Czech 
civilians and mEmbers or the American army congregated at the scene, 
in a public place, and observed the accused, an .Ainerican army officer 
in uniform, drunk and waving his arms in an effort to disperse the 
crowd. His conduct was manifestly "disorderly", aa alleged. and was 
clearly shown to have been of such a character as to reflect discredit 
upon himself personally and to seriously compromise his character and 
standing as an officer and gentleman. 

Article of War 95 eatabl ishes a standard of discipline and 
behavior required of officers ot the .American a~ and provides that: 

"J.:srt officer • • • who is convicted of conduct 
unbecoming an officer and a gentleman shall be 
diS111issed the service" (AW 96). 
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The offenses or being grossly drUXlk and conspicuously disorderly 
while in uniform in a public place, as alleged by the Specification 
of Charge I. and of assaulting the Czech girl. as alleged in the Speci­
fication of Charge II, is fully established by substantial evidence. 
(As to Charge I, see CM ETO 25• Kenney, 1 B.R. {ETO) 13.and CM ETO 4606 1 
Geckler, and a.s to Charge II,Geckler, supra., and CM ETO 3919, ~). 

Although accused was under the influence of intoxicants at 
the time he choked and struck the girl there is no evidence that he 
was so drunk as to be unable to entertain the required specific intent 
to do bodily harm. The findings that accused committed both offenses. 
under the circumstances, a.re not legally inconsistent and are fully 
established (CM ETQ 3937, Bigrow; CM ETO 4184• Heil; CM ETO 7585. 
llanning a.nd authorities cited therein). - . _ 

6. By General Order 64. 26 ~ 1945. Headquarters V Army Corps, 
APO 305, Brigadier General C. G. Helmickwa.s appointed Deputy Corps 
Commander. V Corps and. in the absence of the V Corps Commander on 
4 June 1945, wa.s the officer colll!ll8.D.ding tor the time being and there­
fore the proper reviewing authority in this case {AW 46; MCM, 1928, 
par.87, p.73,; .AR 600-20,; Q,( ETO 4054• Carey). 

7. The charge sheet showa that a.ccuaed is 23 years a.nd six months 
of age and that he served as an enlisted man from 25 November 1940 to 
8 April 1943. He attended the Field Artillery Officer Candidate School. 
Fort Sill. Oklahoma from 14 January 1943 to 8 April 1943 where he was 
commissioned a Second Lieutenant. The date of his promotion i;o First 
Lieutenant is not shown. 

8. The court W&B legally constituted and ba.d jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. No errors in.juriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were committed during the trial. , The Board of 
Review 18 of the opinion that the record of trial i¢egally sufficient 
to support the findings or guilty and the sentence. 

9. A aentence of dismissal is mandatory upon conviction of Article 
ot War 95 and is authorized tor a violation of .A.r}icle of War 93. Con­
viction tor an of'tense under Article of War 93 may also be punished as 
the court-martial may direct (AW 93). The designation of the Ea.stern 
Branch. United States Disciplinary Barracks. Greenhaven, New York as the 
place of confinement is proper (.&Jr 42; oir.210, wn. 14 Sept.1943. Seo.VI. 
as am~ded). 

- E,.:...,..._ ... -.R .... - ... ' 
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lat Ind. 

War Department. Branch O!'tice of' The Judge J.d.vocate General nth the 
European Theater. . 2 0 SEP 1945 · TOa Commanding 
General, United States Foroes. European Theater (Main). APO 757 1 · 

u. s. A:rmy. 

le In the oaae of First Lieutenant BROWN o. BRYANT (0-1180134). 
Battery c. 186th Field Artillery Battalion. attention is invited to 
the foregoing holding by the Board of Revi811' that the reoord of trial 
is legally sutficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions ot Article of' 
War 5~. you now have authority to order execution ot the sentence., · 

2. When copies of the published order are .forwarded to tbi a 
o.t'f'ice. they should be aocompanied br the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The f'ile number of' the record in this office is CM ETO 
16~~~:·ror oonvenience of' reference please plaoe that number in 
~I 

• .. 

at the end of the ordera (CM ETO 16307). 

. 1 ~t/ tLu-i 
A~ 

E. C. 11oDIL • 

. 

; 

.Assistant Judge Advocate 

. I I 

. Brigadier General, United Sli.5litea»2J:-mv'aol 

( Sentence ordered executed. GCllO/.U.01 USFET, 28 Sept 1945). 

http:GCllO/.U.01
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 


BOA.RD OF REVID'l NO. 5 	 22 SEP 1945 

CM ETO 16310 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 3RD mFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Salzburg, Austria, 24 tray 1945. 

Private RAYMClID HARDERS, ) Sentence: Dishonorable dis­
(36688593),' Company L, 
7th Infantry · 

) 
) 
) 

charge, total forfeitures, and 
confinement at hard labor far 
life. Eastern Branch, United 

) States Disciplinar;r Barracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by' BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 5 
HILL, EVINS and JULIAN, Judge Advocates 

1. The record or tria1 in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by' the Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and specif'icationst 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specif-1..cation lt In that Private Raymond Harders, 
Compaey "L", 7th Infantry did, near st. Barsson, 
France, on or about 20 September 1944, desert the 
service or the United.States by absenting himselt 
without proper leave .from his organization, with · 
intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: Combat 
with the enemy", am did remain absent in desertion 
until he was apprehended near Ribeauville, France, 
on or about 6 February 1945. 

Specification 2t In that * * * did, near Utweiler; 
Germany, on or about 15 March 1945, desert the 
service or the United States by absenting himself 
withont proper leave .f'rom his Organization, 111th 
intent to avoid ha~ardous duty, to wits Combat 
with the enemy-, and did remain absent in desertion

-1.: 	 . 
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"" 	 until he returned to his organization near Bing­

weilerhol, Germany-, on or about 17 March 1945. 


Specification 3: In that * * * did, near Althornbach, 
Germ.any, on or about 18 March 1945, desert the 
service or the United States by absenting him­
self "Iii thout proper leave from his organization, 
"Iiith intent to· avoid hazardous duty, to w1t: 
Combat nth the enemy-, an:i did remain absent in 
desertion until he returned to his organization 
near Wattenheim, Germany, on or about 23 March 
1945. 

Specification 4: In that * * * did, near Frankenthal, 
Germany, on or about 25 March 1945, desert the 
service of the United States by absenting himself 
without proper leave from hi3 organization, with 
intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: Combat 
with the enemy, and did remain absent in desertion 
until he returned to his organization near Kick­
lingen, Germany-, on or about 25 April 1945. 

He pleaded not guilty- and, t'fto-thirds or the members or the court iresent 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty or the Charge 
and its specifications. No evidence or previous convictions was intro­
duced. Three-fourths or the members or the court present at the time 
the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably dis­
charged the service, to rorfeit all pay and allowances due or to become 
due, and to be confinoo at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for the term or his natural life. The reviewing 
authority approved the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of 
confinement, and forwarded the record of trial ror action pursuant to 
Article of War 50}. 

3. Evidence introduced by the prosecution shCMS that at all times 
mentioned in the specifications accused was a member of Company L, 
7th Infantry (RB,12,20,22,23; Pros.Ex.A,B,C). On or about 20 September
1944, accused's company- was in combat "lrl.th the enem;r, "meeting enemy 
opposition" (R9,10). Ch the 19th or September it was "fighting the 
ene:m;r not in de!ense", and on the 23rd the company was also in combat 
(Rll). Accused lett his organization "lrl.thout leave, near St. Barsson1
France, on 20 September 1944, and remained absent until 6 February 1945 
(R7,8,ll; Pros.Ex.A,D). On 15 March, Company L was "moving into the 
attack" f'rom m assembly area near the town or Utweiler, Germany.· The 
enemy- was opposing 1rl.th small arms an:i artillery, causing casualties. 
Accused had been present at the assembly' area and knew or orders fer 
the impending attack. 'When the compan;r was moving out, a check made b,y · 
bis start sergeant revealed that accused "was gone". This absence 
1faS linauthorized. and was so entered on the compan;r morning report. He 
returned two days later (R8,12,l3,16,20,21; Pros.Ex.B). The next day, 
18 March, ..men his company- w8.s "going into the attack on the Sieg.tried 
line" and was enC?ountering eneiey- resistance, a check made b,y 'tibe same 
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staff.sergeant showed accused again absent without permission~·- He 
was gone until 23 :March (RB,l.3,14,21,22; Pros.Ex.B). en 25 March, 
accused's outfit "was going to cross the Rhine River". Accused knew. 
this, ~ving been "oriented" 1n the afternoon and having received his 
orders. This took place in a forward assembly area before "we took 
oft across the Rhine". The men.were to have "chow" at 9:30 and to move 
out at 10100 that night. When it came time to eat, a check ot the 
squad showed that accused was missing. A search was made tor him and 
he. cou1d not be roum.. The Rhine was. subsequently crossed and casualties 
were sustained. Accused had no permissim to be absent, and was s:rray 
until 2S April (RB,9,14,15,18,19,22,23; Pros.Ex:.c). 

4. .lccused, advised of his rights as a witness, elected to remain 
silent. The defense called a f'irst lieutenant of Company L, 'Who 
testified that he had observed accused in canbat "prior to the time 
of the offenses charged in this case" and that (as a result) he had 
tormed an opinion that accused "was a good combat soldier" (R27). 

S. The evidence introduced supported each factual a1legation as 

to the absence of accused, the time and the place, as alleged in the 

four specifications. The combat conditions proven to exist on each 

of these critical dates support the inference that the court drew, 

namely: that each or such absences was inspired by accused's intent 

to avoid hazardous duty. Each such absence constituted desertion, as 

charged (AW 28; CM ETO 741.3, Gogel; CM ETO 7688, Bucharian; CM ETO 

11404, Holmes). · 


6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years, ·7 months or 

age; am that he was inducted at Chicago, Illinois, 31 August 1943, 

without prior service. · 


· 1. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person am offenses. No errors injuriously af'tecting the substantial 
rights of accused were comn:i.tted during the trial. The Board or Review 
is or the opinion that the record or trial is legally sufficient to 

• SuP1',0rt the findings ot guilty and the sentence. · 

8, The penalty :for desertion comnitted in time of war is de_ath 
or such other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). ·The 
designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, is authorized 
(AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept~.19L3~~as :-ied). . 

--7"~~--':_~~=-~-~·------Judge Advocate. 

- -/.';;ft,-)i;,,#-- ~Judge Advocate 

·j '~ . ) ~ •.,kh~Tttzl:TED .. u f ~ -· . 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the ·~ 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF IIBVIEW NO. 3 8 SEP 1945 
CM ETO 16318 

UNITED STATES ) 5th ARMORED DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM, convened at Gifhorn, 
) Germany, 2 May 1945. Sentence: 

Captain WILLIAM J. HOEFU!R . 
(0258833), Service Company~· 
15th Armored Infantry Battalion. 

) 
) 
}· 

Dismissal and total forfeitures. 

. . 


HOLDING by BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 3 

SLEEPER, SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of t~ Bra.!ioh 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the''.tollowing charges and specifications: 

CR.~"{GE: Violation of the 8Sth Article of War~ 

Specification: In that Captain William J. Hoefler, Servi'ce 
Company, 15th Armored Infantry.Battalion was at Bilstain, 
Belgium, on or about 13 January 1945, found drunk while 
on duty as Company Coromander of Service Company, 15th 
Armored Infantry Batta.lion. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification& In that * * * was, at Jeetze, Germany, on or 
about 19 April 1945, drunk when reporting for duty at 
the office of the Adjutant General, 5th Armored Division. 

He pleaded not guilty to, and was found guilty of, both charges and their 
specifications. ifo evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He 
was sentenced to be dismissed the service and to forfeit all pay and allow­
ances due or to become due. Five members of the court recommended clemency. 
The reviewinG authority, the Cormnanding General, 5th Armored Division, ap­
proved the sentence and forwarded the record of trial for action under Article 

.or War 48. The confirming authority, the Comm.anding General, Buropean Theater, 
confirmed the sentence and withheld the order directing execution of ~;~ "· : ~ 
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sentence pursuant to Article of Wa.r 5o!. 

3. The prosecution's evidence was as follows: 

a. Charge ~ Specification. On 13 January 1945 accused was the 
commanding d~ficer of Service Company. 15th Armored Infantry Battalion, 
stationed at Bilstain. Belgium (R8,ll,16.17). At about 1445 hours on that 
day accused and his first sergeant attended a meeting of company commanders 
at the headquarters of Combat Cownand "B" a mile and a half away. The trip 
was made in a jeep driven by accused (RS). The meeting was attended by 25 
or 30 officers (Rl5). At about 1630 hours, when accused drove back to his 
company area, the sergeant noticed he had difficulty in keeping the vehicle 
on the road, driving on both sides of it. The sergeant attributed his poor 
driving to liquor. Upon reaching the company e.rea, at the sergeant's sug­
gestion, they had something to eat (R8-9). At about 1700 hours. Major 
Emerson F. Hurley, 15th Armored Infantry Battalion, saw accused sitting in 
the kitchen truck, his head resting on his arms, apparently asleep. lwls.jor 
Hurley assisted other officers and enlisted men in taking accused to his 
q1.larter1, where he threw up wha.t he had eaten. Liquor was smelled on his 
breathJ he did not have control over his speech or muscular action. Major 
Hurley and another officer put him to bed. Accused was drtmk (Rl0-11,13, 
14-15,16-17). .... 

b. Additional Ch~rge ~ Specification. Shortly before 2000 
hours on 19 April 19451 accused arrived at 5th.Armored Division Headquarters 
at Jeetze, Germany (RlS,21,23). Lieutenant Colonel Charles c. DeVault, 
Adjutant General of the Division, seated in his office, observed that 
accused in leaving the vehicle in which he had arrived "was very unsteady 
on his feet and apparently under the influence of liquor". A few minutes 
later, Colonel Devault opened his office door and saw accused in the hallway. 
Although the Colonel did not personally know accused he addressed him as 
"Captain Hoefler," telling accused he assumed that he was that officer as 
he had "received orders that he was reporting" (Rl8-20). The colonel asked 
if there was anything he could do for him. Accused answered. "'Yes. 1 that 
he was reporting for duty". The colonel invited him into his office. finding· 
it necesse.ry to take him by the arm and lead him as 11his stab:i.lit~ on his 
feet was not good". In his opinion, accused was drunk (Rl8-19). Two other· 
officers who observed accused at that time expressed the opinion, respe.ctively, 
that he was under the influence of alcohol and that he was drunk: (R21,23). 
Accused carried with him a full bottle of champagne (R20). 

4. For the defense, as to the Charge and Specification, Major Hurley \ 

testified that he saw accused at the officers' meeting on 13 January 1945. 
his condition then as to sobriety "seemed perfectly normal" and he was "in 
control of his faculties." This was not "strictly a business meeting." 
the official phase lasting only about 45 minutes, upon completion of which 
"a. bottle of whiskey was passed around." They "ha.d a drink before we went 
back. It was & cold day" (Rl4). 

http:necesse.ry
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As to the Additional Charge and Specification, Chief iiarra.nt 
Officer Rae Greenlee, 5th Armored Division Band, testified that, on 
19 April 1945 at Trains Headquarters Company, he saw accused who requested 
transportation to "Volcano Rear." Another officer invited accused to 
come in and have a drink of ch!l!Tlpagne while transportation was being 
arranged. Accused had a few drinks of champa~ne with Greenlee until 
about 1900 hours, when the transportation arrived. Accused had a bottle 
of champagne when'he left but "did not appear to be under the influence 
of intoxicating liquor" (R26-27}. The driver who brought accused from 
Division Trains testified he spoke in a natural manner; The driver did 
not see him take a drink, nor did he smell liquor on his breath and "could 
not tell if a man was drunk" since the road was rough (R28-29). 

5. After his rights were explained (R29-30), accused.testified in 
detail regarding his e:rmy service. This included a description of his 
previous promotion to major while giving "Finance Basic Training" at Fort 
Harrison, Indiana, prior to June 1943 and his transfer thereafter to the 
35th Infantry Division and then to the 78th Infantry Division. ·Because 
of his lack of training, limited experience and reclassification proceed­
ings, he accepted .a reduction in grade to Captain in order to stay with his 
division. After co:nmanding a company in a separate regiment for sever&l 
months, training casuals a.nd receiving an "excellent" ratin~, he was 
transferred to the 5th Armored Division. At the meeting on 13 January 
1945, he had been the commanding offioer of the Service Company of that 
division for about five days, was "nervous and apprehensive" because of his 
lack of armored training and felt he wa.s not welcome there because of his 
record (R32-33). "Liquid refreshments" were served. He had a bad cold 
and an empty stomach when he drank on this· occasion. The hot cup of coffee 
he had later at the kitchen truck "seemed to affect" him (R33). ' 

Instead of trying him by court-martial for the above offense, 
his Commanding General agreed to accept his resignation (R33), but this 
was disapproved by the Adjutant General in Washington. When accused 
received orders to return to the 5th Armored Division to be tried "it 
aroused in Lh1i/ an acute nervous anxiety neurosis" and while he would 
have been "happy to be with the outfit and come back and fight", it was 
"very disturbing" to be returned solely for trial (R33). 

For a more detailed statement of facts, referenoe is made to 
paragraphs 6 and 6 of the review of the staff judge advoc.ate of the con­
firming authority, which the board adopts herein. 

s. The court's findings of guilty are supported by substantial 
evidence that accused was ~unk on duty, in violation of Article of lVar 85, 
as alleged in the Charge ai:l.d Speoifioation (CM ETO 4339, Kizinski·; CM ETO 
10360, Gailey) and that he was drunk when reporting for duty at the office 
of the Adjutant General, 5th Armored Division, in violation of Article 
of War 96, as alleged in the Additional Charge and Specification (MCM, 
1926, par.152,!.iP•l87). . 
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7. Five of the aeven members. of the court submitted &,.recommendation 
!or olemenoy dated the same day aa the tria.l• noommending tha.t a.ccused 
be pel"Jlitted to resign his commission for the good or the service, instead 
of receiving the sentence a.a adjudged. The rea.sona therefor are'1tated 
a.a follows 1 

•a.. Although this officer wa.s a reserve officer for 
eleven yea.rs, he ha.a had neither the training nor the 
experience necessa.ry for most e.ssignments he baa received 
since coming on active duty in 1940; consequently- he baa 
been transferred frequently and has been subject of' re­
cla.asi.t'ication proceedings. As a. result, this officer 
apparently ha.a lost confidence and has become a neurotic • 
case and aa such ha.a lost his usefulness to the govern­
ment. 

"b. The general conditions described a.bove undoubtedly 
contributed much to the commission of of'f'enses which 
resulted in his General Court ca.see 

•o. The long periods of unoerta.inty and anxiety occasioned 
by previous recla.asi.fication proceedings and by his recent 
unaccepted resigna.tion already have been humiliating 
eno~ to this officer". 

s. The charge sheet shows that a.ccused is 36 years of age. He was 

commissioned a second lieutenant. Officer Reserve Corps, 2 January 1929 

and entered on extended active duty 26 December 1940. 


9. 'fhe court was legally· oonstituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantia.l rights 
of accused were contni tted during the trial• The Board of Review is o.t' the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

10. A sentence of dismissal and total forfeitures is authorized upon 

conviction of a violation of Articles of War 85 and 96. 


~~ Judge Advocate 

~c:'~udge Advocate 

~/ / ./'"/~ } 
,:;/- ,':t,4_/~ ~I Jud.6e Advocate 

, 

1,... <'1 J 0 
t> l) ;'_ t) 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Juige Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 8 SE.P .1945 TCi Commanding 
General, United States._Foroes, European Theater (Main), APO 757, u.s•.ll,r:oy. 

1. In the case of Captain WILLI.A11 Ji. H03FLER (0258833), Service 
Company, 15th .Armored Infantry Battalion,.attention is invited to the 
foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is 
legaily sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 
War 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 16318. For con­
venience of reference please place that number in brackets at the end of 
the orders (Cl:l ETO 16318). 

,/;f/i I' ht'\~ 
/// /' ~ 

E. C. :McNEIL 
co 

Brigadier 	Gene~al, United Stat ti") 

.A.ssis~d~e Advocate Gen _ 

-
__ / .·RESTRlCTED .. fr ·' rJ 	.. (,. __ . 
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Branch Office of The Ju::lge A::lvocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOAHD OF REVIE'.'I NO • 5 

Cl.I ETO 16325 

U K I T E D S T A T E S 	 ) 84TH INF:..NTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Weinheim, Germany, 13 August 

Private RALPH C. GRIPPO ) 1945. Sentence: Each accuse::l, 
(32891795) an::l Private First) Dishonorable ::lischarge, total 
Class Ern'/A.l'tD A • PIECHALAK ) forfeitures an::l confinement 
(36973747), both of Company ) at har::l :Is. bar for life. Eastern 
G, 335th Infantry ) · Branch, Uni te::l Stat es Dis c1plin­

ary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF nE:VIE.'l !~O 0 5 

HILL, EVINS an::l JULIAN, Jujge A::lvocates 


1. The recor:l of trial in the case of the sol:Uers 
name::l above has been e;:amine::l by the Boar::l of Reviev1. 

2. Accused were trie::l in a cor.mlon trial, to which 
each consented, upon the following charGes an::l specifications: 

GRIPPO 

CHARGE: Viol at ion of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Ralph C. Grippo,
11 G11Company , 335th Infantry, ::li::l, at or near 

Uors, Rhine Province, Gern.any, on or about 
7 Xe.rch 1945,, ::lesert the service of the Unite:i 
States by absent inc himself without proper 
leave from his organization with intent to 
e.voi:i hazar:ious ::luty, to wit: engage the 
enemy, an::l ::li::l remain absent in ::lesertion 
until he was apprehen::le::l on 27 :.:arch 1945. 

PIECHALAK 

CHARGE: Violation of.the 58t h J.rti cle of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class 
E:Mar3 A. Piechalak, Company "G", 335th 
Infantry, :ii:i, at or near x.:ors,, Rhine 

.... ,. 
- 1 ­
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Province, Germany, on or about 7 March 
1945, desert the service of the United 
States by absenting himself without 
proper leave from bis organization
with intent to avoid hazardous duty, 
to wit: engage ·the enemy, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he was apprehended 
on 27 March 1945. · 

Each pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members or the 
court present when the vote was taken concurring, was found 
guilty of the Charge and Specification preferred against him. 
Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction of accused 
Grippo by sUI!llllary court for absenting himself without leave 
from his appointed place for duty as night ward man after 
r,epo:ttting for duty, in violation of Article of War 61. . 
Three~fo-urths of the members of the court present when the 
vote was taken concurring, each was sentenced to be dishonorably
discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
or to become due, and to be confined at such· place as the 
reviewing authority may direct1 for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the sentences, designated
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
haven, New York, as the place of confinement, and forwarded t.be 
recbrd of trial for actiQn pursuant to Article of War Soi. 

3. Evidence introduced by the prosecution shows that at 
all times mentioned 1n the specifications each accused was a 

• member of Com~any G, 335th Infantry. On the night of 6,7 March 
· 	 1945, this company was locat·ed near Mora, Germany. Both 

accused were present with their company about 0100 hours, 
7 March, when the enemy "threw a few shells in" {R6,7). The 
company was on a road headed for Mors {RIO), and wait in§ while 
a unit of tanks {R9) pulled thro~h. The squad leader hollered 

. l?ack 	 1 disperse and dig in'" {R7 ,s). When the men dispersed,
he saw Piechs.lak but not Grippo although he had seen the r·atter 
previous to that time (RS). After that. he saw neither of them, 
although he made a search for them. The search did not include 
a barn 200 yards away. He .did not see them again until "when 
they brought them back in". The absence of accused was 
unauthorized {RS,10-12). Each accused "was returned to 
military control on or about 27 March 1945 in Antwerp, Belgium" 
{Rl2,13). The squa:i le·ader who gave the coinmand to 11 :Usperse 11 

said that the company crosse:i the Roer River in February since 
which time it had been in action, ehgage:i with the enemy, and 
that both accused ha:i been with the squad during that period 
{Rl3,l4). 

4. Each accused was advised of his rights as a witness, 

Grippo elected to testify under oath an:i Piechalak to remain 

silent {Rl4,15,18). ' 
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Grippo said that when the barrage cam.a in "we all took 
cover"~ They saw a barn where they remained until the barrage 
lifted. Emerging, it was too dark to see anything, so they 
remained there until morning. They started toward Mors 
(walked about one-half a mile (Rl6)), and saw a jeep :lriver 
of whom they asked for their company. All he knew was "that 
they were up ahead *** but *** the outfit was going to pull
back for a rest". Accordingly "we" decided to go back to Holland 
where they went for a rest 8 the Ii'st time. "We got so nervous,***** it was the f 1rst time anything like that'liad happened,
and finally turned in·" • He had been in combat for about one 
week prior to this and had never thought of leaving hi~ unit 
to save himself from danger (Rl5,16). On cross examination, 
this accused said that on 6 April, while in a truck being
returned to his unit, he left the truck and did not (then) 
return to his unit (RlifT. Asked by the court: "Who was this 
other man· that was with you?", this accused replied: "Pvt. 
Piechalak" (Rl7 )". 

5. The evidence clearly shows that accused left their 
squad area without authority during a barrage to which their . 
unit was bein$ subjected and went to a barn 200 yards away 
to seek cover, when or:lers were given to 11 dis~erse and :Jig in". 
Thereafter, (accepting accused Grippo' s story) they made a· 
half-hearte:l attempt to find their unit, which failed because 
it was not pursued in earnest, and then left for Holland. 
Later, while being returned to his unit, Grippo left the truck 
in which he was riding and did not return to his unit at that 
time .• On these facts, the court was justified in believing 
that the initial absence was for the purpose of avoiding 
hazardous duty, as charged. It is unnecessary to break down 
this initial absenqe to determine whether the alleged intent 
was formed when they left the squad area and went to the barn 
or-when they departed from the zone of combat and left for 
Holland. The initial absence and the further absenting of 
themselves from the zone of combat were both wrongful. Accused's 
duty was to remain within their s1uad area as constituted.by
the order to "disperse and dig in • This· order to 11 dig in" 
eliminated the barn from the squad area. Failure or these 
accused to remain with their unit and their subsequent flight
from the scene of action (all within the period covered by 
the Specification) constituted a clear violation of Article 
of War 58; desertion as defined by Article of War 28, provided
such conduct was inspired' by the intent to avoid hazardous 
duty, an:i of this intent ·there was substantial evidence (CM 
El'O 7230, Magnanti 1945; CM ETO 7339 Conklin). 

6. The charge sheets show that accused Grippo is 21 years
of age and. that he was inducted 19 April 1943 at New York, New 
York, without prior service; and that accused P1echalak is 19 
years, two months of age, and was inducted 27 April 1944 at Fort 
Sher_idan, Illinois, without prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the persons and offenses. No errors 1njurio~sly affecting the 
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substantial rights or accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board or Review is or the opinion that as to each accused 
the record or trial is legally suffic 1ent to support the 
t1nd1ngs or guilty and the sentence. 

8. The penalty for ::lesertion in t i~e of war is death or 
such other punishment as a court-martial may direct (AW 58).
The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary

·Barracks, 	Greenhaven, New York, as the place or confinement, is 
authorized.' {AW 42; Cir .210,WD, 14 Sept .1943, sec .VI, as amen:led). 

Advocate 

Advocate 

~~~~~r.&-4--t-ol:U~e Advocate 
' 

f• " t:' ::: 
• . ' 1.t ,} \,;• '. .J 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with' the 

European Theater 
. APO 8$7 

CM 	 .c.1'0 16340 

UNlT:.i;D 	 ) 
) 
)v. 
) 

z~~~~~7~~t~~h~~ 	 ~ 

unassigned, 234th Replacement )) 
Company, 90th Replacement 
Battalion ~ 

.iillVANC.c; ~~UUH CuUI..:..ukiC;1.TJ.uhS 
W.N..c;, :c;\.iHOPi.:Ji.i~ 'l'~'.i.'~ UF . 
0P.i!;ll.a1'10Mi • 

Trial by Ge.iii, convened at 1iarburg, 
Germany, 7 May 1945. Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, tOtal 
forfeitures, and confinement at 
hlU'd labor for life. United 
St~tes Penitentiary,·Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania 

HULull•G by .bU.i.J.W u1" .~v:ili11 NO. 2 .. 

Hfil'rlUlli"l, MILIAi, and Cu.I.J...:U'i;;;., Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier n~d above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board of Review submits 
tds, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General ~ charge 
of the Branch Office of 'lhe Judge ~vocate General with the 4.u-opei.Il 
Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the 	following charges and specifications: 

CfuiliGB I: -Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: lnthat Corporal Mario J. Damaso, 
. 	 attached-unassigned, 234th lieplacement Company, 

90th Replacement Battalion, did, at or near Bad 
Neuenahr, Germany, on or about 29 }larch 1945, 
with malice aforethought, willfully, deliber­
ately, feloniously, unlawfully, and with premedi­
tation, kill one Theodore Esser, a human being, 
by shooting him with a rifle. 

·£S'1'RlCTED 
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CHAd.GE II: Violation of the 93rd Article of ·ilar. 

Specification: In that***, did, at or near 
Bad Neuenahr, Germany,_~n or about 29 March 
1945, unlawfully enter the dwelling of · 
Theodore Esser, with intant to commit a 
criminal offense, to Wit, murder, assault 
and larceny therein. 

He pleaded not guilty ~d, three-fourths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Specification of Chargel, and of Charge I; guilty of the 
Specification of Charge II except the words "assault and larceny", 
substituting therefor respectively, the words, 11 and assault 11 

, of~ 
the excepted words not guilty, of the substituted words, guilty, 
and guilty of Charge II. No evidence of previous convictions was 
introduced. All of the members of the court present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be hanged by the 
neck until dead. The reviewing authority, the Comr:ianding Ufficer, 
Advance Section Communications Zone, Europell.!l Theater of Operations, 
approved the sentence -.rid forvrarded the record of trial for action under 
Article of War 48. The confirming authority, the Cor:imanding General, 
United States Forces, European 'l'he~ter, confirmed the sentence, but 
owing to special circumstances in the case commuted it to dishonorable 
discharge from the service, forfeiture of all pay omd allowances due 
or to become due, and confinement at hard labor for the term of his 
natural life, design;;.ted the United States PenitentL:..ry, i.ewisburg, 
Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement ~d withheld the order 
directing execution of the sentence pursuant to "'rticle of ~·iar 5o!. 

3. Briefly summarized, the evidence for the prosecution is 
substc..ntially as fol~ows: 

On the evening of 29 ¥arch 1945, in B-.d i~euenahr, Germany, 
a shot was fired thro,~gh the front ·window of the dwelling of Theodore 
Esser lR9). Then someone knocked at the back door, ll.!ld when ~gon Laue, 
a resident of the house, asked 11 t~e soldiers 11 what was wanted a shot 
was fired into the door (R9,10,15>. Laue did not open the door but 
ran upstairs. ~ssei/t.hen went down omd t&lked in kglish to two soldiers 
who had entered the house (R10,11,12,15). One soldier went upstairs and 
motioned for Laue to go back down. ~s he was complying, he heard a shot 
and ;;.n "awful yell 11 by .C:sser, and ·:;hen he reached the ground floor he 
saw :i!:sser 11 crumpled up from a ::-hot which apparently went through his 
arm" (R11). A few seconds later he saw the other soldier raise his 
rifle and shoot ~s3er in the head. .i!:sser fell to the floor ~ttn,12,14). 
L,..ue then r:m from the hoc..se for help ;;.nd heard other shots as he did so 
(R11). ilhen Laue went downstairs as directed b~r the soldier, he observed th.::t 
the outside door, which was previously closed and locked, was open with 
the bottom sections 11 broken out" U:ilO). He had not opened the door to 
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admit the soldiers. No one bad been near the door to admit the~ 
when they entered. They had not been invited to the house (lil.2J. 
After the shooting a neighbor heard the name "Damaso 11 Qr "Damaseus 11 

used by a soldier in front of the Esser house-lR19,23), and she ~ 
later identified accused as having been in the vicinit7 at that 
time (R20,22J. . 

Accused's pre-trial statement was introduced into erldence 
without objection lR17,1s). In it he had stated that after drinking 
about a quart and a half of wine he and another soldi~r went out. to 
look around the village "and see what we could find" ~Pros.~.AJ. 
He then stated, ­

"iie stopped at a house in the villa~e and 
b-.nged on the door. 'I'be door wasn t 
opened immediately. ·* * * The door was 
finally opened and we went inside. I 
saw one man in the parlor. I ordered 
him to go into the kitchen and I 
!Gllowed him in. When we got into the 
kitchen he started to run out on me so I 
shot him with 'IJI3' lLI ri11e. He groaned 
and I shot him agaift. He fell to the 

.floor I came out of the kitchen ard 
Pvt. Stepp and I left the house 11 (Pros 0 .Ex.A)6 

After the shooting, Esser was t~en to a militiU'Y hospital 
iind was found to have three perforating gun shot wounds; one through 
the cheeks which shattered the jawbone, one through the right arm 
and one through the left chest. He died the following morning of 
11 arteriosclerotic heart disease, then the wounds set in1;.o ~peration 
a chain -of events which precipitated the l;eart a.ttack 11 lR?>i hastening 
and having a. direct relationt.o his death l.R.s,9). - . 

4. The accused, after first being advised of his rights as a 
witness, elected to be sworn and testify (H24). He stated that before 
the episode he h~ drunk a quart and a half, and six or seven canteen 
cups full of wine (R25J. He was then drunk and unsteady on his feet 
but able to walk in a staggering ~er (R25,27). After going to 
another house in the neighborhood, he oi.nd his companion went to the 
Esser house to find a prostitute. 'I'bey did not know vihere one w~s 
but he thought he could find a wo~ who could be ea.sily bribed \h26, 
27) 0 His companion 11banged11 on the back door of a house with a rifle 
butt, "and it was opened 11 (H25,29). They entered the house withou~. re­
questing _permission \R25,2s). Accused's companion went upstairs \n25J. 
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Accused saw a man approaching from a stairway R27 • He ordered the .ma.n to put 
his' hands above his head, which he did. The man passed him, and after the accused 

" 	 comm.anded him to halt, he took his hands down and a step forward (R25,26). 1'be 
accused then shot him, pointing his gun at him and firing it twice, the first time 
beca.use he did not "stay put 11 lR26,27), and the second time_.Q.ecause the dec~ased 
"hollered" and accused just "automatically tightened up on /h~7 hand11 (R29J. · 
While he was in the house accused saw no one except the~ he shot (R26), and 
no one said anything to him (R27). After the shooting accused returned to his 
company area without help (R2a).­

5. a• Cha(ge I: Murder is the "unlawful killing of a human being with 
malice aforethought11 MCM 1928, par.148&.,p.162)• .Malice "is presumed from the 
use of a deadly weapon"(M6.t,1928,par.ll2&,p.llO). The record of trial established 
beyond reasonable doubt that the accused did at the time and place alleged in the 
Specification kill Theodore Esser by shooting him with a rifle. The eye-witness 
account of the crime was fully corroborated by accused1 s pre-trial statement and 
later testimony, and no provocation or excuse for the killing was shown. ·By all 
established legal bases the homicide was murder and the accused is a .murderer 
(CM t..TO 9810, Johnson: CM ~TO 10002, Brewster; Clii ~TO 14141, ~; Clatl .ci1'0 
16581, Atencio). ·· · 

h. While there is evidence that accused had consumed intoxicants 
prior to the homicide there is substantial evidence to support the court 1s 
implied finding that accused 1s drunkenness was not of such severe or radical . 
quality as to render him incapable of possessing the requisite .malice aforethought, 
a critical element of the crime of murder. Inasmuch as there is substantial 
evidence to sustain the findings of the CO'Q.I't the Board of Review is without 
l'?wer to disturb same onJppellate review lCM .i!;TO 16581, Atencio supra and 
authorities therein cite • 

.c.. Though there was medical testimony that the immediate cause of 
death of the decedent was arteriosclerotic heart disease, it is clear that he 
would not have died when he did had he not been wounded by the accused's assault. 
Under these circtimstances, the act of acceierattng the time of death constituted 
murder (1 Wharton's Criminal Law (12th Ed.,1932), sec.200,p.258;26 Am.Jur., 
secs.48,49,pp.191,192)). 

. 6. Housebreaking 11is uilawfully entering another's building with 

intent to commit a criminal offense therein 11 tMGM,1928,par.l1+9.a.,p.169J. The 

two essential elements of the offense are: (1)Unlaw~ entry and ~2) int~t" 

at the time of the entry to conmit the altegea criminal offense thereirtl~ .i:..1.0 

13255,Gonzales). Undoubtedly the accused s entry into the house was unlawful. 

The only question deserving consideration~is whether he intended at the time 

of his entry to commit murder and assault. 


The evidence showed that when the accused and his compmion 
approached the house occupied by Esser tmd about 10 other civilians ~p~ts were fired 
into and through the house. A shot was fired through the closed door when someone 
responded to their knocking. The circumstances show belond any reasonable doubt 
that the accused and his companion fired these shots. '.I.his conduct demonstrated 
on th'3 part of the accused a.n utter disregard for human. life and an effort to 
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terrorize the civilian residents in that house. ~fter battering the 
door op~n with their guns the accused and his companion entered~ almost 
immediately thereafter without any justification or provocation, the accused 
shot and killed ~ civilian occupant. 'lbe. court was justified in concluding• 
that as he entered the house he intended\> continue his terrorization of the 
occupants, one of whom was Theodore Esser, by promiscuously firing his 
deadly weapon without regard for hunian life and not caring whether he 
shot omd killed anybody or not. To place another in fear by pointing 
and firing a de~y weapon constitutes an assault. To fire the weapon 
in total disregard for human life and th~reby cause death of another 
constitutes murder C1i ~'.l.U 15425, Lemaps)• The finding of the court 
that accused intended to commit an-a.ssa.ult and a murder at the time 
he broke into tbe house was ther~re su~ported by subst-.ntial evidence 
(CM i:.'TO 78, ila.t..t.&; CM .c;TO 3679 fuchhorn • 

. . . . . : '.,.. 

7. The charge sheet shows the accused is 21 years and four 
months of age and wa.s inducted without prior service on 25 ~ 1943 at 
New York, New York. . 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 

of the accused and of the offense. No errors injuriously affecting 

'the 	substantial rights of the' accuaed were' committed during the trial, 
except as noted herein. The Board of Review is of the opinion that 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence as commuted. 

9. The penalty for murde:r is death or life imprisonme'nt as 
the court-martial ma.y direct (AW 92J. Confinement in a penitenth17 is 
authorized upon conviction of nmrdef by ~rticle o! War ~2 and sections 
275 and 330, Federal Criminal Code 18 tJSCA 454,567), a.riCi '9-PC>n·.~011Viction 
of housebreaking by Article of War ~2 and. section 22-1801 ~6:55J District 
o~ Columbia Code. The designation of the United States ~eniten~ary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place ~r confinement is proper lCir.229, 
ND, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.~\4),JW. ~ 

_(_o_N_w_·_~_)____Judge Advocate 
...... , -... ": .. ,,. , . , , , ,, . 
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lat Ind. 

War Department, Branch O.f'.f'ice o.f' The Judge Advocate Generi.l with the 
European Theater. . IS ncr 1945 . TO: Com­
manding General, U11i,ted States l'orces, European Theater (Kain),:~ 757, 
u. s. Arnv. . . . .· --. ,. ... 

l. In th'e case of Corporal lWllO J • DAAUSO ( .329610.37), : 
.attached unassigned, 2.34th Replacement Company, ·90th Replacement , 
Battalion, attention is invited to the .foregoing holding b7 tbe 
Board of Review that the record o.f' trial is legally sut.f'icient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence as commuted, lfhic.b 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article o.f' War 
50i, .7ou now have authorit7 to order execution o! the sentence. . 
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Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

Tu.ro~an Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF Rl.W ll'l'I N 0 • 3 24 ~EP 1945 
Cl.I ETO l631a. 

UNITED STA.TES ' ) 

~ 
DELTA BASE SECTION, COWlUNICA.TIONS 
ZONE, nJROPFAN mElTER OF ~ 
TIONS 

) 
Private First Class CHAPJ..IE 
L. KILCREASE (38080886), Company 
.l~ 4lst F.ngineer General Service 
Regiment · 

) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial b7 GCY, convened at 'Marseille, 
France, 28 May 194~. &mtenoea 
Dishonorable discharge, total 
torf'eitures and cantinement at 

~ hard labor tor lite. U • s. Pem­
tentiarr, Lni1bu.rg, P81Ul.97lvania. 

HOLDIN:) b7 BOlRD OF REVIDt' NO. 3 . 
SLEEPER, SH!'.RMAN and Imm, Judge Advooate1 

le 'l'he record ot trial in the·cue ot the soldier named above 
has been camined "1 the Board ot ·Re'rln and the Boa.rd eul:Di ta thi•, 1ta 
holding, to the .LHistant Judge Advocate General in charge of'. the Branch. 
O.tfioe ot Tb~ Judge .ldvooate General with ~e llllrc;>l8 an ~eater. · 

2. Accused 1tU tried upon the. following Charge and Speoitioation\. 

CHA.ROEi Violation of the 64th lrticle of' war. . . ,..' . Ir 
~(.' '., . 

Specifications In that Private First Cl.us Charlie L. 1 

Kilcrease, Company .11 la.st Engineer General Service 
Regiment, did., at Les Milles, France on or &bout 
9 May 194.$' otter violence again8t First Lieu.tenant 
Carl H. Larson, 4:1.st F.ngineer General Service 
Regiment, his superior otf'icer, ilho was then in the 
execution ot his office in that he, the said Private 
First Class Kilorease, did cut the said First 
Lieutenant Larson on the chest with a knite. 

He pl~ed not guilt7 an!, all ot the members pt the ca12rt. present at the 
time the· vote wu taken concurring, waa found gullt7 ot the Charge and. 
Speoif'icat1on. No evidence ot previou.s convict~ons was introduced. lll 
ot the membera ot the court ir esent at the time the vote was taken con­
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ourrin"' he 1rH untenced to be shot to death 'With musketry. The 

reviewing authority, the Commanding General, Delta Base Section, Communi­

cations Zone, Euro}:)3an Theater of Operations, approved the sentence and 

forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of War 48. The 

confirming authority, the Commanding General, United States Forces, 

Europan Theater, confirmed the sentence but comnn.tted it to dishonorable 

discharge from the.service, forfeiture of all pay and allowances due or 

to!·become due, and confinement at hard labor for the term of his natural 

lite, designated the u. s. Penitentiary, Lewisbu.re, Pennsylvania, as the 

place of confinement, and withheld the order directing execution 0£ the 

sentence pursuant to Article of War 50~. 


, 3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that. shortly before mid­
,	night on 8 llay 1945, First Lieutenant Carl H. Larson, an O·.ITicer of" 
accused's rer,iment, went to the city of Les ?J.illes, France, with thP,. duty, 
as regimental officer of the day, of sending all military personnel back 
to the bivouac area whether or not they had passes (R13-ll-1-). Inside a 
tavern, he sro,. and took the names of accused and two other soldiers of 
his regiment, and told them their passes were no good and to return to 
camp. They did not appear angry and agreed to go back (IU7). Seeing 
a street da."lce in celebration of "V-Day", Lieutenant Larson went over 
and took the names of several soldiers of his regiment and instructed 
them to return to camp (Rl2,14). ~'lhile he was talking to some 
soldiers, he was struck on the rijlt side of the head by a small rock. 
He turned h:is head and took a few steps fonrard, and was struck on the 
head by a larger and heavier stone, vhich knocked him to the ground and 
ca.used him to lose his senses momentarily (R9-10,14,19-20). As he 
attempted to get up, accused walked up behind him from the crowd, as 
though he were going to assist the lieutenant, Pnd lifted him up from 
the street. About the sane time ac~1sed took a knife from his pocket 
with his right hand arrl struck Lieutenant Larson on the chest with a 
slashing motion, then droppedhim and walked awa.y (IU0-11,13, 20-21). 
Upon regaining conscioasness, Lieutenant Lars;)n was taken to a hospital 
where five stitchcs were taken in a wound on his chest (P..14-15). The 
wool shirt worn by him, contnining blood stains and four diagonal 
slashes running from the right shoulder tab to the second button, was 
received in evidence (IU6, Pros.Ex.l). 

On 16 May, accused signed a voluntary written statement, which 

was received in evidence without objection (R23-28, Pros.Ex.2). He 

stated that after he had four drinks of cognac in a bar, Lieutenant 

Larson, 1'b om he knew and recognized as officer of the day, came in 

after midnight and told him to go back to camp, and thi>t he agreed to go. 

After finishing a drink, accused went O'J.t of the bar and saw Lieutenant 

Larson standing near the curb in front or the bPr, and heard him s83", 

"Who is that throwing stones"? Then he saw the lieutenant eet hit in 

the face by a large stone and fall to the ground. Accused walked over, 

took his knife out, and hit the officer with the blade and "dr.ig it". 

He lci.ter threw the knife awa.y'.·as he walked back to camp. He further 

stated: 


REST.ll::c:f~D 
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11I want to.say that! dcn't know what possessed 
me to stab the Lieut. I was not mad at him, I 
never had any trouble with him, I had never even 
spoken to him before. I guess I just didn't 
realize what I was doing, al tho I wasn 1t drunk. 
I am sorry about what happened, and I feel that 
I owe him an apology. I want a chance to tell the 
Lieut. I am sorry. 'I can't thin~~of any reason 
for throwing the knife away, only my mind said 1.f 
you didn't have this knife you wouldn't have done 
it 111 (Pros.Eic.2). 

4. After his rights as a witness were explained to him, accused . 
elected to make, through counsel, the following unsworn statement: 

11! have been in the service since Januar;i 14, 1942. 
Durin~ this time I have had thirty-six months over­
seas. The night of lliy 8th in celebrating Victory 
Day I visited this bar. I had several cognacs and 
it was perhaps through the excitement· of the celebration 
and the effect of the cognac that made me lose my self 
control. I must have gone through a temporary loss 
of control. I am at a c0mplete loss to' explain my, 
if I did, this incident and can offer no explanation 
'Whatsoever beyond that" (R28-30) • 

5. 'Ihe evidence clearly and unequivocally shows that accused, at 
the time and place alleged, without arv legal justification or excuse, 
willfully and deliberately cut his superior officer on the chest with 
a knife while the latter was in the execl'..tion of his duUes as officer 
of the day and already in a helpless 2nd semi-conscious condition. 
Accused was admittedly mrare of the status and duties of the officer, 
and his reprehensible actions were apparently motivated solely by 
malice. No question of intoxication of ~ccused is raised by the 
evidence, although it appe;..rs that he had been drin.1ting to some extent. 
He s!tid in his statement of 16 }fay, 111 just didn 1t realize what I was 
doing, altho I wasn •t drunk11 • Assu!Ui.ng such question were raised, its 
degree and consequent effect was one of fact for the court's determina­
tion. The evidence abundantly supports the findings of guilty of ths 
Charge and Specification (C?ft ETO 2484, Morgan; CT1 252812, Scott, 34 BR 
197 (1944); MC1~, 1928, par.13,!:a, p.148}. . 

6. The charee sheet shows that accused is 31 years one month or 
age and was inducted 14 January 1942 at Camp Wolters, Texas. 'No prior 
service is snown. . 

7. The court was legaUy constituted and had jurisdiction 'of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial. 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Rrwiew 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings or guilty and the sentence as commuted. 

.... ·"" ...... A 
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8. 'The penalty for a violation of Article of Yfar 64 is death 
or such other punishment as the court-martial '!lay direct. Confinement 
in a penitentiar.r is ~uthorized by Article of War· 42 for a sentence 
by way of col'!lIIllltation of a death sentence. The designation of the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement is proper (Cir.229, YID, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pa.rs.1£(4), 3£). 

;1~~Judge Advocate 

!,,. ". , . -, ", ./. - . -. -- . ­
/y~L.~udge Advocate 

/ I , 
,_,._..._..__....A_,..._'_•. _..._;-··-·-~·-.'-·...)_Judge Advocate 

/ 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch 0.f'.fice of' The Jud~e ~ocate General with the 

l!llropean Theater. · 2 4 SEr 194!> . 

TOt Comnanding General., United States Forces, Th.ropea.n Theater (Main),

APO 757, u. s. Arrq. 


1. In the case of' Private First Class CH&RLIE L. KIIDRWE 
(38080886), Company.&., 4lst Engineer General. Service Department, atten­
tion is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board or Review that 
the record or trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of' 
guilty and the sentence as conm111ted, which holding is hereby approved. 
Under the provisions of Article ot War 5ot, you now have authority' to 
order execution of the sentence. · 

-1­
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Branch Of.t"ice of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 5 

CM ETO 16342 

UNITED STATES SEINE SECTIOO, COMMUNICATIONS ~ ZONE, IDROP:EAN THEATER OF 
v. ) OPERATIONS 

) 
Private WILLIAM J. WISEMAN ) Trial by OCM, convened. at Paris, 
(36311373), Detachment of ) France, 19 February 1945. 
Patients, 48th General ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
Hospital ) total forfeitures and conf'inement 

) at hard labor for life. United 
) States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOA.RI> OF REVIDV NO. 5 

HILL, EVINS and' JULIAN, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review, and the Board subnits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of 
the Branch Off'ice of 1he Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater. · 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specif'ications: 

CHARGE I: Violation or the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private William J. Wiseman 
Detachment of Patients, 48th General Hospital, 
Seine Section, Com Z, European Theater of 
Operations, United States Army, did, at his 
organization on or about 18 December 1944 
desert the service or the United States and 
did· remain absent in desertion until he was 
apprehended at Paris, France on or about 
28 December·l944. 

CHARGE II: Violation or the 69th Article of War. 

1634~ - l .. 
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Specification: In that'* '-~ * having been duly 
placed in conf'iner.ient in the Prison Ward of 
the 48th General Hospital, Seine Section, 
Com Z, European Theater of Operations, United 
States Army, on or about 25 November 1944, did, 
at Paris, France, on or about 18 December 1944, 
esca~ from said confinement before he was set 
at liberty by. proper authority. · 

CHARGE III: Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specifications In that * * * did, at Paris, France 
on or about 27 December 1944, unlawfully enter 
the dwelling of the 48th General. Hospital., 
Seine Section, Com z, European Theater of Opera­
tions, United States Arley', with intent to commit 
a criminal offense, to wit a larceny therein. 

CHARGE IV: Violation of the 94tli Article of War•. 
(Finding of Guilty disapproved by 
Reviewing Authority)• 

Specification: (Finding of Guilty disapproved by 
Reviewing Authority). 

CHARGE V: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 
(Finding of Guilty disapproved by 
Reviewing Authority). 

Specification: (Finding of Guilty disapproved by 
Reviewing Authority)• 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, was founi guilty 0£ the 
charges and specifications. Evidence was introduced of one previous 
conviction by special. court-martial. for absence without leave for 
26 days in violation of Article of Viar 61. All of the members of 
the court present when the vote was takon concurring, he was 
sentenced "To be shot to death with a DD.lsket11 • The reviewing auth­
ority, the·Connnanding General, Seine Section, Corrmninications 
Zone, European Theater of Operations, disapproved the findings of 
guilty of Charges IV and V and their respective specifications, 
approved the sentence but recommended that it be collllllllted and 
fonarded the record of trial. for action under Article of War 48. 
The confirming authority, the Commanding General., United States 
Forces, Euro~an Theater, confirmed but, owing to special. circum­
stances in the case and the recommendation for clemency by the 
reviewing authority, coTll!lllted the sentence to dishonorable discharge 
from the service, forfeiture or all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and confinement at hard labor for the term of accused's 

16345 
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natural life, designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

Pennsylvania, as the place or confinement, and 1r.L thheld the order 

directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article o.f War 50;. 


3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 18 December 1944, 

accused was a prisoner patient at the 48th General Hospital, in Paris, 

France (R5). On this date a report was received by the Officer of the 

Day at this hospital, that two prisoners had es·caped, and upon investiga­

tion it was determined that the accused was one of the two prisoner 

patients missin~. 'lhe escape was made through an open lfindow in, the 

kitchen of the prison ward. Accused was absent at roll ca.11 on this 

date and was not seen by- the hospital detachment commander subsequent 

to bis escape (R6). There was received in evidence, 1lithout objection 

by the defense, an extract copy- of the morning report of the Detachment 

of Patients, 4317th United States Army Plant, showing accused from 

hospitalized in confinement to absent lr.Lthout leave as of 18 December 

1944 (Rl3; Pros.Ex:.H). On the evening o.f 27 December 1944 the storeroom 

of the Red Cross unit attached to the hospital in question was broken 

into and numerous items taken therefrom, including about 30 cartons of 

cigarettes, several boxes of candy, a wallet and other articles (R7). 

The following day, 28 December, accused was arrested by Agents of the 

Criminal Investigation Division in a care, Le Bar des Sports, located at 


· 48 Rue Yarcadet, Paris, France (R9,14). He was wearing civiUan 
clothes at the time bit did not resist arrest or deny his identity (R9,12). 
He. took the agents to a room nearby where he was staying and there they 
found several cartons of cigarettes, candy bars, a wallet and miscell ­
aneous i terns of American and Canadian clothing (Rll). The wallet in 
question was positively identified by.the supervisor of the hospital 
Red Cross unit, as property missing from her office (R7; Pros.Ex.A). 

Accused made a voluntary sworn statement to the CID agents 

wherein he admitted escaping from the hospital idth another prisoner 

on 18 December 1944, by "sliding downn sheets lowered through a w.lndow. 

He also confessed to breaking into the hospital Red Cross unit storeroom 

on the ni~t of 27 December 1944. In his statement he asserted that he 

intended to leave Paris and to go South and that he never had any idea 

or going back to the Army because of a dishonorable discharge and ten 

year prison sentence "hanging" over him. This statement was received 

in evidence without objection by the defense (RlO; Pros.Ex.F). 


4. Accused, after his rights as a witness were explained to him, 

elected to remain silent and no evidence was introduced in his behalf 

(Rl7). 


5. Competent uncontradicted evidence establishes titat while a 

member of a Det~chment of prison patients at the 48th General Hospital 

accused absented: himself 1r.L thout authority from his hospital confinement, 

and that he reikined in unauthorized absence until apprehended in Paris, 

France, on 28.;llecember 1944. At the time or his apprehension he was 

wearing civilian clothes and in bis confession states that he had no 

idea of retUrntng to the Army. His confession was voluntarily given, 

after his rights under the 24th Article of War were explained to him. 

Such an admission by accused coupled w.lth the circumstances herein shown, 


' clearly ~stablishes that he intended to remain away permanently from~ ( A'. 
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service ot the United states. The offense of desertion is complete 

(:U.CV, 1928, par.130!_, pp.l.42,143; CY ETO 16108, Keeton and Lemme).-. 

The o.ff enses ot escape from confinement and housebreaking 
are a<initted by accused. Proof of his escape from the hospital is 
otherwise shown by competent substantial evidence. The fact that the 
Red Cross storeroom was rified and that the irallet 'Which was positive­
~ identified as property missing therefrom., was found in accused's 
possession at the time ot his arrest, established the corpus delicti 
o.t the latter ottense and justified the court in admitting in evidence 
accused's confession that he broke into the hospital on the evening 
in question. '!'hat the unlawful entry was made w.ith intent to commi.t 
larceny in the building was proved by the confession and the other 
.tacts in evidence. All or the elements of both of these off'enses are 
adequately- established (Cll ETO 31.5Jj, Van Breeman, (].{ ETO 2840, 
Benson, CM ETO 3707, Mannin~ · · 

· The record of trial discloses that at the time accused was 
tried his status was that of a general }risoner under sentence ot 
dishoncrable discharge (suspended) and a ten year term of imprisonment. 
11though he was not described and identified as a general prisoner in 
the charge sheet and specifications, there was no question as to his·· 
identity, as he pleaded to the general isaue and by so doing admitted 
that he was the person described in the specifications (CM ETO 1704, 
Ren.trow, CUETO 499.5, Vinson; Winthrop's Military Law and Precedents 
(Reprint 192Cl,; p.276; see as to form, YCM, 1928, appendix 41,p.237). 
Evidence of previous conviction for offenses committed by accused 
prior to the time he became a general. prisoner was received in 
evidence. This was ~rror inasmuch as in the case of a general 
prisoner, evidence of Previous convic1;ions admitted should be limited 
to evidence of offenses cozmnitted during an accused's status as a 
general prisoner (MCM, 1928, par.79c, p.66). The confirming authority­
wa.s apprised of the nature.of this error and the sentence imposed has 
accordingly been reduced. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 20 years or age, and 
states no data as to service. The record otherwise discloses that 
he is a native of Manville, lllinpis. · 

7 • The court was legally constituted a.rrl had jurisdiction ot 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board ot Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilt7 as approved, 
and the sentence as commuted. 

a. '!he pena1ty- for desertion in time of war is death.or such 
other punishment as a court-martial may direct (Alf 58). Conf"lnement 
in a penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of desertion an:l 
housebreaking by Article of War 42 and section 22 - 1801 District 
of Columbia Code. The designation of the United States Penitentiary-, 

R[~";I.I( lED 
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Lewisburg, Pennsylvania as the place o~ confinement is proper 
(Cir.429, WD,. 8 June 1944, Sec.II, pars.lb(4), 3b). 

Rlt!MQI£D 
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lst Ind. ' 

War Department, Branch Office ot The Jt.tdge Advocate General with 
the European Theater. 2 8 ~[p 1~45 
TOa Commanding General, Unitad States Forces, F.uropem Theater (Y.ainh 
APO 757, u. s • .lruv• 

l. In the case ot Private WILLJ.AY J. WI~ (363ll373), 
Detachment ot Patients, 48th General Hospital, attention is invited 
to the toregoing holding by the Board or Review that the record ot 
trial is leg~ suf'f'icient to support the findings ot guilty' as 
approved. and the sentence as conmnted, which holding is hereb;r 
approved. Under the provisions o! Article o! War 56-i, YOll now have 
authority to order execution or the sentence. 

···~\ 

....... /... 

( senteme as comu.ted ordered eiecuted.e ~~504~b~, 24 Oct l94S). · 
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~~tRICT!tD 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater 

APO 887 

;; nr. T1945 
CM ETO 16.34.3 

UNITED STATES ) SEINE SECTION, COUL!UNICATIONS ZONE, 
) EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPE..i:tATIONS 

v. ) 

Private LOUIS P. CUCOLO 
(12157929), Company K, 

) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Paris, 
France, 19 February ·1945• Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­

6oth Infantry ) feitures and confinement at hard 
) labor for life. United States 
) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIE:.,I/ NO. 5 

HILL, JUUJ.N and BURNS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been ex.am:ined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its hold­
ing, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch Office 
of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Louis P. Cucolo, Company
K, 6oth Infantry Regiment, 9th Division, European 
Theater of Operaticns, United States Army, did, at 
the .3rd Replacement Depot, European Theater of 
Operations, United States Army, on or about 15 
September 1944, desert the service of the United 
States and did remain absent· in desertion until he 
was apprehended at Paris, France on or about 29 
November 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

R~1:f::1'~~ 
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Specification: In that * * * did, at Paris, France, 
on or about 29 November 1944, knowingly and will­
fully and ~'ithout proper authority, apply to his 
own use and benefit a Goverrunent motor vehicle, 
a t ton 4YJ+ 20387889-S, of the value of more than 
fifty dollars ($50.00), property of the United 
States furnished and intended for the military 
service thereof. 

He pleaded not guilty,and, all of the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the charges and 
specifications. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions both 
by special court-martial for absence without leave for·35 days and 58 days, 
respectively, in violation of Article of War 61. All of the members of the 
court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be shot to death with m~sketry. The reviewing authority, the Coilllllanding 
General, Seine Section, Communications Zone, approved the sentence,'recom­
mended that it be commuted, and forwarded the record of trial for action 
under Article of War 48. The ccnfirming authority, the Commanding General, 
United States Forces, European Theater, confinned the sentence, but, owing 
to special circumstances in the case and the recommendation of the.review­
ing authority, commuted it to dishonorable discharge, forfeiture of all 
pay and allowances due or to become· due, and confinement at hard labor for 
the time of his natural life, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Permsylvania, as the place of confinement, and withheld the 
order directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. 'Ihe prosecution introduced an extract copy of the morning report 
of Detachment 69, 3rd Replacement Depot, G~CiW}.d Forces Reinforcement System, 
of 15 September 1944 which was admitted in evidence, without objection by 
the defense, showing that the status of accused on that dat'e" changed from 
duty to absent without leave (R4, Pros.Ex.A). Further evidence showed that 
about the end of September accused met Mias Alissa Ben Moshe in Paris and 
that they made two trips together, hitch hiking once to Omaha Beach and 
making another trip in a jeep driven by accused. Miss Moshe testified that 
the jeep had ceen painted, she believed the numbers were changed, either 
by accused or another boy who was with him. Accused talked on several 
occasions to her about returning to his organization in a few days (R5,6). 

On 29 November 1944 Sergeant James and four military ~iceme~ 
went to the Allied Club, Grand Hotel, Paris, where they found accused · ',_ 
sitting in front of the club in a 9th Division jeep (RS,9). 'Ibey approached, 
told him he was 'lll'lder arrest, and started to 'frisk~. him, whereupon he 
started to run. James yelled "halt"; the .milital"3'"""Policemen fired and 
ran after him (RS,9). · · 

It was stipulated that the motor vehicle No. 20387889-S ~ ton 
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4XJ.+ vehicle (in which accused was sitting, ilic.B) was and is the property 
of the United States Army (R.4). 

Henry Brewer, agent 3rd CID, testified that on 4 December 1944 
he saw accused at the 108th General Hospital and obtained from him a signed 
statement (RlO). Before the statement.was given he was advised that he had 
the right to remain silent, that anything he said might be used either for 
or against him, and he was given no reason to believe that by giving a 
statement he would receive a lighter sentence or innnunity from trial (Rl.O). 
He was not told that if he gave the information they would try to help him 
(Rll). The stateffient was introduced into evidence without objection by the 
defense (Rl.O). In it accused stated that he came to France in July 1944 
with his unit, saw combat past the St. Lo area and was wounded by shrapnel 
on 1 August. He was then hospitali:s.ed until 29 August when he was sent to 
the 3rd Replacement Depot awaiting transfer to his own organization. About 
8 September 1944 he absented himself without leave from the 3rd Replacement 
Depot, went to Paris where he stayed, except for short trips,, until appre­
hended on 29 November 1944. He stayed at various hotels in Paris, bought 
guns from enlisted men and sold them at a profit, and bought :English pounds 
from sailors which he sold to French civilians. About 10 November, Roccia, 
another soldier, gave him "peep" No. 20387889-S, after having painted num­
bers of accused's organization on the front bumper. Accused obtained gas 
from other soldiers by using dispatch tickets which he forged (Pros.~.B). 

4. Accused, after being advised of his rights as a witness, elected 
to make a sworn statement (Rll). He testified that when he gave his state­
ment to the CID men he was told that if he told everything he knew they 
would help him out (Rl.2), but the statement he gave was voluntary "in a way", 
that he was not thr~atened, and that it was given of his own free will and 
was all true (Rl.3). About 28 September he went to l.iullens where the 3rd 
neplacement was when he left, but it was no longer there so he returned to 
Paris (Rl.2,14). He had an opportunity to fly back to the States with some 
friends by using papers they had gotten from prisoners of war, but~ refused 
to go as he had no intention to desert (Rl.2). He knew that there were mili­
tary police in Paris and thought about turning himself in several times but 
never got up enough nerve (Rl.3). 

5. Accused is charged with desertion in violation of the 58th Article 
of War which offense is defined as "absence without leave accompanied by the 
intention not to return" (MCM, 1928, par. 130~, P• 142). The unauthorized 
absence was proved by the introduction of a duly authenticated extract copy 
of the morning report of the 3rd Replacement Depot. His return to military 
ccntrol was effected by arrest of the accused after an absence of 75 days, 
the major part of which was spent in Paris where he engaged in unlawful 
activities. It was proper for the court to infer an i.-ltent to remain away 
permanently from the length of accused's absence, his failure to return 
voluntarily despite his close proximity to military authorities, his acti ­
vities and his final apprehension (CM ETO 1577, Le Van;CM ETO 14576, Hargett; 
CM ETO 5966, Whidbee) 

\ltESTRICTED 
-3­ • 

http:hospitali:s.ed


(3.32) 

The evidence showed that accused at the time of his arrest was 
in a goverruoont jeep, which he said had been given to him.by a friend after 
the numbers on it had been changed, and that he used the jeep tor his own 
purposes. No evidence was offered as to the value or the vehicle but this 
was not necessary since the court without such evidence could properly !ind 

. it had a value in excess of $50 (CY ETO 7000, Skinner; Cl( ETO 142021 Schmidt 
and Aranda). The evidence was sufficient to support the court's finding ot 
guilty at unlawfully applying to his own use and benefit a governn¥3nt,vehicle 
in violation ot Article ot Viar 96, the Article under which the ottense was 
charged (CM ETO 4701, Minnetto). 

The voluntariness ot the statement o! the accused was a question 
of tact for the court. In view of the evidence presented, the B•rd of Re­
view is ot the opinion it was properly admitted and will not disturb the 
findings of the court (CM ETO 4701, Minnetto, supra). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 20 years and 6 m9Ilths ot 

age and was inducted 23 October 1942 at Camp Upton, New York. No prior 

service is shown. 


7 • The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
ot accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find­
ings ot gullty and the sentence as commuted. 

a. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such other 
punishmmt as a court-martial may direct (AW 58). Confinement in a peniten­
tiary is authorized by Article of War 42. The designation of the United 
States Penitentiary-, Lewisburg, Pennsulvania, as the place o! confinement 
is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec. II, pars. 12(4), 32)• 
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War Department, Branch Office of Th9SJudge Advocate General with the 
European Theater 3 CGT 1~4. 	 TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main), APO 757, 
u. s. Arm:r· 

1. In the case of Private LOUIS P. CUCOLO (12157929), CoI!lpalV K, 
60th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 
Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the findings of guilty and the sentence as canmuted, which holding is 
hereby approved. Under the provisicns of Article of War 5~, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. lfhen copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
'!he file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 16343. For conven­

. _ ience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end of the 
1~: (CM ETO 16343). 

E. C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier 	General, United States. A:rm:r, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

( Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GCW. 5051 USFET, 24 Oct 1945). 
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BOARD OF REVmV NO. 3 

CM ETO 16344 


UNITED STATES ) · 8TH DlFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 

Private JACOB J. MARTINI 

~ 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at 
APO 8, u. s. Arrrq, 12 June 1945. 
Sentence: Dishonorable dis­

(3356o310), Company I, 
13th Infantey­

) 
) 

charge, total forfeitures and 
con!'inement at hard labor for 

) 
) 

life. t1l2i.ted States Peni~ntiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

HOLDING by BOARD CF REV:rn'f NO. 3 

S...,IEEP....,..~ER...., SHERMAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier nSmed above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submi~s this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate Genera in charge of the 
Branch Office ot The Judge Advocate General w.t th the Furopea.n Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specificationat
'. 

CHARGE Is Violation of the 75th Article of War. 
/ 

Specification l: Izi that Private Jacob J. Mini, 
Company I, Thirteenth Infantry, then Private First 
Class, did, in the vicinity of Sassenroth, Gennany-, 
on or about 30 March 1945, fail to advance with the 

• squad which was then ordered fonrard to clear the 
enemy out of the to;im of Sas·senroth, GerinBlV, and 
did not return thereto until a!'ter the town had 
been taken. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, in the vicinity 
of Kl.afeld, Germany, on or about 8 April 1945, 
fail to advance with the squad 1'hich was then 
ordered forward to clear the enemy" out of the town 
of Kl.af'eld, German;:r, and did not return thereto 
until after the town had been taken. 

1., 
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CHARGE.II: Violation of the 64t1. Article of\·iar. 

Specification: In that -11- ->t- -l< having received a 
·lawful command from Second Jje~tenant James D. 
Stewart, his snperior officer to 11 get your ecp.ip­
ment and fall out 11 , did in the vicinity ·or 
Sassenroth, Jermany, on or about 30 !.!arch 1945, 
willfully disobey the same. 

CH!'.rt:IE III: V:i.olation of the ::8th Article or War. 

Specification: In that -it- -;i. ->t- did in the vicinity of 
Offhausen, GeI'!lleny, on or about 1 April 1945, 
desert the service of the United States by absent­
ing himself vii thout proper leave fro'!! his organ­
ization with foe intent to avoid hazarrlous duty 
to Ydt: combat duty aGainst an armed enemy of the 
Cnited States, and did remain absent in desertion 
until he returned.to t~a orGanization on or about 
l!. /,pril 1945, 

He pleaded not GUilty and, all of the members of the court present 
a.t the tim~ t!'l.e vote was taken concurrinc, >ras fou."ld ::'.lil t:r of Charges 
I end II i=ind their sp3ci.f'ications, and guilty of the Specification of 
Char~e III, except the words "desert the service of the TJnited States 
by absenting" substituting therefore the word 11 absent11 , except the 
words "vd. th intent to avoid hazardous duty to w:i. t: corabat duty 
against an armed enemy of the l.Jnitecl States" ancl except the words "in 
desertion", of th~ excepted vrords, not ;-;uj.lty, of the substituted word, 
gi.iilty, and not guilty of Charge III, but r,uilty of violation oi' the 
6lst Article of \far. No evidence of previo'J.s convictions was introduc'?(~. 
All of the r1e':ibers of the court present at the ti:ne the vote vm.s taken 
concurring, he Tr3.s sentenced to be shot to death by r.msketr-.r. The 
revievrine 211 thori ty, the Commc>~dinr, General, c.'.th Infe.nt!"J Division, 
fl:;J:£".lI'o·.rod the sentence, recommended that, 5.t be cor:unu.ted and for1n1.1~ded the 
record of trial for action und~r Article of ·:rar 48. TI1e confirmin~ 
a:.ithor:i.ty, the Co-m.rncmding Gener.'11, European 'l'heater, confinned. the 
se'ltencf', but, m'li.nr:; to speci::il ci.rcumstances in thl.s case 2nd the 
recommendation of the reviewin~ ::iuthori ty, cormrruted the SRritence to 
dishonorable discharge i'rom the service, forfeiture of fill 9ay e.nd 
allowances d'J.e or to beconc c1.ue, and crmfi.nement at hsrd labor f0r 
the term of his natural life, desir,nated the United States ~'enitentiary, 
Levdsbur::;, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and withheld 
the order directin<"', e:::ec·1tion of the sentence pursuant to Article of 
'.far So}. 

3. The evidence wa.s und.isputed. as follows: 

a. Charr-;e I, E:pec:U.'ication 1: 

On 30 r:.s.rch 1945 accused was a mmber of the first platoon, 
Cor.t;,JatrJ I, 13th Infantry, v1hich made an attack at about 0500 hours 
vri th other pJ.n.toons of the CO'!\-;Jany upon Sassenroth, Germany (R7-8,16, 23) • 
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Prisoners were taken (J?/3,17,25), 11 ve!"'J few shots 11 were fired (IU7) 
and no enemy fire was received (R25). During the attack acc1lsed, a 
lead scout for. his squad (PJ.6,24), fell out of ranks, said to his 
assistant squad leader, "The hell with it, I'm not going any further" 
and disappeared. He had no permission to leave his squad (R?,25). 
He was not present when the town was taken at 0700 or 0800 hours. He 
rejoined his platoon at about 1000 hours, arriving 11 on one of the chow 
trucks" (R9,17). 

b. Ghar~e I, Specification 2: 

On 8 April 1945, eccused was with his squad when it waa 
engaged in the mission of clearin~ enemy snipers from a hill :md estab­
lishing a main supply route in the vicinity of Klafeld, Germany (R9-lO, 
19,25). He entered woods with the squad but was not present when the 
men emerged therefrom about fifteen minutes later. Klafeld was cap­
i:rUl'ed about fifteen minutes later. About 15 or 20 Germans were taken 
prisoners, but no shots were fired. A search of the woods fai.led to 
reveaJ. accused 1s presence. He had no authority to be abaent. He was · 
next seen by hj_s pl2toon ser5eant the following morning (Til0,19-20,25-26,27). 

c. Charr,e II and Specification: 

A.t about 1500 hours on 30 1farch 19h5', while his platoon was 
beinG assembled in front of a buildin~ in Sassenroth, Germany, to 
proceed to the assistance o! anoth~r pl~toon in MakinG an attack, his 
platoon leader, First J.i~utenant James D. Stewart, ordered accused to 
"get your equipment and fall out ir:imediately". Accused entered a 
house, where his equipnent was located, but did not rea.ppear. A search 
of the building five minutes later failed to rf'!veal his presence and 
the platoon left without hi."'1. The :Lieutenant did not see him a:.:;ain 
until 06oo hours the next morning when he vras returned to th.e platoon 
(PJ.l-12,14-15,17-18). . 

d. Char~e III and Suecificati~n: 

On 1 April 1945 accused was vdth his platoon when it left 
its defensive position in Off'nansl'!n, '1ermany, with the mission of 
taking and holdin.;; the town of Eirchen, Germany. He was not present 
when the platoon, after pa.ssing through enemy artillery and S!"La.ll a.'l"J'lls 
fire, ar~_ved at the outskirts of Kirchen and was not P..::;ain wi. th the 
platoon until he 11was returnecttr on 4 April 1945. He had no permission 
to_be absent (El2,13-14,18,27). 

4. A.fter his ri:-;hts were explained (R23-29), accused testified 
that he joined the 8th I'ivision in September 1943 and (R29), was Wice 
wounded, on 1.3 ,Jul;,r and 11 December 1944. He was !1.ospi talizt:id for two 
and on9 half mo~ths on the second o~casion and thereafter became 
"nervous" when under firl'l (::?JO). 

5. While the specifications under Charge I do not definitely 

recite that the misconduct allcc;cd vras correuitted 11before the enemy11 , 
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the language used, in Specification l, 11.f'ail to advance 1t'1.th the 
squad which was then ordered forward to clear the eneJ'l\Y' out o.f' the 
town or Sassenroth" and in Specification 2 11.tail to advance 1'1.th the 
squad which was then ordered forward to. clear the enemy out o.t the 
town o.f' Kla.feld", clear~ alleges in each instance a m0vement · 
directed. against the enem;y whose immediate presence is tlms indicated. 
'lhe de.tense did not object to tbe .form of either speci.f'icatLon. Both 
were adequate in this case (CM ETO 4783, Dugg Winthrop's Yilita.r,r 
Law and Precedents (Reprint, 1920), pp.623- ). 

6. The court 1s findings or gullty under the charges and specifica­
tions are supported by substantial. evidence that accused failed to 
advance with his squad against the enemy as alleged on 30 March and 
8 .April 194.5 in violation o:f Article ot War 75 (Cll ETO 2471.a McDermott; 
CM ETO 168.5, Dixon), willtully disobeyed the lairfUJ. command of his 
superior off'iceron JO :March 1945 in violation o.f' .Article of War 64 
(CM ETO .5766, Dominick; CM ETO 5167, Caparatta) and was absent 
without leave from his organization from l to 4 April 1945. 

· 7 • The charge sheet sho'ftS accused is 22 years four months o.f' age 
and was inducted 26 February 1943 • He had no prior service. 

a. 'lhe court was legally constituted am. had jurisdiction o:f the 
person and offenses. · No errors injuriously affecting the substantial. 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board o:f 
Review is o:f the opin.1.on that th!:! record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as commuted. · 

9. The penalty for misbehavior before the enell\1 and for willfully 
disobeying the lawful command of his superior officer by a person 
subject to military law is in ea.ch instance death or such other punish­
'ment. as a court-martial. may direct (AlV 75, A.-V 64). Confinement in a 
penitentiary is authorized in commutation of a death sentence (AW 42; 
MCM, 1928, par.90a, pp.80-81). The designation of the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewi-Sbure, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, ' 
is proper (Cir.229, VlD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars.1£(4), 3£). 

~ Judge Advocate 

~41crrf:m C f~udge Advocate 

///' l/.. 'l ~· rtfj/{- vt· ~£';1 ,Ct Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Jud~e Adyoicate General with 
the European Theater. iG 6 St: 1::l45 • 
TO: Commanding General, Uni~ed States Forces, European Theater (t:ain), 
AP0.757, U. s. Anrr,r. 

1. In the case of Private Jacob J. Hartini (33560310), Company I, 
13th Infantry, attention is invited to tho foreGoine holcti.ng by the 
Board of Review that the ·record of trial is le~ally sufficient to 
support the findinGs of ~ilty a.~d the sentence, as co:rrm.ited, which 
holding is hereby approved. Unrler the provisions of Article of VTar 50), 
you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the publis!'led ord.'Olr are forwarden_ to this 
office, they should be accompanied hy the forc~oing holding and this 

( c:entencet as co1111111ted ordered executed. OCMO 490, USFET, 13 Oct 1945). 

1r," 41·7 ;1 l·l·- u <._) ._ • ...i.., 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Thea~er 


AfO 837 


BOARD OF REV:..E\'1 .No• 5 9 NCV 1945 . 
Chl ETO 16345 

UNITED STATES ) 9TH IlIB'A!lfl'HY Dl-V.LSIOi~-
) 

v J 
) 

Trial by GC:r.~. convened at Kothen, 
Germany, 8 May 1945. Sentence: 

ririvate J.A;,;ES A. Q,U:EEN, ) Dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 
(34119125), Company C, 
39th Infanti:,'. 

) 
) 

and confineraent at hard labor !'or life. 
'United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

) Pennsylvania. · 

HOLDil1G BY BOARD OF R..."'VIE\1 r:o .5 

HILL, JULIAl~ and BUffiS, Judge Advocates 


. 
1.. The rec:.:rd of trial in 1he case of the soldier na.rood above 

has been ex~ned by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its hoiding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of ·the 
Branch office of The Judge Advocate General. with the Et.U'opean Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and,specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of War~ 

Specification: In that Private James A. Queen, Co~pany •c•, 
39th Infantry, did, near Linz, Germany, on or about 11 llarch 
1945,. desert the military s~-,rvice of the United States by 
absenting hirnself wi thcut proiier leave from his ore;anization 
located near Lina, Gennany, with the intention of avoiding 
hazardous duty and shirking important :service and did remain 
absent in desertion until he surrendered himself to the 
7th Corps Military Police Platoon, APO 307, on or about 
17 March 194.5, in Bonn, Germany. · 

CHARGE IIi Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
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Specification& Im that • • • did, at Eamsbech; Germany, on or 
about 8 April 1945 1 forcibly and felolliously, against her will, 
have carnal knowledge of r.:rs Trude Herbst", a German civilian 
residing in Ramabech, qermany. 

CHAH}E III& Violation of the 96th Article of War 

Specification l; rn·that • • • did; at Ramsbech, Germany, on or 
about 8 .A,pril 19~5. urongfUlly commit an assault on staff 
Sergeant Charles A. Yenser, Comp~ 11 c•, J9th Infantry by 
pointing at him a dangerous weapon, to. wit, a loaded pistol. 

Specification 2; (Finding of not guilty) 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court present at the time 
the vote was taken concurrir..g, was found not guilty of Specificatio:c.2 of 
Charge III and guilty of all the charges and the remaining specifications. 
No evidence of previous convictions Tias introduced. All Of the members of 
the court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be hanged by. the ne.ck w:tp dead .. The revierting authority, the Commanding 
General, 9th Inf'a.ltry Division, approved the sentence and forwarded the record 
of trial for action under Article of War·48. The confirming authority, the 
Comman9-ing General, United States Forces, European Theater, conflrmed the . 
sentence, but owing to special circu.ustances in the case, com:nuted it to 
dishonorable discharge from the service, forfeiture of all pay and allowances 
due or to becor:ie due, and confineroont at ·hard labor for the term of accused's 
natur....i life, designated the Ulited States Pe:aitentiary, l.ewisbt,U'g, Pennsylvania, 
as t,1e place of confinement, and wit.h held the order directing the execution 
of the sentence pursuant to Article of War 50t. 

J. a. . (Charge I. Desertion). On 11 Msrch 1945. Colilpany C, J9th 
Infantry, of which accused was a member, foot-crossed Remagen Bridge on the 
Rhine and came to the town of Linz on the right bank (l\53 ,57). Accused 
was present with the company as a member of the machine gun section when 
it arrhed at Linz (l\55/. .After crossing the bridge it was common knowledge 
that the corapany, which was prepared for immediate combat, would soon er.gage 
the enemy (l\)3,58). On the evening of 11 Uarch, aft~r su~per, it moved out of 
Linz and proceeded to the town of Unkel (R5J). Accused did notmove out with 
the eompaDY and a search of the area failed to di~tlose his whereabouts 
(a53 ,56-57). His absence, which was unauthorized, lasted six days from the 
evening of 11 March until 17 March (R54.58; Pros. Ex~ 2). From the morni1"g 
of 12 l.'9.rch •/the cor.ipany l':as engaged in combat. w~ th the. ene;~iy (R53). 

tU1'.:il 17 ;.b.rch, 
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Accus~d testified that after crossing the Rhlne to Linz on 11 ?Jarch, he 
and sev~ral other soldiers were each given a bottle of chrurrpagne or cognac 
by a soldier who was passing out the Mttles from. the back of a truck (R60) • 
.After ~rinking the cha.~pagne or cognac, accused ~d two other soldiers went to 
a •beer-joint• about 40 yards al':ay from the platoon area and drank beer mixed · 
with ·cognac.· The lastthing her remembered •·:as sitting at the beer table 
talking (R60,62). He intE31led to move with the platoon. Ha did not intend 
to •hide from thei~l• or to •mes<: up• when he ,;•ent to the beer hall (R63). 
When he 1 Caill? to• it was daylight but he did not know wi1at day it rras. He 
looked for his equipi;ient in a house where he thought he had left it, but it was 
not there. He then went into the basement of this house and found a quantity 
of •wine or cog.lilac•. He began drinking and •went out• again 1 1ike a light.• 
Whea ·he woke up the first time he v;as so sick that all he could do was to drink 
·a little more and to keep it up until he passed out again (R67). He remained 
in the base~nt until he vms ordered out by a member of the military police 
sent there to guard 1 all this champagne.• He did not remember how r.le.D.y days 
or nights he had stayed there (R6J37). When he woke up he was on the left 
bank of the Rhine; He did not know how he got across the Rhine fziom Linz, 
on the right bank, to the left bank, where Bonn is situated (R78). After 
he was expelled from the basement he asked ano.ther n:ember of the military 
police where he coulq find the 9th Infantr'J Division, but he did not know• 
.Anxious to return to his. company he. obtained a ride from a dri,ver who thought 
the 9th Division was close to the 1st, and four hours later reached Bonn. 
There he .sought out the Provost :r.rarshal, told him his story, and was informed he 
would have to retUI'll to his company through channels (R61,62). He surrendered 
to the military police on or about 17 l&lrch (R68). He could not say whether 
his company was going into combat waen it crossed the ReL'lB.gen Bridge and stopped 
at Linz.. He understood it was gping into an assembly area for an indeterminate 
period. lie admitted that while crossing the bridge there were eAemy- planes 
overhead and a few rounds of enemy artilleIY(R66, 67,68) • 

.. 
b•• (Charge II, Rape). On 8 .A,pril 1945. Fritz Ii3rbst, an engineer and 

mi~J..:•s director, his wife, Trude Herbst, and her mother were present in their 
home in Ramsbech,Germany. American troops arrived at this house at' noon that 
day (Rl9-21). About 1630 hours accused grabbed Mrs ~rbst by the arm and 
pulled her into the kitchen (R20,Jl). The husband followed them but was 
ordere·d out by accused. (R21). The mother was not permitted to enter the 
kitchen {1=(31) ~ .lccused led :Mrs Herbst to the stove and made her underste.nd 
that'~ wanted some bacon (l\31). She went out of the kitchen, told her 
husband the soldier wanted bacon and asked him to fetch some from the storage 
room. The husband complied and brought the bacon into the kitchen, remaining 
the while his wife prepared it. .Accused, ho'l7ever9 · agai11 ordered him out and 
he left through one of the three doors of the kitchen leavir.g his wife alone 
with accused (R22,23)• .A.fter·he left the kitchen, the 1ll£hand beam.the 
turnillg of the key ill the lQC~-.- and soo_:ri afterwa;.·ds heard his wife seying b 
a 1 beggirig tone•, 1 Now leave me alonel I am a mother of three childrEn• 
He immediately went upstairs and asked Serseant Sanford for help (R21,l2,23). 
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The sergeant went down with him u.d tried to open the door but found 1t 

locked {Rl.2). Ba asked accused to open the door but accused, answering trom 

within, told him to go away and." leave him alone. The sergeant returned upstairs 

and explained" the situation to Sergeants. Yenser and Bartley. .Ul three went 

down and accused was again asked to open the door, but he refused and said 

•he had something in there that he didn't want'us to see• (Rl2-J..4). Two 

. of the e<>rgeants went around to the other door, tried to open it ·without success, 
and kicked it several times (Rl.5). The husband urged Sergeant Bartley, who 
reruained at the first door, to do somethin~ to open it, and the sergeant 
taking his pistol said •step aside~ Step aside a minute. I'll try to shoot 
open the lock on the door• (~3). -.A. shOt was fired, and a moment later 
the door was opened from the inside (Rl5,24). .Mrs Herbst came out •crying 
and con.fused• and fell into her husband's arms. H:r hair was disheveled and 
her face •cramped' and 'distorted.• He asked her what happened and she replied, 
•I was assaulted by two ~rican soldiers!• At her request she was given a 
seda live and taken to a doctor who gave her a thorough •cleansil'l.g• (~4,36) • 
.A.ccused stood in the room .with a poker u his hand. Ba was taken to the command 
post and turned over to the captain (Rl5). When he was at the· door of the locked 
room, Sergeant Sanford heard no woman's voice and no cries (Rl7,18). Fiftee:a. 
to twenty minutes elapsed fr6Ilr the ti.ma Lrrs Herbst was left alone with accused 
to the ti.me she came out of the room (~5). 

" 
Mrs. Herbst we:.s the only person who testified as to what happened in the 

room after the husband was ordered out of the kitchen the second time. As she 
stood near the stove preoccupied with the bacon, she heard a noise and noticed 
that a second soldier, dark-.haired, had entered the kitchen. One soldier took 
her by the arm and led her from the stove toward' the kitchen door and locked it. 
He indicated that she remain silent by placing his finger on his li~s. She 
beca.zm frightened ar.d pleaded that they leave her alone. She told them she 
was sick and old and had a husband and three children. She showed them a fotir ­
inch scar at the base of her throat from an operation on her thyroid gland. 
They took her into the adjoining room containing a sofa and the black-haired 
soldier locked the door to that room. .A.ccused led her to the sofa and forced her 
down on it against her protests (1U2-34.J8). By taking her hands ~d pushing 
them down on her mouth her head was placed in .a horizontal position (I\38). 
She was fully dressed and had on t"ro or three pairs of pants and an undershirt 
tl1at •loc:ked• her clothes between her legs. Accused toq~her pants off aD. the 
way, tearing the second pair. She attem.p·ted to keep her pants on Yiith her 
hands (Rlj.2,43,45). .A.ccused su~pressed her outcries by placin£ his hand over 
her mouth. She experienced cramps in her legs and •terrible stitches• in the 
abdomen (IGJ). Accused said. to her, 'You all co~ don~ or under,• or words having 

' 	 a similar SoUlld which she took to be a threat (I\34,43). She also deduced from 
these worc..s t11at since theniwere other soldiers in the back-rooms, they too ­
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would come in. and she exclair;ed. •one is enough. Let ~ alone. One 
is enough. 1 (1\34.43). From their actions she believed they were going to 
beat her (R44). She attem.1ted to kick him away to the best of her ability 
(R40). She thought he pulled her p~nts down after she was lying down, 
but at the time he inserted his ma.le organ into her female organ she was in 
a half-sitting position, and since she was in that position her legs were 
•automatically spread already.• Her legs were spread apart by accused in the 
process.of removing her pants. She did not remain half-sitting throughout 
the act, but was also lying down. and at the time she was lying down her 
legs were pressed closely together (R42). J.ccused lay between her Je gs for 
a brief moment and she did not recall whetherit was during that moment that he 
penetrated her (R41). As far as she believed there was penetration. She 
was •absolutely• sure accused penetrated her person with his male organ (R45)• 
She struggledto the best of her ability to prevent the act of accused CR45-46). 
While the latter was engaged in the act of intercourse, the dark-haired soldier 
was standing by the door (1\38,~). In response to a call from accused ·he went 
over and held her legs (1\35.38-39,44). She admitted that during the intercourse 
she was Polding a lighted cigarette in her hand which she 1 had to smoke• (Rl10). 
It was the Sa.Lle cigarette she had been s.noking before she was attacked (R41). 
She helci. the cigarette because of the crai;ip iu her legs. She expcrie11ced a 
loss of po·.,er to .wove aer arr.is and legs at that moment. ..,he did not lose her 
power to move her ar~s ar;.d legs at th.at woment. •I woul" not have been able 
to defend myself ae;ai1:..st two.• It did not enLr her illi11d to use her hands 
to de1'et..d he.J.' self. •I pleaued and I cried and, through the cram) ar:d pain 
in cy legs. I was unable tu defer1d .J~,.self. 11 She also suffered pair.s in the 
abd.ome:1. She has been sui:Jjected. to these· pairis recurrentl.i si11ce the operation 
on her [land (iiLJ.o). Duril.l.s; ti1e il.i.tercourse tliere was knocki;,g on the door and 
it was be.in.:;; snaken v;i th incr·eusing violence. 'lhe dark-haired soldit-r ure;ed 
accu:oe(l t;:; hJ.rry up and finish (:r\33 .34). When accused was doLe, the other 
soldier bee:,an having ii:tercourse Y:i t:1 Her but desisteci when the knocking and 
t::ie sl:iakint;; of the door became continuous. anC: opening the Cioor leadine; to 
tl:.e h&llway. he disapz-eared U\34.35). Accused r.·e:::it to the ki tci:1en and 
unlocked the door (R.44) • She picked up her pants. put ti1eLJ. in her pocket, and 
ran qut through the kitchen toward the v;ash kitchen (.f\35,44, Pros. E::.l). 
Her husband was standing there ar:d she fell into his ar.ns saying. "It has 
happened. It is )ast. It is all finis:ied. I want to go to a Doctor.• (I\35). 

She never indicated co!:.sent to the interco.irse (I\35) and never gave 
any assistar:.ce to accused (.:ili.j). She l~d not been on frienC.ly teri.is with him 
prior to this occurreLce 0\39). She thoU£ht that !leither of her tr:o assaila~;ts 
was drur.k (~UtO) • 

.Accused testified tllat he remembered the taking of Ramsbech and another 
town on 8 April. In Ramsbech they moved into a house ab:)Ut noon (R64) and set 
up two machine guns to cover the road. Some of ti1e men searched the house 
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and fowad cognac and champagne i:c. the baserrent. The po·.:er was still on in 
the house and there was a radio and an electric heater. He listened to the 
radio and drank cognac using c~am~agLe as a cnasor. The man in the house 
(identified as u. Herbst (R68)':)poi:c.ted to the bottle from which accused 
was drinking and said that it was •nix good.•. that it would make him •crazy.• 
.lccused tastedit, found it pretty good and drank it. M~antime he went through 
a.D. artillery ba~rage. Three tanks went by and fired at the house. .About lJOO 
hours he went dowm to thekitchen. where there was a stove and re:ioombered building 
a fire ill it and frying sone kind of sausage while others brought bread. lil was 
tryiDg to prepal'e sone meals to·D the boys. That was the last he remembered 
(R63). ~ woke up in a· jeep and .was told they were carrying him back to 1he 
compa.Jcy ld.tche:a (RG3-64) • Be then •passed out. 1 · He did JlO~ remember seeing 
Mrs ~rbst ill the house. ~ did not remember what happened ·from the time 
be was cooking at the stove to the ti.me he woke up ia the jeep (R64,69). .ls 
he was drunk, he did J1.ot believe he raped the woman. 'I have drank a lot of 
wiskey i:a my time and I have imssed with a lot of :w.omen, too. wii.en' I get 
drunk, I"get :n.o desire for WOJJJen. Iq dick wouldn't get hard, and I wouldn't 
n.l:lt 8l2Y woma:a whe:a I got that dru.»k• (R65) • •I have· had girls to tell :im 

that I am no good to them when I am drunk. When I am driilking I have no 
desire for women• (R71). •One time I went to bed with one woman and when 
I l'(Oke up, I was 011. ihe floor ud she wasin bed with another man• (R70). Es 
could not state of his own knowledge that he did not rape anyone, but admitted 
sayillg il1 his pre-trial stateioont that he •absolutely did not rape any woman• (R71) • 
.ls to his desire for drink, he testified, 1 It seems I have to have it, or I'll 
go nuts• (R70). 

' 
Major YilliaJ.a T. MacLauchlin, Mtdical Corps, Division psychiatrist, 

testified that accuaed was sufferiIJg from: chro~ic alcoholism orpathological 
iatoxicatioa. When he drinks to excess he goes uto a •furore• and while 
i:a that state he may fight people and even draw a gun. .• When he recovers he 
does not remember what happened. · During the period ~overed by his amnesia he 
kaows the difference between right and wrong. · 

c. (Qhare;e III, "'.·< • .Msault). On 8 J,pril 1945. at P.amsbech, 
IJermally, Private First Class Xlei:oontowski was .sitting reading ~ paper in a 
building iA which 4th Platoon was billeted. He carried a holster· on his 
hip containing a .32 caliber revolver fully loaded with six rounds. Accused 
grabbed the revolver from the holEEr alld fired a round into the floor· and 
another into the ceiling. He then pointed the weapoa around the room. ill the 
ms:a ia the room except 10.eroontowski •took· oft.• The latter remained there 
until accused drove him. out and chased him upstairs 'l'!here Kleimntowski 
eluded him by hidi.ug. .lceused returned downstairs and pointed tJie gun at 
Serge8llt Ye:aser who 'looked ·scared.• Kl.ementowski followed accused down­
stairs and aske~.him for the gun. .Accused gave it to him. The gun was 
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. found to be cocked {R48,49). IQ.ementowski stated accused was drunk and 

'didn't know what he r1as doing• (161). • The platoon, First Lieutenant 
Charles E Wilson testified that after a disturbance, he spoke.to accused, who 
was intoxicated, and took his liquor away from him. He tried to straiglten him 
out and when he left him accused •appeared to be in control of his faculties• 
{R9,10). 

With.reference to this offense accused merely testified that he did not 

reirember seeing Lieutenant Wilson or talking with him and that he ·could not say 

positively thll.t :ne did no·t point a pistol at Sergeut Yenser (R69,72). He 

becomes belligerent when in~oxicated and engages in fights (R71). 


4. a. The evidence justified a finding that when accused left his . · 
organization withcut authority he knew that oombat witr_ the enemy y:as imminent. 
B:! was a member of a combat unit which was prepared tor battle at a moment's 
notice, and it was com.:on loiowledge that the unit would soon enter into 
an engagement. That very day he had crosSt.ld the Remagen Bridge in the 
direction ofthe ene;;:zy- and wit~ssed u.umistakable signs of resistance in the 
form of hostile planes and ·artillery fire. The company went into combat 
the morning after his departure. From this evidence the court could properly 
have· inferred t~at accused quit his organization with intent to avoid hazardous 
duty and to shirk important service (CM EI'O 14J2, Good; Ci:.1ETC1J02J, Leighton). 
,Accused, however, denied that he had any such intent. He claimed that he left 
.his platoon area to drink, and t::.at he becru;Je so drunk that he remembered nothing 
from· time he i'!as drinking at a place 40 yards away from the platoon area until 
he again becam:l aware of his surroundings after an indefinite lapse of ti.we. 
His testimony contains materi.al inconsistencies. Whether these were due to his 
confused recollection of events or to his becoming tangled in a fictitious 
recital, r;as a question for the court to determine. ·Even if the court accepted 
his testimony that hedrank himself into a Seate of temporary amnesia, it could 
also haye found that in view of his previous similar experiences from excessive 
drilli~ing. he knowingly resorted to it not only to gratify his inordinate desire 
for alcohol but also for the purpose of e sca_ping the allpr9aching ordeal of 
combat thNugh extreme intoxication.(Cf. CMEI'O 6626, Lipscomb). 

b. There was sufficient evidence ti~at accused had carnal knowledge 

of Mrs. Herbst at the time and place alleged. Considerable confusioa and 

several inconsistencies are found in her testimony concerning the sequence of 

events, the position of her body on the sofa during the intercourse, the 

sprec.C:,ing of her legs, and· her ability to use her arms and legs. Her 

admission that during the sexual act she Vi as holding a lighted cie:arette 

in her hand indicates that her resistance was far from vigorous wand tends to 

prov~ acquiescence.on her part without active cooperation. On "the other 

hand, her protests, her attempted outcries suppressed by the accused, the use 

of her feet to repel him. the holding of her legs by the other soldier while 
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accused achieved his purpose, ·and her physical appearance \1hen she emerged 
froJ.a the roou, negative tile existence of consent. On this evidence' the 
court who .hea:·d and saw the witnesses could reject inf0rences favorable to 
accused and adopt those favorable to the prosecution. llldeed the time, place and 
circUI:lStances surrounding the iLcicient militate againS; the presence of 
consent •. l:Ier ho.;;ie had.been teJ-..en over by inYading forces but a few hours 
before. 1t is unlikely that the moment the doors were locked thiswoman, 
in the midst of her own people alld a hostile combat unit, shrewdly appraised 
her chances of indulging in illicit intercourse without being surprised in the 
act, and aftwerward con~ealed her misconduct by pretending she was raped. 
Such behavio~. in tee circll.lliStar.ces disclcsed by the evidence, would 
presuppose a highly improbable cowbination of lasciviousness, crafty calculation, 
and recklessness, not intelligently imputable to a normal v:oma.n. There is no 

· sue;gestion in· the record that :.::rs. Herbst was a wor:ian. of loose morals. She 
was a wife and the LlOther of three children In the absence of evidence to 
the contrary her chaste character is presumed (:wcl.:, 1928, par. 112_!, p.110). 
The court not improperly chose to believe that the absenc.; of more violent 
resistance was due, not to consent, but to her impaired strength and the fear 
engendered in her by the outra5~ous conduct of assailants who were bent 
upon the acco.:JJ.plish:-.£nt of their design regardless of her protests, struggles or 
stifled outcries. The record of trial contains substantial evidence which, if 
believed by court, warranted a finding that accused had carnal knowledge of the 
victim by force and \'1ithout her consent (Cl.~ ETO 7251, Jackson; CU Jfil'O 12683, 
VIcCullough). 

The Board of Review confirus the following statement, which has 

many times been acted upon by the Board of Review in exal.".iniLg records 

of trii:.l on ap.:iellate review r.·i1ere the quest::.on here involved \"las vital 

in deter.;J.;;,ing the guilt Of .AJmric'°'n Soldier accused Of rape I 


•The 	case is of fa,.J.lar pattern to the Board of 
Review wh.ich has consistently asserte.d in its consideration 
of lil:e cases that the court with the. witnesses before 
it was in a better position to judge of their credibility 
and value of their ·evide::.ce than the Board of Review on 
appellate review with only the cold typer;ri tten re cord· 
before it• (C~ETO 8837, Wilson) 

c. No disc;1sion is required to show that the guilt of acc~tsed 


of assaW.t with a pistol on Sergeant Yenser was adequately proved. 


d. On the evidence befcre it the court r:as not required to find that 

accused's drunken:.1ess affected in any r:ay criLU.nal liability for any of the 

offenses char.::.e against him. (CM EI'O 9611, Prairiechief; CM EI'O 12855, 

!.J.n.irick). 


::; • The charce sheet shows that acc'..:sed is 29 ;:;ears seven months of 

age and was i;1ducted 20 August 1941, at Fort Bragg, North Carolina. 
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~ had- no prior service. 
·, 

. 6. The court was legally constituted and bad jurisdiction of the 
person -and offenses.· No errors illjuriously affecting the substantiaJ. rights of 
accuaed were coUllitted during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the.record of trial is legally sW'ficient to support the findings 
of guilty and t.he sentence as comnru.ted. . 

7. The penalty for desertion ill time of war .is :ceath or such other 
pWlisbment as the court-martial may direct (.A.W 58) a.Rd for rape, death or life 
1.mpris_onment as the court-martial may direct (JM 92). Oonfinemei;i:t in a 
penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of desertion by .Article of ITar 42 
and upon conviction of rape by the·same Article. and section 278 and 330, 
Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 457, 567) • The designation of the Ulit-ed States 

·Penitentiary, 	U3wisburg, PennsylvaAia, as the. place of confinement is proper 
(Cir~ 229, 1'D,8 June 1944. sec. II, pars 1..£. (4), 3,B.). 
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.tsranch Office of ~lte ;rudge Advocate General 
. ''lith .the ~ 

- European Theater 
.APO 887 

BU.ARD vF REVi.EI NO. 5 .•l 9 NOV 1945 
GM El'O 16345 

) 9TH IlilFANI'RY DIVISION 
) 

·.T ) Trial by GCM, convened at Kothen 
) Germany, 8 May· 1945· Sentence& 

Private J.ALJES .A. Q,lEEN. ) Dis.honorable discharge, total f'orf'eiturea 
'(34119125). Cclilpe.ny 0 ) and confinement at hard labor for lite. 
.39th Infant "1··· ) . united States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

) Pennsylvania. 

OPINION BY JOHN VJ.RRSN HILL 
DISSEN!'Jm. IN P.A.Rl' 

In m:t opinion the record of trial is not legally sufficient to 
sustain the f'indings of guilty of' Charge II and its Specification. 

The sole evidence as to· each of the essential elements of rape, 
penetration, lack of consent, force (and of resistance or fear) comes 
from the mouth of the proaecutrix. ~r story at the best is rambling, 
uncertain, and contradictory. At the worst, it is imaginative 1•' 
essential details· and, more serious in my opinion, borders very markedly 
on the delusional. ~ · 

.Asked by the court if she was absolutly certain of penetration, 
she answered' 

'As far as I believe, yes•. 

This answer. should be analyzed carefully.• It shows that there was 
doubt in the mind of this woman. She was an expedenced wife, the 
mother of three: childreJ. At the time of the •rape• she was lying­
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or sitting-supine, aonresistant," conscious of every·act, each e~tion, 


had there been penetration, she would have known it. I disregard . 

he final UBer that she was certain. This last answer was improperly 

urged if Rot forced· o;.it of her by a judge who heckled her with tbe 

demand a .'I doa•t want belief. · I want you to· ~er me•, etc. 

To lhis highly 1.magi~ative, seriously ill woman, this judioial de.malld 

may well have ausguted that the court wa,nted from her the veu anner 

eought by the prosecution. · 


HSre we have l\O timid, modest young maiden hesitant to admit 
· that ehe had been :penetrated. Instead we have an experienced wife 

who 11knew all the answers.• She was not a hostile witness and certainly 
llot a reluctan~ one• I am bound· to accept her first answer aa 1he truth. 
That being the case, I must have more than' her mere •belief• that she 
we.a :penetrated in order to supl)ort a .finding of guilty ot rape. . Particularly 
ia thia true in this case i:ii view o1"the fact that thie witneaa. in many 
inatancea demonstrated unreliability, vagueness and-aa 1uaseated· po11ible
d.1lu.tioaa1. 

I • I

Her teetimony, makes a veritable shambles ot tho element• dt non­

conaont, reaiatance and force, .Accused is aot laid to have c8.n'ied 

or used the ubiquitous ,pistol or carbine Trhich have beoomo the •line 

qua zio:ra• u those rape oasee. The o:a.J.y real force claimed to b&n 

'b1tn uaed wu the holdins ot the prosecutrix' 1 leis by the • aeoond 

1oldbr1 who arrived and departed 10 ieyeteriously. Yet~ acoordins 

to th• proiooutrix her less were paral.Yzed and uaeleas at weapon1 .ot 

:ro1iatanoe •. There was Do need to hold theln. ·Ia tact they automatically 

spread e.part whoa dlopostui'ed hersel:f' at the time. ot the uhroourao • 

HclWOVOl't acoordiq~ tCLhel', aocused did UH a terrorizbg •expreHiOJlel 

..ill throusb. her tuU.IIIQJIY this proseout:rix hWlllned. a phaso ~.once used· by 

aoouaod, •Dow• or under• •• the •rorce-motit• ot hOr episode~ 


RemoTi•& trom the story ot the p~oseout:rix all other iaorod1b1l1t1e1, it 18 

imI>ossiblt to WiIJ• out the picture, which she herself paillted, o:f' her 

amokins a ci£arotto wbilo'btiit& ra~ed. Buch aD act boli11 ~ claiin to any 

reoiltance. J'urtheI'.llX>re, a womu. who would thilllc mol'9 ot a oisaro'Ue t~ 


bar Tirtuo 11 o 1 thor uuoha.eto or mont.111111.· · 'l'o place th11 •emu a tbl 

le.ttoio eo.tte;ory 11 war:rantod aot only by tho ronclina oharactoi' ct' hor,. 

teatimoey but by her llledioal hiatoq which tb• .. i-oooi'd 411oloudt 


I am ;~blo to ·~ th&t th• tl 
1

1t1moay oa. which th1• .~CUH4 WH ODD1'10tt4 
ot ;rape wu eitbe;r •oompete•t• "o;r 1ubetuu..i. 

., 
.lor .tho tongotl$roHo1le, in 'IJ1I o~i,?'1C>n the ·"oor4 ot tnu ii ao~ ·-l•P1l1 

ll.lftia1eBt to ~u~~oTt tho fiqij1~3 ot SU1lty ot Oharso %X ..-~ itl a~o~t101~ioa, 
,,. t . 

..~. 
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rt is, however, in my opinion, legally sufficieLt· of the :ceme.im.ng 
charges and specifications and the sentence. However, I believe, 
to be logical, the period of confineJ.;Jent should be substantially reduced. 

-~~~r·"fl'f'w......_..~==:;:;:=. .....~'~~~--·Judge Advocate 

-J-
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·1st Ind 

'War Department, Branch Office of The. Judge Advocate General with 
' · the Europ._ean Theater. i 9 NOV 194r; TOs Cowr:ianding General, 

Ulli.ted States Forces, European Tneater, (Main) APO 757, u.s. ~· 

1.· In the case of Private JAUES A. QUEEN, (.34119125), Company 
C, .39th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 
Board of Review that t he record of trial is 'legally sufficierit to support 
the findings of .:;uilty and the sentence, a~ commuted, which holding is heret 
approved, Under the provisions of Article of War 50:!, you now have 
authority to o.rder the execution of the rentence •. · 

•2. When copies of the published order are for\"1arded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 

· ,.,..,., The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 16345.. For 
~.~·~ convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the 

,.._·:> · end• of the order: {CI.1 El'O 16345).-- ----,.-- ---· ,, ./)?at~ 
/E./C. 111cr:EIL, • 

\Brigadier General, United States ~· 
... f · · Assistant Judge Advocate General 

"l" ·- --· -.~···-·-··~ •• ·:·; ',..!!(""),.••••.• -·:.·-·-·---""'.'"--········· 

' 

~.'~~ ( sentence as commuted ordered ex~ted. _OCllJ 6Zl, ISFET, 6 Oct 1945) • 
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Branch Of!ice of The Judge .Aivocate General 
with the 

:European Tbe ater 
Aro 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
8 OCT 1945 

UNITED ST A.T Ji: S ) lST INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

Te ) Trial by GC11, convened. at Cheb 1 SUetenlana, 
) Czeeboslovald.a, 4 June 1945. Sentences 

PriTate FRANKLIN o. LlLIEY ) Dishonorable ciischarge, total forfeitures, 
(1200249#), Heaaquartera ) ana confinement at bard. labor tor lite. 
BatterT, lst Infantry Division ) Uni tea States Penitentiar71 Lewisburg,
Artill•rT ) Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
HEPBURN, Mn.I.ER anli COu.INS, Judge Aivocates 

le The recorcl of trial in the case of the solciier namecl above has 
been examined by the Boarci ot Review and the Boarli swmits this, its hold.­
ing, to the Assistant Jucige Advocate Gemral in charge of the Branch Office 
of The J'Wige Ad.vocate General with the lWropean 'lhe~ter. 

2. Accused was tried. upon the :tolJ.owing Charge ana Specification: 

CHAfl.GE: Violation of the 92nd. Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Franklin o. Lilley, 
Headquarters Battery, lst u. s. Infantry Division 
Artillery, did, at Cheb, Suaetenlanci, Czeohoslovakia, 
on or about 7 May 1945, foreibl7 and. feloniously, 
against her will, have carnal knowledge of Al.ma 
Benker. -.. 

He :pleaaea not guilty anci.1 all melli:>ers of the court present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, ns founci guilt7 of the Charge ant Specification. 
No erlrience of previous convictions was introduced.. All msbers o! the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be 
hange& by the neck yntil deal.a The reviewing authorit7, ·the Commanding 
General, lst1 Infantry Division, appro_vea the sentence an& forwarded the re­
cora of .trial for action under Article of War 48. The confirming a.uthorit71 
the Conmanding General, United. States Forces, European 'lbeater1 contirme.i 
the. sentence, but, owing to special circumstances in this ca-se 1 commutea it 
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to dishonorable discharge from the service, forfeiture of all pay ant 

allowances due or to become due, and. confinement at hard. labor far the 

term of his natural life, designated the Unite& States Penitentiar1, 

Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, and withhelt the 

orcier directing execution o! the eentence pursuant to Article o! War 50i. 


3. Prosecution• s erld.ence is swmnarizeci as follows: 

Artilld-irusea is a member of Headquarters Battery, lst Infantr1 
Division/(R43). As relatea by Allla Benker, accuseci appearea on th• bal­
eoey of the house where she lives at Karl stilpstrasse 29, Eger, Czeeho­
sloTald.a, which is also known as Cbeb, S.aetenlana (R.43,62), about l 900, 
7 May 1945 (R!). He was erunk but was able to stana by himself ana hd 
a "hea'V)" walk" (R9). · Alu. Benker anti Frau Sebloth were both on the balcoey 
which was one half story below the thira floor 'Wbare .Al.Ila Benker livei. 
(R8). Accused threw his· arms ar<?unli their "necks" ana, looking down !roa 
the. balcoey, pullea his pistol from its holster, pointea it at a man G.am 
in the yard. and. flrea. Frau Scbloth pusheci accused. as he fire& the pistol 
so he wouli. not hit the 118.0 (RS-9). About fin or ten minutes later both 
women went back from the balcoey to go down the stairs but accusM. inter­
fered by grabbing .Alaa Benker by the shoulder an& pulling her back. She 
"wanted." to get away from him but was unable to ao so (IUO). He askea her 
lib.ere she livea by pointing ana making signs, pullea her up the stairs, 
pressea her pgainst the wall and. went to the aoor of her apartment. He 
motionea/he~ to unlock the apartioont and Frau Benker rang the belle Mrs. 
Srhllliat, a refugee living with Frau Benker~ openea the eoor (Rll) anci 
tne1 went in. He obtained. the key froa Frau Benker and. triea unsuccessfull7 
to lock the aoor (IUl-12). He askeci. the two women to loek it.. Frau Benker 
got to the aoor, openea it, am. yellea "lelp, Helpn. Accuse& then pullea 
her back, grabbea both women, pushed. thea into the co·mer of the hall anti 
pointed. his pistol at them. (Rl2-l.3) • Frau Benker then lockea the tloor 
'When he n&emanci.ea" it (Bl.4). 

Aecueea and the two women next went to the kitchen and. t)lenee into 
the bearoom accompa.niea b7 a neighbor•e small bo7 11ho baci been in th• 
kitehen (Rl4-l5 ). Aemsei. remove&· the ke;y from the kitchen siae of the 
be&rooa d.oor, locke a the aoor fro• the bearoOll. site, remove& the ke7 ani. 
plaeei it on the night table. Frau Benker still ci:ia not know what he 
wa.ntea. He pull.ea back the covers of one of the two beaa, which were •next 
to each at.her•, and. inileatea to her that she was to unares1 hill (R15) • 
llhile he bela his pistol in bis band., she remove&. all his clot.hing (Rl.6) • 
He then indicated. to Frau Scbmilit that she uneresa Frau Benker whereupon 
she removed. a.11 of Frau Benker'• clothing (Bl0-17). Frau Benker made · 
no effort to ·resist because she thought he wCl:lli shoot her• Next he in­
llicatei that she remove Frau Schmiatt1 clothes whieb she Iii&. He then 
put the ahila in the mii.ile o!. the beds, gl"abbei Frau Schmicit, pusbea 
her into the right be& anci. pushed. Frau Benker into the left bea (Rl.7). 
Accuse& pullea Frau Benker'• legs apart, put bis knees between tbemi put 
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the pistol under the pillow anci threw himself' on top 0£ her. He had · 
sexual intercourse with her penetrating her sexual organ with his (Rl8). 
She did. not voluntarily permit the sex rela~ion (R26) and. triea to pull 
away fro.m. accusea by lifting her body. At her slightest motion, accusea 
pull.ea the pistol from. und.er the pillow, threatened her, and once had it 
on her neck (Rl9). Accused was in bed. with rer about a half hour. While 
he was with her, twn soldiers came in. One left imD3Riatel.7 anci. accuse& 
indicated tbat the other should go to Frau Schmiat (R20-2l). A few minutes 
later that sol.Gl.ier left and then Frau Schmidt le~ with her clothes (R22-23). 
Accused. got up, pistol in hana, went to the door, and actee like he wantea 
to go after her (R23). Later he compelled. Frau Benker to ciress him and. 
asked. her to sleep with him. tha. t night (R24) • She aressed. herself arui 
h• "emandea" she go with him which she did voluntarily (R24) thinking that 
she could. get help on the streets (R.30). They went out through the back­
yarci ana over fences (R24) at about 2015 or 20JO (R25). The accusea was 
arrested and me went with him to the military installation and told. her 
sto17 (R25). · 

.AlJaa Benker' s test:imocy is substantially corroborated bY. the 
testim.ocy of Frau Schloth with respect to the incitents occurring on the 
balcocy, on the stairway, her cries for help from the (4)a.rtment and the 
icientification of accused (R.34,35,37,39); by the testimocy 0£ Frau Schmidt 
as to the incidents occurring in the apartment incluciing the identification 
of accusecl 	(R50-55); ancl by a military police sergeant as to the arrest of 
accused. (R43-44). The Ja tter also testified that accused. had a load.et 

·pistol and a quart bottle half full 0£ a liquifi which smelled. like aleohol 
(R45); that accuseli gave his organization as lst Signal Ccmpa.ey (R45); 
and that he saia he didn't know anything about the lady with him. ani it 
she told anything it wouli not be the truth (R47). Accused. at the time 
of his arrest had been arinldng. He was not staggering but talked in a 
loua voice 	(R47-48). He was walking aoout a pace in front of the wman 
and holding her right arm in front of her (R49). 

4. The accused. was acivised of his right 11 by the law manber and. 
elected to remain si.lent. No evidence was introduced for the aefense (R'J) • 

5. 	 "Rape is the unlawful carnal knowlecl.ge of a 

woman by force and without her consent. * * * 


· Force and v.ant of consent are indispensable 
in rape; but the force involncl in the act 
of penetration ie alone sufficient where 
there is in fact no consent" (MCM, 1928, par.
l.48E., p.165 ). 

The erldence is undisputed that accused. eff'ecteci a pentration of the vic­

tim's genitals w:i. thout her consent. From the outset he -displayed. a reek­
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less regard for human life in shooting at the civilian. He forcet the 
victim at gun point to lock the apartment and subsequently locked the 
bedroom door. Again at gun point, he caused the victim and. Frau Schmitt 
to be undressed. He pushed the victim onto the bed. and. hat sexual inter­
course branti.ishing the pistol wh~never she made the slightest ~ove to 
frustrate the execution of his designs. While there is some evidence 
of his intoxication, the step by step execution of his designs negatives 
any conclusion that accused. was not tully aware of his actions. The ele­
ments of proof are well established by the e rldence (CM ETO 10691 ~ 1943). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accuse& is 22 years an& nine months 
of age and that he enlisted wi.thout prior service on 17 July 1940 at 
Syracuse, New York. · 

7. The court was legal.17 constitµted and baa jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed auring th~ trial. The Board. of Renew ie ot the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The pena1ty for rape is death or life imprisonment as the court­
martial may direct (AW 92). Confine.irent in a United States penitentiary 
is authorized upon conviction of the crime of rape by Article of War 42 
and. sections 278 and 3301 Federal Criminal. Code (18 WCA 457,5o7). The 
designation of the Unitea States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229 1 vm, 8 June 19441 sec.II, 
pars.l.!?,(4), 3:2,). 
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lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Jullige Aavocate General with the 
European Theater. 8 OCT 1945 TO: Co.uaanding 
General.1' 1United States Forces, European '!heater (Main) 1 APO 7571 u. s. 
Army. 

le In the case of Private FRANKLIN o. LILLEY (12002494), Heaa­
quarters Battery, lst In!antry Division Artillery, attention is invite& 
to the foregoing holding by the Board. of Review that the record. of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings or guilty and the sentence 
as COIJllllUteti., whieh holding is hereby approve&. Under the provisions of 
Article of War 5<>!, you now have authority to order execution of the . 
sentence·. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded. to this office, 
they should. be accompanied by the foregoing holding ani. this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 16353. For con­
venience of reference, please place that nlllli:ler in brackets at the end. 
of the. o,der~, (CM ETO 16353). . . . 

tf/ ,,>!Ilk /f'L<-·~j . 
~~·' 'r" 

E. C. McN!UL, 
j3ri~~ General, United states Army, 
As~:mt Jndge Advocate General. 

------~~--~~--~~~~~--~~~~ 

( Sentence as commuted ordered executed. GCMO 5241 USFET, 30 Oct 1945)•. 

~· 
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Branch Otfice of The Judge Advocate General · 
· with the · · · · 

European Theater 
APO 887. 

BOARD OF ,REVIE\'l NO. 3 2 5 SEP 1~45 
Cll ETO .16397 

UNITED STATES 	 ll'Jli ARMORED DIVISION 

v. 	 ·Trial by GCK, convened' at Gmunden, 
Au8tria, 16' July' 1945• Sentence: 

Private MAURICEL. PARENT Dishonorable discharge, total for­
(31435$53), Company F1 4lst . ) !eitures and confinement a.t hard 
Cavalry Reconnaissance ) labor for lif'e. U. s. Penitentiary, 
Squadron Mechanized ) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

l 

ROI.DING by BOARD OF ru:vmv NO. 3 · 

SLEEPER, SII.B:mrAN aIXl DEllEY1 Judge Advocates 

1. The record pt trial in the case of the soldier named above his· 
been examined by the'Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the .following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violatim of the 92nd Article ot 11ar. 

Specification: In that Private Maurice L. Parent, Company F, 
4lst Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron Mechariized, did, 
at Blumau, Gememde Schlierback, Austria, on or about 
2300, 27 June 1945, with malice aforethought, willfully, 
deliberately, feloniously, unlawfully, and with premedi­
tation kill one Huberta Prause, a human being by shooting 

·her with a caliber 45 M-.3 Sub Machine Guh. 
,J 

He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurrmg, was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction by SWlllll.&ry 

court for absence without leave for one d;q in violation of Article of Viar 
61. All of the irembers of the court present at the t.i..me the vote was ta.ken· 
concurrmg, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to· 
forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 'becotte due,, and to be confined at 
hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the rest 
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of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, desig­
nated the u. S. Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of con­
finement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to article 
of War 5~. . ·. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution shows that at 2200 hours on 27 
June 1945, accused and another soldier went on guard duty at an outpost 
which included a road block and adjacent railroad station at Galgenau, in 
Blumau, Austria (RlJ,25,28). At about 2215 hours a train arrived at the 
station and a young woman was the only person who got off.,{ru26,28). Accused, 
who had been standing at the station, walked south from the station with 
her, and did not return to his post that night (R26,29,30H'- Shortly after 
2300 hours, a woman's cry for help was heard by a German woman who lived a 
short distance south of the station (R31,Pros.Ex.2) 

At about 0730 hours the following lll.Orning, accused's squadron 
surgeon, his company commander and an investigating officer, eadh of whom 
testified at the trial, were taken· to a point 200 or 300 yards south of · 
the railroad station where they saw the dead body of a young woman, in her 
early twenties, nude except for shoes, a '"Tist watch and bracelet, lyin~ 
on her back near some trees along a trail through a field (Rll,14-15,19). 
She was identified by her aunt, who was escorted to the scene, as Huberta 
Pr~use, who had been expected to return from Linz to her home near Bluma.u 
on 26 or 27 June, (R20,24). The deceased had a smoke-blackened bullet wound 
in the left corner of her mouth, another about two centlh1eters above it, a 
third bullet wound above an eyebrow and another wound in her head, which 
had caused instant· death. Her hair was matted with blood, brain matter 
and bone fragments. She had a large "black eye", similar hematornas sur­
rounding the nipplfil.s.of each breast, and bruises on the left thigh and 
shin. The external genitalia were virginal and showed no evidence of vio­
lence, traces of blood in that region being apparently of menstrual origin 
(Rl.5-16). A .45caliber bullet was dug from the ground behind her head (Rl.9). 
Strewn about an area of 12 feet, about 100 yards from the body, were found 
a ladies 1 silk shirt containing reddish brown stains, a pair of ladies 1 .• 

pants·torn in one piece, a woman's.slip torn on the left side, a used sani­
tary napkin, a United States Army helmet liner with the name 11fua.urice 11 and 
and the numbers "31435" on the inside, a magazine for a .45 caliber U-3 
sub-machine gun containing three live rounds of ammunition, a gray skirt 
and jacket and two handbags (R8-ll, Pros.Exs.3,4,5,6,7,B). The ladies• 
clothing was identified as deceased 1s clothing by her aunt (R20,25). 

, Accused's convnanding officer wen~ from the scene up to the out­
post and was talking with the guard on duty, when accused walked up and, · . 
before his commanding officer had spoken, said, "Sir, I shot that woman~'·• '·. 
Accused then reached in the sentry box and handed over a caliber .45 ~3· .~ 
sub-machine gun (Ill2,22, Pros.Ex.9). Later that morning a pair of 11GI 11 

trousers, containing reddish brown stains near the crotch, was fo\4nd in the 
accus~q 1 s room (IU3,Pros.Ex.l0). ' r' · 
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During the same morning, after accused was warned of his rights 

under the 24th Article of ·:iar, he told the investigating officer that he 

·started out to escort the deceased home, and when he wanted to 11subdue 11 

her, she at first had no objection, but irmnediately thereafter she ran 
aMa;r and he ran after her, hit her, and ordered her to lie down, which she 
did. ,':hen she started to get up, he 11let her have it 11 with three or four 
shots. Ee was drunk. He did not succeed in having intercourse with her. 
He identified the articles found near the.body (R21-22). 

4. Defense counsel stated that accuied had been warned of his rights 
and elected to rernai.n silent, and no evidence was offered in accused's behalf 
(i7'32). On cross examination, accused's comma.riding officer testified that he 
had no reason to believe accused's Character was other than excellent "because 
he did his job and we didn't have any trouble with him11 (R.13). 

• . ' 
5. The uncontroverted evidence fairly shows that accused, without 

apparent justification or excuse, shot and killed Huberta Prause with a sub­
machine gun, at the time and place alleged, because she resisted his ille­
gitimate demands to have sexual. intercourse with her. While his statement 
to the investigating officer indicates that he was drunk at the time of the 
acts, there is no evidence that he was or had been drinking at the time he 
left his guard post, and his actions after leaving the station with the 
deceased are not necessarily those of a drunk person. The question of whether· 
he was too intoxicated to have entertained th~ requisite intent to kill was 
one of fact for the determination of the court (Cl.: .CTO 1901, Llirandi; c::,r :2:TO 
2007, Harris). The conduct of accused evidences a cold and deliberate killing 
of his victiP1, and the court was fully l''<•.rranted in finding him guilty of. the 
crime of murder as charged (CL:: .GTO 15902, Mariano; CM :C:T0 6159, Lewis; CM ETO 
5747, Harrison, Jr; ltiGJ..J., 192S, par. 148~, pp. 162-164). . 

6. At the·outset of the trial, a report of proceedings of a sanity 
board was. introduced, 1vithout any identification, by the prosecution without 
objection by the defense, showing that accused was sane at the time of the 
alleged acts and at the time of the proceeding,s (R6,Pros.Ex.l). ','Jhile the. 
report clearly constituted hearsay evidence, no issue ·of insanity was raised 
at the trial, and no prejudice therefore resulted to accused's substantial 
rig~ts from the erroneous admission of the.report (CM BTO 11265, Murray, Jr.). 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years five month~ of age 
and was inducted 19 September 1944 at Fort Banks, Massachusetts. 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the per­
son and offense. No errors:.injuriousl.y affecting the substantial rights ot 
accused were committed during the trj.al. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings 
of guilty and the sentence. 

. '· 
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9. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisorunent as the court­
martial mq direct (Kil 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for 
the crime of murder by Article of ;var 42 and sections 275 and 330, Federal 
Criminal Code (18 USCA 454, 567). The designation of the u. s. Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg;· Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is proper (Cir. 229, 
VfDi S June 1944, sec. II, pars. 112,(4), '£). · 

_.... __._._Judge Advocate&fl..--.....~-----~--· 
}'µAR~ r'. ~Judge Advocate 

a)L4LJ;J Judge Advocate 

RfSTR.rtCTEDfP 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIE'8 NO. 2 2 8 SEP 1945 
CM Ero 16.399 

UNI'1'li:D S T A T Ji: S 	 ) l3'l'H Afil:ORED DIVISION 
) Pfarrkirchen, Bavaria, Germany 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Tann., Krei~ 
) 2.3 !lay 194.5. Sentence: Dishonorable 

Private CHESTER J. REID ) discharge, total. forfeitures., and coil­
(.3.3120580), 403rci Qiartermaster ) finement at hard labor !or life• 
Truck Compe.!11' )) United States Penitentiary_, Lewisburg, 

Pennsylvania. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HEPBURN and MILLER, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above bas 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its hold­
ing, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General. in charge of the Branch Office 
of the Judge Advocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGli:: Violation of the 92nd .Ar:ticl.e of War. 

Specification: In that Private Chester J. Reid, 403d 
Quartermaster Truck Company, did, at Number 20 
Spardor! Station, Germany, on or about 2.3 April.· 
194.5, forcibly and feloniously, agp.inst her will, 
have carnal knowledge of Babette Rauha 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concun-ing, was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was introduced of two_ previous convictions, one 
by special court-martial for absence without leave for two hours in viola­
tion of Article of War 61., for illegally carrying a knife, and indecent 
exposure in vi"olation of Article of War 96 and one by summary court for 
absence without leave for one day in violation of .Article of War 61. All 
menbers of the court present at the tine the vote "Was taken conru.rring, · 
accused was sentenced to be shot- to death with musketry. The reviewing 
authority, the Commanding General_, l3th Armored ~ivision, approved the 
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sentence and forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of 

War 4S. The -<:onfirming authority, the Colllinanding CJereral, United States 

Forces, European Th:! ater, confirmed the sentence, but, owing to special 

circumstances in this case, commuted the sentence to dishonorable dis­

charge, forfeiture of all pay and allowances due or to beco.rre due and 

confinenent at hard labor for the term of his na.tural life, designated 

·the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania as the place of 

confinement, and withheld the order of execution pursuant to Article of 

War 50-k. . . 

3. The prosecution• s evidence is summarized as follov1s: 

Frau Babette Rauh, the alleged victim, testified that accused, 
whom she pointed out in the court room and steadfastly maintained that 
he was the man (R7,9,lO,l?,18,19,48), came to the house of her parents, 
Spardorf Number 20 (R6), about one o'clock in the afternoon on 24 April, 
although she was not quite sure of the date. When he came to the door, 
she was afraid and wanted'.to get out of the door but accused stood in 
front of it and would not permit her to leave. She cried for help where­
upon the accused took his.gun from his shoulder, loaded it and pointed it 
at her. He was talking but the only thing she could understand was "Fick-
Fickn. He pushed her backwards step by step onto the bed, and with the gun in his 
hand, "forced" her to take her pants down (R?}. Accused had sexual inter­
course with her penetrating her genitals. She did not resist because of 
the gun he pointed at her. During the act of intercourse the gun was on 
the bed (RS). After the act of intercourse accused unloaded his gun (R14) • 
She thought accused had been drinld.ng but did not smell liquor on his 
breath (Rl5). About five minutes later accused returned with another 
soldier and, after finding her, grabbed her by the arm and tried .to pull 
her into the room where they had been before but when she cried for help, 
the oth3r soldier shook hig head and the two left the house (R9). 

Frau Rauh's father testified that accused came to the house 

about one o• clock on 23 April, pushed Mrs. RaUh into the rooin when she 

tried to leave, and shut the door (R20-2l.). Her three and a half year old 

(lil.4) child started to cry but he could do nothing to help the child's 

mother. He saw the soldier lying in bed with Lrrs. Ra.uh when the child 

pushed the door open. He cannot hear well and with the child's crying 

did not hear anything _go on in the other room (R21). When accused left 

the house there was a mark on his sleeve from the coloring on the wall (R22) • 


Captain Suwijn of accused' s organization testified that on 2.3 

April, at about 16001 an old man reported that his daughter had been raped. 

The man saw :about one half of men of the company and identified accused as 

the man who had been in the house. The accused was on his bunk, drunk.,. 

In identifying him, the roan tuzned accused over and noted that his sle~~e 


·wa.s coated with chalk or· nsomething11 that had come off the wall. The i'. 

Captain also saw it. The woman identified accused as the one who.atta'cked 
her from five or six. men then in her presence (R51). 

http:drinld.ng
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4. The accused, after his rights were explained to him by the ~w 

member, elected to remain silent (R49-50). 


The assistant defense counsel took the stand and testified that, 
on the day preceding the trial, several soldiers were filed through a hall 
before the prosecuting witness• father and he picked out one other than 
the accused (R28). The daughter went through the same procedure but picked 
out the accused without hesitation (R29). A sergeant of accused's organiza­
tion testified that he ~aw accused about 0900 23 April and at that time he 
was drinking and he told him not to take more because he thou5ht he had 
enough (R31). He saw him again right after 1200 chO\f corning from behind a 
refugee camp and he was drunk (RJJ) and at about 1700 (R35), when he saw 
him in bed, he was still in a drunken state (R33).· He did not notice any 
discoloration on his clothes (R35). A corporal testified that the first 
sergeant sent him to put accused to bed about 1400. The accused was pretty 
drunk but still on his feet and he could not say whether he smelled liquor 
or not (R40). 

Another soldier saw accused at about 1240 or 1250 heating rations 
and, after corning on duty at the maintenance shop at about 1300, he saw 
accused come into the maintenance shop and saw him lying behind a refugee 
house just off the maintenance shop. He was pretty drunk at that time (R45). 
At about 1345, he took accused to the billet and put him to bed (R45). 

5. 	 "Rape is the unlawful carnal knowledge of a 

woman by force and without her consent. Any 

penetration, however slight, of a woman's 

genitals is sufficient carnal knowledge ~~ * * 

Force and want of consent are indispensable 

in rape; but the force involVed in the act of 

penetration is alone sufficient when there is 

in fact no consent" (MCM, 1928, par.148£,, p.165). 


. 	 ' 
In view of the undisputed evidence, the conclusion that the carnal knowledge 
was accomplished without consent of the victim is inescapable. The woman 
was prevented from leaving the room. When she called for help, the accused 
loaded his gun and forced her at gun point onto the bed and there effected 
a penetration of her genitals. In view of the positive and unimpeached iden­
tification of accused by the prosecutrix, corroborated by her father, the 
court was justified in accepting her testimony as against any inference which 
might be drawn from the incomplete account established by defense ot the 
whereabouts of accused. The evidence indicates that accused was intoxicated 
on the day of the alleged offense. However, he was able to walk and fifteen 
minutes before the time of the alleged offense was heating rations. He 
loaded his rifle when the woman cried for help. After the act complained of, 
he unloaded it. All the facts indicate that he was not so intoxicated 
that he did not know vhat he was doing. The record is replete with evidence 
justifying 	the finding of the court,CM ETO 9083 Berger)• 
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6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 26 years and eight 

months of age and that he was inducted wi:thout prior aervice on l 7 October 

1941 at Richmond., Virginia. 


7. The court waa legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 

person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 

rights of accused were colllllitted during the trial. The Board of Review 


· ia of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence as camnuted. 

a. The penalty far rape is death or life imprisonment . as the 
court-martial may direct (.Article of War 92). Confineimnt in a penitentiary 
is authorized upon conviction of the crime or rape by Article of War 42 
and Sections 278 and 330, Federal Cri m1nal Code· (18 USCA 457,567). The 
designation of the United. states Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of· c on.f'inemnt is authorizecl (Cir .229, WD, 8 June 1944, 
sec.II, para.1£(4), 3£). 

..
• ;\J ... 
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1st Ind. 

War Departnent, Branchjl.(fj,,~po..t 4'+he Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. Z ~ H I~ ·~ TO: Commanding 
General, United States Forces, European Theater (Main), Aro 757, ; 
u. s • .Arrrq. 

le In the case of Private CHESTER J. REm {3.3120580), 4o.3rd. 
Qu.art.ermaster Truck Company, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legallJ" 
sufficient to support the .findings ot guilty and the sentence as 
coD111111ted, which holding is hereby approved. Under the· provisibne of 
Article o:t War 5°'~ you now have authorit7 to order execution of the 
sentence. 

2. l1hen copies of the published. order are forwarded to thi• 
office, they should be accompanied b7 the forego~ holding and this 
endorsement. The file number of the record in this office 1• Ol E'!O 

· 16399. For convenience -o.t~t,erence, pleaf!e.pla~·that mmiber in 
·-~~J~~-tP.~-~~ of_J•he .orwtr: {Cl.!.E'ro.16.399)•;, 

. . --------~~:;··:. ' . '. \ 

·\/Jr~~·:_e-;
J _f;f:¥#J 
' · E. C. llc.NEIL 

~i.pdier General,_. U 
\:~B~~-~~-~~~m~· 

( Sentence as coautect ordered eiecutect. OCJlO 517, USFE'f, 30 Oot 1945) ·· 
• 
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Specificstiona 	 In that hiTe.te :Jervey Zimmerman, did, at lle.rienburg, 
, Germany, on or about 30 May 1945, unla1ftu.lly enter 

the dwelling of Stanislaw Xlucha, with intent to ccmni t 
a criminal offense, to wit, rape therein. 

CHARCS lVa Violation of the 93rd Article ot War 

(J'inding ot not gull ty) · . 


Specifications (J'inding of not guilty) 

·cHARGR.Vs Violation of the 92nd .lrticle of War 
(Finding of not guilty) 

Specifications (Finding of not guilty) 

~ 

CHARGE Is Violation of the 61.st Article of War 

(Nolle proseq_ui) 


Specifications (Nolle proseq_ui) 

CHARGE Ila Violation of the 65th Article of War 

(Disap~roved by the reviewing authority) 


Specifications CDieapproved by the reviewing authority) 

CHARGE III1 	 Violationct' the 92nd Article of War 

Specifications 	 In that Private William B Green, did, at Milrienburg, 

Germany, om. or about 30 May 194.S. forcibly and 

feloniously, against her will, have carnal knowledge 

of· Mary .Anna IO.ucha. · 


CHARGE IVa 	 Violation of the 9.3rd Article of War 

Specifications 	 In that ** • •• did, at Marienburg, Ge:umany, on or 
about 30 May 1945. unlawt'Ull.y enter the dwelling of 
Stanislaw Kl.ucba, with the intent to eomnit a criminal 
offense, to wit, rape therein. 

CHARGE Vs 	 Violation of the 96th Article of War 

(.Finding of not gu.11 ty) 


Specifications 	 (.Finding of not guilty) 

By direction of the reviewing authority under Gharge l and 8pecifcation 

against each accused a nolle proseq_ui was entered. Each accused pleaded 

not guilty to the remaining charges and specifications against him. 

- 2 -
RESTRlCTED 

http:cHARGR.Vs


UBTRIGfit3 	 (371) 

Branch Office of the 1udge .Advocate General 
with the 

European '!heater 
APO 887 

BOam> ~.P' REVIEW NO.- 3 	 .i 2 OCT 1945 
CM E'.ro 16405 

UNITED STATES 	 ) SE'l.ENTH UNI'IZD ST.A.TES J.BMY 
) 

v. ) 	 T.rial by GCM., convened at Gutersloh, 
) Germany, 5 1uly, 1945• Sentence aa 

Privates JERVEY ~.m. to eacha Dishonorable disc.harg'B,)
(359'21863), and wn.LIAM B ) total forfeitures end corurinement 
~. (35734979), both of ) at bard labor, ZIMMERMAN, for ten 
3130th QuarteI'I!Bster Service ) years, GREEN for life. United States 
Company ) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania 

HOLDING by BOARD OF Rl!!VlllY N0.3,. 
SLEEPER, SHERMAN AND DEWEY, 1udge .Advocates 

1. 'lhe record of trial in the case of the eoldiers named 
above has been examined by the Bee.rd of Review. 

2e .Accused were arraigned separately and tried together by 

direction of the convening authority upon the following charges and 

specificationsa 

CHARGE la Violation of the 6lst Mticle of #ar 
(Nolle prosequi) 

Speciticatioiu (Nolle prosequi) 

CHARGE 111 Violation of the 65th Article of War 
(Disapproved by reviewing authority) 

Specificationa (Disap17l'oved by reviewing authority). 
CHARGE lllaViolation of the~ kticle of War 

· 	 ttBIT1UCTKD 
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Zimmerman was found guilty of cmr~s 11, 111 and their specifica tiorus 


and not guilty of che,.-ges 1 V, V and their specifications, Green was 


found guilty of charges 11, 111 and lV and their specific_ations and not 


guilty of Sbarge V and its Specification. Evidence was intlloduced as 


to Zimmerman of three previous convictions by sullme.ry court, two for 


absences without leave e~ch for one day in violation of Article of 1iar 6l 


• and one for being disorderly in quarters in -Tiolation of Article of iar 96. 
\ 

No evidence of preTious convictions was introduced e~ .to Green. J.a to 

Zimmerman, two-thtrds, and as to Green, three-fourths of the members of the 

Oourt present at the ti.IOO· the votes were taken concurring, each accused was 

sentenced 'tc be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 

allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such 

place as the revie'fing authority may direct, Zimmerman for ten years and 

Green for the term of his natural life. 'Ihe reviewing authority disapproved 

the findings of guilty of the Specification of Charge 11 and Charge 11 against. ­

ea.ch accused, approved the ~ntences, designated the United States Penitentiary, 

Lewisburg, Fennsylvania, as to the place of confinement of each accused, and 

forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 50!. 

3• t>rosecution•s evidence applicable to those charges and speci_fications 

of which the accused were found guilty, as approved, showed that on May ~9 

1945 prior to 2300 hours Zenabja Kl.ucha, a Polish girl, living in Marienburg, 

Germany, went to the home of a neighbour where she met the two accueed. 'Ihey 

. were doing card tricks. She left about 2330 hours and returned to her home 

only two meters away where she lived with her baby, her brother age 17, her 

mother, her father Stanislaw Klucha and her sister Maria-~ (Rl.O-ll,19,22­

23,28) • Accused both followed her. On entering her house she told them · 

•no• and closed the door. Accused, each armed with a carbine, opened the 

door, and entered al°'ter her withq_~tation (Rll,23-24,31)., .· (' 
. .. RESTRlC'U~•u 
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However, Herr Xlucha 's testimony :i.ndicated that they did not open 

the door since 1 '1he door was opened so they entered by themselves• 

(Rll). '!hey sat down, started talking and laughing, and performed 

more card tricks. Green ottered Zenabja his wrist watch. She told 

them it was late and they should go hane. However, both accused remained 

with the family in the kitchen, demanded whiskey and ofrered Herr 10.ucba 

chocolate and cigarettes if they could sleep w1 th his daughters. He· 

retu~d (lUl-12,24). Zenabja and Maria went to 'their room, closed and 

locked the door. Green soon thereafter came and pointed his rifle at the 

girl •s bedroom door, ·which they opened at the direction of their father 

after he warned that •otherwise they will shoot• (Rl2,24,31). When their 

further urging to Herr Kl.ucha that they be allowed to sleep with the girls 

was ··unsuccessful, Zimnerman loaded his rifle and pointed it at members of 

the family. '!his caused them to start yelling; the baby screamed; the two 

girls cried; Frau Kl.ucha and Maria fainted (Rl3-14,16,20,25J, 
1

With the aid 

of her father and ZiIIl!llarman, Green carried Maria into her bedroom and placed 

.her· on the bed, Harr IO.ucha left because he was"afraid he would shoot me• 

(IU5). Zimmerman returned to the kitchen (Rl51 26). Green tried to bring 

Maria back to consciousness. While she was•still not quite alright• (R,32), 

he got in bed with her, and, holdi~g both her hands with one of his, inserted 

his penis about one half inch into her vagina, It could not go farthsr 

because she struggled violently (R,32-33). ·ri. 

J.t this moment Staff Sergeant George ·We Carpenter and Private .First Class 

William B. ~nandez, Company F, 335th Infantry Regiment, who were on a •sheep 

security patrol• (R34,37,39) knocked on the door of the house. '!hey.found the 

door locked, but gained ad.mi ttance after F:rau Kl.ucha broke the lock w'i th an axe 

(P.16rl7r26,33-34). On entering, the sergeant was confronted by both accused who 

bad him •zeroed in with two carbines• (R35) • '!hey · 
~· ,..~ '~ ,··,··~~ 
• - ........ i,,
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•were 	sitting in a cross fire position 
at the door holding their earbines 
pointed at me and when I entered the. 
room I asked them to put their guns 
down and they did 1 (R36). 

~rnandez asked Zimmerman what they were doing there. _He replied •For the 

same d8.1Illed thing you are doing here. Begging for some pussy• (R36.38.40). 

Green was in the doorway of a bedroaa. with Maria who was leaning against the 

Will, c~ng and saying •oh,oh,oh•, her hands in a position of prayer (R,36,40) 

Both accused left at the sergeant's re~uest.(R36).
' 	 . . . . . . . 

4. After their rights were explained, both accused elected to te$tify 

(R46-47,52) • Green tq.stified that he and Zimmerman, were out walking. At 

one_ ho_:use a_ 1 lady1 called to them ~ they went in and started playing cards, 

Zenabja came in and joined the g8lll3. Later they went· with her to her house 

and sat down but •couldn't understand what they were saying'. 'Ibey were about 

'to leave when 

•the 	lady camnenced crying and then Maria 
.Anna 1s sister goes over to her mother and 
puts her arm around her shoulder and her 
mother acts like she fainted and then she 
started putting water on her head and then 
the father and I help take her in the roam. 
1'henMaria Anna's sister 1ras helping too 
and then Maria Anna acted like she fainted 
ard then we got water ani we put the water 

on her head and then the father and I took 
her in the bedroom and the brother and I ., 
stayed in and then me and her and the brother 
came out together. I did not have intercourse 
with her• (R 48) • 

He never heard anyone 'holler about opening the door• when.Staff Sergeant 

Carpenter and the soldier with him came to the house (R48). He never pointed 

his weapon at .Frau 10.ucha or the sergeant. He did not know wey she was crying 

(R,51.). He never asked either. of the girls to sleep with him (R.52). 
I 

Zimnerman testified substantially to the same effect, also that Zenabja 

invited them to her house. After the girls had gone to bed Green knocked 

- 5 - .RESTRICTED 
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on their door to say go:ninit;:ht to them and the 

•father 	got the impression that we was going 
to go into the room so he called these girls 
and the lady, his wife, she camnenced to crying 
so I laid my rifle down as I thought maybe thEV 
were scared and so I went over to her and petted 
her on the shoulder end asked her what she was 
crying about.. 'lhen she acted like she li!~"fainted 
so the old man got sane water and I took and put 
some water on her head and the girl came down and 
sat down beside her mother and she ccxnmenced to 
crying. So her father, he came and got her around 
the shoulders to teke her into the roan and Grwen 
helped him take this girl into the room ani the 
bigger boy, he went into the roan with him and the 
father came back out ani got some more water. He 
went back in the room and this boy and Green was 
still in the roan. What was happening in there I 
don 1 t know and after the mother stopped crying I 
got my chair and sat beside the foot of the bed, 
a!'rl pretty soon I heard this noise end knock on the 
door. 'Ihey didn't speak anything in English. Anyway, 
if he did, I didn't hear him. They comm.enced to 
knocki~g and kicking on the door and after a while the 
door lxrok~ open. So when the pounding came on the door 
I pfoked my rifle up end laid it across my lap and put on 
my helmet. So they came 1~ and this ~ergeant, he went to 
Green. Green was standing beside the door, alli the Serg;ant 
went to Green and the Pl'U came to me. He said, •what the 
hell are you b~ys doing here?• I said •the sane thing you 
guys would be trying in here• I said •begging sane pussy• 
He said •1 don 1 t know what you art trying to do 1 • He said, 

'"I dqn't know what you 1niggers' are trying to do here• and 
I said •You don't know whether I am a ni~r .or not.• I 
said,. •don't you ever call me that again• (R53). 

He did not enter the house to eommi t any kind of crime and both he and Green 

wrote down their _names when they first entered because the people were 

interested to know them (R,:54)•' l:le •never even asked the girl for intercourse• 

although he admitted he •would get some if I could get ,it• (R57). 

5. ~· ~ to Green, the evidence under Oharge 111 and Specification 

disclosed that he pointed his carbine at the door of the girl!' bedroan, put 

the householders in fear by his conduct, locked himself and Maria in the 

r~om, placed her on the bed arxl there sucpeeded in inserting his penis one 

half inch into her vagina despite her resistance. His use of his carbine 

prior to his attack upon her was such as to cause her to fear serious bodily 
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harm. Any penetration however slight, of a women's genitals is 

sufficient carnal knowledge, whether emission occurs or not (MCM.1928, 

par.149h,p.165). 'lhe evidence contains all the elements of the crime 

of rape and the court 1s findings of guilty were fully warranted(CM ETO 

3933, ~erguson, et al; CM ETO 4661, Ducote, and authorities therein cited; 

OM ETO 11621 . • Tru Ull e et al_; ) • 

.12.• Regarding Charge lV and Specification against green,· his unlawful 

entry into the heme of Stanislaw Kl.ucha was clearly shown. 'Ihe fact that he 

thereafter consumated the rape of the owner's daughter, Maria, was.sufficient 

to support and prove that his unlawful entry was made with the intent to commit . 
such crime, as alleged (CM ETO 3679, Roehrborn; CM E'ro 4071, Marks et al)• 

.Q.• Zimmerman was found guilty of housebreaking under Charge 111 and 

Specification. 'Ihe prosecution was reQuired to prove that he entered the 

dwelling of Herr Klucha unlawfully and that at the time of such entry he 

intended to commit the crime of rape (M:M,1928, par.149e,pp.169-170). •s 

: to the entry, it was clearly shown that it was unlawful (CM ETO 3679, Roehrborn). 

With reference to his alleged intent at the time of his unlawful entry it 

could be inferred, as in other criminal offenses, from the facts. 'Ille offense 

of housebreaking is analag~us to that of burglary. concerning which it is 

•whether 	the felonious intent be executed or not is 
immaterial, supposing that it can be inferred • * * 
Where a r:ia.n burglariously entered a room in which a 
young woman was sleeping, and grasped her ankle 
without any attempt at explanation, when she screamed 
and he fled, this is evidence of an attempt to commit 
rape, and must be submitted by the court to the jury. 
But a mere touching of the foot of a woman is tiot ground 
from which such S'! intent can be inferred. · 

•It 	is no defense that the intent was impossible of 
execution; as where the thing sought was not in the 
house; or that it wa:.' frustrated by extrinsic agencies• 
(2 Whartorfs Criminal Law (12th Ed., 1932),sec.1028,p.l,311) 

RESTRICTED 
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The evidence. on the questions of his intent ~ his unlawful 

entry is that he offered Herr Kl.ucha chocolate and cigarettes to 

sleep with one of his daughter•• a deaire he repeatedly expressed. 

As he admitted himself', ·he as •begging for• sexual intercourse and 

was there for that purpose (R36,38,40). 'lhe fact that he did not 

·comnit rape after entering the premises did not necessarily negatiTe 

the conclusion by the court in the light of all the circumstances that 

he did intend to commit such offense at.the time he entered. His conduct 

in the house in pointing his carbine at members of the family, 8:o frightening 

. and terrifying them that frau X:1ucha and Maria fainted, his insistence on .... \ . ' 

spending the night there., his repeated requests to Herr Kl.ucha for sexual 

intercourse with the girls, all was substantial evidence fraA which the 

court could properly conclude that at .the time of his unlawful entry he 
., . 

intended to commit rape, as alleged •. (OME~.78, Watts; CME'IO 11608, 

'llutchinson, of : CM E'IO 16340, DeJPAso). 

6. The charge sheet shows the follo.~ing concerning the service of ·accusedi 

Zimmerman~ is 25 years ten i1X>nths of age and was inducted 16 November 1943 

at Cleveland, Ohio. 

Green is 25 years seven mo:::iths of age and was inducted 25 October 1943 at 
. I ' 

l'ort Benjamin lhrrison, IIXl.iana. 

Neither had prior service. 

7• '.lbe court was legally constituted a_1d had jurisdiction of each accuseQ.· 
. 

and the offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 

of ei~her accused were canmitted during the tri~. 'lhe Board of Review i& 

of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient as tC> each 
I . ' 

accused to support the findings of guilty as approved and the sentences. 

B. '.lbe penalty for rape is death or life im:prisonment as the court martial 

may direct (Aw 92) •. Oonfinem.nt in a United States Penitentiary is authorized 

8 .. RESTRICTED 
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upon conviction of the .crime of rape by .Article of War 42 and sections 

278 and 330, .Federal Criminal Cede (18 USC.\ 457,5~7) and of housebreaking 

by •rticle of War 42 a!'l.d section 22-1801 (6.S55) District of Colombia Code. 

The designation as to each accused of the United States Penite~tiary, 

Lewisburg. Pennsyltania, as the place of confinement. is proper (Cir.229, 

WD, 8 June 1944. sec 11, pars. l~ (4).J,!!). 

RESTRIOT~D 
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Branch Office of the Judge Advocate General 

, ·"~···.· with the 


: :.': European Theater 

'/ APO 887 

BOARD OF REti::Dr NO. 3 8 OCT 1945 
CM ETO 16409 

UNITED STATES ) SEVE!ITH UNITED STATZS l.:PJll 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Gutersloh, Germany, 14 July 

Private FP.EDERICK CONRAD ) 1945. Sentence: Dis~onor~lle 
(33602970), Compan] B, 184th ) di'Jchar6s 1 total for~eitures 
Enginsor 	Co~bat Battalion ) and confi~P~ent at hard labor 

) for life. United States 
) Penitentiary, Lewisuurg, 
) Pen.11<Jylvania • 

HOLDINJ by BOA:.'1.D OF EVIZ1r ~re. 3 

SLEEP"'...R, SHDRYiAN AND ".JI:WEY I Jadc;e Advicates 


le Tho record of trial in the case of the soldier 
naine1 a~ove has been examined by the Boa.rd of Reveivr. 

2. Accused was tried 11pon the follo~ng Charr;e and 
Specifica!tion: 

CHA.RGEs Violation of the 92nd Article of l'lar. 

Bpecifications In that Private Frederick Conrad, 
Company "B", 184th Engineer Combat Battalion, 

_did1 at Sythe:i, Land.kreis Recklinghausen, Germa..11y 
on or about 5 April 1945, forcibly a...11d feloniously 
again~t her will hav3 carnal knowledge of Yargaretta 
11'.erschi 3"lfe • 

He pleaded not ~uilty to, and was found guilty of, the Charr;e 
and Specification. Evidence vras introduced of two previous 
oonvictions by S'LUll!llary court for absences without leave for 
tvro days and one dar respectively in violation of Article or 
War 61. Three-fourths of the members o~ the court present at 
the time the vote was t1 ~er. concurring 1 h~ was sentenced to 
be disllonorably dischl"r ged the service, to forfeit all pay 
and allowances due or to beco:ne due, and to be confined at mrd 
labor, at such place as the revih:f'l.ng authority m'\~' direct,... 

RESTRI~D 


http:revih:f'l.ng


{382) 


·ror the ter:n of his natural life. The tte:v;ievr.1:~ al,lthority­
approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitent­
iary, Lewisburg, Peruisylva.ni.a, as the plaoe of confinement• 
and forwarded the record of trial for action pursiiant to 
Article of War Soi. 

3• Prosecution's Eviaences 


-

On 5 April 1945 Margarett~ Merschiewe,-a widow 


49 yea.rs of age, was living in a "wash-kitchen", ·a very 

small roo:r.1. containing a bed, a washing machine and a. sofa, 

at Sythen, llaltern, RecklinghaU.sen, Germany. with her son, 

Gustave, age 13, and Johann Strotman, age 70• They had 

recently moved into this small space because their home 

was being used_by American colored troops (R5, 7-8.11,13). 


At about 2130 or 2200 hours on that day a.fter 

they had gone to bed, Strotman heard.knocking outside, 

arose and opened the door. Two colored soldiers entered, 

one with a gun on his shoulder. They looked around the 

room, went out and immediately returned. Frau Merschiewe 

and her son got up. She "hollered" and while the soldier 


_with the gun stood by the door, his companion struck her ir.. 
the face, broke her glasses, grabbed her by the breast and 
threw her on the bed (RS,8,12-13). She realized "what was 
going on" because "then he had already taken his penis out" 
(Rl2). He appeared drunk (Rl0,14). The old man went to 
"the guard at the door" and ini'ormed him that the vmman had 
undergone an operation for 6all•stones (RS). When the boy 
began "holllJl"ing", the soldier engaGed in assaulting his 
mother produced a knife and indicated a motion from ear to 
ear that if he 11 did'nt keep still he did thiR way like ho was 
going to cut my throat" (Rl4). ~his soldier also threatened 
the boy's mother with the knife using a fonr3.rd and backward 
motion "!Ci th his right hand (RlO). Ee then put her legs upon 
his s~oulders and twice "put his sexual organ into my vagina"• 
The first time he "let it run just like one would have inter­
course". She tried to protect herself by using her h:i.r:.d,, 
twisting and "pushing myself back like this"• He hurt her 
where she had recently been operated upon (P.6-7,9) and she 

"hated for my son.to see such an act 
completed. They are children. That 
is a terrible shame to have a~bov see 
something like that" (R9). · w 

As the soldier "sort of had the hiccoughs and then vomited", 
she was able to escape an.a_ went to the hom~ of a·~ei~hbor (R7). 

On the sa~e evening between 8000 and 2200 hours, 

Prive.ta First Class :5'rank B. McClain, of accused's company. 

was engaged in di~gi.r>~ "a hole four by four" for the company 

mess a short distance from this tempor~y home of Frau Mers­

chiewe (Rl5-16, 17). Accused, who had been drin~ing, (Rl9), 

25) ce.me along. talked with him and helped him dig (R16). 


. i.' 
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After it was completed and McClain was in the barre.cks 1 


accused 


"ca~e there and told me he knew where there 
was two dames. He was supposed to go dowri 
there and I was to go.with him, and we went 
on to the house" (Rl6). 

On the way they passed Private First Class Silas Blackmon, 

~f their company, who \".B.S on gua.rd. Mc81ain said "that he 

was ~oing looking for some women" a..~d Blackmon told them, 

"why do you tell me about it". McClain said that maybe he 

would go too .and claimed. that accused k!iew "\There the women 

were (R23-24). Accused and :!.::cClain left. 


The latter testified that, he was ar"'lled with a 

carbine (Rl8,23) when he and accused ~~rived at a house 

about 50 yards fromBlackmon's post. When they knocked on 

the door, an old ma.ti. opened it. They looked in and :McClain 

said,. "I don 1t see nothin6" 1 beca•.1se they did not see "the 

young women we were looking for" but only a boy about seven, 

a woman e.nd e.n old man (Rl5-16,17 1 20). ·They returned to 

Blackmon's post and talked with him for a while. Accused 

said "I th~nk: I will go back down" and left them. After 

about ten minutes !lcClain went b"ack to the house where. he 

saw acc;;.sed "standing by the bed, kneeling in a crouched 

position" talking to the woman who was in bed. ]foClain 

"told him to come on let's go (Rl7). The, old me.n said 

something in Jerman which he did not u...~~erstand (Rl9). As 

accused paid .!lo attention1 !.!cClain "caught him in the back 

e.r..d told him to come on ••• "• However1 as he did not come. 

McClain left (Rl3). He did ~ot see accused \vith any knife~ 

nor did be ai~ him strike the woman (R21-22). Accused had been 

drinking but/would not :::~.y he was drunk (R20). · 


Blaolan~n testified that after the two men left 

his post tot;ether, following J.icClain's statement that he 

"was going looking for some women", he walked his post. In 

a short time ~cClain ca~e hack alona 1 left to ·search for 

accused e.ndai;aJ,14 returned.a.lone. Blackman the.n saw a light 

in a garage ur tool shed about .!3Q to 50 yards f:f'om. his post. 

:McClain exchanged a' fmv ir.ords with .him and then "he di sappee.r:.. 

ed". The next ~orning soms military police lr~ived and "we 

were told .not to let nobody leave the billet area." (R25-2t$)., 


. ·. .. . ·r. 

4. After his ~~ights were explai.ned. (R28-29), accused,,:, .' 

testified that on the evening....of 5 April 1945 he cleaned a1\:. 

stove·for the :rr..ess sergeant, finished his work about 2200 

hours, took a drink, wrote a.clatter home and went to bed 

(R32-33). He wa& not with McClain that night (R33)~ nenr 

saw. the boy, Gustave, before and testified regarding Frau · ·· 

' ·.Merschiewe "I don't even think she was raped at all• (RH).. 
"':'-. 

1CA ffQ....... ;R ,_, ...A. 
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.5. It was sho'ITTl beyonq any reasonable doubt that Frau 
Mersohiewe was brutally attacked by a colored soldier who 
obtained carnal knowledge of her by force and without her 
consent at the time and place alleged. The evidence con­
tains all the elements of the crime of rape (CM ET0.4661, 
0-..ioote, and authorities therein citedf CM ETO 11621, 

·Trujillo et al; CM: ETO 3933 1 Ferguson et al)• The testimony 
of the various witnesses established clearly and convinc• 
ingly that it was, accused and none other who committed the 
rape as allegede His testimony was unsatisfactory and un• 
worthy of belief under.all the circumstances shown. The 
court's findings of guilty were fully.warranted. 

s. The charge' sheet shows that accused is 20 years 
one month of age and was inducted 9 June 1943 at.Pittsburg,, 
Pennsylvania. He had no prior service. 

. 7 • . The court was legally constituted and had, juris­
diction of the person and offense. No errors injuriou~ly 
a..ffecting the substantial rights of accused were committed 
during the trial. The Board of leview is of the opinion 

·that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the finding' of guilty and the sentence. · 

. 
s. The penalty for rape·is death or life 'imprisonment 

as the court-martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a 
penitentiary is 9l:lthorized upon conviction of rape by 
Article of War 42 and sections 278 and 330, Federal Criminal 
Code (18 USCA. 457,567)., The designation of the Uni"l?ed States 

1
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania,, as the place ot con­
finement, is proper (Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 19441 sec. II, pars. 
lb(4), 3b). . . 

RES~lCTED 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European 	Theater 

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 5 

CM ETO 16415 

UNITED STATES· ) 
) 

XII TACTICAL AIR COMMAND 

v. )
) 

Private JAMES LETT (34746512), ) 
Company A. ~59th Signal Heavy )
Construction Battalion )

) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at 
Headquarters XII Tactical.Air 
Command, 20 June 1945. $.entence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total 
forfeitures and confinement at 

) hard labor for life~ United 
) 
) 

States Penitentiary, Lewisburg,
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 5 
HILL, JULIAN and BURNS, Judge Advocates. 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused 11as tried upon the following charges and 
specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 86th Article of War. · 

Soecification 11 In that Private James (NMI) Lett · 
• 	 Company "A" 459th Signal Heavy Construction Battalion, 

being on guard abd posted as a sentinel at the bivouac 
area, Company "A" 459th Signal Heavy Construction 
Battalion near Karl~rhue, Germany, on or about 3 May
1945, was found sleeping upon his post • 

.. 
Specification 2: In that Private James (NMI' Lett, 

Company "A", 459th Signal Heavy Construction Battalion 
* * * near Karlsrhue, .Germany, on or about 3 May 1945, 
did leave his post before he was regularly relieved. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE 1: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specif"~c4at1on: 8 In that Priyate James(NMI) Lett, Co~-"'JY,
nA 59th ignal Heavy construction Battalion di 


· near Heidelburg, Germany, on or about 26 May 194 

RP<"!T!":';,.-"?'D 	 164-15 
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forcibly and feloniously, against her will, have 
carnal knowledge of Dina Demharter. · 

ADDITIOHAL CHARGE II: Violation of the 69th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private James (NMI) Lett, Company "A" 
459th Signal Heavy Construction Battalion, naving been 
duly placed in arrest in his Company·Area on.or about 10 
May 1945, did near Heidelburg 7 Germany, on or about 26 
May 1945 break his said arrest before he was set at 
liberty by proper authority. ' 

He pleaded not guilty and, all of the members of the court present 
at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found not guilty of 
Specification 2 of the Charge; and guilty of the charges ·and the 
other specifications. Evidence was introduced of two previous
convictionsl both by special court-martial, one for absence from 
appointed pace of. duty .in viol~tion of Article of War.61 and the 
9ther for improper use of a vehicle and absence without leave in 
violation of Articles of War 96 and 61, respectively. Three­
fourths of the members of the court present at the time the vote 
was taken concurrin~, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become 
due, and to be confined at hard labor at such place as the re­
viewing authority may direct .f'or the .ferm of his natural life. 
The reviewing authority, a)proved the sentence, designated the 
United States Penitentiaryl Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place
of confinement, and withhe d the order directing execution of the 
sentence pursuant to Article of War 50t. 	 · 

•3. The prosecution showed by competent evidence that accused, 
a Private, Company A, 459th Signal Heavy Construction Battalion 
(R7.ll), was posted as a sentinel at the bivouac area of. his command, 
near Karlsrhue, Germany, at about 2000 hours, 3 May 1945, for a 
four-hour period. During this periodt he was found asleep inside 
a culvert which was located within and beneath the area of this 

·. po~t (R7-14i Pros.Ex.l). 

On 26 May 1945, accused near Heidelburg, Germany had sexual 
intercourse with one Dina Demharter, a 25-year-old civilian woman 

, 	 who was married with one child and who had been separated from her 
husband by the war for the preceding·six'months. She had bicycled 
to a·wooded area to gather wood (R30,36). While there, she was 
accosted by.a negro soldier (not accused) who asked her to "prom­
enade". She refused and remained there about 45 minutes, when· 
accused arrived at the scene of the wood picking (R31,33,34). He 
also asked her to"promenade" and offered her some chocolate ang
"what he had". ~e refused and.accused took her bicycle ans s'id 
if she did not "promenade" with him she would not get her bicycle. 
She again refused and said she wanted her bicycle. Accused told 
her that if she would"fick-fick" she would get her bicycle, ot.her­
wise she would not (R30). Frau Demharter knew the meaning or 
11 fick-fick'1 • She called for help as loud as she could,. she"was 
getting scared". Accused appeare'd to be unarmed except that he 

.. - 2 ­
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.qiotioned toward a pocket and said "If' a white man comes", 
he would shoot him (R31,34). She told accused she would 
report ll1m to his commander. Then another colored soldier 
arrived on the scene. Frau Demharter told him accused wanted 
to take her bicycle. He talked to accused, but could not help

her. Some German soldiers passed on a skirting road. She went 

out of the wood to them a.nd asked for help. They did not assist, 

but went~y (R31,32). She returned back into the woods and to 

accused. She"put everything on one card"and told him that "he 

should walk in the wood a little way", and she would f'ollow him. 
Accused walked further into the woods whe~upon she took her · 
bicycle and started running with it. But accused ran after her, 
caught her, and threw her down, held her with one hand, opened· 
his pants with the other and put his penis in her vagina (R32,
33). The woman said she weighed 92 pounds (R30). She"did not 
offer nm.ch resist(lnce11 (during the preliminaries) (R33). The 
intercqurse lasted one minute~ She did not struggle with him and 
offered "no ra!istance 11 (R35). She explained that she was afraid 
he was going to hit her and "there were rumors around there that 
the negroes were very mean". He never struck her at any time· (R35). 
At one time, "he hauled off with his hand and later he got up~ 
and I also got up". He offered her chewing gum. which she did 
not ~ake (R33).· He would not however! "give her the oranges or 
chocolate bars", al~hough he showed " t" to her {R35). 

Private Seymour Heywood, a prosecution witness, was the negro
soldier to whom Frau Demharter had told her story, the one who 
arrived according to her during the first part of her encounter with 

accused. Heywood testified that as he walked through the woods he 
heard a woman crying. Investigating some 30 feet away from the 
road he found accused and the woman in question. They were about 
30 feet.apart. The bicycle was then about 6 feet from accused · 
and 36 feet from the woman (R15-l7). The woman was crying (Rl8).
Accused asked by Heywood the reason the woman was crying said that 

he had promised the woman oranges and candy for sexual intercourse 

and that after having the intercourse he had not kept his promise'

R19,20). In about 15 or 20 minutes Heywood returned to the scene 

of his conversation with accused and found the prosecutrix and 


·accused sitting under a tree1 the woman had ceased crying and no 
bicycle was to be seen (R19,23). · 

On May 10 1945, accused was placed in arrest in his Company 
area. This' arrest was in effect at the time accused had the afore 
described meeting with Frau Demharter~ and the scene of that epis- · 
ode was outside the Company area {R50J. · 

4. Advised of his rights as a witness.accused elected to 

remain silentCR75). The defense offered evidence that on the day

of the alleged rap~; at about the same time, Frau Demharter came , 

near accused's tent.and beckoned to him. Accused took an orange

and piece of chocolate and went out to her. The two went a little 

further back up in the woods (R61-64). The defense also showed 

that neithe~ of the two sentinels whose respective tour of duty

bracketed the time of the alleged rape, heard any unusual noises 

at the scene in question, although the place where they were on 

guard was about a city block from the place where the_t~~5course 
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took place (R20,57,61). 

5. The offense.alleged in Specification 1 of the Charges
asleep· on post while on a sentinel, in violation of Article or 
War 86, was fully proved. · The same is true of the offense alleged 
in the Specification, Additional Charge IIa breach of arrest in 
violation or Article of War 69. · 

6. With respedt to the charge of rape round in Additional·' 
Charge I and its Specification, the.Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial does not support all the elements 
essential to this offense. However reprehensible accused's . 
conduct was, there is in the record substantial, affirmative evid­
ence that to all intents and purpo~e this worn.an manifested to 
accused a definite complacency and consent. Such manifestation,
unless resulting from force or threats of death or great bodily

. harm is a defense. An element or this offense is the intent to 
accomplish intercourse by the use or force if necessary. This 
intent hidden in the mind, is usually revealed by proof of · 
resistance and the employment of terror producing threats or the 
use of force. But if there is no resistance, or if no threats 
are employed! and no offer of force, no-declaration of felonious 
purpose, it s impossible as a matter of law to support a finding 

· which is necessarily predicated upon such intent. These principles
correlate with the doctrine that if the ~n is led by. the conduct 
of the woman 

"to believe that he has her consent the 
crime or rape is not committed * • l consent 
may be expressed or implied. A ma~ will be 
justified in assuming the existence of consent 
if ·the conduct of the prosecutrix toward him 
at the time of the occurrence is of such a 
nature as to create in his mind an.honest and 
reasonable belief that she has consented by
yielding her will freely to tte commission of 
the act. Any resistance on the woman's part
falling short of this measure is insUfficient 
to overcome the implication of consent * * * 
And the rule of law is well settled that although 
a ·woman objects verbally to the act of intercourse, 
yet if she by her conduct consents to it,. the act 
is not rape in the man. So it has.been held that 
voluntary submission by the wo'man ,while sbe has 
power to resist, no matter how reluctantly yielded, 
amounts to consent and removes from the act an 
essential element of the crime of rape"(44 ·Am.Jur.,
secs.11,12, p. 909). 

The Board of Review has heretofore adopted and acted upon the 
legal principles above stated (CM-ETO 9301,Flackman; CM ETC 10446, 
Ward and Sharer; CM ETO 10700, Smalls;, CM ETO 13778, Nordike). 
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There is no evidence that accused used any force or 

threatened violence toward this woman. At one time, she 

was free of him and went back. As she testified she "put 

everything on one card"; she 'gambled witt her honor to 

recover he bicycle. She manifested her consent to him in 

the clearest way. She told him t9 go back further in the 

weeds and she would follow him•. Accused was justified in 

believing that she had consented•. He evidently gave her 

the bicycle and then she ran. He. caught her and held her• 

She made no resistance. Assume that she indicated by running

that she had withdrawn her consent.· The fact that :l:e caurht 

her and again took the bicycle away, and that she then made 

no resistance to the intercourse, may well have indicated that 

she again had consented and was agreeable to intercourse for · 

the price of her bicycle. ­

The fact that the bicycle was hers and that she had a right 
to it have no bearing in the case. Neither does the fact that'ac­
cused had no legal right to impose upon the woman the condition 
that she surrender her virtue in return for her bicycle. The 
girls who "consent" rather than walk home cannot charge rape.
The law demands that they prefer to walk. Likewise the woman 

.here involved cannot trade her-virtue for her bicycle and then 
assert that she was11 raped11 she had the free agency choice of 
maintaining her virtue and losing her bicycle or gaining her 
bicycle and losing her vir.tue. Electing the second course she 
11 consented" • ·· Her conduct toward accused was of "such nature as 
to create in his mind an honest and reasonable belief that she 
consented by yielding her will freely to the commission of the 
act". No other reasonable interpretation can be placed upon
her conduct without subverting the facts and injecting into the 
_case a doctrinaire interpretation of the undisputed evidence ­
a process at war with the practical understanding of the same. 

, Of necessity, the law is cautious in enlarging the situations 
where the consent given is not legal consent, so as to support the 
charge of rape. Of course consent obtained through fear of bodily
injury or death is not the consent regarded by law as a defense 
in these cases. Nor is there consent where the woman is uncon­
scious; and · 

"when intercourse is had with ari idiotic or 
insane woman without reistance or with consent, 
the auestion··of whether a crime is con:mitted ­
depends on·th.e capacity of the woman to understand 
the nature of the act and upon the possession by
her or a will power w!th which either to consent 

.or refuse" J44-Am.Jur.sec.lO,p. 907) • .,. . 

"While there are some decisions which intimate that 
stratagem may supply the place of force and that 
consent to the act of intercourse gained by fraud 
does not prevent the offense from being r;J.pe, ~ 
a general rule, at common law and under statutes 
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adopting the common-law definition of the · 
offense, consent, although gained by fraud, 
deprives the offense of the essential element 
of rape, and the mere intent to use force, 
if it should become necessary to accomplish 
his purpose, does not satisfy the reauire­
ment of force, Many authorities hold that 
where a woman admits the.defendant to sexual. 
connection under the belief that he is her 
husband the act does not amount to rape, since 
there is neither actual nor constructive for9e, 
Under the common law or ·unde~ general statutes 
defining rape as the carnal knowledge of a woman 
forcibly against her will or without her consent 
the consent the consent of the woman to sexual 
intercourse, even though such consent is secured 
by a sham mock or fictitious marriage which the 
woman believes· in good faith to be a valid marriage, 
prevents the act from being rape, These rUles how­
ever, are frequently changed by statute. In some . 
jurisdictions! it is declared to be rape to obtain 
carnal knowledge of a woman by fraud, and such fraud 
may consist among other things, in the use of some 
stratagem, ty which the woman is inducedato believe 
the offender is her husband, Under such/statute
it has been held that a man who induces a woman to 
have intercourse with him through the means of a 
fraudulent marriage is guilty of rape. A statute 

·may be so worded, however ·as not to render one 
·guilty of rape where the Intercourse is secured 
through a sham marriage" (Ibid,Sec,14, .p.910). 

,. 

The woman was in no fear of death or great bodily· harm•. She 
.was afraid she would lose her bicycle, Such fear is not the 
kind that the law subsitutes for force and violence as an~ 
element of rape. Sexual intercourse between female and male 
has been the subject of barter and trade through the ages:
When a woman exchanges her favors for silver or 11 silks and 
satins" there is no rape. SimUlarly when she voluntarily gives
them to regain her property she enters upon a bargain which 
does not permit her to cry "rape" on the witness stand. If 
under the Common Law, consent obtained by fraud bars rape,
consent.obtained by"the imposition of an unlawful condition 
not creating fear of death or great bodily harm cannot cons­

titute the required el.ement in the crime. Considering all 
aspects the Board of E~view is compelled to conclude that there 
is no substantial evidence that the sexual act was the result · 
of force, violence or fear. 

6, The charge sheet shows that accused is 20 years and 7 
months .of age, and was inducted 1 April 1943 at Fort Benning, 
Georgia. No prior service is showh. · 

7. The court was legally constituted and had juris~~iipe o~ 
the 	person and offense. No errors injuriously affectinsL~:fieJ..;J . \. 

. RE'StRTCTKD . . 
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substantial rights of accused except as noted herein were 
co.'.llllli.tted during the trial. 

In the opinion of the Board of Review the record of trial 
is not legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty of 
Additional Charge I and the Specification, legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty of the remaining charges and 
specifications, and sufficient to support the sentence. 

8. Penitentiary confineflent is not authorized for any of 
the military offenses of which accused is guilty (AW 42). 
Designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is 
proper (Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept 1943, Sec VI, or amended). 

/ 
(~ 

Advocate · 

.• /J:.!!!.!:..~udge Advocate 

- 7 ­

RESTRICTED 





093) 


;&
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater 

APO S87 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
6 OCT 1945 

Cll ETO J.6424 

UNITED STATES ) SEVENTH UNIT.ED STATF.s ARMY 
) 

) Trial by GCM, convened. at Augsburg, 

) Germany, 28 June 1945. Sentenee: 


Corporal MASON BURROW (34719536) ) BURROV/ - Acquittea; DAVIS - Dishonorable
and. Private WILLIE L. DAVIS ) G.ischarge, total forfeitures and con­
(34719759), J660th Quartermaster ) finement at hard labor for life. 
Truck Company ) Uniteci States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

) Penp.sylvania. 

HOLDING by BOt>RD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
HEPBURN, .MILLER and. COLLINS, Jueige Advocates . 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers namea above bas 
been examinet by the Boart of Review. 

_ 2. Accused were trieG. on the following Charges and. specifications: 

CHARGE: ·violation of the 92na Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Willie L. Davis, Jb60th 
Qua.rte,rmaster Truck Company, dit, at Langweici, 
Germany, on or about lS May 1945, forcibly ant 
feloniously, against her will, have carnal knowledge 
of Anna Stephinger. 

BUR.RmV 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92mi Article of War. 

Specification: (Identical with that above as to Davis). 

Each accused pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court 
present when·the vote was taken concurring, accused Burrow was found not 
guilty and accused Davis was found guilty of the Charge and Specificatfon 
preferred against hlm. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced.. 
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Three-fourths of the members of the court present when the vote was taken 
concurring, Davis was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined. 
at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 
the term of his natural lite. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Permsylvania, as the 
place o! coni'inemrnt and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant 
to Article of War 50i. The acquittal of Burrow is publlsmd in General 
Court-Martial Order Number 188, Headqtl9.rters Seventh Army, 26 July 1945. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution identified accused. Davis as a 

member of the 3660th QJ.artermaster Truck Company, stationed near Langweid, 

Germax1y1 on 18 Y.ay 1945 (R6,7). That evening he visited a displaced per­

sonnel camp which was in the same community, and while there joimd 

accused Burrow and otmr soldiers who had brought an army truck to that 

camp (R7). At about 2200, the two accused left the camp in the truck and 

did not come back until 2300 (RS,10). Wben they return::d, the accused 

and a "Russian guy" got out of the vehicle (RS). Accused Davis then said 

to another soldjer in the group, 11 I have fucked" (R9). 


At about 2230 that s&e evening an army truck stopped outside 

the house of Frau Anna Stephinger in Langweid (Rl.O,ll) • A negro and 

"white American" dressed in military uniforms entered her house without 

permission. The white soldier asked her to come with them to 11 show the 

way". She went to the door of her house to give them the direction to 

Munich. There she saw tl:s truck with more men. At that time the white 

soldier graspedher by one hand and the negro soldier by the other and 

held her firmly. She cried for help, and two other men came, one o! 

whoa was a negro. Her mouth was held "shut .from behind", and the .four 

o.f them dragged her down a hill and threw her. on to the ground (Rl2). 

One of the men was "a Pole" (Rl6) who appeared to be the ring-1 eader of 

the group (Rl.9). She repeatedly cried for help, and one of the men 

choked her so that she could not scream while others· kept her .mouth and 

nose shut (Rl.2). Her undergarments were removed, and Ylhil.e she was held 

firmly, one negro attempted to have intercourse with her but did "not 

succeed very well because I drew myself up" (Rl.3). And then, the other 

colored soldier laid on top of her and being unable to resist fUl'ther 

he had intercourse with her by inserting his penis into her female organ 

(Rl.5). She screamed and struggled but they held her .firmly and choked 

her (Rl.5-17). Her nearest neighbor heard her screams and cal.l for help 

(R20). Before the men left on the truck, she was able to get away. She 

ran to the neighbor's house (Rl7), where it was observed that her hair 


·was 	in disorder, there v-.rere scratches on her .face and her nose was 
"thickly swollen". She was bleeding from rer mouth, had a bad contusion 
o.f one eye, sundry other scratches and red and blue spots (R22). The 

face injuries were corroborated by the stipulated testimony of a German 

doctor who examined her on 19 ltay 1945 (R4l, Def.~.l) • She was not 

able to identity the accused because she could not recognize either of 

the two colored soldiers involved {Rl8). 
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A pre-trial statement made b7 accused. Davie was offered and 
receive& in evidence, over the objection of the d.efense (R36,Proe~.A), 
after testimony had been taken ae to the circumstancH under which the 
statement had. been mad.• and. the la• member. ha.Ii ruled. that it was TOlun­
taril;r giTen (R2J-.34,J6~. The cm Agent wtto took and prepare& the type• 
statement for the accussd., who could. neither read nor lfl"ite 1 teetifi.e&· 
that the accusecl voluntaril;r supplied the information contained. in the 
statement and voluntaril.;r aignea it after it was careful.11 read. and. ex.­
plained to him (R25). The accused. testified that the Agent threatened. 
to "see to it you get hung if you don't make a statement" and "When he 
made the statement he "figured it would be easier on me if I woula tell 
the truth" (R29). In the statement, accused. Davis admitted uiving the 
Army truck away from. the displaced. persons settlement at Langweid1 
with another soldier, whose name was obliterate& froa the statement, and 
two Russians, after one of the Russians aske& him. if he wante& "zig zig"• 
They drove to a house in Langweici, Germany, and the two Russians went 
into a house and came out with a 1IOlllall whoa they took down the rou. The 
Russians "got the woman on the ground. and held her down there" while th• 
other unnamed. a:>ldi.er, and then accused, had intercourse with her. One 
of the Russians had his hands over her mouth. After accused finished. 
with the woman, they lett her and the four of them returned in the truck 
to the displaced persons settlement (Pros.Kx.A). 

4. On being advised of their respective rights as witnesses, both 
accused elected to remain silent (R45). Character evid.ence was introauce& 
in behalf or the accusei to the e!feet that each wa. very well thought 
of in their organization and of excellent character prior to the incident 
in question (R42,43;Der.Ex.2). 

5. Rape is derinied as the "unlawful carnal knowledge of a woman 
b7 force and without her consent" (li!CM, 1926, par.u.8,2, p.165). The un­
disputed evidence in the instant case establishes the commission of that 
crime as found by the court and. accused.' s participation therein is clearly 
shown by his pre-trial confession (CY E'IO 1202, Ramsey~). Though 
the defense objected to the admission into the evidence of accusea•s pre­
trial. statement, substantial proof in the recorQ supports the showing of 
its voluntary character, and th• ruling of the law member aWnitting it 
will not be disturbed (CM: ETO 9461, Bryant; Cl.1 E'IO 4055, Ackerman). 

o. The charge sheet shows that accused. Davis is 25 years or age. 
?lithout prior service, he was inducted. 27 August 1943 at Camp Forrest, 
Tennessee. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 

person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the rights of the 


·accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence. 

- .3 ­
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a. The penalty tor rape is death or life imprisonment as the court­
martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is authorize& 
upon conviction of rape by Article of War 42 anci sections 278 and 330, 
Federal Criminal Code {l! USCA 457,567). The aesignation o! the United 
States.Penitentiaey', Lewisburg, Pennsylnnia, as the place or confinement 
is proper (Cir. 229, \'ID, g June 1944, sec.II, par~E,(4), 32.). 

ZaiA~vOgo J<lvocate 

~~ Judgo Alhocato 

~ .€...u:-.,(J.. Judge Advocate 

~ (/ 
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Branch 	Office of The Judge.Advocate General 

with ;the 
European Theater 

AR> 887 . 

BO.ABD OF REVIEW NO. 2 6 OGT 1945 
CM ETe 16440 

U N I T. E D STATES CRANOR BASE SECTION, ~ UNITED STA.TES FORCES, 
v.-· -· ) . EUROH:AN THEilER 

) 
Private First Class WILLIAM 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
A. JONES (36467680),· 4059th 	 ) . Charleroi, Belgium, 30 July 
Quartermaster 	Service~Oompany ) 1945. Sentences Dishonorable 

) discharge, total forfeitures 
) and confinement at hard labor 
) for life. United States 
) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
-) Pennsylvania.. · 

. ROI.DING by BOARD ·oF REVIEW' NO. 2 
HEPBURi'i, MILLER and COLLINS, Judge Advocates 

1. - The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
'ha~ b~en examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specificationi 

CHARGEi Violation of the 92nd Arti.ole of War • 

.Speoifioationi In that Private First Class William 
A•.Jones, 4059th Quartermaster Service Company, 
did, at or near Havre, Belgium, with ma.lice 
aforethought, feloniously, unlawfully, and with 
premeditation kill one Private First Class Samuel 
Warren, a human being, by shooting him with a 
rifle, on.or.about 14 June 1945, thereby inflict ­
ing a mortal.wound as a result of 'Which the said 
Private First· Class Sa.mUel Warren died at or near 
Havre, Belgium, on or about 15 June 1945. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members present at the 

time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty ot: the Charge and 

Specification. .No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. 

All of the members of the court present at the time the vote was taken 

concurring, he was sentenced to be d ishonora.bly aischarged the service, 
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to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be 
confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority 
may direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing auth­
ority approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitent­
iary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement;, and . 
forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant. to Article of War 
5~. . 

3. The evidence for the prosecution is substantially as 

follows a 


On 14 June 1945 accused was a member of the 314lst 
Quartermaster Service Company (R32). On that date the.deceased 
was on guard duty at the gate in fl-ont of the school building where 
the organization was billeted. During the period from 2135 hours 
to 2200 hours; Private First Class Harvey D. Taylor assumed deceased 1s 
duties as guard so that the latter could go and "just look" in on a 
dance their organization was having that evening· (R6,14). At; 2200 
hours the d'eceased, accompanied by accused, reappeared at the guard 
post and took a carbine from Private Taylor Is shoulder. He gave the 
weapon to the. accused and then deceased and Private Taylor went to 
their billet and the former entered his quarters, which were down­
stairs in the building (Rll,12). Private First Class Carzell Byrd 
who was in the hall observed deceased alone in his room and three or 
four minutes later he saw accused enter deceased's room. Accused 
was carrying a carbine over his shoulder and he began talking to 
deceased. In a short time. Private Byrd heard a shot and he ran 

. tlown the hall to another room. 'hbile he was in this other room he 
heard two more shots. Just before the first shot and &gain before 
the. second and third shots were fired, accuse~ was heard to say, "I'll 
shoot" (RB,16). · It was 2217 hours when the shots were heard (Rl9). · 

After hearing the shots Private First Class Charles E. 
E'stelle entered deceased' s quarters and found him "laying facing the 
door practically half on the bed". Deceased said ~Come here, Jones 
shot me" (Rl9,20). It was observed at this time that deceased was 
bleeding from the lower part ·of his stoma.ch'(Rl2). 

First Sergeant Robert B. Duncan attended the dance and• 
as a result of a report, he returned to the organization area between 
2200 and 2300 hours. Accused was standing in front of the gate, at 
the entrance of.the billets, armed with his carbine. Accused told 
Sergeant Duncan "he had shot Sammy Warren", and when they went into 
deceased 1 s quarters, accused said "I shQt him. I shot the son-of-a. ­
bitch three times".(Rl3,20,26,27,29}. Sergeant Duncan disarmed 
accused and observed that his carbine h8.d en odor of burnt gun powder 
about it (R28,~5} •. 

. After en agent of the Criminal Investigation Division 
testified as to its voluntary nature (R21-25), a statement signed by 
accused was received in evidence over objection by defense counsel · 
(R25; Pros. Ex.l). In this statement accused related that he attend­
ed a dance on 14 June 1945 and while he was seated at a table with 
some civilians, deceased entered the room, grabbed him by the tie and 
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belt and pulled him out of the building. The deceased continued to 
pull him a.long the street towards his company area and m~n they were 
about 50 feet from the gate eJ;ltering this area, deceased hit him, 
knocking him down. Deceased t~en picked him up and dragged him to· 
the gate. Somehow he got possession of a. ca.rbine and a.a decea.sed 
walked away from. the gate he said, "God dammit I'm going to kill you"• 
The latter entered his billet.and in a.bout three minutes he iaccused) 
became sea.red and went to t~e deceased'& room.. He found the deceased 
looking in his duffle bag, did not· say anything but raised· hie weapon 
and shot the deceased three times. The deceased said, "I'm not going 
to.kill you Jones" after which he slumped over on a cot. He did not 
mean to kill the deceased but he was afraid the deceased was going to 
shoot him because he (deceased) was looking in his duffle bag and he 
(accused) thought deceased might he."Ve a gun in there (Pros. Ex No.l). 

. Captain Ie"r.ul Diemonll, Medical Corps, testified that . 
he is a physician and pathologist and laboratory officer of the Third 
Station Hospital. Late at night Private Samuel Warren was brought 
to the hospital by members of his unit. He was alive at this time 
and was given' a blood tr:ansfusion. He was dead the next day and an 
autopsy performed on his body .revealed five gunshot wounds. One of 
the wounds on deceased'a right thigh indicated that the shot "must 
have been fired fairly close to the body" a.a there were powder marks 
around the.wound. The. immediate cause of death was that the deceased, 
due to his weakened and extremely shocked condition, aspirated the 
contents of his stomach into his lungs, "which is the equivalent to 
drowning"• Captain Diamond further testified that there was no quest­
ion in hi• mind that Private Warren woula have died as a result of his 
gunshot injuries "if this terminal event --- this aspiration of the 
stomach -- ~ad not ocourred" (R35-38). 

4. Accused after his rights as a witness were fully &xplained 
to him (R56,57), was sworn and testified ~bstantially as followsa-

On 14 June 1945, he, attended a company dance with a 
Belgi\\%1 lady and her husband~ They were upstairs dancing e.nd because 
it was crowded they ca.me downstairs to drink some lemonade and beer. 
Samuel Warren entered the room, grabbed him by the necktie and said 
"Come on goddem it go on 'guard •. If I can't be a.t this dance you can't 
be either". He replied "It isn't ti118 for me to go on guard. It is 
only ten o'clock" and deceased said, "Goddem it you are going on guard 
now". A corporal ·present unsuccessfully attempted to persuade the 
deceased to let him go and after he removed his tie, the deceased grabbed 
him by the belt and pulled him outside. 1"farren led him up the street 
during which time he protested that he would not go on guard until 2400. 
hours. Just as they reached the corner gate of their billets, deceased 
struck him on the head, :knocking him down 8nd lifted him up, led him to 
the gate and said, "You will walk guard". v'fuen the deceased released him 
he was excited and nervous and'before Warren entered t!sbuilding h~ said 
"I am going to b.law your brains out". He (accused) had a carbine and 
entered th& deceased's room end shot him. He was "angry, scared, 
nervous and I didn't know what I was doing" (R58,62). The agent _of the 

-3­
R ESTRICTED 




RESTRICTED"--> ,_,, 


{400) 

Criminal Investigation Division, explained his rights under the 24th 
Articl~ of War to him but he did not understand them. This a.gent asked 
him for a statement and after he t'old the agent v.hat he had to say the 
agent said ~that statement isn't worth a goddam. If you don't tell me 
the truth i am going to fuck you up". {R57,58). 

·, . 
Ma.dame Fernande Rousseau, who accompanied accused to .the 


dance and two soldiers of his organization corroborated accused 1 s 

account of the incident at the dance that preceded the shooting (R42, 

43,46,47,55,56). 


Various defense witnesses described the deceased as a 

quarrelsome person who frequently started e.rg1:llllents {R40,43,51,52). 

His height was estimated at six feet, one inch, and his.weight at 190 

pounds. He was a robust, well developed and muscular man (R40). 

Accused was Jmown as a cooperative cheerful soldier wi10 did not easily 

become excited. He ha.dn 't been in eny trouble in the Army prior to 

this incident (R39,43,54) 


5. 	 ":Murder is the unlawful killing of a human 
being with malice aforethought· • 'Unlawful' 
means without legal justification or excuse" 
(MCM, 1928, par. 148_!!,, p.162). 

. 
Although no viitne ss actually saw accused fire the fatal 

shot, competent, substantial evidence and accused's own.admission in 
his sworn testimony establishes beyond any doubt that accused shot and 
killed ,Private Warren at the time and place alleged. Whether this ( 
homicide was perpetrated with malice aforethought and without legal 
justification.was a question of fact for the court to decide and their 
affirmative answer thereto is amply supported by the evidence of the 
circumstances under 'Which the slaying took place. Accused's statements 
to his first sergeant right after the shooting are conclusive on this 
point. (CM ETO 15788, Polson). 

The defense presented evidence tending to show accused 
acted in the heat of great passion. It was the function and duty of 
the court end the reviewing authority to determine from all the evid­
ence 	whether passion under adequate provocation not cooled by the 
passing of time reduced the crime to manslaughter. (CM ETO 6682, 
Frazier; CM ETO 11958, Falcon). Inasmuch as the uncontra.dicted evid­
ence 	disclosea that Private Warren had ceased his provocative conduct 
and retired to his quarters, and accused, after the lapse of e.t lee.st 
five 	minutes, followed him into the building and fired the fatal shots 
thereafter, the findings of the court on this issue are fully sustained 

. by the evide!lce end will not be disturbed by the Boe.rd of Review. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accuserl is 28 years and six 
months of age and was inducted 24 March 1944. He had no prior service. 
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.. 
7. The court was legally o,ouatituted and had jurisdiction oi' the 

person and. offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused wre committed: during the trial. The Board of Review is of the' 
opinion that the record of trial is l~gally s\i.f'f'icient to support the findings· 
of guilty, and the sentence. · 

s.. ·The penalty f'or murder is death o~ life imprisonment as the court­
m8.rtial ms.y direct (AW 92). Confinement in-·a penitentiart is authorized 
upon conviction of' murder by Article of War 42 and sections 275 and 330. 
Federal Criminal Code (18 US CA 454, 567). The designation of the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the ~lace of confinement is 
proper (Cir. 229, YID, 8 June 1944, sec. II, pars. l~ (4), 3E_). 

~J~ge Advocate 

~~ Judge Advocate 
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Branch Office of The· Judge Advocate General . 
with the 

European Theater 
Aro 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 3 12OCT°1945 
CM ETO 16479 

\ 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 82ND AIRBORNE DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at APO 
) 469, u.s. Army, 21 May }945. 

Second Lieutenant FREDERICK D. ) Sentence: Disr:i.issal, total. 
JOHNSTONJR. (0-1172508), 32oth ) forfeitures and confinement at 
Glider Fiel4 Artillery Battalion ) hard labor for five years. 

United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

ROI.DING by BO.ARD o:e REVIEW HO. 3 
SL:..~mR, SHEP.2.IAN and DEWEY, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the officer name~ above has 
been examine~ by the Board of Ileview and the Board submits tnis, its 
holding, to the Assistant JtidGe Advocate General, in charge of the Branch 
Office of the Judge ~vocate General with the European Theater. 

2. Accusea was tried upon the following Charge and Specification:­

CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Second Lieutenant Frederick 
D. Johnston, Jr., 320th Glider Field Artillery 
Battalion, then Second Lieutenant, Headquarters 
82d Airborne Division Artillei-J, having been 

duly appointed Exchange Officer of the 82d 
Airborne Division Artillery Excha..~~e, by the 
Commanding Officer, 82d Airborne Division 
Artillery, did, at hiarket Harborough, Leicester­
shire, England, between l Hay 1944 and 11 August 
1944, feloniously embezzle by fraudulently con­
verting to his own use about five hundred 
seventy-five pounds (~ 575), lawful money of 
England, value about two thousand three hundred ,, 
twenty dollars ($2320), the property of the 82d 
Airborne Division Artillery Exchange, entrusted 
to him in his capacity as.Exchange Officer of 
the said Exchange. 16479 
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He pleaded .not guilty to and, a.t lea.st two-thirds of the members of the 

court present a.t the time the vote was ta.ken concurring, was found of 

the Specification, Guilty, except the words "five hundred seventy-five 

pourids (1:.575 )" and "two thousand three hundred twenty dollars ($2320 ) 11 

, 


.substituting therefor the words "four hundred fifty pounds (l:i450) 11 and 
"one thousand eight.hundred fifteen dollars and seventy five cents 
(~1815,75)", of the excepted words Not Guilty, and of the subst~tuted 
words Guilty, and guilty of the Charge. No evidence of previous' con­
victions was introduced. At least two-thirds of the members of the 
court present at the time the vote was ta.ken concurring, he was sentenced 
to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due and to 
become due, end to be confined at hard labor, at such place ·as the review­
ing authority may direct, for five yea.rs. The reviewing authority, the 
Connnanding General, 82nd Airborne Division, approved the sentence a..~d 

fol'Ylarded the record of trial for action under Article of Yvar 48. The 
confirming authority, the Commanding General, United States Forces, 
European Theater, confirmed the sentence, designated the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania., as the place of ccnfinement, and 
withheld the order directing the execution of the sentence pursuant to 
Article of War 59t. . ' 

3. Evidence for prosecution. 

Accused was Exchange Officer, 82nd Airborne Division Artillery 
Exchange, .from 18 February through 8 August 1944, in charge of four 
exchanges, ea.ch of which had a. manager or steward and the ma.in one of 
which we.s at Market Harborough, Leicestershire, England (R7-8, 30, 35~ 
37, 41, 43, 46, Pros. Ex. B). In the operation of the exchanges he was 
governed by Arrrry Regulations pertaining to post exchanges. In short, 
he drew and issued merchandise to the four exchanges for sal~. He col­
lected the cash receipts of three exchanges and deposited it in Barclays 
Bank, Market Harborough, England, to the account of Q-101.;68 (R9-10, · 
30-31, 38). The manager of the fourth exchange deposited his receipts 
in Barclays Bank at Hinckley to the credit of the account of Q-101-68 at 
Uarket Harborough, ~R38,47). The property and money belonged to the Army 
Exchange Service end "the 82nd Airborne Division Artillery ExQhange had 
to account for it" (R34). · ' .· · 

· Sales at the fourth .exchange from 1 through 8 August 1944 
amounten to b298-8-ll (R46-47) all of which was deposited by its manager 
in Barclays Bank at Hinckley for credit to account Q-101-68 a.t :Market 
Harborough (R47,49). Fpr this period the manager of the first, second 
and third exchanges turned over to accused "approximately" 270 pounds 
(R38-29), "around" 175 pounds (R42-43) and l:i309-10-8 (R45) respectively, 
for a. total of .~754-10•8. During August there was deposited at Barclays 
Bank, Market Harborough, to the account of Q-101-68, l:i325-15-9, this being 
exclusive. of deposits hereinbefore shown to have been made a.t Hinckley 
(R49). The difference between ~754-10-8 and ~325-15-9 is L-128-14-ll. 

On 21 August 1944 a.n Inspector General and his assistant 
questioned accused about an alleged shortage of·approximately 11428 for 
l through 8 August 1944. Re then stated that on 7 August 1944, while 
ma.king a bank deposit, he had lost from a jeep a cigar box containing 
money (R50-53). Soon thereafter accused admitted the explanation was not 
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true (R55). He also stated he had lost $800 or $900 playing poker but 
had paid these losses by personal checks on his bank in the States (R54-56). 
On 26 August 1944, the exchange _council met and asked accused to explain a 
fund shortage of ll428-l2-9. Accused gave no explanation (R33-34). And 
he gave no explanation to a board ·of" officers when told the board ha.d 
found, from its investigation or· the oJ?era.tion of the exchange from December 
1943 through 8 August 1944, a shortage ot approximately l,570 (R48-49). 

I ' 

4. No witnesses were called by defense.. After his rights as a 
witness were explained to him accused elected to rem.a.in silent (R56-57). 

. 5. The Board has no~ undertaken to set out herein the evidenc~ 
relating to shortages prior to l August 1944. To do· so would be profit­
less. Such evidence shows little, if any, more than that, prior to l 
August 1945, accused was a heedless manager. Irregularities which occurr­
ed during the trial have been considered by the staff and theater judge 
advocates in lengthy reviews and found by.them to have impaired no sub­
stantial rights of accused. Suffice it to say that the Board also has 
considered these irregularities end likewise concluded that they impaired 
no substantial ri~hts of accused. The evidence is c.ompelling that, 
between l August 1944 and 11 August 1944, accused embezzled approximately 
ll428-l4-ll, having an approximate value of $1730.00. From l through 8 
August 1944 on which latter date he was relieved as Exchange Officer, he 
received approximately L754-10-8, which it was his duty to deposit in a 
certain account. During the month of August only li325-15-9 was deposited 
therein. Accused was a fiduciary. Thrice he we.s called upon to 'account 
for the difference. Twice he made no explanation. The third time he 
ma.de an explanation that he later admitted to "be false. Though the Board 
is unable to determine how the court arrived at its finding of l.450, the 
difference between that amount end M28-14-ll 11 is, comparatively, so slight 
as to make the error in the finding imnaterial" (CM 145331, Dig. Op JAG 
1912-40 sec. 452 (14) p.338. The evidence in the record of trial supports 
the finding.s of guilty (Dig. Op. JAG 1912-40', sec. 451 (13) p.338, CM ETO 
8164 Brunner; CLl ETO 11905, Howse. See ChLETO 1302 (1944) Splain, Dig. 
Op. (ETO) 501, for discussion of the elements of the crime of embezzlement). 

6. The charge sheet shows tha.t:.accused is 25 years nine months of 
age, that he was appointed a second lieutenant 29 October-1942 and that he 
had prior service as en enlisted man from 3 April 1941 to 28 October 1942. 

7. The court was legally constituted end ha.d jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed during the trial. The Boa.rd of Review is of tile 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find- · 
ings of guilty and the sentence. '.• 

a. Dismissal, total forfeitures and confinement at hard labor is 
au'bh'Oriaed punishment for an ot'.fioer upon convicticn of embezzlement. Con­
finement in a penitentiary is authorized upon conviction of embezzlelll8nt 
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when the amount involved exceeds ~35 by Article of VIar 42 and sec. 22~ 
1202 \~17~) District of Columbia Code. The designation of the United 
States Penicentiary,·Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of. confine• 
ment is proper (Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, Sec. II, par. lE_ (4), SE_) •. 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater. 12 OCT 1945 TO: Commanding General, 
United States Forces, European Theater (Main) APO 757, U.S. A:rrny. 

1. In the case of Second Lieutenant l!"'REDERICK D. JOHlfSTON, JR, 
(0-1172508), 320th Glider Field Artillery Battalion, attention is invited 
to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, 
which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 
)iar 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order a.re forwarded to this office,. 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding a.nd this endorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 16479~ For 
convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end 
oft he order i (CM ETO ~ 

.it:;tJ; 
'~B/~-'

.2olppol • JAGD 1 

A.cting Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

Sen9ence ordered executed. 001IO 522, .USFE'l', 30 Oct 1945)• 

..........................._..........,.,_ 
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